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This document has been prepared by the

of all shares in the National Petrochem

Saudi Industrial Investment Group (the “SIIG") in accordance with the requirements of Article (57) of

the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in connection with the increase in the share capital of SIIG for its acquisition

ical Company (“Petrochem”) that are not owned by SIIG by offering a share swap transaction to

Petrochem's Shareholders in accordance with Article (26) of MARs (the “Shareholders' Circular”).

SIIG has entered into an implementation agreement with Petrochem on 21/03/1443H (corresponding
to 27/10/2021G) (the “Implementation Agreement") for the purpose of the acquisition by SIIG of
all shares issued in Petrochem that are not owned by SIIG, being two hundred and forty million
(240,000,000) ordinary shares with a nominal value of ten Saudi Riyals (SAR 10) per share, which
represents (50%) of Petrochem's capital shares (“Offer Shares") through a share swap offer for all the
Offer Shares ("Acquisition Transaction” or “Acquisition”), in consideration of the issuance of three
hundred four million and eight hundred thousand (304,800,000) ordinary shares with a nominal value
of 10 Saudi Riyals per share by SIIG to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders (“Consideration Shares")
by way of increasing the paid-up capital of SIIG from four billion five hundred million (4,500,000,000)
Saudi Riyals to seven billion five hundred forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals representing
an increase in the number of shares of SIIG from four hundred fifty million (450,000,000) shares to
seven hundred fifty-four million eight hundred thousand (7,548,000,000) shares which represents
an increase of (67.733%) in the current share capital of SIIG. The Acquisition Transaction is subject
to satisfying the conditions set out in the Implementation Agreement, as summarized under section
(5.4.1) (“lImplementation Agreement") of this Shareholders' Circular, noting that such conditions
may not be amended or waived without the written and signed approval of both Companies. SIIG
made an announcement on 21/3/1443H (corresponding to 27/10/2021G), confirming signing the
Implementation Agreement and its firm intention to proceed with the Acquisition Transaction and
making the Offer to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders in this respect.

SIIG has only one class of shares and no share carries any preferential rights. All Consideration
Shares will be of the same class and will have the same rights as the existing SIIG shares. Pursuant
to the Acquisition Transaction, the Offer Shares will be acquired in consideration for the issuance of
the Consideration Shares by SIIG to Petrochem' Selling Shareholders, where Petrochem's Selling
Shareholders who are registered in the shareholders' register of Petrochem at the end of the second
trading period following the Effective Date will receive (1.27) shares in SIIG for every share they own in
Petrochem (the “Exchange Ratio"). Upon the Completion of the Acquisition Transaction, Petrochem
will become an unlisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG (for more details about the
Completion of the Acquisition Transaction, see Section (5.6) (“Procedures Required to Effect the
Acquisition Transaction”).

The total value of the Acquisition Transaction is determined on the basis of the value of the
Consideration Shares. The total nominal value of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-
eight million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals. The total market value of the Consideration Shares
as determined on the basis of the Exchange Ratio and the closing price of (SAR 41.1) per SIIG
share on 20/03/1443H (corresponding to 26/10/2021G) (which is the last trading day prior to the
execution of the Implementation Agreement) is twelve billion five hundred twenty-seven million
two hundred and eighty thousand (SAR 12,527,280,000) Saudi Riyals. The total value of the
Consideration Shares (as will be recorded on the financial accounts of SIIG) will be determined
at a later stage on the basis of the closing price of SIIG shares on the last trading day prior to the
Effective Date of the Acquisition Transaction.

The Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is conditional upon, amongst other things, obtaining
the approval of SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM. For more details of the conditions to, and process for,
implementing the Acquisition Transaction, see Section (4.5.1) (“Implementation Agreement"), and
Section (5.6) ("Procedures Required to Effect the Acquisition Transaction") of this Shareholders'
Circular. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Acquisition Resolutions are approved by the requisite
number of Petrochem’s Selling Shareholders (who are entitled to vote in the Petrochem EGM) being
at least three- fourth of the shares represented at the EGM, and SIIG's shareholders (who are entitled
to vote in the SIIG EGM), and the other Acquisition Transaction's conditions are satisfied (which
mainly includes obtaining the required approvals from the CMA and the Saudi Exchange Company,
and there being no Material Adverse Event occurring or continuing or the breach of a warranty
given by both parties). For more details, see section (5-4-1-1) (“Implementation Agreement Terms
and Conditions").Petrochem will become an unlisted joint stock company wholly owned by the

The following table sets out the names and shareholdings of the Related Parties and Conflicted
(corresponding to 10/3/2022G):

Substantial Shareholders in both Companies

Nature of the Conflict of Interest

SIIG. Upon the Completion of the Acquisition Transaction, all of Petrochem's Selling Shareholders
(including those who voted against or did not vote on the Acquisition Resolutions) will receive the
Consideration Shares in SIIG in accordance with the Exchange Ratio. For more details, see section
(5-4-1-1) (“Implementation Agreement Terms and Conditions").

If the Offer is wholly accepted by Petrochem's shareholders (through the approval of the Acquisition
Transaction by Petrochem EGM) and all of the other Acquisition Transaction's conditions are
satisfied, then Petrochem Shareholders will become owners of (40.38%) of SIIG's capital. The
Consideration Shares' owners will be entitled to receive dividends declared by SIIG following the
Effectiveness of the Acquisition Resolution. The Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will
also result in the increase of SlIG's capital from four billion five hundred million (4,500,000,000)
Saudi Riyals to seven billion five hundred forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals. For more
details about the effects of the Acquisition Transaction on Petrochem and SIIG and its rationale, see
Section (3.2) (“Rationale of the Acquisition Transaction”) of this Shareholders' Circular.

SIIG was established pursuant to the Ministry of Commerce's Resolution No. 291 issued on
29/06/1416H (corresponding to 23/11/1995G), and it is a joint stock company holding commercial
registration number 1010139946 dated 10/08/1416H (corresponding to 01/01/1996G) issued in
Riyadh, and has a share capital of four billion five hundred million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals
consisting of four hundred and fifty million (450,000,000) ordinary shares with a nominal value of
SAR 10 (ten Saudi Riyals) per share, all of which are fully paid and listed on Tadawul.

Petrochem was established pursuant to the Ministry of Commerce's Resolution No. R/53 issued on
16/02/1429H (corresponding to 23/02/2008G), and it is a joint stock company holding commercial
registration number 1010246363 dated 08/03/1429H (corresponding to 16/03/2008G) issued in
Riyadh and has a share capital of four billion and eight hundred million (4,800,000,000) (Saudi Riyals
consisting of four hundred and eighty million (480,000,000) ordinary shares with a nominal value of
SAR 10 (ten Saudi Riyals) per share, all of which are fully paid and listed on Tadawul.

As of the date of this Shareholders' Circular, there are no Substantial Shareholder in SIIG." The
Substantial Shareholders of Petrochem are as follows: SIIG owning 50%, and GOSI owning 19.35%

The Acquisition Transaction involves Related Parties, as GOSI is a shareholder in SIIG and a
Substantial Shareholder in Petrochem, and it has representatives on the boards of both SIIG and
Petrochem. SIIG is also a Related Party because it owns (50%) of Petrochem, in addition to
its interest in its capacity as the Offeror in the Acquisition Transaction, which is above its
ordinary interest as a shareholder. Pursuant to Article 3 (n) of the MARs, a shareholder
that holds shares in both Petrochem and SIIG, including shareholders that are
Related Parties, can only vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the EGM of one
of the Companies.

A number of the members SIIG's board of directors have an interest in the Acquisition
Transaction, as Mr. Khalil I. Alwatban and Mr. Thamer A. Alhumud (in their capacity as the
representatives of GOSI in SIIG's board of directors) have declared their interest to SIIG's board'
of directors and did not vote on SIIG's board of directors' resolution to approve the entry into the
Implementation Agreement.

A number of the members of Petrochem'’s board of directors have an interest in the Acquisition
Transaction, as His Excellency Mr. Hamad S. AlSayari (due to his direct ownership in SIIG), Mr.
Suliman M. Al-Mandeel (due to his direct and indirect ownership in SIIG), Mr. Abdulrahman
S.Alismail (in his capacity as a senior executive in SIIG and due to his direct ownership in SIIG)
and Dr. Rasheed R. Bin Owain (due to his indirect ownership in SIIG), and Mr. Khalid M. Alaraifi
and Mr. Eyad A. Alhusain (in their capacity as the representatives of GOSI in Petrochem'’s board
of directors) have declared their interest to Petrochem'’s board of directors and did not vote on
Petrochem'’s board of directors' resolution to approve the entry into the Implementation Agreement.
For further information, see Section (3.7) (“Related Parties and Conflicted Board Members") of this
Shareholders’ Circular.

members of the board of directors in relation to the Acquisition Transaction as of 7/8/1443H

Direct Ownership in SIIG Direct Ownership in Petrochem

No. of Shares | Shareholding % | No. of Shares | Shareholding %

A Shareholder in SIIG and a Substantial Shareholder in Petrochem and has a

Co representative on the board of directors of both Companies 22ty A peitee ekl

siG .SubstantiaI.S.hareholder in .Petrochem and ha; an int.erest in its capacity as the Offeror N/A 240,000,000 50%
in the Acquisition Transaction, which is above its ordinary interest as a shareholder.

Conflicted members of SIIG's board of directors

Mr. Khalil Ibrahim I. Alwatban a representative of GOSI on the board of directors of SIIG N/A N/A

Mr. Thamer A. Alhumud a representative of GOSI on the board of directors of SIIG 17,500 0,004% N/A

Conflicted members of Petrochem's board of directors

His Excellency Mr. Hamad S. AlSayari has direct ownership in SIIG 200,000 0.044% 100,000 0,002%

Mr. Suliman M. Al-Mandeel has diregt and mdirect‘ ownership in SIIG (for more information on his indirect 300,000 0.007% 1000 0,00002%
ownership, please review Section 3.5.3 (Petrochem Board).

Mr. Abdulrahman S. Alismail Senior Executive in SIIG and has direct ownership in SIIG 1000 0.0002% 1000 0.0002%

Dr. Rasheed R. Bin Owain Has an inqirect ownership in SIIG (for more information on his indirect ownership, N/A N/A 4000000 083%
please review Section 3.5.3 (Petrochem Board).

Mr. Khalid Mohammed M. Alaraifi a representative of GOSI on the board of directors of Petrochem N/A N/A

Mr. Eyad bin Abdulrahman A. Alhusain a representative of GOSI on the board of directors of Petrochem N/A N/A

Note: GOSI transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOSI in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data published on Tadawul.

Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.

Note: In addition to its direct ownership in SIIG, GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (62,926,190) shares in

SIIG, which accounts for (13.98%) of the shares issued by SIIG. Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in

SIIG prior to Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital.

Note: In addition to its direct ownership in Petrochem, GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (71,280,000)
any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly ow

shares in Petrochem, which accounts for (24.85%) of the shares issued by Petrochem. Noting that GOSI will not own
ned by SIIG
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This document has been prepared by the Saudi Industrial Investment Group (the “SIIG") in accordance with the requirements of Article (57) of
the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in connection with the increase in the share capital of SIIG for its acquisition
of all shares in the National Petrochemical Company (“Petrochem") that are not owned by SIIG by offering a share swap transaction in
accordance with Article (26) of MARs (the “Shareholders' Circular").

Since there are no Substantial Shareholders in SIIG, the following table shows details of ownership in SIIG of each of SIIG's board of directors, its Senior Executives and the public, in addition to GOSI's direct
and indirect ownership, prior to and following the Completion of the Acquisition Transaction as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022G):*

Pre- Completion of the Acquisition Post- Completion of the Acquisition
Shareholder
No. of Shares Shareholding % No. of Shares Shareholding %

SIIG's Board of Directors* 100,708 0.02% 100,708 0.01%
SIIG's Senior Executives* 1,000 0.0002% 1,000 0.0001%
GOS|#* 22,275,000 4.95%° 140,260,834 18.58%
The Public 449,898,292 99.97% 614,437,458 81.4%
Total 450,000,000 100% 754,800,000 100%

* Pursuant to the shares owned by SIIG's board of directors in SIIG only, which include the shares they own directly and the shares in which they have an indirect interest.

** Pursuant to the shares owned directly by SIIG senior executives in SIIG only.
*+x GOSI has indirect ownership in SIIG, as described below:

©) Pre- Completion of the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (62,926,190) shares in SIIG, which accounts for (13.98%) of SIIG's capital.
) Post- Completion of the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI will indirectly own, through its subsidiaries, (135,451,790) shares, which will account to (20.23%) of SIIG's capital

An application has been made to the CMA for registering and offering the Consideration Shares
and to the Saudi Exchange Company for listing the Consideration Shares on Tadawul. All
requirements of the CMA have been satisfied and, subject to the Acquisition Resolutions being
passed at the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM, all relevant regulatory approvals pertaining to the
Acquisition Transaction and the Capital Increase have been granted (for further information, see
Section (1.3.5) ("Government Approvals") of this Shareholders' Circular.

This Shareholders' Circular should be read in full and considered carefully, especially Section
“Important Notice" and Section (1) (“Risk Factors") of this Shareholders' Circular, prior to voting
on the Acquisition Resolutions.

This Shareholders’ Circular includes information provided as part of the application for
registration and offer of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligations (the "ROSCOS") of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia (referred to as the "CMA") and the application for listing of securities in compliance with
the Listing Rules of the Saudi Stock Exchange. The board of directors of SIIG, whose names
appear on page (49), collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of
the information contained in this Shareholders' Circular. The board of directors of SIIG also
confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief,
there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.
The CMA and Saudi Stock Exchange do not take any responsibility for the contents of this
Shareholders' Circular, do not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness,
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance
upon, any part of this Shareholders' Circular.

As an exception from the above declaration with respect to the responsibility of the board of
directors of SIIG for the accuracy of the information contained in this Shareholders' Circular,
SlIG's board of directors will not accept any responsibility for the accuracy of the information
relating to Petrochem contained in this Shareholders' Circular. All information contained in
this Shareholders' Circular in relation to Petrochem and its subsidiaries has been included
on the basis of the information provided by Petrochem and information obtained during the
due diligence exercise conducted by SIIG -with the assistance of its advisers- on Petrochem.
Petrochem has an obligation under the Implementation Agreement to provide SIIG with all
information required to prepare this Shareholders' Circular. Petrochem has also provided a
customary warranty in favor of SIIG under the Implementation Agreement that information (in
all material aspects) in connection with the Acquisition Transaction provided to SIIG as of the
date thereof, including information that was provided during the course of the due diligence
process and during the preparation of the acquisition documents, including this Shareholders'
Circular, was not misleading in all material aspects. Petrochem has also warranted under the
Implementation Agreement that it has not knowingly withheld any material information in
connection with the Acquisition Transaction from SIIG.

Following careful and thorough consideration of the terms of the Implementation Agreement,
the members of the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted members of the board of
directors), have approved the entry into the Implementation Agreement, and the Implementation
Agreement was signed on 21/03/1443H (corresponding to 27/10/2021G).

The members of the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted members of the board
of directors) believe that the Acquisition Transaction is fair and reasonable, having conducted
appropriate due diligence -with the support of its advisors- they deemed sufficient under
the current circumstances, and considered the market position prevailing at the time of the
publication of this Shareholders' Circular in addition to the future growth prospects of the SIIG,
including potential synergies, and the opinion of HSBC Saudi Arabia (SIIG's Financial Advisor in
connection with the Acquisition Transaction) dated 26/10/2021G to SIIG's board of directors,
which opinion is attached to this Shareholders' Circular as Annex 2, to the effect that, as of that
date and based upon and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth therein, the Exchange
Ratio pursuant to the Implementation Agreement was fair from a financial point of view to SIIG.

The members of the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted members of the board
of directors) further believe that the Acquisition Transaction is in the best interests of SIIG and
its shareholders and therefore unanimously recommend that SlIG's shareholders approve the
Acquisition Transaction and the Capital Increase.

In arriving at their recommendation, the members of the board of directors of SIIG (other than the
conflicted members of the board of directors) have also received and considered external advice
on legal, financial, accounting, strategic and other matters relating to the Acquisition Transaction.

In giving its recommendation, the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted members
of the board of directors) has not had regard to specific investment objectives, financial situation,
tax or Zakat positions or the individual circumstances of any individual SIIG shareholder, as
different SIIG shareholders have different investment objectives and portfolios. Accordingly,
the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted members of the board of directors)
recommends that each individual SIIG shareholder reads and carefully considers all information
contained in this Shareholders' Circular, and when in doubt as to the action such a shareholder
should take at the EGM, the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted members of
the board of directors) recommends that such a shareholder consults an independent financial
advisor licensed by the CMA in relation to the Acquisition Transaction and relies on its own
examination of the Acquisition Transaction and the information herein with regard to such SIIG
shareholder's investment objectives and financial situation.

All board members of SIIG who will vote on the Acquisition Resolutions at SIIG EGM will vote in
favor of the Acquisition Resolutions.

SIIG has appointed HSBC Saudi Arabia as its financial advisor in connection with the Acquisition
Transaction.

4 Note: GOSI transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOSI in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data published on Tadawul.
Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of
the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.

5 Note: GOSI's direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction has been included for the purpose of disclosure and for the reason that it will become a Substantial Shareholder in SIIG Post-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction. GOSI's direct ownership has also been included within the public ownership total which represents (99.97%) of SIIG's share capital Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction, due to its current direct

ownership being below (5%).

Financial Advisor
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This Shareholders' Circular was issued on 14/8/1443H (corresponding to 17/3/2022G) and was prepared in Arabic and English, and the Arabic language shall be the prevailing language. In case of any

differences between the two, the Arabic version shall prevail.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE

This Shareholders' Circular has been prepared by SIIG pursuantto Article (57) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligations. The purpose of this Shareholders' Circular is to provide SIIG Shareholders with information
on the Acquisition Transaction in order to assist them in deciding whether or not to vote at the SIIG EGM in favor of
the recommendation of SIIG's Board to increase its capital for the purpose of acquiring all the Offer Shares, which is
a necessary step to complete the Acquisition Transaction, by submitting a securities exchange offer to purchase all
the Offer Shares through increasing SIIG capital from four billion five hundred million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals
to seven billion five hundred and forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals by issuing three hundred and four
million eight hundred thousand (304,800,000) new shares in favor of the eligible Petrochem's Selling Shareholders,
to increase the number of SIIG shares from four hundred and fifty million (450,000,000) shares to seven hundred
and fifty-four million and eight hundred thousand (754,800,000) shares. The vote of the SIIG Shareholders on the
Acquisition Resolutions will be made on the basis of the information contained in this Shareholders' Circular. Copies
of this Shareholders' Circular can be obtained from the offices of SIIG or through SIIG's website at (www.siig.com.
sa), from the Financial Advisor's website at (www.hsbcsaudi.com), from the CMA's website at (www.cma.org.sa), or
from the Saudi Exchange Company's website at (www.SaudiExchange.sa).

The CMA and the Saudi Exchange Company do not take any responsibility for the contents of this Shareholders’
Circular, do not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part of this Shareholders' Circular.

Statements and information contained in this Shareholders' Circular are made as at the date of this Shareholders'
Circular, unless some other time is specified in relation to them, and are subject to change after its publication.
The information appearing in this Shareholders' Circular reflects the current point of view of the SIIG Board and its
impact thereon following Completion of the Acquisition Transaction. It is however not a guarantee of the financial
performance of the SIIG following Completion of the Acquisition Transaction and it should be noted that there are
various factors that could impact the performance of the SIIG or the results it could achieve either positively or
negatively (For further information, see Section (1) ("Risk Factors") of this Shareholders' Circular).

According to the requirements of the ROSCOS, SIIG will issue a supplementary circular at any time after this
Shareholders' Circular has been published and before the SIIG EGM is convened if SIIG becomes aware that there
has been a significant change in material information contained in this Shareholders' Circular or additional significant
matters have become known which would have been required to be included in this Shareholders' Circular.

Nothing contained in this Shareholders' Circular is intended to be or shall be deemed to be a forecast, projection or
estimate of the future financial performance of the Combined Bank or any members of its respective group and no
statement in this Shareholders' Circular should be interpreted to mean that earnings per share for current or future
financial periods of the Combined Bank post the Acquisition Transaction will necessarily match or exceed historical
published earnings per share of SIIG shares.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations on behalf of the SIIG board
of directors other than those contained in this Shareholders' Circular and, if given or made, such information or
representations must not be relied on as having been authorized by SIIG, HSBC Saudi Arabia (the Financial Advisor)
or any of the other advisers in connection with the Acquisition Transaction.

HSBC Saudi Arabia is acting exclusively as financial adviser to SIIG and for no one else in connection with the
Acquisition Transaction. HSBC Saudi Arabia is acting exclusively as financial adviser to SIIG and for no one else in
connection with the Acquisition Transaction and will not be responsible to any person other than SIIG for providing the
protections afforded to clients of HSBC Saudi Arabia, for providing advice in relation to the Acquisition Transaction,
or the contents of this Shareholders’ Circular or matters referred to in this Shareholders' Circular. HSBC Saudi Arabia
is licensed and regulated in Saudi Arabia by the CMA. HSBC Saudi Arabia has not verified the information contained
in this Shareholders' Circular. Accordingly, no representation or warranty is made or implied by HSBC Saudi Arabia or
any of its Subsidiaries and neither HSBC Saudi Arabia or any of its Subsidiaries make any representation or warranty
or accept any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Shareholders'
Circular.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Shareholders' Circular contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to SIIG. These forward-
looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate only to historical or current facts. Forward-
looking statements often use words such as "anticipate”, “target”, "expect’, “estimate”, "intend”, "plan”, "will", "goal”,
“"believe”, "aim”, "may", "would", "could” or "should” or other words of similar meaning or the negative thereof.
Forward-looking statements in this Shareholders' Circular include, without limitation, statements relating to the
following: (i) preliminary synergy estimates, future capital expenditures, expenses, revenues, economic performance,
financial conditions, dividend policy, losses and future prospects; (i) business and management strategies and
the expansion and growth of the operations of SIIG following the Completion of the Acquisition Transaction; and
(iii) the Acquisition Transaction and the dates on which events are expected to occur. Neither the forward-looking
statements nor the objectives referred to in this Shareholders' Circular can be definitively ascertained. The advisors
of SIIG, those whose names appear in Section “"Corporate Directory” of this Shareholders' Circular, or any of their
managers or employees shall not be liable for any direct or indirect loss or damage that any person may incur due
to their reliance on any information included in the Shareholders' Circular, or the omission of any information not

included in this Shareholders' Circular.

These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of any such person, industry results, strategies or events, to
be materially different from any results, performance, achievements or other events or factors expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements. Many of the risks and uncertainties relating to forward-looking statements
are beyond SIIG's abilities to control or estimate precisely, such as future market conditions and the behaviors of
other market participants, and therefore undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. Forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance. They have not, unless otherwise indicated, been reviewed
by the auditors of SIIG. Forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions, including assumptions
regarding the present and future business strategies of SIIG and the environment in which it will operate in the future.
All subsequent oral or written forward-looking statements made by or attributable to SIIG or any persons acting on
its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statement above. For further details about these
risks and uncertainties, see Section (1) (“Risk Factors") of this Shareholders' Circular.

SIIG assumes no obligation to, and does not intend to, update any forward-looking statements, except as required
pursuant to applicable laws and regulations.

No person should construe the contents of this Shareholders' Circular as legal, financial or tax advice. If you are in
any doubt as to the action you should take, it is recommended that you seek your own independent financial advice
from an independent financial advisor authorized by the Saudi Arabian Capital Market Authority.



PUBLICATION AND DISTRIBUTION RESTRICTIONS

This Shareholders' Circular is addressed to SIIG Shareholders, subject to any restriction in the rules of any Restricted
Jurisdiction.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

SIIG's consolidated financial statements (audited) for the financial years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December
2019G, 31 December 2020G are prepared in accordance with IFRS Applicable in the KSA. Pro Forma consolidated
condensed financial statements (unaudited) of Petrochem for the two periods of three and six months ended on 30
June 2021G and the two periods of three and nine months ended on 30 September 2021G) prepared in accordance
with IAS 34 Applicable in the KSA.

Save where expressly stated otherwise, financial information contained in this Shareholders' Circular is based
on management estimates and has not been independently verified by auditors or otherwise. Save as disclosed
otherwise, all financial information is set out in SAR.

This Shareholders' Circular has been prepared in accordance with applicable laws and regulations of KSA.
The Consideration Shares constitute securities of a Saudi Arabian company and you should be aware that this
Shareholders' Circular and any other documents relating to the Acquisition Transaction and the Consideration
Shares have been or will be prepared in accordance with Saudi Arabian disclosure requirements, format and style, all
of which may differ from those applicable in other jurisdictions.
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Note: The above advisors and independent auditor have given and, as at the date of this Shareholders' Circular, have not
withdrawn their written consent to the publication of their names, addresses, logos and the statements attributed to each of
them in the context in which they appear in this Shareholders' Circular.
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Summary of the Acquisition

This summary of the Acquisition Transaction is intended to provide the SIIG shareholders with an overview of the
acquisition. As such, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to the SIIG shareholders in
order for them to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions to be proposed at the SIIG EGM. Accordingly, this summary
must be read as an introduction to the Acquisition Transaction only, and recipients of this Shareholders' Circular
are advised to read the Shareholders’ Circular in its entirety and any decision to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions
should be based on a consideration of this Shareholders' Circular as a whole. It is also important to consider Section
("Important Notice") and Section (1) ("Risk Factor") of this Shareholders' Circular carefully prior to deciding to vote
at the SIIG EGM.

Name, Description
and Incorporation

Saudi Industrial Investment Group (SIIG), is a listed joint stock company in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, established pursuant to the Ministry of Commerce's
Resolution No. 297 issued on 29/06/1416H (corresponding to 23/11/1995G)

Information with its headquarters in Riyadh, registered under the Commercial Registration
No. 1010139946 dated 10/08/1416H (corresponding to 01/01/1996G).
The activities of SIIG according to its commercial certificate and bylaws are as
follows:
1- Investment, development, establishment, operation, management and
o maintenance plants of petrochemical, gas, petroleum and other industries
SIIG Activities inside and outside the Kingdom.
2- Wholesale and retail trade in petrochemical materials and products and their
derivatives, and their marketing inside and outside the Kingdom.
3- Owning land, real estate and buildings for the benefit of SIIG.
Substantial At the date of this Shareholders’, SIIG has no Substantial Shareholders.®

Shareholders, their
shareholdings and
number of shares in
SIIG Pre-Completion
and Post-Completion
of Acquisition
Transaction

It should be noted that GOSI is not a Substantial Shareholder in SIIG as its direct
ownership in SIIG is less than (5%) of SIIG's capital. It should be noted that the
direct ownership of GOSI accounts for (22,275,000) shares in SIIG, which accounts
for (4.95%) of SIIG's capital, while GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries,
(62,926,190) shares in SIIG, which accounts to (13.98%) of the shares issued by
SIIG.

Capital Four billion five hundred million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals
(Issuer) SIIG
'é'?‘?r!:umber & S5 Four hundred five million (450,000,000) fully paid shares
Nominal Value of : .
Each SIIG Share SAR 10 per share, all of which are fully paid.
Total Number of
Consideration
Shares to be Issued  Three hundred four million eight hundred thousand (304,800,000) shares.
to Petrochem's
Selling Shareholders
Percentage of
Consnderatlon’ The Consideration Shares will represent (40,38%) of the current issued share
Shares to SIIG's ) : e
s fesurs] e capital of SIIG as at the date of this Shareholders' Circular.
capital
The nominal value of each Consideration Share is SAR 10 per share.
Issuance V_alue (.’f The issuance value of each Consideration Share (as will be recorded on the
each Consideration ! : . : )
Share financial accounts of SIIG) will be determined at a later stage on the basis of the
closing price of SIIG share on the last trading day prior to Completion
The total nominal value of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-eight
Total Value of the million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals. The total value of the issuance of the
Issuance of the ideration Sh ilb ded on the fi ial f SIIG) will
Consideration Consideration Shares (as will be recorded on the financial accounts of SIIG) wi
Shares be determined at a later stage on the basis of the closing price of SIIG share on
the last trading day prior to the Effective Date of the Completion.
6 Note: GOSI transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOS! in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data

published on Tadawul. Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in
direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem
becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.



Description of
the Acquisition
Transaction

The Acquisition Transaction will be implemented pursuant to Article 26 of the
Merger and Acquisition Regulations. SIIG will increase its capital to acquire the
Offer Shares by giving Petrochem's Selling Shareholders an exchange offer
to obtain the Offer Shares in consideration of new shares to be issued in SIIG
as Consideration Shares for the eligible Petrochem's Selling Shareholders
after obtaining the approvals required for the Completion of the Acquisition
Transaction. SIIG shall issue Consideration Shares to Petrochem's Selling
Shareholders by increasing its paid-up share capital from four billion five hundred
million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals to seven billion five hundred forty-eight
million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals

Once the Acquisition Resolution comes into effect, Petrochem will be a subsidiary
and 100% owned by SIIG.

(For further details about the Acquisition Transaction, please see Section (3.2)
("Rationale of the Acquisition”) and Section (5.2) (“Summary of the Legal
Structure of the Acquisition”).

Company to
be Acquired
(Petrochem)

Description and
Incorporation
Information

The National Petrochemical Company was established in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia, in Riyadh, as a joint stock company registered in the Commercial Register
under no. 1010246363 dated 08/03/1429H (corresponding to 16/03/2008G)
issued at Riyadh City.

Activity

Petrochem'’s activities according to its commercial certificate and bylaws are as

follows:

1- Investment, development, establishment, operation, management and
maintenance plants of petrochemical, gas, petroleum and other industries
inside and outside the Kingdom.

2- Wholesale and retail trade in petrochemical materials and products and their
derivatives, and their marketing inside and outside the Kingdom.

3- Owning land, real estate and buildings for the benefit of Petrochem.

For more information on Petrochem'’s activities, please review Section (3.5)
("About Petrochem Operations”).

Substantial
Shareholders of
Petrochem, their
shareholdings and
number of shares
in Petrochem prior
to and following the
Completion of the
Acquisition

The Substantial Shareholders of Petrochem are as follows: SIIG and GOSI.

The following table shows the number of shares owned by Petrochem Substantial
Shareholders and their shareholding in Petrochem prior to and following the
Completion of the Acquisition as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022 G):

Pre- Completion Post- Completion

Shareholder No. of Share- No. of Share-
Shares holding % SHETES holding %

Saudi Industrial
Investment Group
(SIG)

240,000,000 50% 480,000,000 100%

GOSI 92,902,232 19,35% 0% 0%

Ownership of
Petrochem's Selling
Shareholders in SIIG
upon Completion

of the Acquisition
Transaction

Petrochem's Selling Shareholders will own 40,38% of the share capital of SIIG
following the Completion.

Petrochem Capital

Four billion eight hundred million (4,800,000,000) Saudi Riyals.

Total No. of
Petrochem Shares

Four hundred eighty million (480,000,000) with a nominal value of SAR 10 per
share, all of which are fully paid.

Related Parties

The Acquisition Transaction involves Related Parties as GOSI is a shareholder
in SIIG and a Substantial Shareholder in Petrochem, and it has representation
on the boards of both SIIG and Petrochem. SIIG is also a Related Party because
it owns (50%) of Petrochem, in addition to its interest above its ordinary interest
as a shareholder in its capacity as the Offeror in the Acquisition Transaction.
(For further information see Section (3.7) (“Related Parties and Conflicted
Directors").




The total nominal value of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-
eight million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals. The total market value of the
Consideration Shares as determined on the basis of the Exchange Ratio and
the closing price of SAR 41.1 per SIIG share on 26/10/2021G (which is the last

Total Value of the trading day prior to the Implementation Agreement) is twelve billion five hundred

Consideration twenty-seven million two hundred eighty thousand (SAR 12,527,280,000) Saudi
Riyals. The total value of the Consideration Shares (as will be recorded on the
financial accounts of SIIG) will be determined at a later stage on the basis of the
closing price of SIIG share on the last trading day prior to the Effective Date of the
Acquisition Resolution.

The below diagram is a simplified description of the structure of the Acquisition
Transaction:

Before Completion After Completion

Petrochem's
Selling
Shareholders

Structure of ’
the Acquisition B .
Transaction _>
Y 50% Y
>
Petrochem 100%
Y

Petrochem

SIG

SIG
shareholders

Petrochem’s
Shareholders

shareholders

Since there are no Substantial Shareholders in SIIG, the following table shows
the ownership structure in SIIG of each of SIIG's board of directors, its Senior
Executives, and the public, in addition to GOSI's direct and indirect ownership prior
to and following the Completion as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022G):"

Pre- Completion Post- Completion
Shareholder

No. of Share- No. of Share-
Shares holding % Shares holding %

Ownership
ST ) SIIG Directors+ 100,708 0.02% 100,708 0.01%
pre-Completion of
the Acquisition and SIIG Senior o o
post- Completion of Executivess+ 1,000 0.0002% 1,000 0.0001%
the Acquisition
GOS|x** 22,275,000 4.95%° 140,260,834 18.58%
The Public 449,898,292 99.97% 614,437,458 81.4%
Total 450,000,000 100% 754,800,000 100%
* Pursuant to the shares owned by SIIG directors in SIIG only, which include the
shares they own directly and the shares in which they have an indirect interest.
** Pursuant to the shares owned directly by SIIG senior executives in SIIG only.
7 Note: GOS| transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOSI in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data

published on Tadawul. Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in
direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem
becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.

8 Note: GOSI's direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction has been included for the purpose of disclosure and for the reason that it will become a Substantial Shareholder in SIIG
Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction. GOSI's direct ownership has also been included within the public ownership total which represents (39.97%) of SIIG's share capital Pre-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction, due to its current direct ownership being below (5%).



Ownership Structure
of Petrochem prior

The following table shows the ownership structure in Petrochem prior to and
following the Completion of the Acquisition as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to

10/3/2022G):
Pre- Completion Post- Completion

Shareholder No. of Share- No. of Share-
Shares holding % Shares holding %

Saudi Industrial
Investment Group 240,000,000 50% 480,000,000 100%
(SIIG)

to and following the GOSI 92902232  19,35%
Completion of the Petrochem 0%
- .85%
Acquisition Directors+ 4,102,000 0.85
Petrochem senior N/A N/A
executives*x
The Public 142,995,768 29,79%
Total 480,000,000 100% 480,000,000 100%
* Directors' shares represent the shares owned by Petrochem directors directly,
including shares in which they have indirect interest.
*+ Represents shares owned directly by Petrochem senior executives.
Capital increase of SIIG will lead to a decrease in the shareholding of the current
SIIG shareholders (other than the Selling Shareholders in both Companies)
to (%59,62) of the total SIIG share capital, noting that the Capital Increase
Dilution will not result in any change in the number of shares currently owned by SIIG
Shareholders. (For further information and details about the risks related to the
dilution effects on SIIG shareholders, please see Section (4.1.1) ("Risks relating
to the dilution of the existing SIIG shareholders and the decrease of their voting
power").
Profitability Per Share (PPS) based on SIIG's audited 020
Impact on financial statements as of 31 December 2020 '
Profitability Per : .
Share PPS following Capital Increase (based on pro forma 027

financial statements)

The Rationale behind
the Acquisition
Transaction

The Acquisition Transaction will make SIIG the fifth largest petrochemical
company in the KSA and among the largest companies in the region according
to the combined market value of the Companies. SIIG will be in a better position
to benefit from both endogenous and exogenous growth, and will have a better
and a comprehensive capacity to export raw materials such as naphtha, ethane
and propane, in addition to a larger market value and shareholder base, which will
lead to a better performance of the shares in terms of trading patterns, market
depth, price volatility, volumes and levels of liquidity. For further information
on the rationale of the acquisition, please see Section (3.2) (“Rationale of the
Acquisition”).




Summary of Key
Steps to Effect the
Capital Increase
and Issue the
Consideration
Shares

The key steps required for the Completion of the Acquisition are as follows:

Publish the invitation to convene the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM.

Obtain the approval of the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in respect of the
Acquisition Resolutions.

Publish the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM resolutions.
Effectiveness of the Acquisition Resolution.

Delisting of Petrochem shares and listing of the Consideration Shares on
Tadawul.

Satisfying all other conditions of the Implementation Agreement, which are
summarized in Section (5.4.1.7) (“Implementation Agreement Terms and
Conditions"), provided that none of the conditions to the Implementation
Agreement may be amended or waived except with the consent of both
Companies.

For further information see Section (3) (“The Acquisition”) and Section (5) (“Legal
Information”).

Entitlement to
Profits/Dividends of
the Consideration
Shares

The Consideration Shares will entitle their holders to receive any dividends
declared by SIIG following the Effective Date.

Required Approvals
in connection with
the Capital Increase

The Acquisition and the Capital Increase are conditional upon obtaining a number
of approvals as follows:

CMA approval of the SIIG Capital Increase and publication of the Offer
Document.

Saudi Exchange Company approval for the listing of the Consideration
Shares.

MOC approval for the proposed amendments to SIIG bylaws

CMA approval of convening the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in relation to
the Acquisition Transaction.

Approval of SIIG Shareholders and Petrochem's Selling Shareholders of
the Acquisition Resolutions passed at the EGM related to the Acquisition
Transaction.

For further information on other conditions of the Acquisition Transaction and on
the conditions that have been satisfied, see Section (5) (“Legal Information”) of
this Shareholders' Circular.

Voting Rights of
the Consideration
Shares

The Consideration Shares will carry the same voting rights as all other existing
SIIG shares in accordance with the Companies Law and the bylaws of SIIG.

Restrictions on
the Consideration
Shares

There are no restrictions imposed on the Consideration Shares




The proposed Capital Increase of SIIG is subject to the approval of the SIIG EGM and the Petrochem EGM. SIIG
shareholders are advised to read the Shareholders' Circular in its entirety (not the summary of the Acquisition
Transaction only) and any decision to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions at the SIIG EGM should be based on a
consideration of this Shareholders' Circular as a whole.

Since there are no Substantial Shareholders in SIIG, the following table shows details of ownership in SIIG of each of
SlIG's board of directors, its Senior Executives and the public, in addition to GOSI's direct and indirect ownership, prior
to and following the Completion of the Acquisition as of 16/06/1443H (Corresponding to 19/01/2022G):°

Pre- Completion Post- Completion
Shareholder
No. of Shares Shareholding % No. of Shares Shareholding %
SIIG Directors* 100,708 0.02% 100,708 0.01%
SIIG Senior Executives#* 1,000 0.0002% 1,000 0.0001%
GOS|#** 22,275,000 4.95%° 140,260,834 18.58%
The Public 449,898,292 99.97% 614,437,458 81.4%
Total 450,000,000 100% 754,800,000 100%

+ Pursuant to the shares owned by SIIG directors in SIIG only, which include the shares they own directly and the shares in which they have an indirect interest.

++ Pursuant to the shares owned directly by SIIG senior executives in SIIG only.

+++ GOS| has indirect ownership in SIIG, as described below:
m Pre- Completion the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (62,926,190) shares in SIIG, which accounts for (13.98%) of SIIG's capital.
2 Post- Completion the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI will indirectly own, through its subsidiaries, (135,451,790) shares, which will account to (20.23%) of SIIG's capital.

The following table shows details of the ownership structure in Petrochem before and after the Completion of the

Acquisition:
Shareholder
Saudi Industrial Investment Group (SIIG) 240,000,000 50% 480,000,000 100%
GOslI 92,902,232 19.35% 0% 0%
Petrochem Directors* 4,102,000 0.85%
Petrochem senior executives*x N/A
The Public 142,995,768 29.79%
Total 480,000,000 100% 480,000,000 100%

* Represent the shares owned by Petrochem directors directly including shares in which they have indirect interest.

** Represents shares owned directly by Petrochem senior executives.

©

Note: GOS| transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOSI in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data
published on Tadawul. Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in
direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem
becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.

10 Note: GOSI's direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction has been included for the purpose of disclosure and for the reason that it will become a Substantial Shareholder in SIIG
Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction. GOSI's direct ownership has also been included within the public ownership total which represents (99.97%) of SIIG's share capital Pre-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction, due to its current direct ownership being below (5%).




KEY DATES AND MILESTONES

The below table outlines the expected timeline for the main events relating to the Acquisition Transaction. SIIG
will announce any changes to the timeframe and expected dates set out in the table below on the Saudi Exchange

Company website.

1- Actions required in relation to EGM

Submission of the final draft of the Offer Document to the CMA.

The final draft of the Offer document was submitted to the CMA
on 12/8/1443H (corresponding to 15/3/2022G).

CMA approval of the SIIG Capital Increase and the application to
publish of the Offer Document.

13/8/1443H (corresponding to 16/3/2022G).

CMA approval to convene the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM.

14/8/1443H (corresponding to 17/3/2022G)

Publication of the invitation to the SIIG EGM on the Saudi
Exchange Company website (to refer to the possibility of holding
a second meeting within an hour after the end of the first meeting
if the first meeting was not quorate).

17/8/1443H (corresponding to 20/3/2022G)

Publication of the invitation to the Petrochem EGM on the Saudi
Exchange Company website (to refer to the possibility of holding
a second meeting within an hour after the end of the first meeting
if the first meeting was not quorate)

17/8/1443H (corresponding to 20/3/2022G)

Publication of the Offer Document, the Shareholders' Circular,
and the Petrochem Board Circular.

14/8/1443H (corresponding to 17/3/2022G)

Having Documents available for inspection.

14/8/1443H (corresponding to 17/3/2022G)

Electronic voting period for the SIIG EGM

5/9/1443H (corresponding to 6/4/2022G)

Electronic voting period for the Petrochem EGM

5/9/1443H (corresponding to 6/4/2022G)

SIIG EGM (first meeting) — quorum required is shareholders
representing at least 50% of the share capital.

9/9/1443H (corresponding to 10/4/2022G)

SIIG EGM (second meeting) (if quorum for first meeting is
not attained) — quorum required for the second meeting is
shareholders representing at least 25% of the share capital.

After one hour from the end of the first inquorate SIIG meeting

Petrochem EGM (first meeting) — quorum required is
shareholders representing at least 50% of the share capital.

9/9/1443H (corresponding to 10/4/2022G)

Petrochem EGM (second meeting) (if quorum for first meeting
is not attained) — quorum required for the second meeting is
shareholders representing at least 25% of the share capital.

After one hour from the end of the first inquorate SIIG meeting

Announcement on the Saudi Exchange Company website of the
Acquisition Resolutions passed at the SIIG EGM (first or second
meeting) (or, if the EGM was not quorate, the announcement of
such fact).

10/9/1443H (corresponding to 11/4/2022G)

Announcement on the Saudi Exchange Company website of
the Acquisition Resolutions passed at the Petrochem EGM
(first or second meeting) (or, if the EGM was not quorate, the
announcement of such fact).

10/9/1443H (corresponding to 11/4/2022G)




2- Actions Required in the event that the first and second EGM are not quorate

CMA approval to convene a third SIIG EGM and/or Petrochem
EGM in relation to the Acquisition

12/9/1443H (corresponding to 13/4/2022G)

Publication of the invitation to the SIIG EGM (third meeting) and/
or the Petrochem EGM on the Saudi Exchange Company website
(third meeting).

13/9/1443H (corresponding to 14/4/2022G)

Electronic voting period for the SIIG EGM (third meeting) and/or
the Petrochem EGM (third meeting).

1/10/1443H (corresponding to 2/5/2022G)

Third SIIG EGM and/or Petrochem EGM- the third meeting will
be valid irrespective of the number of shares represented in the
meeting.

4/10/1443H (corresponding to 5/5/2022G)

Publication and Announcement on the Saudi Exchange
Company website by SIIG and/or Petrochem of the Acquisition
Resolutions passed at the third EGM (as applicable)

5/10/1443H (corresponding to 6/5/2022G)

3- Effectiveness of the Acquisition Transaction

Effective Date

9/9/1443H (corresponding to 10/4/2022G) (if approval is
obtained in the first or second meeting of the SIIG EGM and the
Petrochem EGM).

4/10/1443H (corresponding to 5/5/2022G) (if approval is obtained
in the third meeting of the SIIG EGM and the Petrochem EGM, as
applicable).

Petrochem Shares Suspension

The first trading period following the Effective Date which is
expected to occur on:

10/9/1443H (corresponding to 11/4/2022G) (if approval is
obtained in the first or second meeting of the SIIG EGM and the
Petrochem EGM).

7/10/1443H (corresponding to 8/5/2022G) (if approval is obtained
in the third meeting of the SIIG EGM and the Petrochem EGM, as
applicable).

Cancellation of the listing of Petrochem shares on Tadawul

Within a period of not less than the third trading period and not
exceeding the sixth trading period after the Effective Date.

Listing the Consideration shares on Tadawul and allocating
such shares to the benefit of the respective Petrochem's Selling
Shareholders registered in the Petrochem shareholders registry at
the end of the second trading period following the Effective Date.

Within a period of not less than the third trading period and not
exceeding the sixth trading period after the Effective Date.

Amendment of SIIG's commercial registration certificate.

Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, which is expected to
occur on:

9/10/1443H (corresponding to 10/5/2022G) (if approval is
obtained in the first or second meeting of the SIIG EGM and the
Petrochem EGM).

6/11/1443H (corresponding to 5/6/2022G) (if approval is obtained
in the third meeting of the SIIG EGM and the Petrochem EGM, as
applicable).

Deadline for distribution of proceeds of fractional shares which
have been sold.

Within thirty (30) days as of the Effective Date of the Acquisition
Resolution, which is expected to occur on:

9/10/1443H (corresponding to 10/5/2022G) (if approval is
obtained in the first or second meeting of the SIIG EGM and the
Petrochem EGM).

6/11/1443H (corresponding to 5/6/2022G) (if approval is obtained
in the third meeting of the SIIG EGM and the Petrochem EGM, as
applicable).
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Terms and Definitions

The following definitions apply throughout this Shareholders’ Circular unless the context requires otherwise:

Implementation Agreement

The agreement dated 21/03/1443H (corresponding to 27/10/2021G) between SIIG
and Petrochem setting out the terms and conditions of, and the parties' rights and
obligations in connection with, the implementation of the Acquisition Transaction.

Completion of the Acquisition

After listing the Consideration Shares on Tadawul and allocating such shares to the
benefit of the respective Petrochem's Selling Shareholders registered in the Petrochem
shareholders registry at the end of the second trading period following the Effective
Date.

EGM

extraordinary general assembly meeting of the shareholders of the relevant Company
convened in accordance with the provisions of the bylaws of the relevant Company.

Consideration Shares

the new SIIG shares to be issued to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders pursuant to the
Acquisition Transaction. The Consideration Shares nominal value is ten (10) Riyals
per share, with a total number of three hundred four million eight hundred thousand
(304,800,000) shares.

Shares issued in Petrochem and not owned by SIIG. The Offer Shares nominal value is

Offer Shares ten (10) Riyals per share, with a total number of two hundred forty million (240,000,000)
shares; representing (50%) of Petrochem's share capital.
a person who Controls another person or is Controlled by that other person, or who

Affiliate is under common Control with that person by a third person. In any of the preceding,
Control could be direct or indirect.

GOsSI General Organization for Social Insurance.

Firm Intention Announcement

The announcement published by SIG on Tadawul website on 21/03/1443H
(corresponding to 27/10/2021G) regarding its confirmed intention to submit an offer
to acquire all the issued shares in Petrochem through a share swap transaction, in
accordance with Article 17(e) of the MARs.

Conflict of Interests

A conflict of interest situation of a member of the board of directors arises when any
of the following occurs:
1- the member of the board of directors has a direct or an indirect interest in the offer.

2- the member of the board of directors is a shareholder in Petrochem and at the
same time a director of the SIIG board, or vice versa

3- the member of the board of directors is a member of the board of directors of
the SIIG board of directors and at the same time he/she is a board member of, or
serves in an executive position in Petrochem, or vice versa

4- The member of the board of directors is a representative of a shareholder owning
shares at SIIG and Petrochem at the same time

An interest of a person who is a Relative or an Affiliate of a member of the board of
directors shall be treated as an interest of the member of the board of directors

Shareholders' Circular

This Shareholders' Circular issued by SIIG in line with the requirements of Article 57
of the ROSCOS

Petrochem Board Circular

The circular prepared by Petrochem's board of directors according to Article (39)
of MARs in relation to the SIIG offer relating to the Acquisition Transaction which
provides the views of the Petrochem'’s board of directors on the offer to Petrochem's
Selling Shareholders, and SIIG's plans for Petrochem and its employees




Material Adverse Event

means, pursuant to the definition agreed upon in the Implementation Agreement, any
event, occurrence or change in circumstances which individually, or when aggregated
with all such otherevents, occurrences or changes, has or could reasonably be expected
to have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities, financial position,
profitability or prospects of either of SIIG (or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem
(or any of its subsidiaries) or on the Acquisition Transaction or its implementation;
provided that the following shall not be considered in determining whether a Material
Adverse Event has occurred:

a-

any deterioration of the economic, political or market conditions or securities,
credit, financial or other capital markets conditions in the financial services
industry globally, in the Middle East, in the KSA or in general except to the extent
that such effect adversely affects SIIG (or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem
(or any of its subsidiaries) (as the case may be) in a materially disproportionate
manner compared to each other or to other businesses in the industry in which
SIIG (or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem (or any of its subsidiaries) (as the
case may be) operates.

any change, event or development to the extent resulting from the execution and
delivery of the Implementation Agreement or the public announcement, pendency
or consummation of the Acquisition Transaction or any of the other transactions
contemplated by the Implementation Agreement, including the impact of such
changes or developments on the relationships, contractual or otherwise, of either
Company (or any of its subsidiaries) or any of its employees, clients, suppliers or
partners;

any change, event or development to the extent resulting from any failure of SIIG
(or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem (or any of its subsidiaries) (as the case
may be) to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts, estimates or
predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating metrics
for any period (it being understood that the facts and circumstances giving rise
to such failure may be deemed to constitute, and may be taken into account in
determining whether there has been, a Material Adverse Event if such facts and
circumstances are not otherwise described in paragraphs (a) or (d) through (h) of
this definition);

any change, in and of itself, in the market price, credit rating (with respect to
SIIG or Petrochem or its securities) or trading volume of SIIG's or Petrochem's
securities (it being understood that the facts and circumstances giving rise to
such change may be deemed to constitute, and may be taken into account in
determining whether there has been, a Material Adverse Event if such facts and
circumstances are not otherwise described in paragraphs (a), (c) or (e) through (h)
of this definition);

any change or proposed change, in applicable law (or, in each case, an authoritative
interpretation thereof), except where the change in applicable law has an adverse
effect on SIIG (or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem (or any of its subsidiaries)
(as the case may be) in a materially disproportionate manner compared to each
other or to other businesses or participants in the industry in which SIIG (or any
of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem (or any of its subsidiaries), (as the case may be),
operates.




Material Adverse Event

f-geopolitical conditions, the outbreak or escalation of hostilities, any acts of war,
sabotage or terrorism, or any escalation or worsening of any such acts of war,
sabotage or terrorism threatened or underway as of the date of the Implementation
Agreement, except to the extent that such change, event or development affects
SIIG (or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem (or any of its subsidiaries), (as the
case may be), in a materially disproportionate manner compared to each other or
other businesses or participants in the industry in which the two Companies (as
the case may be), operates

g- any flood, earthquake or other natural disaster, except to the extent that such
change, event or development affects SIIG (or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem
(or any of its subsidiaries), (as the case may be), in a materially disproportionate
manner compared to each other or other businesses or participants in the industry
in which the Companies, (as the case may be), operates.

h- any change, event or development to the extent resulting from any action by SIIG
(or any of its subsidiaries) or Petrochem (or any of its subsidiaries), (as the case
may be), that is expressly required to be taken by the Acquisition.

Petrochem EGM

the extraordinary general assembly meeting of Petrochem convened for the purpose
of the Acquisition Resolutions.

the extraordinary general assembly meeting of SIIG convened for the purpose of the

SlIG EGM o .
Acquisition Resolutions
means in the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations persons
other than the following:
1- affiliates of the issuer;
2- substantial shareholders of the issuer,
3- directors and senior executives of the issuer;

Publ| 4- directors and senior executives of affiliates of the issuer;

ublic

5- directors and senior executives of substantial shareholders of the issuer;

6- any relative of persons described at (1), (2), (3), (4) or (5) above;

7- any company controlled by any persons described at (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) or (6)
above; or

persons acting in concert, with a collective shareholding of (5%) or more of the class
of shares to be listed.

Restricted Jurisdiction

any jurisdiction where the offer of the Consideration Shares would violate the law of, or
regulation applicable to, that jurisdiction

“SAR" or “Saudi Riyals"

Saudi Arabian Riyals, the official currency of KSA

Capital Increase

the proposed increase in SlIG's share capital by issuing three hundred four million
eight hundred thousand (304,800,000) shares in favor of Petrochem's Selling
Shareholders, so as to increase SlIG's share capital from four billion five hundred
million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals to seven billion, five hundred and forty-eight
million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals.

Chevron Phillips Chemical International
Sales Inc. (CPCIS)

Chevron Phillips Chemical International Sales Inc. (CPCIS), an incorporated and
existing corporation headquartered at 50 Shirley Street, Nassau, Commonwealth of
the Bahamas.

Control

the ability to influence the actions or decisions of another person, whether directly or
indirectly, (except for indirect ownership through the exchange agreement or a hedge
fund where the owner does not have the right to make the fund investment decisions)
alone or with collaborating person(s) through holding (directly or indirectly) 30% or
more of the voting rights in a company, and the term “Controller” shall be interpreted
accordingly.

Closing Price

Last trading price for the shares, according to the mechanism set by Saudi Exchange
Company.

“Exchange” or “Tadawul"

The market operated by the Saudi Exchange where securities are traded. Any reference
to the market shall mean a reference to Exchange.




The requirements under the laws and regulations applicable in the Kingdom of Saudi

Saudization Arabia imposed on companies operating in it to employ a certain percentage of Saudi
nationals.

Companies SIIG and Petrochem

Subsidiary in relation to a company, another company which it Controls

“National Petrochemical Company" or
“Petrochem”

The National Petrochemical Company, a joint stock company registered in the
Commercial Register under no. 1010246363 dated 08/03/1429H (16/03/2008G) and
based in Riyadh City with a capital of four billion eight hundred million (4,800,000,000)
Saudi Riyals.

Chevron Phillips Chemical International
(CPCIS)

Chevron Phillips Chemical International (CPCIS), an established and organized
company, with headquarters in 50 Shirley Street, Nassau, The Bahamas.

Person

Any natural or legal person recognized as such under the laws of the Kingdom.

Acquisition Transaction

The SIIG acquisition of all Offer Shares according to Article (26) of the MARs in return
for issuing Consideration Shares to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders by increasing
the SIIG capital from four billion and five hundred million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals)
to seven billion, five hundred and forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals)

VAT

An indirect tax imposed on all commodities and services, whether purchased or sold,
by entities. VAT is currently imposed at the rate of 15%.

“Issuer” or "SIIG"

Saudi Industrial Investment Group (SIIG), is a listed joint stock company in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia established pursuant to the Ministry of Commerce's Resolution
No. 291 dated 29/06/1416H (corresponding to 23/11/1995G), registered under the
Commercial Registration No. 1010139946 dated 10/08/1416H (corresponding to
01/01/1996G) issued in Riyadh. and has a share capital of four billion and five hundred
million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals) consisting of four hundred and fifty million
(450,000,000) ordinary shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 (ten Saudi Riyals) per
share paid in full.

Offer

The offer from SIIG to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders for the purpose of acquisition
of all Offer Shares in consideration of Consideration Shares to be issued to Petrochem
Shareholders in SIIG pursuant to Article (26) of the MARs.

Offer Period

The period from SIIG's firm intention announcement to make an Offer to Petrochem's
Selling Shareholders until the date of SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM's resolutions or
until the Implementation Agreement is terminated in accordance with its provisions
(whichever comes first). (For more details on the termination of the Implementation
Agreement, see Section (2.3.1.4) (“Termination of Implementation Agreement”) of
this Shareholders' Circular.




Acquisition Resolutions

Resolutions in relation to the Acquisition, which will be presented to SIIG and

Petrochem shareholders, as follows:

with respect to SIIG: Approval of the acquisition of all the Offer Shares pursuant to

Article (26) of the MARs through the issuance of three hundred four million eight

hundred thousand (304,800,000) new SIIG shares to Petrochem'’s Selling Shareholders

in accordance with the Implementation Agreement, including the approval of the
following matters relating to the Acquisition Transaction:

a- Approval of the increase in the share capital of SIIG from four billion and five
hundred million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals to seven billion, five hundred and
forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Implementation Agreement, for the purpose of Acquisition of all
the Offer Shares, with a total number of two hundred forty million (240,000,000)
shares; representing (50%) of Petrochem's share capital.

b- Approval of the provisions of the Implementation Agreement between SIIG and
Petrochem dated 21/03/1443H (corresponding to 27/10/2021G)

c- Approval of the amendments to SIIG's bylaws in the form set out in Annex (1) with
effect from the Effective Date.

d- The authorisation of the SIIG's board of directors, or any person authorised by the
doard of directors, to adopt any resolution or take any action as may be necessary
to implement any of the above resolutions.

with respect to Petrochem: Approval of the Offer provided by SIIG to acquire all the

Offer Shares pursuant to Article (26) of the MARs through the issuance of three

hundred four million eight hundred thousand (304,800,000) shares to Petrochem's

Selling Shareholders in accordance with the Implementation Agreement, including the

approval of the following matters relating to the Acquisition Transaction:

a- Approval of the provisions of the Implementation Agreement between Petrochem
and SIIG dated 21/03/1443H (corresponding to 27/10/2021G)

b- The authorization of the Petrochem's board of directors, or any person authorised
by the Board of Directors, to adopt any resolution or take any action as may be
necessary to implement any of the above resolutions.

Relative

Means in the ROSCOS, husband, wife and children. Means in the MARs, husband, wife,
children and parents.

Petrochem Financial Statements:

Financial statements of the years 2018G, 2019G and 2020G and the primary financial
statements for the six months period ended on 30 June 2021G for Petrochem.

Petrochem's Financial Statements for
2018G:

The consolidated audited financial statements of Petrochem for the year ended on
31 December 2018G (compared to statements for the year ended on 31 December
2017G) prepared in accordance with the IFRS Applicable in the KSA.

Petrochem'’s Financial Statements for
2019G:

The consolidated audited financial statements of Petrochem for the year ended on
31 December 2019G (compared to statements for the year ended on 31 December
2018G) prepared in accordance with the IFRS Applicable in the KSA.

Petrochem'’s Financial Statements for
2020G:

The consolidated audited financial statements of Petrochem for the year ended on
31 December 2020G (compared to statements for the year ended on 31 December
2019G) prepared in accordance with the IFRS Applicable in the KSA.

Primary financial statements of
Petrochem for the period of six months
ended on 30 June 2021G:

Consolidated condensed financial statements (unaudited) of Petrochem for the two
periods of three and six months ended on 30 June 2021G (compared to statements
of the two periods of three and six months ended on 30 June 2020G) prepared in
accordance with IAS 34 Applicable in the KSA.

IAS 34 Applicable in the KSA:

IAS 34 "Interim Financial Reporting" that is endorsed in the KSA.

SOCPA

Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants (formerly known as
Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants).

ROSCOs

The Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations issued by the board of
the CMA pursuant to its resolution no. 3.123.2017, dated 9/4/1439H (corresponding
to 27/12/2017G) as amended by the board of the CMA pursuant to its resolution no.
5-5-2022, dated 2/6/1443H (corresponding to 5/1/2022G)




Listing Rules

The Listing Rules approved by the board of the CMA pursuant to its resolution
number 3.123.2017 dated 09/04/1439H (corresponding to 27 December 2017G) as
amended by the board of the CMA pursuant to its resolution number 1-19-2022 dated
12/07/1443H (corresponding to 13/02/2022G).

MARs

The Merger and Acquisition Regulations issued by the board of the CMA pursuant to its
resolution no. 1.50.2007, dated 21/9/1428H (corresponding to 3/10/2007G), amended
by resolution no. 3-45-2018, dated 7/8/1439H (corresponding to 23/4/2018G).

Feedstock

A raw material used to produce other materials through fracking, chemical reactions
or polymerization, and it is used to produce ethylene, propylene, gasoline and other
material.

GCC

the Gulf Cooperation Council

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding signed by and between SIIG and Petrochem on
20/2/1443H (corresponding to 27/9/2021G), whereby the Companies reached a non-
binding agreement on the Exchange Ratio and the structure of implementation of the
Acquisition Transaction.

Financial Advisor

HSBC Saudi Arabia

Exchange Ratio

It is the basis on which the number of Consideration Shares owed to Petrochem's
Selling Shareholders will be determined in relation to the Acquisition Transaction,
which will result in 1,27 SIIG shares for every Petrochem share

IFRS Applicable in the KSA

The International Financial Reporting Standards applicable in the KSA and other
standards and publications of SCOPA.

KSA or the Kingdom or Saudi Arabia

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Substantial Shareholder

a shareholder owning five per cent (5%) or more of the shares in SIIG or in Petrochem
(as applicable).

Petrochem' Selling Shareholders

All shareholders of Petrochem except for SIIG

Offer Document

The offer document prepared by SIIG pursuant to Article (38) of the MARs in relation to
the Offer made by SIIG to Petrochem'’s Selling Shareholders

Related Party

Means in the ROSCOS the following:
1- Affiliates of the Issuer;

2- Substantial Shareholders of the Issuer;
3- members of board of directors and senior executives of the issuer;
4- members of board of directors and senior executives of Affiliates of the Issuer;

5- members of board of directors and senior executives of Substantial Shareholders
of the Issuer;

6- Any Relatives of the persons referred to in (1,2,3,4, or 5) above;
7-  Any company controlled by a person referred to in (1,2,3,4,5, or 6) above.

Means in the MARs the following:

a person who, whether acting in concert with SIIG or Petrochem or any of their
Subsidiaries, owns or deals directly or indirectly with shares of SIIG or Petrochem
either through a special sale or purchase transaction or offer, or any person (in excess
of its normal interests as a shareholder) has interest or potential interest - whether
personal, financial or business - arising from the Acquisition Transaction or a related
party with both SIIG and Petrochem. The definition includes, but is not limited to, the
following:

1- any person(s) who has/have provided financial assistance to SIIG or Petrochem;

2- the members of the board of directors of SIIG and Petrochem (or any of their
subsidiaries);

3- any person owning 20% of SIIG and Petrochem (weather individually or by acting
in concert with other(s));

4-  Substantial Shareholder in SIIG who at the same time is a member of the board of
directors of Petrochem, or vice versa.




Effectiveness of the Acquisition
Resolution or Effective Date

After the approval of the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in respect of the Acquisition
Transaction.

Companies Law

the Saudi Arabian Companies Law issued pursuant to Royal Decree No. M/3 dated
28/01/1437H (corresponding to 11/11/2015G) as amended pursuant to the Royal
Decree No. M/79 dated 25/07/1439H (corresponding to 11/4/2018G).

The Labour Law issued pursuant to Royal Decree No. M/51 dated 23/08/1426H

Labour Law (corresponding to 27/09/2005G) as amended pursuant to the Royal Decree No. M/5
dated 7/1/1442H (corresponding to 26/8/2020G)

CMA the Capital Market Authority of Saudi Arabia

GAC the General Authority for Competition in Saudi Arabia

MISA the Ministry of Investment of Saudi Arabia

MOC the Ministry of Commerce of Saudi Arabia

MHRSD the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Development of Saudi Arabia.

Acting in Concert

Means, at CMA's discretion, actively cooperating, pursuant to an agreement or
understanding (whether formal or informal) between persons to acquire interest in or
exercise voting right in the shares or in the convertible debt instruments of SIIG.

Business Day

any day, other than a Friday, Saturday or a public holiday in KSA




1. RISK FACTORS

In deciding whether to vote for or against the Acquisition Resolutions, SIIG shareholders should carefully read the risk
factors contained in this section, in addition to all the other sections of this Shareholders' Circular and the information
set out herein. Additional risks, other than those provided herein, and uncertainties not presently known to the SIIG
board, or which the SIIG board currently considers to be immaterial, may also have an adverse effect on the SIIG and
Petrochem.

The members of the board of directors of SIIG confirm, to their best knowledge and belief, that there are no other
material risks, up to the date of this Shareholders’ Circular, the omission of which would influence the shareholders
votes on the Acquisition Resolutions, other than what has been disclosed under this section.

The activity, financial position, results of operations, cash flows, future prospects and profitability of SIIG and its
subsidiaries after Completion of the Acquisition, will be adversely affected should any of the risks referred to herein
materialize. Further, if any other risk materializes (i.e. other than the risks described below, which have not been
provided herein either because the SIIG board is not aware of such risks, or because the SIIG board did not classify
them as material risks but otherwise turned to be material) then such risk will adversely impact the activities, financial
position, results of operations, cash flows, future prospects and profitability of SIIG and its Subsidiaries.

Any SIIG shareholder in doubt about the content of this Shareholders' Circular or in relation to voting in favour of or
against the Acquisition Resolutions should consult an independent financial adviser authorised by the CMA in this
regard.

The order in which the risks are listed under this section below is not intended to reflect their significance or likely
eventuality.

1.1 Risks Relating to the Acquisition Transaction and Siig Business Following Completion

1.1.1 Risks related to satisfying the Completion of the Acquisition conditions

The Completion of the Acquisition is conditional on a number of conditions as summarized in section (3.1)
("Overview of the Acquisition Transaction") of this Shareholders' Circular. Failure to satisfy any of the conditions or
the delay in satisfying such conditions will result in the Completion of the Acquisition not being completed or being
delayed. The most important conditions which have not yet been satisfied are the material terms and conditions
of the Implementation Agreement which the Companies shall comply with until the Effective Date and which was
summarized in Section (5.4.1) (“Implementation Agreement") of this Shareholders' Circular including not breaching
any of the warranties provided or the conduct of business requirements and other conditions set out in the said
section.

Any delay to Completion of the Acquisition due to a failure of satisfying the Completion of the Acquisition conditions
may diminish and/or delay the anticipated benefits or may result in additional transaction costs, loss of revenue or
other unquantifiable effects associated with the delay of the Completion of the Acquisition.

1.1.2 Risksrelating torealizing the anticipated synergies such as cost savings, growth opportunities
and other benefits anticipated from the Acquisition Transaction

After Completion of the Acquisition, SIIG's ability to realize anticipated synergies financial benefits and growth
opportunities or the timing of this realization may be affected by a variety of factors, including but not limited to:

e difficulties or delays in obtaining any approvals that may be required to implement certain actions that aim to
realize any of the benefits of the Acquisition Transaction.

e unforeseeable events, including major changes in the markets and operating environment in which both SIIG
and Petrochem operate.



The projected cost savings from the Acquisition Transaction are based on preliminary estimates. Therefore,
there is a risk that the estimated savings will not be realized due to a variety of reasons including but not limited
to the performance of SIIG and its Subsidiaries after Completion of the Acquisition and other factors related to
petrochemical industry, business environment and economic situation. No responsibility for the outcome in respect
of such preliminary estimates has been assumed by SIIG, its board, its executive management or any other person in
this regard and there is no intention to update the cost saving and benefits or other such forward-looking statements
in this Shareholders' Circular except as required pursuant to applicable law and regulation. Please see Section (3.2)
("Rationale of the Acquisition") of this Shareholders' Circular.

There is a risk that these cost savings expected from the Acquisition Transaction are not realized in the time, manner
or amounts currently expected, if at all, as a result of various external and internal factors. This would adversely
affect SIIG and its subsidiaries after the Completion of the Acquisition and their future operations and operating and
financial results. (For further details of the benefits anticipated from the Acquisition Transaction, please see Section
(3.2) ("Rationale of the Acquisition”) of this Shareholders' Circular).

1.1.3 Risks relating to the Exchange Ratio for the Acquisition Transaction

SIIG willissue Consideration Shares to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders if the Effectiveness of the Acquisition Resolution
becomes effective based on a fixed Exchange Ratio of (1.27) shares in the SIIG for each share in Petrochem (for more
details about the Exchange Ratio, please refer to section (3.2) ("Rationale of the Acquisition"”) of this Shareholders'’
Circular).

The Exchange Ratio has been calculated on the basis of, amongst other things, the share price of the Companies,
certain internal financial information and other data relating to the business and financial prospects of the Companies,
including estimates and financial forecasts for the performance of SIIG after Completion of the Acquisition and the
Acquisition Transaction benefits prepared by the respective management of the Companies. It has been assumed
that such information, forecasts, estimates, and benefits have been reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the
best currently available information of the respective management of the Companies and assuming that they will be
realized in the amounts and time periods contemplated thereby (for further information on Exchange Ratio, please
see section (3.2) (“Rationale of the Acquisition") of this Shareholders' Circular).

If all or any of these assumptions prove to be incorrect, or the share price of the Companies materially change
after the Exchange Ratio has been agreed upon Completion of the Acquisition (as a result of market volatility or the
operations of the Companies, or due to delays in completing the Acquisition Transaction for any reason or due to
any political or economic changes or any reasons that may affect the share price), this would materially affect the
valuations of the Companies and the Exchange Ratio will not accurately reflect the fair values of the Companies at
Completion of the Acquisition.

1.1.4 Risks relating to the dilution of the existing SIIG shareholders, and the decrease of their share
in total net profits and their voting power

After the Effective Date, SIIG shall issue Consideration Shares to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders as per the Exchange
Ratio of (1,27) shares in the SIIG per share in Petrochem. Upon Completion of the Acquisition, Petrochem’s Selling
Shareholders will own (40.38%) in SIIG while SIIG shareholders will own (59,62%). As a result, the percentage holding of
the current SIIG shareholders (to the extent they do not own shares in Petrochem prior to Completion of the Acquisition)
will be less than their percentage holding and number of currently owned shares in SIIG. The decrease in post-completion
percentage holding of the SIIG shareholders (compared to pre-completion percentage holding) will lead to a decrease in
their voting power and shares of total net profits in SIIG after the Completion of the Acquisition.



1.1.5 Risks relating to the SIIG reputation after the Completion of the Acquisition

SIIG and Petrochem reputation s critical for attracting and retaining new customers and establishing strong relationships
with counterparts, whether for SIIG and its co-managed projects or Petrochem or their respective Subsidiaries. SIIG
reputation could be damaged in the future by various factors, including, but not limited to, a decline, restatement, or
other corrections to its financial results, legal or regulatory actions against SIIG or employee misconduct which caused
SIIG to breach applicable legal requirements after Completion of the Acquisition. The damage to the SIIG reputation will
have an adverse effect on SIIG, its subsidiaries -including Petrochem, their co-managed projects, business, financial
position, results of operations, and future prospects after Completion of the Acquisition.

1.1.6 Risks relating to costs sustained to complete the Acquisition Transaction

SIIG expects to incur a range of non-recurring direct costs associated with the Acquisition Transaction, including
fees for financial advisors, auditors, legal advisors and other related costs, these costs amounting to approximately
nineteen million Saudi Riyals (SAR 19,000,000). These costs will be incurred by SIIG regardless of whether the
Acquisition Transaction is completed or not. This may affect the financial position of SIIG.

1.1.7 Risks relating to Petrochem being a fully owned Subsidiary of SIIG

Upon Completion of the Acquisition, Petrochem will be a fully owned Subsidiary of SIIG. Accordingly, it will not act
as an internal section or branch of SIIG. After the Completion of the Acquisition, SIIG will not be able to extract any
funds from Petrochem except through profits distributed to shareholders or by reducing the capital and transferring
the amount resulting from this reduction to the SIIG's current account.

The contractual relations between SIIG and Petrochem, after the Completion of the Acquisition, should not result
in an undue benefit for the SIIG on the expense of Petrochem. SIIG, after the completion of the Acquisition, may
not use Petrochem's assets except through appropriate contractual relationships compatible with the Companies
Law. Otherwise, it may result in fines, penalties, financial claims by third parties or creditors against both SIIG and
Petrochem, which will affect SIIG and Petrochem, their respective operations, future prospects, operational activities,
financial results and market value of the SIIG shares.

1.1.8 Risks relating to independent advice provided by financial advisors

Upon signing the Implementation Agreement on 3/21/1443H (corresponding to 10/27/2021G), SIIG and Petrochem
received independent advice from their respective financial advisors, confirming that the Acquisition is financially
fair, and neither SIIG nor Petrochem obtained any updated advice from their financial advisors as of the date of the
execution of the Implementation Agreement, and they do not intend to do so. The prices of SIIG's shares may differ
upon Completion of the Acquisition due to the changes related to the operations of the two Companies and their
future prospects or changes in the market conditions, the economy and other factors that are beyond their control,
which may affect the statements relied upon by the financial advisors when preparing their advice. As the financial
advisors will not update their independent advice, their opinions will not determine whether the consideration offered
in the Acquisition Transaction is financially fair upon Completion of the Acquisition Transaction. For further details
on this opinion, please see Annex (2) of this Shareholders' Circular.

1.1.9 Risks relating to the potential control by Petrochem's Selling Shareholders of SIIG upon
Completion of the Acquisition

Upon Completion of the Acquisition, the total shareholding percentage of Petrochem's Selling Shareholders in SIIG will
be more than (30%) including the current share of the General Organization for Social Insurance, being a Substantial
Shareholder of Petrochem and a shareholder with direct ownership in SIIG with (4.95%) and indirect ownership, through
its subsidiaries, which will be upon Completion (18.58%) directly owned and (20.33%) indirectly owned, it should be noted
that the proportionate direct and indirect ownership of GOSI in SIIG amounts to (18.93%) Pre-Completion and (38.91%)
Post-Completion. Accordingly, Petrochem's Selling Shareholders will collectively (including the current shareholding of the
General Organization for Social Insurance in SIIG) hold a controlling stake in SIIG representing (40.38%) after Completion
of the Acquisition. Following Completion of the Acquisition therefore such shareholders will be able to influence SIIG's
business through their ability to influence SIIG's decisions including the general assembly's decisions and approvals
(such as the appointment of SIIG's board of directors, dividend distribution, or capital increase or decrease).



1.2 Risks Relating to the Shares

1.2.1 Risks relating to the current and previous trading patterns of SlIG's shares relative to the
historic trends related to SIIG's shares

SlIG's shareholders should be aware that the historic trading patterns of SIIG's shares are independent of, and may
bear no resemblance whatsoever to, the trading patterns of SIIG's shares following completion of the Acquisition
Transaction.

It should also be noted that the SIIG's shareholders base upon the Completion of the Acquisition will differ from the
SlIG's shareholders base before the Completion of the Acquisition, which will result in a difference in trading patterns
compared to the trading patterns before the Completion of the Acquisition.

1.2.2 Risks relating to the decline of the market price of the SlIG's shares as a result of the
Acquisition Transaction

The market price of SlIG's shares (including the Consideration Shares) may decline in the event of occurring multiple
factors related to the Acquisition Transaction, including:

e SIIG does not achieve the expected benefits of the Acquisition Transaction as rapidly or to the extent
anticipated by the investors and financial analysts or SIIG's board;

e the effect of the Acquisition Transaction on financial results of SIIG after the Acquisition Transaction is
completed is not consistent with the expectations of financial analysts or investors or SIIG's board.

1.2.3 Risks related to the volatility of SIIG's shares price

The announcement of the Acquisition Transaction to the investors, the management of the two Companies or
their business, the delay in Completing the Acquisition for any reason or any other political, economic or any other
reason may impact the market price of SIIG and Petrochem shares through increased volatility until the Acquisition
Transaction is finalized. The market price of SlIG's shares during the period between the date of this Shareholders’
Circular and the Completion of the Acquisition may differ significantly, which may impact the market value of SIIG's
share price and the value of the investment of SIIG's investors in SIIG.

It should also be noted that the SIIG's shareholders base upon the Completion of the Acquisition will differ from the
SIIG's shareholders base before the Completion of the Acquisition, which will result in that the shares price may differ
volatility compared to the SIIG's shares price before the Completion of the Acquisition.

1.2.4 Risks related to sale of a significant number of SIIG's shares

It should be noted that sales, or the possibility of sales of substantial numbers of the SIIG shares by Substantial
Shareholders or others upon Completion of the Acquisition may have an adverse effect on the share price.

1.2.5 Risks related to dividend distribution

It may be difficult to determine the profits that SIIG will realize or distribute (if any) upon the Completion of the
Acquisition as such profit depends on a number of different factors, including, but not limited to, the economic
situation at the global and local levels, the economic cycle of the petrochemical sector, and SIIG operational and
financial performance and future prospects. The SlIG's board of directors will also have the absolute discretion in
determining whether or not any dividends will be distributed and determining the amount of such dividends and the
time of distribution (if any).

On the other hand, the distribution of dividends in SIIG's Subsidiaries shall be subject to some restrictions including,
but are not limited to, the results of operations, regulatory requirements, the existence of sufficient distributable
reserves, contractual restrictions under financing agreements (including financial undertakings), joint venture
agreements, and each member of SIIG to have sufficient funds not required for its operations, fulfillment of other
obligations or implementation of its commercial plans.



Therefore, there is no guarantee that SIIG will, after the Completion of the Acquisition, announce or distribute any
future dividends, and there is no guarantee regarding the amount of dividends that SIIG will announce or distribute
after the Completion of the Acquisition (if any) in any specific fiscal year. Additionally, there is no guarantee that the
SIIG's shareholders will receive, after the Completion of the Acquisition, or that they will be entitled to dividends equal
to the previously distributed dividends from SIIG and Petrochem. Furthermore, the SIIG's dividend distribution policy
after the Completion of the Acquisition may be subject to amendment from time to time over the upcoming years.

1.3 Legal Risks

1.3.1 Risks related to the issuance of new laws and regulations that affect Petrochem's operations

Petrochem, its Subsidiaries and operations are subject to several regulators in the KSA, including, but not limited to:
the MOC, the Ministry of Energy, the Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu, the General Authority for Meteorology
and Environmental Protection, municipalities, civil defense, and other entities. Therefore, Petrochem is subject to risks
related to changing laws, regulations, circulars and government policies in the KSA, including laws and regulations
related to taxation, liquidation, import and export, currencies, environment, labor and health and safety standards. The
regulatory and legislative environment in the KSA is subject to continuous changes and development in line with the
development of economic and administrative policies and trends, in addition to the best international practices. The
costs of complying with these regulations are also high. In the event of changes to the existing law and regulations
or the enactment of new laws and regulations related to petrochemical manufacturing, it is possible that SIIG, after
the Completion of the Acquisition, will be forced to make changes to its products and production lines to meet the
requirements of these laws and regulations. This will lead to SIIG incurring, after the Completion of the Acquisition,
unexpected additional financial expenses, whether exceptionally or continuously, which will have a material adverse
impact on the SIIG's business, the results of its operations, its financial position, and future prospects.

SIIG must, after the Completion of the Acquisition, continuously comply with the laws and regulations related to
its business and operations. Accordingly, if SIIG fails, after the Completion of the Acquisition, to comply with these
regulations, it will be subject to fines or penalties imposed by the relevant authorities, which will have a negative
impact on SIIG's operations after the Completion of the Acquisition, leading to an increase in its operating costs or
suspension of its business or its licenses.

1.3.2 Risks related to licenses and permits

Petrochem's Subsidiaries are subject to several laws and regulations that obligate them to obtain the necessary
licenses and permits from the competent regulatory authorities in KSA in order to conduct their business. Petrochem'’s
Subsidiaries are required to obtain and maintain the necessary licenses, permits and regulatory approvals in
connection with their activities including, but not limited to, industrial licenses, foreign investment licenses and
commercial registration certificates obtained by the Subsidiaries of Petrochem from the Ministry of Energy, the MISA
and the MOC, in addition to environmental permits, Chamber of Commerce and industry membership certificates,
Saudization certificates, Zakat certificates, and social insurance certificates. These licenses and permits must remain
in effect on an ongoing basis through the compliance of the Subsidiaries of Petrochem with the laws and regulations
governing these licenses and permits. If, after the Completion of the Acquisition, Petrochem's Subsidiaries fail to
comply with the laws and regulations governing these licenses and permits, or fail to hold a valid license, these
companies may not be able to renew these licenses and permits or obtain additional licenses and permits that may
be required for future expansion. It may also lead to revocation or cancellation of these licenses and permits (in
addition to the imposition of fines in relation to foreign investment licenses). The loss of these licenses and permits
due to non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations may lead to the suspension of the business of the
Subsidiaries Petrochem, after the Completion of the Acquisition, which leads to a material adverse on the SIIG's
business, after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial condition, business results, and future prospects.

1.3.3 Risks related to intellectual property rights

If Petrochem or any of its Subsidiaries fail to protect the intellectual property rights of any of them for any reason, or
if any person infringes the property rights of Petrochem or any of its Subsidiaries, the value of these rights may be
affected, which will have an adverse effect on Petrochem, its processes, future prospects, operations and financial
results and the market value of their shares.



Petrochem or any of its Subsidiaries may from time to time have to file a lawsuit to enforce their trademarks or
any of their intellectual property rights. It is possible for third parties to file a lawsuit against Petrochem or any of
its subsidiaries regarding the violation of their intellectual property rights. Litigation may cause significant costs in
addition to harnessing the company's related resources for the purpose of defending its intellectual property rights,
which will adversely affect the business of Petrochem, or any of its Subsidiaries (as applicable) and their profits
regardless of the outcome of the litigation. As a result of such potential litigation, Petrochem or its of their Subsidiaries
may have to enter into licensing and ownership agreements whose provisions may not be in their interests, or none
of these companies may be able to enter into such agreements. Any of the above will have a material adverse impact
on the SIIG's business after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial condition, business results, and future
prospects.

1.3.4 Risks related to Saudization

MHRSD requires Petrochem, and its Subsidiaries to recruit a specific percentage of Saudi nationals and to ‘Saudize’
certain positions. Petrochem and its Subsidiaries may face, from time to time, difficulties in relation to recruitment
and retention of qualified Saudi nationals. If SIIG, Petrochem, or their Subsidiaries fail to recruit a sufficient number
of Saudi nationals after the Completion of the Acquisition, or if the Saudization rate decreases, SlIG, Petrochem, or
their Subsidiaries may be penalized by the MHRSD for failure to comply with such requirements after the Completion
of the Acquisition, these will have an adverse effect on SIIG's businesses after the Completion of the Transaction,
results of operations and its financial position in general.

If SIIG and its Subsidiaries fail, upon Completion of the Acquisition, to comply with the Saudization rates, a restriction
will be imposed on its recruitment of non-Saudi employees, which may adversely impact the ability of SIIG and its
Subsidiaries to engage in business as usual.

1.3.5 Risks relating to legal disputes

Any lawsuits brought against Petrochem may harm the reputation of Petrochem regardless of its final results. There
is no assurance that it will succeed in addressing any potential or future lawsuits or similar issues under the different
regulations.

Except for Zakat claims contained in section 5.7 (“Litigation Against SIIG") and section 5.8 (“Litigation Against
Petrochem"), Petrochem does not have any lawsuits brought by/or against it.

1.3.6 Risks related to the sufficiency of insurance coverage

Petrochem or its Subsidiaries, being part of the petrochemical and refining sector, may be liable for risks that cannot
be insured against. The insurance may also not be sufficient to cover all the risks that they may be exposed to, or
there may be future cases that are not covered by insurance, which exposes them to losses that are not fully covered
by the insurance or may not be covered at all. In addition, all insurance policies they have purchased have carve outs
and cases that are not covered that may expose them to risks not covered by the insurance policies. Accordingly, all
losses that Petrochem or its subsidiaries may incur due to uninsured risks may adversely and materially affect the
business of SIIG after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial statis, business results and future prospects.

Additionally, in the event that any insurance policy expires and is unable to be renewed with the same coverage or
on commercially reasonable terms, or in the event that it is not completely renewed, or in the event that there is
insufficientinsurance to cover the various activities, all of this will adversely and materially affect the business of SIIG
after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial position, business results and future prospects.



1.4 Risks related to Zakat and taxation

1.4.1 Taxation risks related to the Acquisition Transaction

SIIG shareholders and Petrochem Shareholders may have Zakat and tax obligations in or outside KSA with respect to
the Acquisition or disposal of interests in SIIG and Petrochem or other matters, subject to any available exemptions
or reliefs (including the obligation to disclose the Acquisition Transaction to the relevant tax and Zakat authorities
inside or outside the Kingdom or pay any tax or Zakat obligations that may arise in connection with the Acquisition).

KSA's Zakat and tax rules do not contain provisions providing roll-over relief or deferment of taxation for acquisitions.
While we understand that the General Authority of Zakat and Taxhas, in certain circumstances, previously accepted
that acquisitions could be effected on a Zakat/tax neutral basis, there is no guarantee that they will take this position
for the Acquisition Transaction.

Itis expected that the Acquisition Transaction will be completed in accordance with ‘the business continuity principle’
for VAT purposes as per the definition set out in the VAT implementing regulations. Accordingly, although the transfer
of liability and asset in accordance with ‘the business continuity principle’ is considered outside the scope of VAT,
there is no clarity whether such transfer in the context of the Acquisition Transaction would also be considered
outside the VAT scope.

As Zakat and tax laws are dynamic and change from time to time, SIIG shareholders, after the Completion of
Acquisition, may be exposed to higher Zakat and taxation which could arise due to the introduction of new tax laws,
any change to existing tax laws and regulations, a result of the disclosed or undisclosed practice of, or interpretation
by ZATCA or the relevant authorities in the relevant taxing jurisdiction outside KSA, or case law determined by the
relevant courts.

If shareholders are in any doubt as to their own tax position, they should consult a financial or tax advisor licensed
by the relevant authorities.

1.4.2 Risks related to amendment of tax laws and regulations inside and outside the KSA

Subsidiaries of Petrochem that are based in the KSA must make Zakat payments at 2.5% approximately on the Zakat
base. Subsidiaries of Petrochem must submit an annual Zakat declaration to the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority
within 120 days from the end of each fiscal year.

In addition, the KSA imposed value-added tax on products sold and consumed in the KSA and the Gulf Cooperation
Council countries on 14/04/1439 AH (corresponding to 01/01/2018 G), and on 17/10/1441 AH (corresponding to
9/6/2020 G) a decision was issued by the board of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority to increase the value-added
tax rate to 156% of the selling price, as of 10/11/1441 AH (corresponding to 7/1/2020 G). The Subsidiaries of both SIIG
and Petrochem must pay the value-added tax, which in turn will affect the current supply, distribution, marketing, and
services agreements for each of SIIG and Petrochem companies, as this will lead to an increase in their prices, which
will have a significant negative impact on SIIG's business after the Completion of the Acquisition, the results of its
operations, its financial position or its future prospects.

Since tax laws and regulations change from time to time, SIIG may be exposed to an increase in taxes imposed on it,
after the Completion of the Acquisition, which may arise due to the enactment of new tax laws and regulations and
changes to the existing tax laws and regulations, which will negatively and significantly affect SIIG's business, after
the Completion of the Acquisition, the results of its operations and its financial position in general.

1.4.3 Risks related to withholding tax

The tax laws in the KSA require the payment of withholding tax, which is a tax imposed on a non-resident who does
not have a permanent establishment in the KSA when he gains income from a source in the KSA, and the resident is
responsible for paying the amount of withholding tax to the Zakat, Income and Customs Authority for the amounts
subject to tax in the KSA for non-residents.



In the event that, after completing the Acquisition Transaction, SIIG or its Subsidiaries, which are required to deduct
the tax from non-residents that do not have a permanent establishment in the KSA while generating revenue from the
KSA, fail to pay the amounts of withholding tax to ZATCA pursuant to tax laws in force in the KSA, ZATCA will have the
right to claim withholding tax from SIIG or its companies residing in the KSA (as applicable) and may be penalized for
withholding taxes that are not paid on the due date.

1.4.4 Risks related to Zakat and tax positions

SIIG submitted its Zakat and income tax returns to ZATCA up to 2020, and ZATCA has made several additional
assessments on SIIG with an additional commitment on SIIG in the amount of forty-two million one hundred thirty-
eight thousand five hundred ten Saudi Riyals (SAR 42,138,510) for the years from 2007 to 2014. SIIG submitted its
objection to those assessments to the General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees, and the
objection is still under consideration up to the date of this Shareholders' Circular.

Petrochem also submitted its Zakat and income tax returns to ZATCA up to 2020. ZATCA has made several additional
assessments with additional obligations on Petrochem, totaling three hundred forty-two million three hundred
thousand Saudi Riyals (SAR 342,300,000), which had been reduced to one hundred ninety three million five hundred
thousand Saudi Riyals (SAR 193,500,000) as of the date of this Circular. The details of these additional assessments
and obligations and their current status is as follows:

e ZATCA made assessments for the years from 2014 to 2016 with an additional commitment on Petrochem in
the amount of (SAR 204.2) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem submitted its objection to the same to the General
Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees. The Tax Violations and Disputes Committee issued
its decision to partially accept the objection so that the additional obligation on Petrochem for the years from
2014 to 2016 was reduced to (SAR 92.5) million Saudi Riyals. Thereafter, Petrochem and ZATCA submitted
their appeals against the aforementioned decision to the Tax Violations and Disputes Appeal Committee, and
the appeal is still under consideration up to the date of this Shareholders' Circular.

e ZATCA made assessments for the years from 2017 to 2018 with an additional obligation on Petrochem in the
amount of (SAR 128.9) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem submitted its objection to those assessments to the
General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees, which issued its decision partially accepting
the objections, bringing the amount down to (SAR 91.8) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem plans to object to the
above-mentioned decision to the General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committee within the
set objection period.

e ZATCA made assessments for the years from 2019 to 2020 with an additional obligation on Petrochem in
the amount of (SAR 9.2) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem submitted its objection to those assessments to the
General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees, and the objection is still under consideration
up to the date of this Shareholders' Circular.

If the objection of either SIIG or Petrochem is rejected by the authority competent to consider Zakat disputes, this
may have an adverse impact on SlIG's business after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial position and the
results of its operations.



1.5 Risks relating to the COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic may have material adverse impacts on business, financial position, results of Petrochem
and its Subsidiaries.

COVID-19 was first reported in December 2019G and has subsequently spread throughout the world to countries
and jurisdictions in which Petrochem and its Subsidiaries operate. The COVID-19 pandemic has had and continue
to have adverse repercussions across regional and global economies and financial markets which adversely affect
the jurisdictions in which Petrochem and its Subsidiaries operate including the KSA. Governments, businesses
and the public are taking unprecedented actions to contain the spread of COVID-19 and to mitigate its effects,
including quarantines, travel bans, shelter-in-place orders, closures of businesses and schools, fiscal stimulus, and
other regulatory changes. While the scope, duration and full effects of COVID-19 are rapidly evolving and not fully
known, the pandemic and related efforts to contain it have disrupted global economic activity, adversely affected the
functioning of financial markets, impacted interest rates, increased economic and market uncertainty, and disrupted
trade and supply chains. If these effects continue for a prolonged period or result in sustained economic stress or
recession, many of the risk factors identified in this Shareholders' Circular could be exacerbated, and such effects
could have a material adverse impact on Petrochem in a number of ways. In addition, mutated strains of COVID-19
have been discovered with greater susceptibility to spread and infection, including strains that were discovered in the
United Kingdom, India and South Africa. Given that these strains are newly discovered, it is not possible to predict
how different their impact will be from the first strain of the COVID-19, but it has limited the easing of the restrictions
imposed to limit the outbreak of COVID-19 in some countries, which may delay the stages of recovery of the global
economy, adversely affecting SIIG after the Completion of the Acquisition.

1.5.1 Economic and financial risks

The operations, financial condition and results of Petrochem may be affected by a variety of external factors,
including disruptions in the capital markets, changes in interest rates that may increase funding costs of Petrochem
and its Subsidiaries due to economic conditions and the various response of governmental and nongovernmental
authorities in relation to a limited number of the operations of Petrochem and its Subsidiaries. During the year 2020G,
the COVID-19 pandemic has led to disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, which increased the cost
of capital. Although markets began to recover, a prolonged period of volatile and unstable market conditions may
increase the funding costs of Petrochem. Furthermore, the volatility in global capital markets since March 2020 has
also resulted in increased volatile currency exchange rate risks, which may also negatively affect SIIG's business
after the Completion of the Acquisition.

1.5.2 Strategic risks

As a result of the business shutdown and facilities closures, the global economy has significantly slowed down,
resulting in reduced customer demand across the markets where the Companies operate in or is contemplating
to operate in. In particular, reduced demand may impact the development and success of Petrochem Subsidiaries’
business and whether they can implement their strategies. The reduced customer demand may not swiftly increase
to pre-COVID-19 level or at all, due to the potential prolonged global economic crisis or recession. An economic
downturn may alter the priorities of governments to subsidize and/or incentivize participation in the SIIG's
Subsidiaries’ markets in which they operate, which could have an adverse impact on their financial condition, results
of operations, and cash flows.



1.6

1.6.1

Risks related to Petrochem'’s operations

Risks related to Petrochem’s main operations

Petrochem and its Subsidiaries work on managing factory operations, risk management and performance monitoring
in order to develop the equities of its shareholders and enhance the competitive capabilities of Petrochem and its
Subsidiaries in various markets. The risks that affect Petrochem and its Subsidiaries (including Petrochem), after the
Completion of the Acquisition, in their main industries include, but not limited to, the following:

1.6.1.1

1.6.1.2

1.6.1.3

1.6.1.4

1.6.1.5

1.6.1.6

1.6.1.7

1.6.1.8
1.6.1.9

1.6.1.10

1.6.2

Risks related to supplying raw materials (feedstock) and their prices on which Subsidiaries of
Petrochem and Petrochem depend for production. The Subsidiaries mainly supply feedstock from the
Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Saudi Aramco) at prices similar to that of petrochemical companies in
Saudi Arabia, and any change in the feedstock price will affect the company's profitability.

Risks related to the operational performance level, which contain many technologies and equipment
that may be exposed to malfunctions and disruptions from time to time, as the operational units of
the Subsidiaries are exposed to some unscheduled disruptions that may affect the performance of the
company.

Risks related to the inability to increase production at the maximum capacity level.

The activity of the Subsidiaries includes the manufacture and marketing of petrochemical products,
including hazardous or flammable products, similar to any activities that involve dealing with
hazardous materials.

Interest rate risk, which has two effects on Petrochem's business, as the interest continued declining
negatively affects bank deposits, Islamic Murabaha, and the existing hedging operations to which the
Subsidiaries are associated. In Contrast, the increase in interest rates increases the cost of existing
loans in Subsidiaries, which could have an adverse impact on the activities of Petrochem and their
Subsidiaries.

Human resources risks relevant to the instability of Saudi competencies in the development and
continuity of the company's performance.

Environmental risks relevant to petrochemical industries, such as pollution and the consequent fines
and costs.

Risks related to dumping in the markets where the products of Subsidiaries are sold.
Risks related to obsolete and slow-moving spare parts.

Risks related to Petrochem's dependence on Gulf Polymers Distribution Company FZCO to sell the
majority of its products.

Operations limited revenue

Petrochem is a holding company that has no operations, source of income or assets of its own other than 1) its shares in
its Subsidiaries, which are the following companies: Gulf Polymers Distribution Company and Saudi Polymers Company,
and 2) its investments in securities. Therefore, SIIG's cash flows and ability to pay the debts that it may incur after the
Completion of the Acquisition, as well as its ability to pay dividends to its shareholders, depend on dividends or other
transfers from its Subsidiaries.



1.6.3 Risks relating to Client Concentration and reliance on Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Co.,
Ltd.

Petrochem's Subsidiaries have entered into several agreements with Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company
Ltd., either directly or through companies wholly owned by Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company Ltd.. These
agreements include (1) a partnership agreement, (2) sales and marketing agreements, and (3) a trade name and
licensing agreement. The revenues concentration percentage relating to Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company
Ltd. is 78% of Petrochem'’s gross revenues pursuant to its 2020G audited consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, any negative changes in the terms and conditions of those agreements, or the adoption by Chevron
Phillips Petrochemical Co., Ltd. or the Arab Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company, of any decision to terminate
any of such agreements may negatively affect the SIIG's operations after the Completion of the Acquisition, its results
and its financial position.

1.6.4 Administrative control over Gulf Polymers Distribution Company and Saudi Polymers
Company

There are several joint ventures between Petrochem and the Arabian Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company
(owned by Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company Ltd.), these joint ventures are Gulf Polymers Distribution
Company and Saudi Polymers Company (for more details about these companies and their structure, see Section
(4.5.4) ("Companies in which Petrochem Holds Shares") of this Shareholders' Circular. The financials of these
companies are not consolidated due to Petrochem having no administrative control over them.

Petrochem exercises control, but not complete, over these companies to the extent of its equity, and therefore, it
depends on the Arab Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company to cooperate in making decisions related to these
companies. On that basis, the day-to-day operations and development of the facilities of these companies is
the responsibility of their respective management. Accordingly, Petrochem does not have the absolute ability to
influence these operations on a daily basis is limited and Petrochem may not be able, to prevent any actions that
it may believe do not fully serve the interest of the shareholders in Gulf Polymers Distribution Company and Saudi
Polymers Company, or Petrochem's interest. Accordingly, actions taken may not be in the best interest of the
stakeholders or Petrochem which could adversely impact SIIG's business, after the Completion of the Acquisition,
the results of its operations and its financial position.

1.6.5 Dependence on the Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Saudi Aramco) as a major supplier of raw
materials

Saudi Polymers Company obtains all its raw material requirements from the Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Saudi
Aramco) in addition to the ethane and propane. Saudi Polymers Company's relies 100% on Saudi Arabian Oil
Company (Saudi Aramco) for raw materials pursuant to its 2020G audited consolidated financial statements. Under
the raw material supply agreements currently in force, Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Saudi Aramco) is not obligated to
supply the agreed raw material or provide an alternative, and is not responsible for any loss due to its failure to deliver
the material in accordance with the agreement. Accordingly, if Saudi Polymers Company loses the Saudi Arabian
0il Company (Saudi Aramco) as a supplier of raw materials, or if the Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Saudi Aramco) is
unable or unwilling to supply Saudi Polymers Company with raw materials in the required quantities or refuses to
supply the same in any quantities, as a result of shortages in produced quantities or operational problems in any of
their production facilities, this company may experience temporary interruptions in supplies that may force them to
close their facilities. In addition, Saudi Polymers Company could experience material delays in its search for suitable
alternative raw materials on commercially viable terms. If any one of these risks materializes, SIIG's business, after
the Completion of the Acquisition, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.



1.6.6 Production technology licenses

Most of the technology currently being used by Saudi Polymers Company is a technology used under license
from Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Co., Ltd. by virtue of an agreement with Arab Chevron Phillips Petrochemical
Company. The Saudi Polymers Company uses a number of technologies owned by Chevron Phillips Petrochemical
Company Ltd., whose use has been licensed to the Saudi Polymers Company through Saudi Chevron Phillips. Based
on the foregoing, if the patents of Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Ltd. become invalid or its trade secrets become
known to its competitors, this may impair SIIG's ability to compete after the Completion of the Acquisition.

In addition, the competitors of the Subsidiaries of Petrochem or any other parties may obtain patents that may limit
the ability of the Subsidiaries of Petrochem to legally produce or sell their products in a competitive manner, which
may result in a significant decrease in revenues and profit margins and loss of market share if the benefits achieved
through the use of current technologies are no longer available to the Subsidiaries of Petrochem. If any of the above
materializes, it may adversely and materially affect the business of SIIG after the Completion of the Acquisition, its
financial position, business results and future prospects

1.7 Market and Industry Risks

1.7.1 Risks related to competition

Petrochem and its Subsidiaries operate in an industrial sector with a high degree of competition, as some of the
competitors of Petrochem and its Subsidiaries are able to manufacture products at lower cost and enjoy higher
operational flexibility compared to the Subsidiaries of Petrochem, which enables them to better adapt to the
conditions and variables of the petrochemical industry and the changes in the prices of raw materials and fuel as
well as the changes in economic conditions in general. In addition, the low prices of competitors’ products may force
the Subsidiaries of Petrochem, after the Completion of the Acquisition, to reduce the prices of their products, which
would affect SIIG's profit margins negatively after Completion of the Acquisition.

It should be noted that some competitors of Petrochem and its Subsidiaries have larger financial resources than
them, which enables them to make large capital investments in their companies, including spending on research
and development. If any of their current or future competitors develop proprietary technology that enables them
to produce goods at a much lower cost, the technology of Petrochem and its Subsidiaries will be considered
economically unviable.

The ability of Petrochem to maintain or raise the current level of profitability will depend on the ability of their
Subsidiaries to balance the prices and profit margins of products or mitigate their decline by improving the efficiency
and volume of production and switching to chemical products with higher profit margins as well as improving the
level of existing products through innovation and research and development. In the event that the Subsidiaries are
unable to do so, this may affect their market shares, which will have a material negative impact on the financial
position of Petrochem after the Completion of the Acquisition.

Subsidiaries of Petrochem get a large portion of their revenues from selling their products. Due to the nature of these
products, competition in the petrochemical products markets depends mainly on the price of the products and to alesser
extent on their quality, speed of delivery, and customer service provided in this regard. As a result, the Subsidiaries of
Petrochem may not be able to maintain their market share. The prices of the products of the Subsidiaries of Petrochem
are related to an economic cycle of the petrochemical sector and are mainly driven by supply and demand for raw
materials and general economic conditions, compared to previous years. As for other products, they may be subject to
these same factors, but the effect of these factors usually remains the greatest on commodity products.



1.7.2 Risks related to import and export

The change of existing legal or regulatory requirements in countries or regional trading blocs (such as the Gulf
Cooperation Council Customs Union) where SIIG and its Subsidiaries operate or the imposition of new requirements
in relation to import and export including anti-dumping duties and customs tariffs, will affect the competitive position
of the products manufactured by the Subsidiaries of Petrochem or may prevent the sale of these products in some
related countries, which may have an adverse effect on the business of SIIG and Petrochem after the Completion of
the Acquisition.

1.7.3 Risks related to change in products supply and demand

The markets of many of the products Petrochem's Subsidiaries witnessed successive periods, some of which had
a contraction of supply, which caused an increase in prices and profit margins, followed by periods that witnessed
a recovery in production capacity, which resulted in an oversupply and a decrease in prices and profit margins.
Accordingly, the future growth of demand for the products of Petrochem's Subsidiaries may not be sufficient to
mitigate the impact of a surplus in production capacity, especially since these conditions may last for a longer period
or may be exacerbated more as a result of expected or unexpected additions in production capacity or due to any
other events. As a result, the production levels of the Subsidiaries of Petrochem, product sales, and profit margins
may be affected significantly, which in turn leads to a decrease in their financial performance levels in general, which
will affect the financial position of SIIG and Petrochem after the Completion of the Acquisition.

1.7.4 Risks related to the price of crude oil and its derivatives

The price of most products of the Subsidiaries of Petrochem is related to the price of feedstock. Accordingly, the
international prices of oil and its derivatives greatly affect the prices of other petrochemical products, which makes
their prices highly volatile and fluctuate as a result of many variables in the global oil markets. Since it may be difficult
to control the factors that affect the prices of oil and its derivatives, any decline in crude oil prices could have a
negative and material impact on the results of the Subsidiaries of SIIG and Petrochem, after the Completion of the
Acquisition, and their financial position and liquidity, including their ability to finance planned capital expenditures,
which may have an adverse effect on SIIG and its financial results.

1.7.5 Risks related to KSA economy and the global economy

Petrochem and its Subsidiaries currently have a significant proportion of their operations and interests in the KSA.
Accordingly, their businesses operations and financial results will continue to be generally affected by the financial,
political and economic conditions prevailing from time to time in the KSA or in the Middle East in general.

These markets are subject to risks similar to other developed and developing markets, including significant legal,
economic and political risks. Although the KSA aims to diversify its economy, lift the government subsidies and reduce
its dependence on oil, the oil and gas industry continues to dominate the KSA's economy. Declines in international
prices of hydrocarbon products would adversely affect the KSA's economy, which in turn will have an adverse affect
on the business of SIIG, after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial position and the results of its operations.

1.7.6 Risks related to SlIG's and Petrochem'’s inventory

In the ordinary course of business of Petrochem'’s Subsidiaries, raw materials for the manufacture of products and
spare parts are purchased and stored. It should be noted that inventory may be subject to recurring risks including,
but not limited to, fire or damage as well as the risk of obsolescence and usable material becoming unusable.
Accordingly, any unexpected accidents, the inability to maintain the stock in good condition, or the occurrence of any
damage toit, in whole or in part, may adversely and materially affect the business of SIIG after the Completion of the
Acquisition, its financial position, business results and future prospects.



1.7.7 Risks related to dismantling obligations

According to the IFRS as adopted by SOCPA, companies that own factories must make a provision for a dismantling
obligation, which is to make an annual provision for the dismantling and removal of machinery. As at the date of this
Shareholders' Circular Petrochem and its operating Subsidiaries have not recorded the provision for the dismantling
obligation due to the inability to assess such obligation at the present time.

If these obligations are evaluated, this may result in the risk of creating provisions in accordance with the IFRS,
which would adversely and materially affect the activities of SIIG after the Completion of the Acquisition, its financial
position, business results and future prospects.

1.7.8 Risks related to changes in the prices of raw materials

There is no guarantee that the prices of raw materials and products will remain at their current levels, as the prices
of raw materials may be affected by a number of factors outside the control of Petrochem or its Subsidiaries, which
may include, but not be limited to, changes in economic conditions in the Kingdom, supply and demand, economic
policies pursued by the government of the Kingdom, global or regional economic conditions, or international treaties
to which the Kingdom is currently bound, or to which it may become a party in the future. There is also no guarantee
that the prices of raw materials will not change, and there is no guarantee that they will not affect the profitability of
SIIG after the Completion of the Acquisition as a result of its full ownership of Petrochem.

If any of the above materializes, it may adversely and materially affect the business of SIIG after the Completion of
the Acquisition, its financial position, business results and future prospects.

1.7.9 Risks related to supply chains

The businesses of Petrochem's Subsidiaries include interconnectedness in the supply chains of raw materials or
products, and accordingly, these Subsidiaries are exposed to risks that may fall on supply chains, including low
quality of raw materials or products, or complete or partial disruption of supply chains.

If any of the above materializes, it may adversely and materially affect the business of SIIG after the Completion of
the Acquisition, its financial position, business results and future prospects.



2. MARKET OVERVIEW

This section pertaining to the market and petrochemical industry (“Market Section") was produced by IHS Global FZ
LLC and/or subsidiaries and affiliates of IHS Markit (collectively referred to as “IHS"). The Market Section contains
information and analysis of IHS (“IHS Information") and is based on information collected within the public domain
and on assessments by IHS.

IHS conducted its analysis and prepared this Market Section utilizing reasonable care and skill in applying methods
of analysis consistent with normal industry practice. All results are based on information available at the time of
review. Other information, including government sources, trade associations or marketplace participants, may have
provided some of the information on which the analyses or data is based. IHS may have utilized such information
without verification and accepts no liability for errors or inaccuracies.

Changes in factors upon which the analysis is based could affect the results. Forecasts are inherently uncertain
because of events or combinations of events that cannot reasonably be foreseen including the actions of
government, individuals, third parties and marketplace participants. IHS shall not be liable for any claims whatsoever,
whether caused by negligence, errors, omissions, strict liability, or contribution. NO IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE SHALL APPLY. IHS MAKES NO GUARANTY OR
WARRANTY AND ASSUMES NO LIABILITY AS TO USE.

IHS Information is provided for the sole benefit of Saudi Industrial Investment Group and, unless otherwise approved
in advance in writing by IHS, is non-transferrable and non-assignable. All intellectual property rights including
copyrights in or to the IHS information are owned by, vest in, inure to, and shall remain with IHS.

The name of IHS, or any trade name, trademark, service mark, or symbol owned by IHS may not be used in advertising,
publicity, or to represent, directly or indirectly, that any product has been approved or endorsed by IHS.

2.1 Economic Outlook

The global economy has suffered one of the hardest hits in 2020 (G) since the Great Depression impacted by the
Covid-19 pandemic. Even the largest economies came to a standstill as a direct result of the reduction of demand to
levels never seen before. Crude oil demand was heavily impacted by the reduction of fuels usage in the transportation
and the energy sector which, by its turn was also battered by the transition to clean energy matrices that has
exponentially accelerated during that period. As a result, the chemical industry witnessed a dramatic drop in their
operating rates for almost all their sectors, from paints and coatings to fine chemicals except for surfactant used in
disinfectants and other cleaning products, causing a major erosion in selling prices and consequently, reducing the
operating margins.

As the global vaccination drive gains momentum, the economy is expected to recover as the global GDP is set to
grow by 5.7% in 2021 (G) from a contraction of 3.5% in 2020 (G) mainly driven by North America, West Europe and
China. As far as the chemical industry is concerned, if we took ethylene market which is one of the most important
building blocks of this industry, we expect it to return to pre-Covid levels by 2022 (G) onward as consumption will
remain increasingly driven by emerging countries, where improvements in living standards and growing population
are prompting a growing use of a variety of polymers and chemicals.

While Saudi Arabia enjoys a very competitive cash cost position for basic petrochemical building blocks, its
geographical position away from key consumer centres poses as a major threat to its competitiveness especially
when it comes to certain petrochemicals. For instance, the Middle East holds almost 20% of the global nameplate
capacity for HDPE however, the regional demand is only 6.5% (Asia holds at around 48% of the global demand).
Therefore, the development of a strong petrochemicals downstream industry in Saudi Arabia and fomenting the
internal demand are paramount to adding value to base chemicals which still are exported to major consumer
centres that can transform those products into high added value finished goods.



2.2 Ethylene

Introduction

Ethylene is primarily a petrochemically derived monomer used as a feedstock in the manufacture of plastics, fibers,
and other organic chemicals that are ultimately consumed in the packaging, transportation, and construction
industries, as well as many other industrial and consumer markets. Nondurable or consumable end uses—in
particular, packaging—account for more than half of all ethylene derivative consumption worldwide. One particular
plastic resin, polyethylene, accounts for most of the total ethylene consumption. Because ethylene is one of the
largest-volume petrochemicals worldwide, with a diverse derivative portfolio (including nondurable and durable end
uses), ethylene consumption is sensitive to both economic and energy cycles. Because of its size and broad usage,
ethylene is also often used as a benchmark for the performance of the entire petrochemical industry.

Global Supply, Demand and Trade Overview

Ethylene is the largest-volume basic petrochemical, produced primarily by the steam cracking of hydrocarbons
(naphtha, ethane, gas oil, and LPG). In 2020 (G), global production was 166.3 million metric tons. As a major chemical
intermediate, ethylene is further reacted to produce a wide spectrum of products. Polyethylene is the single-largest outlet
and accounted for 63% of global ethylene consumption in 2020 (G). Other major applications include the production
of ethylene oxide, ethylene dichloride, and ethylbenzene. Ethylene underpins several different value chains and various
economic sectors; the ethylene industry is cyclical and broadly depends on investment and economic cycles.

The recent Covid-19 pandemic led to a global disruption of many economic sectors, prompting world GDP decline of
3.2%. Ethylene markets sufferedin 2020 (G), but have remained positive, driven by a high dependence on consumables
and supporting underlying trends such as online shopping, working from home, and a shift in consumer spending
away from services towards consumer goods. New capacity additions have also remained sustained, leading to a
further decline of the industry-wide operating rate to about 86% in 2020 (G).

In 2020 (G), world ethylene capacity was about 194.1 million metric tons. Northeast Asia had the single-largest
installed capacity (27.4%), followed by North America (24.5%) and the Middle East (17.5%). During 2011-2020 (G)
period, ethylene capacity has increased at an average rate of 3% per year, translating into 45.8 million metric tons
of newly installed capacity. Regions with access to cost-advantaged ethane feedstock have contributed to a large
portion of new ethylene capacity commissioned since 2010 (G).

The Middle East has capitalized on the availability of cheap ethane and has exported most of its downstream
derivatives. However, the rhythm of new capacity additions in this region has recently slowed, influenced by decreasing
natural gas field developments. In North America, natural gas liquids coproduced with shale gas and tight oil have
represented competitively priced feedstock readily available for the petrochemical industry. As a result, new ethane-
based petrochemical units have been launched, with 14.6 million metric tons commissioned over the last decade.

Ethylene - Historical and Future Capacities (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 35,308 | 36,630 | 38,088 | 41,215| 43,881 | 47,584 | 48,874 | 51,506 | 53,552 | 53,552 | 53,552 | 53,552
South America 5,404 5,404 5,400 5,404 5,382 5,382 5,382 5,382 5,382 5,382 5,382 5,382
West Europe 22,804 | 22,550 | 22,550 | 22,550 | 22,550 | 22,650 | 22,550 | 22,650 | 22,550 | 22,5650 | 22,550 | 22,550
Central Europe 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324 2,324
CIS & Baltic States 3,737 4,137 4,437 4,611 4,910 6,410 6,410 6,410 7,561 8,610 8,716 | 11,330
Africa 1,428 1,544 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888 1,888
Middle East 30,987 | 32,294 | 33,857 | 33,912 | 33,912 | 33,912 | 35250 | 35,293 | 35,335| 35,335| 35,335| 36,335
Indian Subcontinent 3,980 4,350 6,388 7,470 7,470 7,470 7,769 8,670 8,670 8,670 8,670 8,670
Northeast Asia 41,751 | 42,002 | 43,724 | 45,680 | 47,678 | 53,109 | 60,975 | 67,899 | 72,275| 74,451 | 76,338 | 76,338
Southeast Asia 11,632 | 11,941 12,041 12,133 | 12,564 | 13,433 | 14,261 14,393 | 15,393 | 16,393 | 16,393 | 16,393
Global 159,355 | 163,177 | 170,697 | 177,187 | 182,559 | 194,062 | 205,684 | 216,314 | 224,930 | 229,155 | 231,148 | 234,762

Source: IHS 2020



Ethylene - Historical and Future Demand (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 31,839 | 32,876 | 33,168 | 36,007 | 38,157 | 39,729 | 40,824 | 42,197 | 43,657 | 44,759 | 46,008 | 47,078
South America 4,614 4,648 4,591 4,354 3,912 3,781 4,118 4,179 4,209 4,290 4,382 4,384
West Europe 19,311 | 19,669 | 19,821 | 19,494 | 19,090 | 18,654 | 18,944 | 19,030 | 18,982 | 19,214 | 19,343 | 19,771
Central Europe 1,904 1,673 1,997 1,962 1,897 2,112 2,196 2,188 2,192 2,234 2,315 2,396
CIS & Baltic States 3,171 3,627 3,760 3,974 4,353 5,178 5,440 5,446 6,290 6,901 7,457 8,345
Africa 976 1,020 1,214 1,244 1,289 1,244 1,327 1,340 1,338 1,374 1,400 1,447
Middle East 26,098 | 27,334 | 28,856 | 30,095 | 30,305 | 28,896 | 29,438 | 29,189 | 29,191 | 29,701 | 30,601 | 31,177
Indian Subcontinent 3,985 4,181 4,732 6,872 6,822 7,322 6,938 7,446 7,469 7,767 8,067 8,554
Northeast Asia 38,138 | 40,965 | 42,669 | 43,858 | 45699 | 47,412 | 53,043 | 57,097 | 60,813 | 63,585 | 65,816 | 68,524
Southeast Asia 10,827 | 10,871 | 11,399 | 12,129 | 11,992 | 12,005| 12,327 | 12,621 | 13,182 | 13,891 | 14,596 | 15,089
Global 140,863 | 146,865 | 152,209 | 159,989 | 163,517 | 166,333 | 174,596 | 180,734 | 187,323 | 193,716 | 199,985 | 206,764

Source: IHS 2020

Ethylene - Historical and Future Production (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 32,508 | 32,718 | 34,236 | 37,160 | 38,956 | 40,601 | 41,712 | 43,185 | 44,314 | 45597 | 46,763 | 47,974
South America 4,371 4,513 4,496 4,216 3,818 3,729 4,065 4,128 4,159 4,233 4,345 4,344
West Europe 19,316 | 20,305 | 20,355 | 19,812 | 18,412 | 19,045| 18,818 | 18,843 | 18,885 | 19,116 | 19,323 | 19,750
Central Europe 1,742 1,415 1,932 1,915 1,877 1,725 1,983 1,969 1,984 2,012 2,183 2,262
CIS & Baltic States 3,041 3,484 3,631 3,874 4,003 5,353 5,445 5,456 6,305 6,921 7,487 8,365
Africa 935 1,054 1,178 1,210 1,284 1,232 1,301 1,314 1,312 1,346 1,373 1,420
Middle East 26,479 | 27,955 | 29,357 | 30,513 | 30,474 | 29,294 | 30,082 | 29,896 | 29,897 | 30,234 | 30,866 | 31,371
Indian Subcontinent 3,932 4,346 5,485 6,417 6,933 7,037 6,836 7,347 7,370 7,652 7,937 8,424
Northeast Asia 38,533 | 40,480 | 41,742 | 42,589 | 44,752 | 46,810 | 52,417 | 56,455 | 60,500 | 62,923 | 65,143 | 67,745
Southeast Asia 10,602 | 10,527 | 11,587 | 12,018 | 11,949 | 11,632 | 11,937 | 12,141 12,597 | 13,681 14,566 | 15,109
Global 141,460 | 146,797 | 153,998 | 159,724 | 162,457 | 166,357 | 174,596 | 180,734 | 187,323 | 193,716 | 199,985 | 206,764

Source: IHS 2020

In the Middle East region, ethylene capacity was around 33.9 million metric tons, accounting for 17.5% of the world
total. Regional ethylene capacity has developed at an average rate of 2.5% per year during 2011-2020 (G) period.

Saudi Arabia is the region's largest ethylene producer, accounting for 52% of the total capacity. In this country, the
very cheap nature of ethane (fixed at $0.75 per mmBtu until 2015 (G) and raised to $1.75 per mmBtu in 2016(G))
has provided a significant cost advantage for ethylene and ethylene derivatives manufacturers and has created
the foundation for the most cost-competitive ethylene industry globally. In 2015-20 (G), the most notable project
start-up in Saudi Arabia was the large-scale export-oriented integrated olefins and derivatives complex of Sadara
Chemical in Al Jubail, Saudi Arabia.

Polyethylene (HDPE, LDPE, and LLDPE) is the major outlet for ethylene, with 63% of the global demand in 2020 (G).
The next largest market is ethylene oxide (EO), used primarily to produce ethylene glycol (EG), which is used primarily
in the production of PET (for polyester fibers, PET bottles, and polyester film). EO accounted for 15% of the ethylene
market in 2020 (G). The third largest outlet is ethylene dichloride (EDC), which is used for the production of PVC. In
2020, EDC accounted for nearly 9% of ethylene demand. Other major ethylene uses include ethylbenzene, alpha-
olefins, and vinyl acetate.

Global demand of ethylene is forecast to recover along with the global economy in the next ten years. Overall,
ethylene demand is expected to increase by about 63.3 million metric tons throughout the forecast period 2021-
2031 (G) (3.1% per year). The largest contributors will be Northeast Asia, North America, the CIS and Baltic States,
and Southeast Asia. By 2031 (G), world ethylene consumption is expected to exceed 237.9 million metric tons.

In 2020 (G), global ethylene trade was 4.1 million metric tons. Trade volumes appear limited at just about 2.5% of
world production; this is related to the cost of ethylene transportation and its associated danger (highly flammable
and explosive gas when mixed with air or an oxygen source). Ethylene is normally used where it is produced or
transported by pipeline from one production unit to the other (typically located on the same petrochemical platform).
In 2020 (G), most of the ethylene trade was in Northeast Asia, which accounted for 65% and 44% of the world's total
imports and exports, respectively; most of the traded volumes corresponded to intraregional flows. The remainder
was largely covered by Southeast Asia. Other regions had a more limited share in the global ethylene trade. Northeast
Asia is projected to remain the major region for ethylene trade.



Following the dramatic increase in capacity during the preceding decade, the last five years have seen a period of
slow development in Middle Eastern steam cracker capacity, still increasing but at a much-reduced pace. This lower
rate of addition will continue through much of the forecast period. Nevertheless, the region's capacity has increased
from 31 million metric tons in 2015 (G) to around 34 million metric tons in 2020 (G). The region’s portion of global
capacity has slipped from 19.1% in 2017 to 16.8% in 2020 (G); this compares with just 7.0% at the turn of the century.
Most of the associated derivative production is being exported, to the extent that the region is exporting more than
18 million metric tons of equivalent ethylene, growing slowly to 22 million metric tons by 2030 (G).

Pricing and Margin Analysis

In North America, the weighted average cash costs, which are calculated using the cash cost for feedstocks (ethane,
propane, butane, light naphtha, and gas oil) and the estimated amount of ethylene produced from each feedstock
during the period. Although this cost does not estimate the actual cost for an individual steam cracker using the
given feedstock, it is a good estimate of the average cost for the industry in any given year. This number is used when
forecasting the ethylene prices and margins. During the forecast period, margins for ethane-based steam crackers
are expected to trend close to reinvestment economic parity to incentivize enough cracker builds in the United States
to assist in closing the global ethylene balance and balance US ethane production. The drilling of shale wells in areas
that yield large amounts of natural gas liquids will keep the supply of ethane high and prices low relative to other
feedstocks, with ethane expected to remain the favoured feed in the long-term forecast. US cracker margins are
forecast to improve in the latter half of the forecast period as the new capacity is absorbed.

Ethylene production in West Europe is predominately based on naphtha feedstocks. Since movements in crude oil
pricing influence regional naphtha prices, global energy market volatility has a strong impact on steam cracker cash
costs in West Europe. In recent years, the amount of propane and butane being cracked in the region has increased;
however, the amount has not and is not expected to become large enough to dictate ethylene pricing. The imports of
ethane will also have no bearing on European pricing levels; the volumes imported will not be significant enough to
change market dynamics. With significant additional capacity in other regions, European operating rates are expected
to remain below long-term levels as pressure from imports remains in place and derivative closures are limiting
ethylene consumption. A current exposure to ethylene exports to ensure full cracker utilization will not be viable in
a longer market balance expected in the early 2020s (G); competition from increasing US exports will also not help.

The Southeast Asia spot ethylene price represents an average cost and freight (CFR) import spot price to the region.
The cost of production from local suppliers will effectively provide a floor value for the spot CFR price, although at
points in time, prices can move below this level as a result of the diversity of cost structures in the region. As in the US
and West European ethylene markets, the costs associated with producing ethylene will have a significant impact on
the ethylene price in Southeast Asia. For most ethylene producers in Southeast Asia, feedstock costs, and therefore
production cash costs, are typically related to the price of naphtha, as 67% of the region's ethylene is currently
produced from naphtha. The remainder of the ethylene output is produced from ethane and some LPG. As a result,
the floor value of the spot CFR price in Southeast Asia is very dependent upon world crude oil and naphtha prices.

2.3 Propylene

Introduction

Propylene is the second-largest volume chemical produced globally after ethylene. In 2020 (G), global production of
propylene was about 113.4 million metric tons, with the major producing regions being Northeast Asia (46.1%), North
America (13.1%), and Western Europe (12%). Propylene demand for chemical derivatives is heavily dominated by the
production of polypropylene, which accounted for about 67% of the overall market in 2020 (G). There is a myriad of
chemical applications for propylene, but other major uses include propylene oxide, oxo alcohols (2-ethylhexanol and
butanol), acrylonitrile, cumene, and acrylic acid. Ultimately, after further processing into derivatives, then into finished
goods, propylene is primarily found in durable goods (cars and furniture), packaging, and infrastructure (buildings
and houses); demand is therefore broadly tied to the general economy.



Global Supply, Demand and Trade Overview

The Covid -19 pandemic that has impacted the world since late 2019 (G) has added a significant level of uncertainty
and volatility to many markets. In 2020 (G), it has translated into a world GDP decline of about 3.2%, with the
disruption of many economic sectors as well as a collapse in transportation activities. Some propylene outlets have
suffered (durable goods), while other have benefitted from the pandemic because of specific trends such as working
from home, increased online shopping, and fast-rising demand for medical protective equipment. Overall, propylene
demand increased by 1% between 2019 and 2020 (G), primarily driven by growth in polypropylene production.
Propylene consumption has been increasingly linked to emerging markets (mainland China, more particularly), where
improvement in living standards and growing urbanization are driving an increasing usage of a broad spectrum of
polymers and chemicals. In 2020 (G), the mainland Chinese market has proven to be quite resilient, thanks to an early
control of the pandemic as well as strong underlying growth fundamentals.

In 2020, world propylene capacity was about 144.3 million metric tons. Northeast Asia has the largest propylene
capacity, accounting for 42.3% of the world's total. Within this region, mainland China holds the lion's share of the
capacity, accounting for 68% of the total. The next-largest producing regions are North America, Western Europe,
and the Middle East. During 2011-2020 (G), global propylene capacity has increased at an average rate of 3.7% per
year, primarily driven by the development of on-purpose facilities, which have accounted for about 62% of the total
net capacity increase.

Total Propylene - Historical and Future Capacities (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 23,581 | 24,142 | 24,331 | 25235| 25,238 | 25441 | 25226 | 25969 | 26,615 | 26,836 | 27,436 | 27,436
South America 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973 3,973
West Europe 17,282 | 17,111 17,051 17,100 | 17,041 17,021 16,981 16,981 17,731 17,731 17,731 17,731
Central Europe 1,932 1,942 1,962 1,958 2,029 2,096 2,138 2,138 2,138 2,355 2,568 2,568
CIS & Baltic States 3,187 3,287 3,287 3,362 3,481 4,001 4,127 4,501 4,871 4,871 5,071 5,471
Africa 1,603 1,623 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643 1,643
Middle East 10,508 | 11,151 11,873 | 11,935| 11,935 | 12,085| 12,429 | 12,429 | 12,429 | 12,429 | 12,852 | 13,272
Indian Subcontinent 4,924 5,092 5,557 6,342 6,426 6,592 6,715 7,092 7,892 7,892 7,892 7,892
Northeast Asia 45,154 | 48,365 | 51,742 | 53,962 | 56,559 | 61,041 | 68,132 | 74,018 | 78,039 | 82,078 | 83,400 | 83,400
Southeast Asia 8,071 8,531 8,631 9,039 9,369 | 10,396 | 11,148 | 11,346 | 11,846 | 12,346 | 12,346 | 12,346
Global 120,214 | 125,217 | 130,050 | 134,549 | 137,693 | 144,290 | 152,513 | 160,091 | 167,177 | 172,154 | 174,912 | 175,733

Source: IHS 2020

Total Propylene - Historical and Future Demand (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 15,612 | 15,695 | 15,695 | 15,735| 15,506 | 15,627 | 16,313 | 16,693 | 17,464 | 17,739 | 17,904 | 18,027
South America 3,019 3,139 3,183 2,984 3,025 2,799 2,907 2,892 2,896 2,956 2,964 3,004
West Europe 14,268 | 14,555 | 14,478 | 14,369 | 14,187 | 13,887 | 13,678 | 13,589 | 13,745| 13,954 | 14,039 | 14,172
Central Europe 1,455 1,425 1,501 1,534 1,571 1,550 1,557 1,669 1,704 1,884 2,030 2,086
CIS & Baltic States 2,198 2,354 2,422 2,503 2,617 2,810 3,085 3,431 3,652 3,715 4,217 4,425
Africa 1,143 1,198 1,234 1,268 1,324 1,256 1,301 1,340 1,366 1,406 1,619 1,655
Middle East 7,608 8,428 8,146 9,192 9,779 9,039 9,423 9,718 9,740 | 10,154 | 10,936 | 12,018
Indian Subcontinent 4,297 4,454 4,510 5,135 5,198 5,689 5,936 6,327 6,856 7,249 7,595 8,147
Northeast Asia 40,485 | 44,042 | 47,471 | 49,439 | 51,655| 53,084 | 57,862 | 61,144 | 64,070 | 67,070 | 69,615 | 72,109
Southeast Asia 7,043 6,842 7,113 7,658 8,033 8,257 8,767 9,117 9,419 | 10,137 | 10,577 | 10,765
Global 97,128 | 102,131 | 105,752 | 109,816 | 112,896 | 113,997 | 120,828 | 125,921 | 130,911 | 136,264 | 141,496 | 146,408

Source: IHS 2020

Total Propylene - Historical and Future Production (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 16,175 | 15,705 | 15,760 | 16,266 | 15,736 | 14,886 | 16,493 | 16,887 | 17,809 | 18,134 | 18,274 | 18,402
South America 3,089 3,013 2,927 2,818 2,713 2,569 2,637 2,632 2,606 2,683 2,698 2,744
West Europe 14,390 | 14,835| 14,029 | 13,905| 13,312 | 13,658 | 13,186 | 13,134 | 13,540 | 13,749 | 13,834 | 13,767
Central Europe 1,327 1,251 1,479 1,505 1,639 1,472 1,678 1,686 1,765 1,945 2,167 2,268
CIS & Baltic States 2,362 2,631 2,758 2,850 3,080 3,220 3,325 3,712 3,892 3,903 4,450 4,615
Africa 1,129 1,094 1,130 1,178 1,211 1,185 1,177 1,229 1,244 1,269 1,503 1,541
Middle East 8,057 8,706 8,484 9,288 9,554 9,678 9,638 9,920 9,927 | 10,363 | 11,121 12,188
Indian Subcontinent 4,346 4,529 4,566 5,024 5,400 5,724 5,936 6,327 6,856 7,249 7,595 8,147
Northeast Asia 39,990 | 43,915 | 47,224 | 49,465 | 51,555| 52,322 | 57,850 | 61,102 | 63,837 | 66,804 | 69,299 | 71,967
Southeast Asia 6,717 6,568 7,331 7,849 8,400 8,678 8,908 9,292 9,437 | 10,167 | 10,555 | 10,770
Global 97,582 | 102,249 | 105,689 | 110,147 | 112,601 | 113,392 | 120,828 | 125,921 | 130,911 | 136,264 | 141,496 | 146,408

Source: IHS 2020



Northeast Asia dominates the global production of many chemicals including propylene. During 2011-2020 (G),
the region has seen its propylene capacity expand at an average rate of 7.2% per year, partly driven by the broader
development of its refining and petrochemical. Outside of Northeast Asia, propylene capacity has expanded
primarily in the Middle East, Southeast Asia, and North America, but their collective share of the new global capacity
commissioned in 2011-2020 (G) has only accounted for 33% of the world total. These regions have also extensively
relied on on-purpose processes to develop their own propylene capacity base.

Mainland China and the United States were the largest consumers of propylene in the world, accounting for market
shares of 33% and 13% in 2020 (G), respectively. The next-largest markets are South Korea, Saudi Arabia, India, and
Japan. Ultimately, propylene consumption is driven by developments of propylene derivatives capacity. Different
marketing strategies have been unfolded in different regions. For instance, new derivative capacities in mainland
China have been aimed at satisfying domestic demand and reducing external dependency, while the Middle East
has primarily targeted export markets. Overall, mainland China has attracted about 69% of the new propylene
requirements recorded globally since 2015 (G).

In 2020 (G), global propylene demand was estimated to amount to about 114 million metric tons. Between 2011
and 2020 (G), propylene demand had developed at a sustained average rate of 3.7% per year. In 2020, propylene
demand was negatively impacted by the Covid -19 pandemic and the global recession that ensued, leading to a more
moderate year-on-year market growth of 1%. Propylene demand growth has been and continues to be driven by the
developments in the polypropylene industry, which accounted for about 67% of the global propylene consumption
in 2020 (G). The next-largest end uses of propylene are comparatively much smaller—propylene oxide (7%) and
acrylonitrile (5%).

In 2020 (G), global propylene trade was estimated at about 5.4 million metric tons dominated by Northeast Asia. In
2020, the region accounted for about 48% of global exports and 55% of global imports. Within the region, however,
there are significant disparities among markets. Mainland China is the largest propylene importer, as it has yet to
reach propylene self-sufficiency. Most of mainland China's trade partners are located within Northeast Asia (Japan,
South Korea, and Taiwan). Other significant exporting countries include Canada, the United States, and Saudi Arabia.

In Middle East region, nameplate capacity of propylene was about 12.17 million metric tons (excluding splitters)
in 2020 (G). Saudi Arabia is currently the largest producing country in the region, accounting for 59% of the total,
followed by the UAE (21%) and Iran (8%). The development of the propylene industry has not been as spectacular
as the ethylene industry in the Middle East, primarily owing to a steam cracking base largely relying on ethane, with
limited associated propylene output. In 2020 (G), while the Middle East accounted for 17% of the global ethylene
capacity base, its share of propylene capacity was much lower at about 8%. During 2011-2020 (G), regional
propylene capacity has nevertheless increased at an average rate of 3.5% per year, driven by the development of
the on-purpose, petrochemical, and refinery-based production. In addition, the steam cracking base is gradually
shifting toward heavier feedstock, which yields much higher propylene coproduct. In 2020 (G), propylene capacity
was dominated by steam crackers (46%) and on-purpose units including HS-FCC (44%); refineries accounted for the
rest. Within the Middle East, on-purpose production technologies include propane dehydrogenation, metathesis, and
high-severity FCC units.

In 2020 (G), Middle Eastern propylene demand was estimated at about 9.0 million metric tons, with polypropylene
accounting for about 88%. Despite the recent decline in demand, propylene consumption has expanded at a
sustained average rate of 4% per year between 2011-2020 (G), primarily driven by the development of the regional
polypropylene industry. With only minor quantities consumed by an acrylonitrile plant in Turkey as well as for oxo
alcohol and oligomers production in Saudi Arabia, polypropylene production has historically accounted for nearly
all of the propylene consumption in the region. Lower logistics costs, readily available technology licenses, and
sales portfolio considerations (complementing polyethylene) have made polypropylene the propylene derivative of
choice. In 2020 (G), polypropylene exports were estimated to account for as much as 78% of the regional production;
however, volumes were down by almost 7% due to the pandemic-induced disruptions of global trade and the impact
on the wider economy. There are several polypropylene producers in the Middle East, with a combined capacity of
about 9.4 million metric tons; most of the producers are back-integrated into propylene production and typically
operate an upstream steam cracker or an on-purpose propylene facility. Saudi Arabia operates, by far, the region's
largest PP capacity base with a total of 5.4 million metric tons. Saudi Arabian polypropylene plants include YANPET,
YANSAB, Saudi Kayan, Saudi Polymers, Saudi Polyolefins Co., Al-Waha, Ibn Zahr, Petro-Rabigh, and Natpet.



Pricing and Margin Analysis

In North America, the benchmark polymer-grade propylene (PGP) prices refer to pipeline-delivered PGP prices in the
US. The benchmark PGP prices are non-discounted reference prices while refinery-grade propylene (RGP) refers to
weighted average spot prices. The propylene/ethylene (P/E) price ratio has increased in the past five years as the
supply/demand balance for propylene tightened against a lengthening market for ethylene as new crackers came up
as demand growth slowed in Asian polyethylene markets. During the near-term forecast period, the P/E price ratio is
expected to decrease in 202225 (G) before returning to the 1.1-1.2 level in the following years and remaining above
parity throughout the forecast period, suggesting the rate of demand growth for ethylene and propylene will be more
closely aligned than in the past.

In Europe, the polymer-grade propylene (PGP) prices are benchmark reference prices delivered in West Europe. The
propylene-to-ethylene (P/E) price ratio is a useful comparison of the strength of the propylene price relative to the
ethylene price. As in the US, the current P/E ratio in Europe is higher when compared with historical data, because
of the increased value of propylene derivatives. However, producers in Europe are still producing plenty of propylene
from naphtha crackers, so the ratio of propylene to ethylene prices is not forecast to move as high as in the US.
Historically, Europe was a net importer of propylene monomer, and therefore the global market conditions together
with the availability of propylene monomer largely influenced prices. From 2008 (G), however, Europe was a small
net exporter of propylene. Recent losses of local supply have pushed it back to being an importer. Over the next
few years, Western Europe is forecast to be a net importer of propylene monomer. In the short term with an import
requirement, propylene monomer trade is expected to support European prices, although longer term with a smaller
monomer trade exposure, the market will sit closer to other regional values with deep-sea arbitrage rarely open.

In Southeast Asia, the spot propylene price represents an average cost and freight (CFR) import price. As most of the
regional propylene production is well integrated with the local derivative markets, the spot market is relatively small
in comparison to the larger Northeast Asian market. In the past, the Southeast Asian propylene market was mostly
balanced either through on-purpose propylene production or imports. This market dynamic contributed to a higher
cost structure, with prices in Southeast Asia often considerably higher than in the United States, which had been the
marginal supplier to Asia. As a result, prices were often based on US polymer-grade propylene (PGP) prices and the
average freight cost to deliver propylene to Southeast Asia, particularly when a trading arbitrage between the regions
was open. However, in 2010 (G), the region turned into a net exporter of propylene monomer as it became more self-
sufficient with capacity additions.

2.4 Hexene-1

Introduction

Hexene is a large-volume commodity petrochemical that is primarily produced in oil refineries and steam crackers,
or as a by-product of p-xylene production. The global hexene-1 demand in 2020 was estimated at 1.1 million metric
tons, almost (96%) dedicated to comonomer use (77% and 19% respectively for LLDPE and HDPE). For hexene-1, its
demand by LLDPE is estimated to grow at CAGR of 4.3%, faster than hexene-1 demand by HDPE projected at over
3.2% over the forecast years 2021-2031. Hexene-1 in LLDPE is mainly consumed in North America, W. Europe and
few countries in Asia as Japan, Korea, Thailand. Due to the fact that LLDPE production is growing faster in in emerging
economies like China, where the regional preference focus on the use of butene-1, growth of hexene-1 demand in
LLDPE is only slightly higher than the growth of butene-1. Besides the growth rate differential between LLDPE and
HDPE, there are two reasons sustaining an increasing hexene-1 use in LLDPE. The first is the increasing preference
in the use of hexene-1 based LLDPE grades in developed economies which will partially displace butene-1 based
LLDPE grades. Hexene-1 comonomer is used in HDPE (slurry phase), and more commonly in gas phase LLDPE.
LLDPE with a hexene-1 comonomer gives a tougher film than with butene-1 and so it can be converted in a much
thinner application as for example film, which is preferred in packaging applications for overall cost savings, while
keeping the same mechanical properties.

Hexene-1 is rarely used in plastomers and elastomers as producers mainly using solution technology, use octene-1
and in limited cases butene-1. However, few new entrants in the POP/POE business are developing lower density
polymers, in the POP/POE range, but based on hexene-1. If successful, this trend could prove as a new game changer
reducing the emphasis on octene-1 use and POP/POE market dominance by the few traditional players.



Global Supply, Demand and Trade Overview

The global hexene-1 demand in 2020 (G) was estimated at 1.1 million metric tons and is forecast to grow at an
average annual rate of 4% through 2031 to reach around 1.6 million metric tons in 2031 (G). Global nameplate
capacity of hexene-1 was around 1.3 million metric tons in 2020 (G) and is expected to grow at an annual average
rate of 1.9% to reach almost 1.6 million metric tons by 2031 (G).

Hexene-1 - Historical and Future Capacities (KT)

Region/Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

North America 588 596 596 598 661 661 706 803 803 803 803 803
South America - - - - - - - - - - - -
West Europe 109 109 109 97 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73
Central Europe - - - - - - - - - - - -
CIS & Baltic States 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 11
Africa 220 220 220 220 220 220 220 220 220 220 220 220
Middle East 245 245 245 245 245 245 245 245 245 245 330 330
Indian Subcontinent - - - - - - - - - - - -
Northeast Asia 102 112 112 112 112 112 112 112 120 120 120 120
Southeast Asia - - - - - - - - - - - -
Global 1,266 1,283 1,283 1,273 1,312 1,312 1,357 1,454 1,462 1,462 1,547 1,557

Source: IHS 2020

Hexene-1 - Historical and Future Demand (KT)

Region/Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

North America 339 378 383 456 474 564 494 500 540 578 607 611
South America 33 36 37 36 33 33 32 32 32 34 35 37
West Europe 172 174 175 172 168 162 165 165 166 173 173 178
Central Europe 7 6 7 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
CIS & Baltic States 1 2 2 2 2 4 5 7 12 15 18 19
Africa 14 14 17 17 18 17 17 17 17 18 18 19
Middle East 16 17 20 21 23 23 24 40 42 46 49 50
Indian Subcontinent 2 2 6 9 11 13 15 18 20 22 22 25
Northeast Asia 139 141 147 140 145 151 180 206 223 251 261 286
Southeast Asia 98 107 111 126 122 131 133 132 135 141 145 152
Global 820 877 906 986 1,001 1,104 1,072 1,124 1,193 1,284 1,336 1,383

Source: IHS 2020

Hexene-1 - Historical and Future Production (KT)

Region/Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

North America 357 429 453 519 531 602 616 659 682 732 723 732
South America - - - - - - - - - - - -
West Europe 102 109 109 97 73 62 73 73 73 73 73 69
Central Europe - - - - - - - - - - - -
CIS & Baltic States 0 1 1 1 1 - 8 8 9 8 9 14
Africa 105 92 87 87 105 100 70 78 120 161 136 122
Middle East 192 196 198 221 226 235 223 223 223 223 271 295
Indian Subcontinent - - - - - - - - - - - -
Northeast Asia 61 51 57 61 68 106 82 83 87 87 125 152
Southeast Asia - - - - - - - - - - - -
Global 817 878 905 986 1,003 1,104 1,072 1,125 1,193 1,284 1,336 1,383

Source: IHS 2020

In 2020 (G), North America, the Middle East and Africa were the top three producing regions, followed by West Europe.
The top three regions accounted for 86% of the world capacity in 2020 (G). By 2031 (G), the largest capacity increase
will occur in Middle East which will by then increase its capacity share to 25%. New capacity additions are being built
in North America and planned for the Middle and in over the forecast period. Hexene-1 is a fairly concentrated market
with only 5 players contributing to over 80% of the global capacity out of a total of less than 10 players.

The global hexene-1 demand in 2020 (G) was estimated at 1.1 million metric tons, almost (96%) dedicated to
comonomer use (77% and 19% respectively for LLDPE and HDPE). For hexene-1, its demand by LLDPE is estimated
to grow at CAGR of 4.3%, faster than hexene-1 demand by HDPE projected at over 3.2% over the forecast years 2021-
2031 (G). Hexene-1 in LLDPE is mainly consumed in North America, W. Europe and few countries in Asia as Japan,
Korea, Thailand. Due to the fact that LLDPE production is growing faster in in emerging economies like China, where
the regional preference focus on the use of butene-1, growth of hexene-1 demand in LLDPE is only slightly higher
than the growth of butene-1.



In terms of trade, hexene-1 trade is currently dominated by export flows from the Middle East, North America and
Africa (South Africa). In fact, most of the production of hexene-1 in these regions is targeted towards exports while
Asia in a net importer of hexene-1. Besides Asia other net importers are South America, Indian Subcontinent and SE
Asia. The total global export volume in 2020 (G) for hexene-1 stood at 417,000 metric tons and is estimated to grow
to 588,000 metric tons by 2031 (G).

In Middle East region, hexene-1 nameplate capacity was around 245,000 metric tons, accounting for 18.7% of the
established world capacity in 2020 (G). In the past years, since 2011 (G), the capacity has almost doubled from
145,000 metric tons to 245,000 metric tons by 2020 (G). Some of the key players/projects in the region include
Q-Chem I & II, Saudi Polymers and JUPC, among others. In the forecast period, additional capacity will come live in
the region; INEOS signed an agreement with Saudi Aramco and Total to construct three new plants in Jubail, Saudi
Arabia. Project "Amiral” which will include a 400,000 metric tons per year LAO plant, and an associated PAO plant. The
plants are expected to be commissioned in 2025 (G). Borouge, in Abu Dhabi, is considering building a trimerization
unit, by 2028 (G), with a 75,000 metric tons capacity.

In 2020 (G), the region’s hexene-1 capacity was based on trimerization (64%) and oligomerization (36%). The region
will maintain a high nameplate utilization rate at an average of 90% between 2021-2031 (G). The region's nameplate
capacity is estimated to remain at 245,000 metric tons through 2024 and will increase to 405,000 metric tons by
2031 (G).

Pricing and Margin Analysis

North America: recent ethylene-based formulas in the U.S are believed to have a Factor (A) of approximately 1.05
and Deltas (B) or Adders" between 22 and 30 cents per pound in past decade. Prior to 2015 (G), the value of the Delta
B in the US had been higher and closer to the 30 cents per pound range due to relative tighter market and the North
America region was a net importer. However, since the start-up of more capacities in the United States, after the
mid-decade, the region has turned into a net exporter and the values of the Delta has been dropped to lower ranges,
generally between 22 — 27 cents per pound.

Europe: Prices for hexene-1 in West Europe will be at a premium to the North America and Northeast Asia prices,
given the region's import dependency in the long term, and its generally higher ethylene prices.

Prices prices for hexene-1 in Northeast Asia will be priced at a premium over the US prices, based on freight
differentials from the US, Middle East and South African exporters, with some importers purchasing hexene-1 based
on US ethylene price formulas.

25 High Density Polyethylene

Introduction

Polyethylene is the largest volume commercial polymer used in the world. High-density polyethylene (HDPE) is the
most widely used polyethylene. HDPE is used for many purposes, especially in the food and non-food packaging
industry.

Global Supply, Demand and Trade Overview

The global HDPE industry, similar as polyethylene industry, is characterized mainly by a wave of capacity additions in
North America, the Middle East, and China. The shift toward lighter and cost-advantaged feedstock in North America
has incentivized production in the region. The competition in the international market has increased, thus adding
pressure to the high-cost producers, especially in Western Europe. With the dip in oil prices in late 2014 (G), the
cost advantages enjoyed by natural gas—based producers declined but were not entirely eliminated. Thus, North
American capacity and production increases in the coming years will result in increased exports from the region.
China is expected to benefit from local production, although its rapid demand growth will continue to depend on
imported HDPE resins.



Global capacity stood at around 56.3 million metric tons in 2020 (G). Nameplate capacity for HDPE is expected to
grow at CAGR of 1.5% between 2021 (G) and 2031 (G), to reach about nearly 69.6 million metric tons by 2031 (G).
Global operating rates are expected to average at 86% over the same forecast period. In 2020 (G), North America,
Middle East and Northeast Asia were the regions that holds almost 68% of the global nameplate capacity.

HDPE - Historical and Future Capacities (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 9,442 | 10,302 | 10,814 | 11,570 | 11,798 | 12,248 | 12,164 | 12,979 | 13,789 | 13,789 | 13,789 | 13,789
South America 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770 1,770
West Europe 4,947 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898 4,898
Central Europe 1,240 1,240 1,240 1,240 1,240 1,444 1,510 1,510 1,510 1,510 1,510 1,510
CIS & Baltic States 1,235 1,635 1,593 1,656 2,116 2,640 2,726 2,726 3,152 3,251 3,251 3,853
Africa 638 687 838 838 838 838 838 838 838 838 838 838
Middle East 10,499 | 10,785 | 10,924 | 10,924 | 10,924 | 11,206 | 11,504 | 11,504 | 11,504 | 11,504 | 11,504 | 11,504
Indian Subcontinent 1,645 1,813 2,359 2,435 2,435 2,735 2,948 3,585 3,585 3,585 3,585 3,585
Northeast Asia 11,467 | 11,617 | 11,520 | 11,854 | 12,664 | 14,735| 17,670 | 20,524 | 21,536 | 21,859 | 22,044 | 22,118
Southeast Asia 3,780 3,710 3,735 3,735 3,651 3,775 4,073 4,425 4,875 5,125 5,125 5,125
Global 46,663 | 48,457 | 49,690 | 50,920 | 52,333 | 56,288 | 60,100 | 64,759 | 67,457 | 68,129 | 68,313 | 68,989

Source: IHS 2020

HDPE - Historical and Future Demand (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 7,489 7,423 7,738 8,193 7,702 7,641 7,902 8,086 8,279 8,512 8,730 8,928
South America 2,143 2,100 2,053 2,058 2,064 1,999 2,064 2,112 2,154 2,203 2,260 2,317
West Europe 4,859 5,037 5,138 5,158 5,179 5,153 5,266 5,337 5,397 5,456 5,512 5,545
Central Europe 977 1,009 1,037 1,068 1,101 1,088 1,116 1,152 1,176 1,201 1,229 1,255
CIS & Baltic States 1,297 1,354 1,350 1,565 1,602 1,519 1,569 1,624 1,680 1,731 1,784 1,838
Africa 1,528 1,586 1,641 1,704 1,788 1,760 1,878 1,956 2,040 2,125 2,208 2,292
Middle East 2,915 3,000 3,054 3,142 3,202 3,147 3,270 3,345 3,450 3,578 3,693 3,809
Indian Subcontinent 2,403 2,547 2,727 2,872 3,008 2,981 3,256 3,442 3,647 3,911 4,198 4,471
Northeast Asia 12,875 | 13,766 | 15,086 | 16,138 | 17,419 | 19,252 | 20,646 | 21,759 | 22,917 | 24,059 | 25,187 | 26,235
Southeast Asia 3,387 3,598 3,813 3,929 4,042 3,929 4,057 4,199 4,347 4,493 4,636 4,784
Global 39,874 | 41,419 | 43,636 | 45829 | 47,106 | 48,468 | 51,023 | 53,013 | 55,086 | 57,269 | 59,437 | 61,474

Source: IHS 2020

HDPE - Historical and Future Production (KT)

Region/Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 8,695 9,182 9,296 | 10,252 | 10,612 | 10,892 | 11,076 | 11,301 11,730 | 11,982 | 12,231 12,290
South America 1,454 1,442 1,428 1,386 1,296 1,245 1,380 1,368 1,385 1,388 1,405 1,373
West Europe 4,465 4,516 4,532 4,420 4,528 4,210 4,168 4,118 4,083 4,099 4,088 4,295
Central Europe 953 775 999 995 965 1,139 1,183 1,162 1,140 1,159 1,213 1,260
CIS & Baltic States 1,004 1,448 1,407 1,510 1,744 2,192 2,231 2,210 2,503 2,608 2,706 3,041
Africa 318 335 444 473 498 481 478 466 462 480 478 489
Middle East 8,799 9,451 9,476 | 10,034 | 10,147 9,619 9,953 9,698 9,542 9,796 9,936 | 10,072
Indian Subcontinent 1,530 1,590 1,880 2,200 2,380 2,530 2,669 3,002 3,031 3,094 3,150 3,259
Northeast Asia 9,462 9,979 | 10,081 10,703 | 11,218 | 12,671 14,387 | 15,963 | 17,266 | 18,341 19,564 | 20,665
Southeast Asia 3,357 3,272 3,362 3,354 3,341 3,338 3,500 3,726 3,945 4,322 4,667 4,730
Global 40,036 | 41,992 | 42,905 | 45,328 | 46,730 | 48,317 | 51,023 | 53,013 | 55,086 | 57,269 | 59,437 | 61,474

Source: IHS 2020

Global HDPE demand was around 48.5 million metric tons in 2020 (G) and this is expected to reach around 71.3
million metric tons by 2031 (G). Film and sheet, driven by food packaging remains the largest market segment for
HDPE resins with share of 28% of global demand in 2020 (G).

The demand growth rate for major end-use application sectors is expected to remain mainly in the range of 2.9% to
3.6% per year between 2021-2031 (G). Overall, global HDPE demand is forecast to grow at CAGR of 3.4% by 2031 (G).

Northeast Asia, North America and West Europe are the major demand centres in the world comprising of about 66%
of the total demand. Countries with large populations and rapidly expanding economies, such as China, India, and
Indonesia hold huge demand potential. While per capita PE demand in China now exceeds the global average, a large
percentage remains driven by exports of downstream products rather than domestic consumption.



Covid -19 pandemic has dealt a heavy blow to the global economy as global and major economies are heading for
recessions. There are many factors suppressing demand: recession, temporary plant closures, reduced operating
rates, job losses combined with dramatic drops in discretionary spending, export slowdowns, and companies
undertaking cash-conservation measures.

Covid -19 has been a demand driver for some key HDPE demand segments such as food-related packaging, which
has benefited as global consumers have shunned restaurants in favour of local grocery stores, (ultimately consuming
more plastics). Covid -19—inspired delays in the implementation of plastic bag bans in cities around the world and
supported the continued use of single-use packaging to limit the spread of the virus.

Sustainability and anti-plastics initiatives have been at least temporarily paused around the world as plastics and PE
in particular have played a high-profile role in limiting the spread of Covid -19. While the circumstance of the virus
may have caused governments, businesses, and citizenry to re-evaluate the role of plastics in society, we expect
this "pause” to be temporary and therefore expect the sustainability initiatives to regain priority when the pandemic
subsides.

On the supply side, Covid -19 has resulted in delays associated with the start-up of several new HDPE projects
that were anticipated to initiate production during 2020 (G). The uncertainty related to demand as well as evolving
assumptions associated with regional feedstock advantages have likely caused a delay in the final investment
decisions (FIDs) associated with several additional projects around the world that have been pending approval.

The Middle East remained the largest exporter of HDPE on a regional basis with net export volumes of around 8.3
million metric tons in 2020 (G). It was observed that a majority of exported HDPE from Middle East were targeted
towards the Northeast Asia and Southeast Asia markets particularly China, Singapore, Vietnam and Malaysia
followed by Africa, Indian Subcontinent and West Europe.

In Middle East region, HDPE capacity stands at around 11.2 million metric tons which is almost equivalent to 20% of
the global capacity. Nearly 45.3% of the region’s capacity or 5.1 million metric ton of production capacity is located in
Saudi Arabia followed by Iran with 25.8% of regional capacity and the UAE with 14.2%.

Middle East is the third largest producer of HDPE in the world, accounting for almost 20% of the global capacity in
2020 (G) after Northeast Asia and North America. The main countries that contribute to the supply and demand in
the region are Saudi Arabia, Iran, the United Arab Emirates, Qatar, Kuwait, Turkey, and Israel.

IHS Markit expects further hypothetical capacity to be built to support growing demand in other regions via exports,
and by 2031 (G), the region's capacity is forecast to reach 11.5 million metric tons. A hypothetical capacity of about
4.4 million metric tons is expected to be added by 2031 (G). IHS Markit anticipates countries in the region to continue
to monetize competitive gas and crude oil feedstocks into higher value chemical products including polymers.

North America is a net HDPE exporter with expected net export volume of around 3.4 million metric tons in 2022 (G).
Apart from intraregional trade, exports are targeted to South America, Western Europe, and Northeast Asia.

Northeast Asia will continue to be the world's largest importer of HDPE, with net import volume of around 6.8 million
metric tons in 2020 (G) and is forecast to reach over 7.5 million metric tons by 2031 (G). China is the largest HDPE
importer in the region. Although large volume of capacity addition will occur in China, imports are still expected to
continue to increase.

Pricing and Margin Analysis

The unprecedented level of new production capacity in North America is expected to test producer discipline as
net exports become a larger percentage of total production. Distributors and traders will not be able to absorb all
the incremental production and polyethylene producers will therefore be forced to increase export volumes and/or
increase domestic sales by becoming more aggressive relative to their pricing practices. As a result, domestic prices
are expected to trend toward export price levels and these prices are expected to remain more closely aligned going
forward. Imports are not expected to impact the North American price forecast.



Even though Western Europe will remain on the right of the cash-cost curve with its majority high-cost producers,
recent relatively lower oil prices have weighed on the polyethylene (PE) cost curve, making it flatter; therefore, the
cost disparity between high-cost regions such as Western Europe versus the cost-advantaged regions such as the
Middle East and North America has shrunk significantly. The close parity in cost along with improved prices, owing
to a combination of underinvestment and robust demand growth, had fueled an industry upcycle that drove the
profitability of West European producers to unprecedented levels as global markets hit a tighter balance

With the majority of production at marginal cost levels, Western Europe will remain a price-setting region and
therefore will continue to offer higher export netback on a relative basis, especially when compared with Asia. Global
oversupply and the US—China trade dispute had led to a realignment of trade routes, with more products flowing
into Europe in preference over China. Now with China easing back from additional tariffs, the US volume expansion
in Europe will cease, but that void could be filled to some extent by CIS countries, where a significant expansion of
capacities is underway. Import volumes are expected to gradually rise from the current 3.4 million metric tons to
4.0 million metric tons by 2025 (G). While imports edge higher, exports, which form a sizable volume, will face rising
challenges from competition, especially from advantaged feedstock regions such as the CIS, US, and MDE, which will
lead to stagnant volume; this will raise the supply length in the domestic market. So, while imports will rise, exports
will shrink, while domestic demand will gradually recover after the slump in 2020 (G), and this will put producers
under pressure in terms of operating rates. We anticipate a sharp drop in operating rates not only from a market
perspective, but also from a tactical angle. As in the past, we have seen that European producers are very nimble in
terms of utilization level with an eye on inventory and price movements. We see a continuation of this strategy, which
will mean that operating rates will drop to cap competition and support margins from going below the threshold.

Asian prices in the first five years of the forecast will likely remain the lowest on a global basis, primarily because of
China's influence as the world's largest net importer, but also because of the impact of low-cost resins moving from
the Middle East and North America into the region. The low freight cost and CFR China port spot pricing policy ensure
very competitive prices compared with Europe, where the prices are on a contractual delivered basis to the client's
facility. Low crude oil prices make Asian naphtha-based producers more competitive, thus supporting their efforts
to run at higher operating rates. As crude prices started rising and the new North American shale-based PE supplies
have fully stabilized and are running at optimal rates, world prices are expected to converge to a “global price” with
netback neutrality to the major exporting regions. Considering the spot pricing policy employed in China and the rest
of the Asia markets, the regional PE prices will remain volatile. Healthy PE demand growth in the region, as well as
rising energy costs, are expected to push prices upward during the later years of the forecast period. Despite growth
in domestic production, the self-sufficiency level in China will remain at around 60% in the medium to long term.
Considering the huge volumes of imports in major Asian markets, such as China, India, Indonesia, and Vietnam, the
domestic prices set by the producers in the respective markets will be greatly influenced by the net landed price of
imports.

2.6 Polypropylene

Introduction

Polypropylene (PP) is a lightweight, versatile polymer with excellent chemical resistance along with relatively high
rigidity and a high melting point compared with other polymers such as polyethylene. The high temperature feature is
very important and allows for polypropylene to be under the hood in auto applications and to undergo retort and hot-
filled treatments for food packaging. Polypropylene continues to be used in applications ranging from automotive
parts, carpet fibres, household and food containers, toys, dog kennels, and diapers to high-clarity films. Polypropylene
is typically split into three major categories: homo-polymer (does not contain any ethylene co-monomer), random
copolymer (starting from less than 1% up to 4% typically), and impact homo-polymer (low percentage of ethylene
upwards of nearly 20% and made in two reactors). The estimated global homopolymer share continues to be
approximately 70% of total PP demand.



Global Supply, Demand and Trade Overview

Year 2020 (G) was very unique, given the global pandemic and its negative impact on global economies. However,
PP demand is separating from global GDP in 2020 (G) and is expected to be flat versus 2019 (G). While flat does
not excite many, considering that the automotive industry worldwide is expected to be down by nearly 25% in 2020
(G) versus 2019 (G) and demand for PP into the automotive industry is estimated to make up 10% of the global
PP demand, flat sounds pretty impressive. We are seeing other markets, such as nonwovens, have a banner year
because of strong demand from face masks and hospital gowns. Food packaging is having a strong year owing
to increased consumption among stay-at-home consumers. If it was not for the automotive industry, we might be
seeing growth of over 3% in 2020, maybe higher.

As we move through 2021 (G) and get past the pandemic, we expect a nice economic recovery in most regions and
a strong rebound in PP demand. We expect 2021-2031 (G) to see an average year-over-year demand growth of
3.8%. As we have stated in recent years, this growth will be led by mainland China and India, emerging economies
with large populations. India's processed PP per capita is well below the world average and there is a lot of potential
to increase that number. The more mature economies, such as Western Europe and North America, will lag that of
mainland China and India but are still positive over the forecast period.

Polypropylene - Historical and Future Capacities (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 8,540 8,647 8,934 9,058 9,127 9,345 9,643 | 10,017 | 10,743 | 10,868 | 10,868 | 10,868
South America 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924 2,924
West Europe 9,560 9,560 9,560 9,560 9,560 9,640 9,460 9,460 9,460 9,460 9,460 9,460
Central Europe 1,420 1,420 1,420 1,420 1,460 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,722 1,940 1,940
CIS & Baltic States 1,468 1,578 1,668 1,688 1,962 2,432 2,558 2,932 3,182 3,182 3,682 3,682
Africa 1,377 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482 1,482
Middle East 8,594 9,284 9,284 9,284 9,284 9,435 9,825 | 10,064 | 10,064 | 10,064 | 10,465 | 10,864
Indian Subcontinent 4,361 4,640 4,984 5,175 5,316 5,816 5,981 6,355 6,805 6,805 6,805 6,805
Northeast Asia 29,081 | 30,802 | 33,530 | 35,200 | 36,783 | 39,974 | 45423 | 48,857 | 50,231 52,858 | 53,726 | 53,875
Southeast Asia 5,215 5,270 5,409 5,855 6,341 7,534 7,995 8,235 8,738 9,138 9,138 9,138
Global 72,540 | 75,607 | 79,195| 81,645| 84,239 | 90,081 | 96,791 | 101,825 | 105,130 | 108,503 | 110,490 | 111,038

Source: IHS 2020

Polypropylene - Historical and Future Demand (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 7,848 8,025 7,819 8,152 7,780 7,778 8,015 8,198 8,458 8,697 8,921 9,121
South America 2,737 2,706 2,768 2,789 2,668 2,408 2,596 2,661 2,719 2,789 2,860 2,935
West Europe 7,844 8,158 8,322 8,363 8,372 8,278 8,485 8,673 8,825 8,968 9,102 9,211
Central Europe 1,632 1,690 1,739 1,798 1,848 1,829 1,893 1,946 1,990 2,023 2,062 2,101
CIS & Baltic States 1,308 1,325 1,346 1,516 1,617 1,580 1,641 1,696 1,750 1,798 1,849 1,899
Africa 1,812 1,894 1,962 2,044 2,132 2,099 2,175 2,259 2,340 2,425 2,511 2,600
Middle East 4,081 4,223 4,307 4,445 4,490 4,433 4,596 4,738 4,869 4,991 5,109 5,244
Indian Subcontinent 4,718 5,039 5,465 5,928 6,282 6,259 6,954 7,466 8,051 8,810 9,661 10,557
Northeast Asia 26,612 | 28,696 | 30,826 | 32,390 | 34,129 | 36,808 | 39,404 | 41,489 | 43,634 | 45842 | 47,935 | 49,796
Southeast Asia 5,207 5,633 5,826 6,072 6,293 6,159 6,468 6,784 7,175 7,589 8,003 8,461
Global 63,799 | 67,388 | 70,381 | 73,497 | 75,610 | 77,631 | 82,227 | 85911 | 89,811 | 93,933 | 98,013 | 101,924

Source: IHS 2020

Polypropylene - Historical and Future Production (KT)

Region/Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
North America 7,777 7,780 7,870 7,698 7,647 7,803 8,300 8,513 9,180 9,401 9,441 9,430
South America 2,450 2,537 2,577 2,395 2,440 2,284 2,342 2,324 2,318 2,377 2,385 2,410
West Europe 8,650 8,900 8,870 8,680 8,660 8,520 8,285 8,117 8,246 8,397 8,468 8,603
Central Europe 1,177 1,108 1,167 1,166 1,211 1,182 1,197 1,207 1,218 1,396 1,539 1,596
CIS & Baltic States 1,385 1,531 1,562 1,614 1,720 1,925 2,121 2,437 2,642 2,685 3,169 3,348
Africa 992 1,038 1,077 1,124 1,166 1,111 1,158 1,197 1,220 1,259 1,485 1,526
Middle East 7,031 7,651 7,051 7,870 8,410 7,909 8,184 8,446 8,442 8,807 9,653 | 10,609
Indian Subcontinent 4,170 4,320 4,360 4,980 4,990 5,475 5,588 5,874 6,354 6,486 6,764 7,301
Northeast Asia 24,997 | 27,591 | 29,846 | 31,547 | 33,145 | 34,866 | 38,398 | 40,864 | 42,970 | 45,252 | 46,945 | 48,724
Southeast Asia 4,972 4,845 4,977 5,546 5,776 6,090 6,653 6,932 7,220 7,874 8,264 8,377
Global 63,602 | 67,301 | 69,358 | 72,619 | 75,165| 77,165| 82,227 | 85911 | 89,811 | 93,933 | 98,013 | 101,924

Source: IHS 2020



The global nameplate capacity stood at nearly 90.7 million metric ton in 2020 (G) and it is expected to grow at a
CAGR of 1.4% between 2021 and 2031 (G), to reach over 111.2 million metric tons by 2031 (G). In 2020 (G), the largest
producing country in Northeast Asia—and the world—was China, accounting for about 76% of the region's capacity.
In the forecast years, China, Japan, and South Korea plan to increase their polypropylene capacity.

Global demand of PP was around 77.6 million metric ton in 2020 (G). Demand is expected to grow at CAGR of 3.8%
per year during 2021-2031 (G), to reach around 119.5 million metric tons by 2031 (G). Northeast Asia is the leading
consumer of PP with over 47.4% share of the total demand. The demand share is expected to reach around 48% by
2031 (G). China had a global demand share of 42% in 2020 (G), which is expected to grow to 43% by 2031 (G).

Looking forward we expect demand to increase by another 41.9 million metric tons over the 2020-2031 (G) timeframe,
which would result in a per capita consumption of 13.9 kg by 2031 (G). Demand growth is expected to be driven by
continued urbanization of the large populations of developing nations, such as Vietnam, India, and mainland China.
Looking around the world in 2020 (G), there remains a large gap in consumption per capita between regions and
hence strong growth potential, with some regions such as the Indian Subcontinent and Africa only at 7.6 kg and 1.8 kg,
respectively, compared with Western Europe and North America at 22.5 kg and 18.6 kg, respectively. Northeast Asia also
has a very high processed PP per capita at 33.4 kg, but there is a very large difference between some economies in Asia.

Northeast Asia, Southeast Asia, and the Indian Subcontinent will be the major demand growth engines as they have
been every year for some time now. Therefore, economic performance and major shifts in consumption patterns in
these regions will be of utmost importance to global markets. Mainland China's expected performance in 2020 (G)
as it ramps up mask production to supply the world is really the only thing keeping global PP markets in 2020 (G)
close to flat. The rest of the world is expected to be negative in terms of growth in 2020 (G) versus 2019 (G). Mainland
China's demand through the forecast period is the biggest demand factor by far in the global market.

In 2020, world PP trade totalled about 22.8 million metric tons, or about 30% of the polypropylene produced. Northeast
Asia is the largest importer of PP, accounting for about 6.6 million metric tons or 29% of total PP traded in 2020 (G).
Southeast Asia is the next-largest market, at 4.39 million metric tons. Mainland China was the largest importer, with 5.98
million metric tons, followed by Turkey and Vietnam with 2 million metric tons and 1.5 million metric tons, respectively.

The Middle East is the largest exporter of PP resins, with exports of more than 6.15 million metric tons, or nearly 27%
of the world total in 2020 (G). It is also the third-largest importer of PP, accounting for 2.6 million metric tons. Other
large exporters of PP resins are Southeast Asia with 4.3 million metric tons exports, and Northeast Asia with 4.76
million metric tons in 2020 (G). Saudi Arabia was the largest exporting country and exported 4.2 million metric tons,
followed by South Korea with 3 million metric tons and the United States with 1.88 million metric tons.

In Middle East region, nameplate capacity in Middle East was around 9.4 million metric tons in 2020 (G) and it is
expected to reach over 10 million metric tons by 2022 (G) with certain planned capacity additions in the region.
Additional hypothetical capacity of 4.5 million metric tons is expected to be added to the region by 2031 (G). In 2020
(G), the operating rates of PP plants in Middle east averaged to be around 84% which is down by 7% from 2019 (G),
mainly due to the global pandemic world is facing.

The Middle East is expected to see slower polypropylene (PP) demand growth over the forecast years compared with
the previous years. In 2021-2031 (G), growth will average 2.6% per year, which is lower compared to CAGR of 2.8%
forthe 2011-2020 (G) period. The slowdown in global growth and the political and economic woes in the region have
weighed on PP demand. Turkey had been the powerhouse of the Middle East until 2012 (G) because its PP demand
grew at above 10% for almost a decade. However, demand growth has considerably decelerated in Turkey over the
last few years on the back of political turmoil, security issues, and a plunge in the local currency; these issues have
limited demand growth and capped investment. Saudi Arabian PP demand growth has weakened during recent
years because of the challenges faced by the country after the sharp drop in crude oil and gas prices. As oil prices
recovered, Saudi Arabian PP demand growth recovered marginally and, in the future, it is expected to accelerate
above 4% at the end of the decade. The biggest drag on regional PP demand over the next five years is likely to be
countries not part of the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC)—Syria, Yemen, Jordan, and Lebanon—because unstable
political scenarios are likely to result in flat or declining PP demand growth. Iran, where demand had slumped under
economic sanctions, has had volatile demand growth and has fluctuated between years with positive and negative
growth. Much will depend on how growing economic tensions in the region evolve, and a change in the breadth of the
sanctions could alter the forecast growth.



The Covid -19 pandemic is going to leave a deep impact on the region from growth to consumption patterns to
investments. Incidentally, it was not Covid -19 alone that affected the region but also the collapse of crude oil prices,
which had a significant impact on the region's economy and life. Apart from impacting tourism and travel, these
twin factors will weigh on government finances, which will have negative bearing on investment and welfare. Loss of
employment, subsidy rollbacks, cuts in salaries, and rise in value-added tax (VAT), namely in Saudi Arabia from 5%
to 15%, will constrain consumers and throttle capital investment in the short and medium term. Therefore, demand
will underperform in the next few years.

Pricing and Margin Analysis

North American PP prices and margins have been the most volatile in the world over the last decade owing to the
up-and-down nature of the domestic propylene monomer market as well as a few years of PP margin spike in 2015
(G) and 2016 (G). This volatility has changed the import dynamics of the marketplace as the market has learned how
to handle 25-kilogram bags and super sacks and has at times imported up to 10% of consumption needs, a figure
unheard of prior to 2015 (G). Domestic converters made one-time investments for debagging equipment that gives
them the ability to import resin if necessary, for years to come. Over the last decade, the region has seen its net export
position change to more balanced as imports have become a key piece of domestic supply to meet growing demand.
However, 2019 (G) and 2020 (G) have been awful demand years, taking the region back to 2014 (G) levels for total
demand. This situation is very challenging for resin producers as they have brought on a total of nearly 1.1 million
metric tons over the time period via debottlenecks (670,000 metric tons) and the new Braskem plant (450,000 metric
tons) that started in September 2020 (G). This supply and demand imbalance is expected to challenge near-term
margins for 2021(G) onward.

Over time, the European polypropylene business has gradually integrated with the global market as more imports
flowed into the region, especially from the Middle East, which also necessitated more exports from the region in order
to balance the market. As Middle East producers ramped up their import market share, especially following huge
capacity expansions between 2009 (G) and 2012 (G) that leveraged the advantaged feedstock in that region, the
European market, with its higher export arbitrage opportunity, offered an attractive outlet for the surplus volume from
the Middle East. This inflow of material weighed on operating rates and margins in Europe amid demand contraction
and slow recovery following the Great Recession in 2008 (G). Oversupply amidst a cost disadvantage and a weak
outlook forced some local PP units into either closure, restructuring, or a shift in product portfolio toward value-
added grades and exports. However, as Middle East capacity growth tapered, and PP business saw underinvestment
in the global context, Europe soon regained its market balance and operating rates and margins saw cyclical uplift
between 2016 (G) and 2018 (G). However, we are once again witnessing a gradual structural shift that will intensify
in the coming years.

Northeast Asian prices throughout the forecast period will likely continue to be the lowest on a global basis, primarily
because of Mainland China's influence as the world's largest net importer, but also because of the impact of lower-
cost resins moving from the Middle East into the region at a lower freight rate than exports to Europe. Mainland
China's move to a higher self-sufficiency rate, via increased capacity builds in the forecast period compared with
history, also puts tremendous pressure on other Northeast Asian producers that currently depend on Mainland China
for their PP exports. Mainland China is expected to supply approximately 87% of its own demand needs by 2025 (G),
and much of this new capacity will be driven by new expansions as Mainland China seeks higher self-sufficiency for
its petrochemical needs. The new supply additions will put downward pricing pressure on older, high-cost Chinese
PP assets and could lead to reductions in operating rates.



3. THE ACQUISITION Transaction

3.1 Overview of the Acquisition Transaction

On 3/2/1442H (corresponding to 20/9/2020 G), SIIG and Petrochem announced the start of the initial discussions
for the economic feasibility of merging the business of the two Companies. On 3/9/1442H (corresponding to
15/4/2021G), the two companies announced that the initial economic feasibility study is completed, based on which
SIIG and Petrochem decided to commence reciprocal due diligence and negotiate the terms and conditions of
merging the businesses of the two Companies and the sharing of information between them in this regard.

On 20/2/1442H (corresponding to 27/9/2021G), SIIG announced that it had signed a non-binding Memorandum
of Understanding with Petrochem in relation to the share exchange ratio and the implementation structure of the
Acquisition Transaction (the "Memorandum of Understanding” or "MoU").

On 21/3/1443H (corresponding to 27/10/2021G), SIIG announced the entry into the Implementation Agreement and
its firm intention to proceed with the Acquisition Transaction and making an offer to Petrochem'’s Selling Shareholders
in this respect. The Implementation Agreement included all the provisions and steps necessary to implement and
complete the Acquisition Transaction between both companies in accordance with the provisions of Article (26) of
the Merger and Acquisition Regulations. For more information on the provisions of the Implementation Agreement,
please refer to section (5.4.1) ("Implementation Agreement") of this Shareholders' Circular.

Pursuant to the Implementation Agreement, SIIG will acquire the Offer Shares, which will result in an increase in
the SIIG's ownership in Petrochem from (50%) to (100%), in consideration for the issue of the Consideration Shares
by SIIG to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders by increasing its share capital in accordance with the provisions of
Article (57) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations and based on the final exchange
ration, whereby Petrochem's Selling Shareholders obtain (1.27) SIIG shares in consideration for every Petrochem
share held. The total number of Consideration Shares will be three hundred four million eight hundred thousand
(304,800,000) fully paid shares with a nominal value of ten Saudi Riyals (SAR 10) per share. The total nominal value
of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-eight million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals. These shares will
be issued by way of increasing the fully paid-up capital of SIIG at a rate of (67.733%), from four billion five hundred
million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals to seven billion five hundred forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals and
increasing the number of issued shares of SIIG from four hundred fifty million (450,000,000) shares to seven hundred
fifty-four million eight hundred thousand (754,800,000) fully paid shares. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the
current SIIG Shareholders will own (59.62%) of the SIIG capital and the Petrochem'’s Selling Shareholders will own
(40.38%) of the SIIG's capital.

The total value of the Acquisition Transaction will be determined based on the value of the Consideration Shares. The
total nominal value of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-eight million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals.
The total market value of the Consideration Shares as determined on the basis of the Exchange Ratio and the closing
price of SAR 41.7 per SIIG share on 20/03/1443H (corresponding to 26/10/2021G) (which is the last trading day
prior to the Implementation Agreement) is twelve billion five hundred twenty-seven million two hundred and eighty
thousand (SAR 12,527,280,000) Saudi Riyals. The total value of the Consideration Shares (as will be recorded on the
financial accounts of SIIG) will be determined at a later stage on the basis of the closing price of SIIG shares on the
last trading day prior to the Effective Date of the Acquisition.

In the event that the calculation of the number of shares owed to any Petrochem's Selling Shareholder based on the
Exchange Ratio results in fractional shares, the resulting figure will be rounded down to the lowest whole number. For
example, if a Petrochem Shareholder holds (50) Petrochem shares, he will be allocated 63 Consideration Shares, not
(63.5) Consideration Shares. The fractional shares will be aggregated and sold in Tadawul at the then market price
on behalf of the entitled Petrochem's Selling Shareholders. Subsequently, the proceeds resulting from the sale of
the fractional shares will be distributed to such Petrochem Shareholders proportionate to their respective fractional
entitlements within a period not exceeding thirty (30) days from Completion. The costs related to the sale of fractional
shares will be deducted from the total proceeds of such sale.

It should be noted that no involuntary staff redundancies are expected as a result of the Acquisition.



Since there are no Substantial Shareholders in SIIG, the following table shows details of ownership in SIIG of each of
SIIG's board of directors, its Senior Executives and the public, in addition to GOSI's direct and indirect ownership prior
to and following the Acquisition Transaction as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022G):"

Pre- Completion Post- Completion
Shareholder
No. of Shares Shareholding % No. of Shares Shareholding %

SIIG Directors* 100,708 0.02% 100,708 0.01%
SIIG Senior Executivesxx 1,000 0.0002% 1,000 0.0001%
GOS|* 22,275,000 4.95%"? 140,260,834 18.58%
The Public 449,898,292 99,97% 614,437,458 81.4%
Total 450,000,000 100% 754,800,000 100%

* Pursuant to the shares owned by SIIG directors in SIIG only, which include the shares they own directly and the shares in which they have an indirect interest.

*+ pursuant to the shares owned directly by SIIG senior executives in SIIG only.

+++ GOS| has indirect ownership in SIIG, as described below:
Q) Pre- Completion of the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (62,926,190) shares in SIIG, which accounts for (13.98%) of SIIG's capital.
2 Post- Completion of the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI will indirectly own, through its subsidiaries, (135,451,790) shares, which will account to (20.23%) of SIIG's capital.

The below diagram is a simplified description of the structure of the Acquisition Transaction:

Before Completion After Completion

Petrochem'’s SlG Petrochem'’s SlG

Shareholders shareholders

50%
50%
6

Shareholders shareholders

40.38% 59.62%

100%

Petrochem

n Note: GOS| transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOSI in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data
published on Tadawul. Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in
direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem
becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.

12 Note: GOSI's direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction has been included for the purpose of disclosure and for the reason that it will become a Substantial Shareholder in SIIG
Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction. GOSI's direct ownership has also been included within the public ownership total which represents (99.97%) of SIIG's share capital Pre-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction, due to its current direct ownership being below (5%).



3.2 Rationale of the Acquisition

Overview

The petrochemicals industry, globally and in Saudi Arabia, has witnessed significant development over the past few
years on the back of shifts in macroeconomic fundamental, evolution of commodity prices, shift of investments in
regional production capacity, and reform of public policies, among other factors.

The latest trends in the sector impose challenges on industry players that could hamper performance and limit
growth potential. These challenges include, but not limited to, the following:

e Shale oil expansion in the United States was accompanied with an increase in the production of natural gas
and decrease in its price, where Henry Hub benchmark dropped from $4.4 per MMBtu in 2010 to $1.9 per
MMBtu in 2020, which resulted in an increase of competitive tension among polymer producers globally's.

e Reduction of polymer imports into North East Asia—one of the largest destinations of polymers producers
in Saudi Arabia—due to improvement in self-sufficiency, where ethylene production capacity in the region
increased by 4.9% compounded annual growth rate between 2015 — 2020, while, during the same period,
ethylene production capacity in the Middle East increased by only 1.8% compounded annual growth rate'.

e Recent volatility of oil prices was accompanied with shrinkage of naphtha-ethane spread due to the
precautionary measures undertaken to contain the spread of COVD19, where since the beginning of 2020,
Brent benchmark reached a low of $9.1 per barrel and a high of $78.3 per barrel®.

e Potential reduction of the feedstock prices' competitive advantage and its availability in the Kingdom and the
Middle East due to tighter supply of gas, which may reduce allocation of natural gas and result into higher
investments in naphtha crackers. Natural gas total proved reserves in the Middle East declined from 77.8
trillion cubic meters in 2010 to 75.8 trillion cubic meters in 2020'°.

e Limited demand, to date, on polymer products from local industrial producers and manufacturer in Saudi
Arabia who use these products in their operations, where the sales in Saudi Arabia by petrochemical listed
entities in Saudi Arabia were at 16.9% of total sales as of 2020'".

In an effort to overcome these challenges, the board of directors of each of SIIG and Petrochem discussed the
potential impact of the Transaction, and determined based on these discussions that the Transaction will allow
both SIIG and Petrochem to be better positioned to overcome the current challenges and developments of the
petrochemicals sector, as the Transaction will create a leading integrated petrochemical company with robust
business model and an expanded products portfolio. SIIG post-completion will be better positioned to streamline
operational activities through an effective organizational structure and better arrangements for infrastructure and
utilities which will reduce the fluctuations effect of the petrochemical sector.

Further, SIIG post-completion will be able to improve the operational activities, crystallize growth potential, economize
on financing and access to capital, improve equity trading and coverage exposure by equity research analysts,
rationalize corporate governance arrangements and decision-making process, and, as a result safequard and grow
shareholders value. Set forth below are the key themes of benefits from the Transaction:

13 Note: based on British Petroleum's Statistical Review of World Energy 2020

14 Note: based on the market study prepared by IHS Markit

15 Note: based on United States'’s Energy Information Agency

16 Note: based on British Petroleum'’s Statistical Review of World Energy 2020

17 Note: based on the weighted average split of sales in Saudi Arabia by SIIG, Petrochem, Tasnee, Advanced, Sipchem, SABIC AN, YANSAB, Saudi Kayan.



Benefits

The Transaction will create a number of benefits for SIIG post-completion which will benefit the current shareholders
of SIIG and Petrochem's Selling Shareholders upon becoming shareholders in SIIG post-completion. These benefits
are as follows:

Increased operational and financial scale. SIIG post-completion will become one of the largest petrochemical
companies in Saudi Arabia from a pro-forma market value perspective, in addition to becoming among the largest in the
MENA region, with pro-forma market capitalization of 30.4 billion Saudi Riyals as of 30 September 2021 and pro-forma
combined total production capacity of 6.3 million ton per year as of 31 December 2020. From an operational standpoint,
SIIG post-completion will have a robust and expanded products portfolio with an adequate level of resilience, not to
mention an enhanced corporate profile that can support in various business arrangements between its subsidiaries and
counterparts, which can potentially help increase operating rates.

Growth and development opportunities. SIIG post-completion will be better positioned to achieve growth in its
current assets and through new investments; and capture business development opportunities through its enlarged
market capitalization, share capital base and improved integration. This includes improvement of utilization and
efficiency, expansion of capacity in operations and infrastructure; improvement of current partnership to anchor
future growth; forge new strategic alliances and partnerships locally and globally, such as Shareek Program which is
a framework between the government and private sector to encourage local investments in the KSA ; scout for future
M&A opportunities, in Saudi Arabia or internationally, with value creation potential; and venture into new industries
with higher value-add products to diversify the business.

Diversification and risk reduction. SIIG post-completion will be in a better position when it comes to hedging against
naphtha-ethane spread, which is tied with oil price movement, to reduce its impact on earnings, as the shareholders
of SIIG post-completion will have enhanced exposure to production lines that utilizes naphtha, ethane and propane.
The diversification of the feedstock slate will enable SIIG post-completion to manage market and oil volatility.

Better capital market exposure and access to a larger investor base. SIIG post-completion, as a result of the Transaction,
will have a larger market capitalization, larger free float and shareholders base, as well as increased average daily trading
volumes, values and trades in absolute terms, which when coupled with the other benefits from the Transaction, will result
into an improved trading patterns, such as market depth, share price volatility, as well as liquidity levels. The enlarged
capitalization and investors base, in turn, will provide SIIG post-completion a higher likelihood of inclusion in global and
emerging market indices based on the criteria of the relevant entities, which will increase global exposure, induce capital
flow, invite further coverage by equity analysts.

Simplification of ownership structure and opportunity for asset optimization. SIIG post-completion will have a simplified
ownership structure, which will support in the reduction or rationalization of the common overhead costs. In addition, the
unification of control over the subsidiaries of SIIG post-completion will introduce agility in the decision making process in
relation to operations, strategies, investments, among other general corporate areas.

Achieving combined fully phased in cost synergies for both companies. The Acquisition Transaction is expected to result in
fully phased in cost synergies for SIIG after Completion around approximately in an annual basis. The expectations in relation
to the cost synergies are based on the initial estimates and it is subject amendments post-completion and the addition of
more details. Furthermore, the cost synergies may not be achieved due to the inaccuracy of the initial estimates on which
they were based on. SIIG, its board of directors, and Senior Executives will not be held responsible for the results of the initial
estimates, and there is no intention of updating the expected benefits and cost synergies of the Acquisition Transaction
unless itis required by the relevant rules and regulations. On that basis, these expectations shall not be explained in a manner
that indicates that SIIG's dividends post-completion will be greater than those in past financial periods.



33 Directors

The board of directors of SIIG, as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022G), is comprised of nine (9) members, as follows:

Ownership in SIIG

Ownership in Petroc

Position Membership Date of Ap- Indirect Indirect Per-
Status pointment | Direct | Inter- | Total |Percentage |Direct | Inter- cent-
estr estr age
, Chairman
Mr. Khalil 1. ) Non-
Saudi 62  of Board of . GOSI 1/7/2021G ~ N/A N/A - - N/A N/A -
Alwatban ) Executive
Directors
Vice
Mr. Nabil A. ) Chairman Non-
Saudi 54 . - 1/7/2021G 5,000 N/A 5,000 0.001% N/A N/A -
Almubarak of Board of ~ Executive
Directors
) Member of
Mr. Sulaiman A. )
Alqwai Saudi 66 theBoardof Independent - 1/7/2021G N/A N/A - - N/A N/A -
waiz
9 Directors
Mr. Member of Non
Abdulrahman  Saudi 59  the Board of Executive - 1/7/2021G 38193 N/A 38193  001% N/A N/A -
xecutiv
S. Alrajhi Directors
Member of
Mr. Adel A. ) Non-
L Saudi 55  the Board of . - 1/7/2021G 40,000 N/A 40,000 0.01% N/A N/A -
Alquraishi ) Executive
Directors
) Member of
Mr. Farraj M. .
_ Saudi 67 theBoardof Independent - 1/7/2021G ~ N/A N/A - - N/A N/A -
Abothenain )
Directors
Member of
Mr. Saad S. ,
Alrwaite Saudi 62  theBoardof Independent - 1/7/2021G  N/A N/A - - N/A N/A -
wai
Directors
Member of
Mr. Thamer A. , Non-
Saudi 39  the Board of . GOSI  1/7/2021G 17500 N/A 17,500  0.004% N/A N/A -
Alhumud ) Executive
Directors
Member of
Mr. Fahad A. )
Amaekel Saudi 42  theBoard of Independent - 1/7/2021G 15 N/A 15 0.000003% N/A N/A -
maeke
Directors

Source: SIIG and Petrochem
+ Indirect interest includes any shares through:
+ Relatives of the relevant director.

+ any company Controlled by the relevant director.

&



3.4 Proposed changes to the Board of Directors of SIIG after the Completion of the
Acquisition

Subject to procurement of relevant regulatory and shareholder approvals, both Companies have agreed pursuant to
the Implementation Agreement to take the necessary steps for implementing the following changes in respect of the
SIIG board composition after the Completion of the Acquisition:

1-  To appoint two (2) individuals (whom shall be nominated by Petrochem board within thirty (30) days prior
to the Effective Date of the Acquisition) to fill in the two vacant board seats following the Completion of the
Acquisition.

2-  SIIG will provide two vacant seats for the two members who are nominated by Petrochem Board of Directors
through increasing SIIG's board size from nine (9) members to ten (10) members and one member resigning
from the SIIG board of directors on the date of the Completion.

As a result of the above changes, it is expected that, following the Completion of the Acquisition, the composition of
the board of SIIG will be as follows:

e (OSI, one of the current Shareholders of SIIG and a Substantial Shareholder of Petrochem, will have two
representatives in the board of SIIG as of the Completion (at present, the GOSI has two representatives in SIIG
board);

e two (2) directors will be nominated by Petrochem's board as members of the SIIG's board following the
Completion; and

e the remaining directors will be from the then current board of SIIG.

These changes will only take effect following the Completion of the Acquisition. Until then, the current boards and
executive management teams of both Companies will continue to lead their respective Companies independently.

3.5 Description of Petrochem

3.5.1 OVERVIEW

Petrochem was established as a Saudi joint stock company registered in the city of Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia, with Commercial Registration No. 1010246363 dated 8th of Rabi' Al-Awwal 1429H (corresponding to 16th
of March 2008G). The headquarters of the company is located in Riyadh and its capital is (4,800) million Saudi
Riyals. Petrochem's activity includes development, establishment, operation, management and maintenance of
plants of petrochemical, gas, petroleum and other industries, as well as wholesale and retail trade in petrochemical
materials and products and their derivatives. Petrochem activity is currently limited to investing in its subsidiaries:
Saudi Polymers Company, which produces petrochemical products, and Gulf Polymers Distribution Company, which
distributes Saudi Polymers Company'’s products. The following is an overview of these two companies:

3.5.1.1  Saudi Polymers Company:

Saudi Polymers Company, the first project of Petrochem, is a limited liability company with a capital of 1,406 million
Saudi Riyals and commercial registration number 2055008886 issued from Jubail on 29/11/1428H (corresponding
to 9/12/2007G), located in Al-Jubail Industrial City. The activity of the project cover producing and selling ethylene,
propylene, hexane, high and low density polyethylene, polypropylene and polystyrene. Petrochem owns 65% of the
project. and the remaining 35% is owned by Arabian Chevron Phillips Petrochemical Company Ltd. The project started
its commercial production in the last quarter of 2012G. The production is carried out with the following capacities:



Ethylene 1,220
Propylene 440
Polyethylene 1,100
Polypropylene 400
Hexane-1 100
Polystyrene 100

On 25th of June 2020, Petrochem announced on the Saudi Exchange Company website the resolution of the board
of directors of its subsidiary company (Saudi Polymers Company) dated 25th of June 2020 to stop the polystyrene
production unit and amortize its value, due to the difficulty of making profits from this unit in light of the situation in
the polystyrene market globally.

During 2020G, the total sales of Saudi Polymers Company amounted to 5,532 million Riyals, compared to 6,774
million Riyals in 2019G. During 2020G, Saudi Polymers Company realized a net profit of 259 million Riyals, compared
to a net profit of 870 million Riyals in 2019G. The average production capacity of the Company reached about 98%
during 2020G.

Saudi Polymers Company markets its products inside the Kingdom, while sales outside the Kingdom are made
by Gulf Polymers Distribution Company. Chevron Phillips Chemical International Sales Inc. (CPCIS) also provides
marketing support through marketing services for all Saudi Polymers Company products globally based on the sale
agreement concluded between Gulf Polymers Distribution Company and CPCIS.

It should be noted that the capital of Saudi Polymers Company was reduced on 29/4/2021G from (4,800) million
Riyals to (1,406) million Riyals as a result of its increment beyond the Company's need, and Petrochem'’s share of
this reduction is (2,206) million Riyals.

3.5.1.2  Gulf Polymers Distribution Company:

Itis a limited liability company, located in Dubai Airport Free Zone at the United Arab Emirates. It was established in
2011 with a capital of 2 million dirhams, of which Petrochem owns 65% and Arabian Chevron Phillips Petrochemical
Company owns 35%. The company markets the products outside the Kingdom in cooperation with Chevron
Phillips Chemical International Sales Inc. (CPCIS) based on the sale agreement concluded between Gulf Polymers
Distribution Company and CPCIS. The Company's activity is limited to providing marketing support by storing, selling
and distributing the Saudi Polymers Company products outside the Kingdom.

The geographical distribution of the revenues of Saudi Polymers Company and Gulf Polymers Distribution Company
during 2020 was as follows:

B Kingdom and the Middle East 25% 20%

B Asia
55%

m Europe and Africa




3.5.2 Strategy Overview of Petrochem
Petrochem's strategy is based on a number of main areas, including:

e (Continuing to enhance the returns to shareholders.

e Enhancing production efficiency, expanding the company's current projects while reducing production costs.
e Continuing to develop national cadres to ensure the company's future.

e Diversifying the company's investments internally and externally, and distributing investment risks.

e Studying and evaluating investment and growth opportunities in new projects, petrochemical and non-
petrochemical.

e | ooking for existing investment opportunities, including merger and acquisition opportunities that have a
competitive advantage.

3.5.3 Petrochem Board

The board of directors of Petrochem, as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022G), is comprised of eight (8)
members, as follows:

Ownership in Petrochem Ownership in SIIG

Date of Ap- - ndi -
pointment | Direct Total | PeTCeM™ | pirecy | NAIreCt | ropq) | Percent-
age Interest* age
) Chairman
His Excellency
83 ofBoard Non-
Mr.Hamad S.  Saudi ) - 11/04/2019G 100,000 N/A 100,000 0,002% 200,000 N/A 200,000 0,0044%
) years of Executive
AlSayari .
Directors
Member
Mr. Suliman T4 of the Non-
Saudi ) - 11/04/2019G 1000 N/A 1000  0,00002% 30,000 6,500 306,500 0,007%
M Al-Mandeel years Boardof  Executive
Directors
Member
Dr. Rasheed .65 of the
) . Saudi Independent - 11/04/2019G 4,000000 N/A 4,000,000 0,83% NVA 1,150,000 1,150,000 0.25%
R. Bin Owain years Board of
Directors
Member
Mr. Khalid M. Y4 of the Non-
. Saudi ) GOSI  11/04/2019G N/A N/A
Alaraifi years Boardof  Executive
Directors
Member
Mr. Ziyad M. Y4 of the
) Saudi Independent - 11/04/2019G N/A N/A
AlShiha years Board of
Directors
Member
Mr. Abdullatif .45 of the
] Saudi Independent - 11/04/2019G N/A N/A
A. AlSeif years Board of
Directors
Member
Mr. Eyad A. .44 of the Non-
i Saudi ) GOSI 11/04/2019G6 N/A N/A
Alhusain years Boardof  Executive
Directors
Member
Mr.
.53 of the Non-
Abdulrahman  Saudi ) - 11/04/2019G 1,000  N/A 1,000 0,00002% 1,000 N/A 1,000 0,00002%
) years Boardof  Executive
S. Alismail .
Directors

Source: Petrochem and SIIG
= Indirect interest includes any shares through:
+ relatives of the relevant director.

AN + any company controlled by the relevant director.



354 Companies in which Petrochem Holds Shares

The following table shows a list of companies Controlled by Petrochem through directly owning 30% or more of its
shares:

Name of entity Legal form Sha_lrehoold-  Country.of Principal activity
Ing % incorporation

Production and sale of ethylene,

Saudi Polymers Company Limited liability 65% ngdom O.f propylene, hexane, high and low density
company Saudi Arabia

polyethylene, and polypropylene

Gulf Polymers Distribution Limited liability United Arab Store, sale and distribution of Saudi
65% . Polymers Company products around the

Company company Emirates

world.

3.6 The Valuation of Petrochem

It was agreed between SIIG and Petrochem on the exchange ratio that determines the number of shares that
Petrochem's Selling Shareholders will obtain in SIIG as a result of the Acquisition, after negotiation and discussion
between both companies. In negotiating the Exchange Ratio, SIIG made reference to advice and assistance from its
respective advisers and a detailed review of due diligence information on Petrochem's business. For more details
on the terms of the Implementation Agreement, please see section (5.4.1) (“Implementation Agreement") of this
Shareholders' Circular.

In reaching agreement on the Exchange Ratio, a number of valuation methodologies have been considered by
HSBC Saudi Arabia in its valuation based upon which SIIG has reached the final Exchange Ratio. The main valuation
methodologies included:

Discounted cash flow analysis
e Discounted cash flows were calculated based on certain internal financial analyses and projections for SIIG and
certain financial analyses and projections for Petrochem, as prepared by SIIG and Petrochem managements.

e These cash flows are discounted using an appropriate discount rate to offset the risk to the present value of
shareholders.

Price-to-earnings multiples analysis

e In reaching an implicit nominal value, price-to-earnings multiples for selected peers were calculated by
identifying specific valuation multiples of listed companies similar in terms of assets and business to SIIG
and Petrochem.

e The financial forecasts for each of SIIG and Petrochem were calculated based on certain internal financial
analyses and projections for SIIG and certain financial analyses and projections for Petrochem, as prepared
by SIIG and Petrochem managements.

e Price-to-earnings multiples for selected peers were obtained using market data sources, i.e. Tadawul,
(Bloomberg) and (Factset).

Market Valuation

e The market has been evaluated based on current market capitalization levels of SIIG and Petrochem and
implied market capitalization levels using the average price weighted by the trading volume over several time
periods.

e Market data was obtained using market data sources, i.e. Tadawul, (Bloomberg) and (Factset).



Based on the aforementioned valuation methodologies, and after reviews by, and discussions with, SIIG, the Exchange
Ratio's range was determined to be between 1.20 to 1.37 shares in SIIG for each share in Petrochem. This is based
on the financial advisor's valuation as set out in the below table as at 26/09/2021G:

. Total number of shares Fair Value
shere Proe GAD | (milion) (millon SAR)

SIIG based on closing share price as of

26/09/2021G 39.90 450.00 MM 17,955.00
Petrochem based on closing share price as of
26/09/2021G 49.70 480.00 MM 23,856.00
Petrochem based on the minimum range of the

] 47. 480.00 MM 22,982.4
Exchange Ratio (1.20 shares) 88 80.00 ,982.40
SIIG based on the minimum range of the Exchange 5466 480,00 MM 2623824

Ratio (1.37 shares)

Following discussions and negotiations between SIIG and Petrochem, the final exchange ratio was agreed at (1.27)
shares in SIIG for each share in Petrochem. The following table sets out the final valuation based on said exchange
ratio as of 26/09/2021G:

Share closing price as of Total number of shares . L
26/09/2021 (SAR) (million) el (s )

Petrochem bgsed on the final 50.67 480,00 24.323.04
exchange ratio (1.27 share)

In addition to reviewing the necessary professional due diligence reports related to Petrochem's business, analyzing
the mutual benefits and evaluating the current status of Petrochem, the Saudi Group has taken the advice of its
advisors to determine the final exchange ratio.

With the above considered, a final exchange ratio of 1.27 shares in SIIG for each share in Petrochem was agreed. This
implies a total number of fully paid-up Consideration Shares to be issued of three hundred four million eight hundred
thousand (304,800,000) shares. The total nominal value of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-eight million
(SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals based on a SAR 10 nominal share value for SIIG. The total market value of the
Consideration Shares as determined on the basis of the Exchange Ratio and the closing price of SAR 41.1 per SIIG
share on 26/10/2021G (the last trading day prior to the firm intention announcement) is twelve billion five hundred
twenty-seven million two hundred and eighty thousand (SAR 12,527,280,000) Saudi Riyals, implying a per share value
of SAR 52.2 per outstanding Petrochem share which represents: (i) a premium of 2.35% to the closing share price of
Petrochem of SAR 51 in Tadawul on 26/10/2021G (the last trading day prior to the firm intention announcement);
(ii) a premium of 5.02% to the closing share price of Petrochem of SAR 49.7 in Tadawul on 26/9/2021G (the last
trading day prior to the announcement made by the companies that they concluded the non-binding Memorandum
of Understanding in relation to the Acquisition on 21/2/1443H (corresponding to 28/9/2021G)). The total book value
of the Consideration Shares in the financial accounts of SIIG will be determined on the basis of the closing price of
SIIG shares on the last trading day prior to the Effective Date of the Acquisition.

In its capacity as the financial advisor to SIIG, HSBC Saudi Arabia rendered its written fairness opinion to the SIIG
board of directors on 26/10/2021G, to the effect that, as of such date and based upon and subject to the factors
and assumptions set forth therein, the Exchange Ratio pursuant to the Implementation Agreement was fair from a
financial point of view to SIIG.

It should be noted that HSBC Saudi Arabia provided advisory services and its opinion solely for the information and
assistance of the SIIG board of directors in connection with its consideration of the Acquisition. As such, the HSBC
Saudi Arabia opinion is not a recommendation as to how any SIIG Shareholder should vote with respect to the
resolutions to be proposed at the SIIG EGM in relation to the Acquisition or any other matter.



The following documents were reviewed by HSBC Saudi Arabia in arriving at the opinion that the Exchange Ratio pursuant
to the Implementation Agreement was fair from a financial point of view to SIIG: (i) draft Implementation Agreement
concluded between SIIG and Petrochem on 27/10/2021G; (ii) draft of the Offer Document with respect to the Acquisition;
(iii) certain publicly available business and financial information concerning SIIG and Petrochem, the markets in which
they operate and certain other companies engaged in businesses comparable to them; (iv) proposed financial terms of
the Acquisition in comparison with publicly available financial terms of other certain acquisitions involving companies
deemed relevant and the consideration received for such acquisitions; (v) the financial and operating performance of SIIG
and Petrochem in comparison with publicly available information concerning certain other companies deemed relevant
including the review of current and historical market prices of SIIG shares and Petrochem shares and certain publicly
traded securities of such other companies; (vi) the audited consolidated financial statements of SIIG and Petrochem
for the fiscal years ended on 31st of December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G and the condensed consolidated interim
financial statements of SIIG and Petrochem for the three and six months period ended on 30th of June 2021G; (vii)
certain internal, unaudited financial analyses, projections, assumptions and forecasts prepared by or at the direction
of the managements of SIIG and Petrochem relating to their respective businesses for the three fiscal years ended on
31st of December 2018G, 31st of December 2019G and 31st of December 2020G and for the six months period ended
on 30th of June 2021G, as well as the estimated amount and timing of the cost savings and related expenses and
synergies expected to result from the Acquisition; and (viii) other financial studies and analyses and considered such
other information as deemed appropriate for the purposes in arriving at the opinion that the Exchange Ratio pursuant to
the Implementation Agreement was fair from a financial point of view to SIIG.

Furthermore, HSBC Saudi Arabia has held discussions with members of the senior management of SIIG with respect
to certain aspects of the Acquisition, and their assessments of the past and current business operations of SIIG,
the financial condition and future prospects and operations of SIIG, the effects of the Acquisition on the financial
condition and future prospects of SIIG, and certain other matters necessary or appropriate to the opinion.

The full text of the written opinion of HSBC Saudi Arabia submitted to SIIG on 26/10/2021G, which sets forth
assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken in connection
with the opinion, is attached as Annex 2 to this Shareholders' Circular.

The following table summarizes the results of the agreed valuation, which equals to twelve billion five hundred
twenty-seven million two hundred eighty thousand Saudi Riyals (12,527,280,000):

Agreed Exchange Ratio 1.27 shares in SIIG for each share in Petrochem.

Three hundred four million eight hundred thousand
(304,800,000 fully paid shares.

Three billion forty-eight million (3,048,000,000)
SaudiRiyals based on a SAR 10 nominal share value.

Total Number of the Consideration Shares

Total Nominal Value of the Consideration Shares

The total market value of the Consideration Shares (at the end of the last is twelve billion five hundred twenty-seven million
trading day prior to the conclusion of the Implementation Agreement dated two hundred eighty thousand (SAR 12,527,280,000)
20/3/1443H (corresponding to 26/10/2021G) Saudi Riyals.

The total market value of Petrochem shares (at the end of the last trading day
prior to the conclusion of the Implementation Agreement dated 20/3/1443H
(corresponding to 26/10/2021G)

The percentage of the difference between the total market value of the
Consideration Shares and the total market value of Petrochem’s shares

which are the subject of the Transaction (at the end of the last trading day 2.35%
prior to the conclusion of the Implementation Agreement dated 20/3/1443H
(corresponding to 26/10/2021G)

Stock price of SIIG (at the end of the last trading day prior to the conclusion
of the Implementation Agreement dated 20/3/1443H (corresponding to SAR 41.1
26/10/2021G).

Stock price of Petrochem (at the end of the last trading day prior to
the conclusion of the Implementation Agreement dated 20/3/1443H SAR51.0
(corresponding to 26/10/2021G).

Implied valuation of Petrochem's stock (at the end of the last trading day
prior to the conclusion of the Implementation Agreement dated 20/3/1443H SAR 52.2
(corresponding to 26/10/2021G).

Twelve billion two hundred forty million (SAR
12,240,000,000) Saudi Riyals.




3.7 Related Parties and Conflicted Directors

The Acquisition Transaction involves Related Parties as GOSI is a Shareholder in SIIG and a Substantial Shareholder
in Petrochem, and it has representation on the boards of both SIIG and Petrochem. SIIG is also a Related Party
because it owns (50%) of Petrochem, in addition to its interest above its ordinary interest as a shareholder in its
capacity as the Offeror in the Acquisition Transaction.

The CMA has issued a waiver for GOSI (as a Related Party) from the requirements of Article 3(0) and Article 48 of
the Merger and Acquisition Regulations, thereby allowing GOSI to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the General
Assembly of one of the companies, subject to the voting restrictions applicable to the shareholder who owns shares
in both companies, in which case the shareholder will be permitted to vote in the General Assembly of one of the
companies, and the voting restrictions applicable to their representatives in the meeting of the board or any committee.
SIIG (as a Related Party) will not be able to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the General Assembly of Petrochem.

A waiver was also obtained from the CMA from the requirements of (2)(b)(10) from the Instructions for Companies'
Announcements in relation to the announcement made in the event where the agenda includes an item for changing the
company's capital. As such, SIlIG's Extraordinary General Assembly's invite announcement will not set out a clarification
that the votes of Related Parties will not be included when voting on the Acquisition Resolutions in the Extraordinary
General Assembly.

A number of SIIG's directors have an interest in the Acquisition Transaction, as Mr. Khalil I. Alwatban and Mr. Thamer A.
Alhumud (in their capacity as the representatives of GOSI in SIIG Board) have declared their interest to SIIG Board and
did not vote on SIIG Board resolution to approve entry into the Implementation Agreement.

A number of Petrochem's directors have an interest in the Acquisition Transaction, as His Excellency Mr. Hamad S.
AlSayari (due his direct ownership in SIIG), Mr. Suliman M. Al-Mandeel (due his direct and indirect ownership in SIIG),
Mr. Abdulrahman S.Alisamail (in his capacity as a senior executive in SIIG and due his direct ownership in SIIG) and
Dr. Rasheed R. Bin Owain (due to his indirect ownership in SIIG), and Mr. Khalid M. Alaraifi and Mr. Eyad A. Alhusain (in
their capacity as representatives of GOSI in Petrochem Board) have declared their interest to Petrochem Board and
did not vote on Petrochem Board resolution to approve entry into the Implementation Agreement.

Pursuant to Article 3 (n) of the Merger and Acquisition Regulations, a shareholder that holds shares in both Petrochem
and SIIG can only vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the EGM of one of the companies.



The following table sets out the names and shareholdings of the Related Parties and conflicted directors in relation

to the Acquisition Transaction as of 7/8/1443H (corresponding to 10/3/2022G):

Direct Ownership in SIIG Direct Ownership in Petrochem

Shareholding %

Substantial Shareholders in each or both Companies

Nature of the conflict

No. of Shares

No. of Shares

Shareholding %

a Shareholder in SIIG and
a Substantial Shareholder

GOsI in Petrochem and has a 22,275,000 4.95%'® 92,902,232'° 19,35%
representative on the board
of both Companies
Substantial Shareholder in
Saudi Industrial Petrochem and has interest
Investment Group above its ordinary interest as N/A 240,000,000 50%
(SHG) a shareholder in its capacity
as Issuer.
SlIG's Conflicted Directors
Mr. Khalil 1. a representative of GOSI on
Alwatban the board of SIIG N/A N/A
Mr. Thamer A. a representative of GOS| on o
%
Alhumud the board of SIIG 17,500 0004 N/A
Petrochem's Conflicted Directors
His Bxcellency Mr. — - irect ownership in SIIG 200,000 0.0044% 100,000 0,002%
Hamad S. AlSayari
Mr. Suliman M. Al- has dlregtgnd indirect 300,000 0.007% 1000 0,00002%
Mandeel ownership in SIIG
Mr. 'Abdullrahman ngor Executl\{e gnd has 1000 0.0002% 1000 0.0002%
S.Alismail direct ownership in SIIG
Dr. Rlsheed R. Bin has an indirect ownership N/A N/A 4.000.000 083%
Owain inSIIG
. ... arepresentative of GOSI on
Mr. Khalid M. Alariafi the board of Petrochem N/A N/A
Mr. Eyad A. Alhusain a representative of GOSI on N/A N/A

the board of Petrochem

18 Note: In addition to its direct ownership in SIIG, GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (62,926,190) shares in SIIG, which accounts for (13.98%) of the shares issued by SIIG. Noting that GOSI's total
direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital.

19 Note: In addition to its direct ownership in Petrochem, GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (71,280,000) shares in Petrochem, which accounts for (24.85%) of the shares issued by Petrochem. Noting
that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.




3.8 Ownership Structure Prior to and Following the Acquisition Transaction

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the current SIIG Shareholders will own (59.62%) of the SIIG capital and
the Petrochem Shareholders will own (40.38%) of the SIIG capital. Due to the fact that there are no Substantial
shareholders in SIIG, the following table shows details of ownership in SIIG of each of the Directors, Senior Executives
and the Substantial Shareholders of Petrochem and the public, in addition to GOSI's direct and indirect ownership,
prior to and following the Acquisition Transaction as of 16/6/1443H (corresponding to 19/1/2022G):?°

Pre- Completion Post- Completion
Shareholder
No. of Shares Shareholding % No. of Shares Shareholding %
SIIG Directors+ 100,708 0.02% 100,708 0.01%
SIIG Senior Executives#* 1,000 0.0002% 1,000 0.0001%
GOS|wx* 22,275,000 4.95%% 140,260,834 18.58%
The Public 449,898,292 86.84% 754,698,292 9997%
Total 450,000,000 100% 754,800,000 100%

* Pursuant to the shares owned by SIIG directors in SIIG only, which include the shares they own directly and the shares in which they have an indirect interest.

=+ pursuant to the shares owned directly by SIIG senior executives in SIIG only.

»** GOSI has indirect ownership in SIIG, as described below:
1) Pre- Completion of the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI indirectly owns, through its subsidiaries, (62,926,190) shares in SIIG, which accounts for (13.98%) of SIIG's capital.
2 Post- Completion of the Acquisition Transaction: GOSI will indirectly own, through its subsidiaries, (135,451,790) shares, which will account to (20.23%) of SIIG's capital.

3.9 Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Information
Saudi Industrial Investment Group "SIIG"

and Its Subsidiary

Pro forma condensed consolidated financial information (unaudited)

Introduction

The Pro forma financial information consists of the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020 of the Group and the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2020 along with related
notes, as if the Transaction had taken place on 1 January 2020 (the "Deemed Transaction Date").

The purpose of the Pro forma financial information is to illustrate the impact of the Transaction as if the two
companies had already existed in the capital structure created by the Transaction since the Deemed Transaction
Date and the Transaction had occurred at the Deemed Transaction Date.

The preparation and presentation of the Pro forma financial information is based on certain pro forma assumptions
(detailed in the Note A. Basis of Preparation) and has been prepared for illustrative purposes only. Moreover, because
of its nature, the Pro forma financial information addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore, does not represent
SlIG's actual financial position and financial performance, and may not give a true picture of the financial position and
financial performance of SIIG upon completion of the Transaction. In addition, the Pro forma financial information
is not representative of the financial situation and performance that could have been observed if the indicated
Transaction had been undertaken at an earlier date nor is the Pro forma financial information indicative of the future
operating results or financial position of SIIG upon completion of the Transaction.

20 Note: GOS| transferred part of its direct ownership in SIIG to some of its subsidiaries. The percentage of direct ownership of GOSI in SIIG fell from (13.14%) to (4.95%) as of 13/01/2022G according to the data
published on Tadawul. Noting that GOSI's total direct and in direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction is (18.93%) of SIIG's share capital. Furthermore, GOSI's total direct and in
direct ownership in SIIG Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction will be (38.91%) of SIIG's share capital. Noting that GOSI will not own any shares in Petrochem Post-Completion, due to Petrochem
becoming a delisted joint stock company wholly owned by SIIG.

21 Note: GOSI's direct ownership in SIIG Pre-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction has been included for the purpose of disclosure and for the reason that it will become a Substantial Shareholder in SIIG
Post-Completion of the Acquisition Transaction. GOSI's direct ownership has also been included within the public ownership total which represents (99.97%) of SIIG's share capital Pre-Completion of the
Acquisition Transaction, due to its current direct ownership being below (5%).



Saudi Industrial Investment Group "SIIG" and Its Subsidiary

Pro forma condensed consolidated statement of financial position (unaudited)
As at 31 December 2020

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS

Audited — As

previously
reported

)

31 December 2020

3=+

(4)

SIIG (Consoli- Restatement SIIG (Consoli- | Petrochem Pro forma
dated) dated) (Restated) adjustments

©)

(6) = (3) +(5)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and

. 12,951,249 (12,949,710) 1,539 691 -
equipment
Investments in joint
ventures accounted 1290946 8087372 9378318 8087372 -
for using the equity
method
Other assets 135,905 (130,710) 5,195 3,524 -
Right-of-use assets 63,266 (63,266) - - -
Total non-current 14,441,366 (5,056,314) 9,385,052 8,091,587 =
assets
Current assets
Trade receivables 784,883 (784,883) - - -
Inventories 1,013,390 (1,013,390) - - -
Prepayments and 147,621 (141,000) 6,621 3,643 -
other current assets
Due from refated 838,231 (229.481) 608,750 - -
parties
Cash and cash 2,080,971 (915229)  1,165742 382,298 -
equivalents
Total current assets 4,865,096 (3,083,983) 1,781,113 385,941 -
Total assets 19,306,462 (8,140,297) 11,166,165 8,477,528 - 11,166,165

<



Saudi Industrial Investment Group "SIIG" and Its Subsidiary
Pro forma condensed consolidated statement of financial position (unaudited)
As at 31 December 2020

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

31 December 20

SIIG (Consoli- SIIG (Consoli- | Petrochem Pro forma DT
Restatement ! (Consoli-
dated) dated) (Restated) adjustments dated)

Audited — As
previously Note 1B
reported
(2) (4)

3=+ ©) (6) = (3) +(5)

EQUITY AND

LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital B1 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 4,800,000 3,048,000 7,548,000
Share premium B2 - - - - 4,066,032 4,066,032
Other reserves B3 - - - - (3,038,661) (3,038,661)
Statutory reserve B5 906,301 - 906,301 438,294 11,541 917,842
Retained earnings B5 1,005,359 - 1,005,359 2,877,752 (26,989) 978,370
Equity attributable

to the shareholders

of Saudi Industrial 6,411,660 - 6,411,660 8,116,046 4,059,923 10,471,583
Investment Group

Company

Non-controlling BS 8221670  (4161747) 4059923 - (4,059,923) -
interests

Total equity 14,633,330 (4,161,747) 10,471,583 8,116,046 = 10,471,583




Saudi Industrial Investment Group "SIIG" and Its Subsidiary
Pro forma condensed consolidated statement of financial position (unaudited)
As at 31 December 2020

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

31 December 2020

SIIG (Consoli- SIIG (Consoli- | Petrochem Pro forma DT
Restatement ! (Consoli-
dated) dated) (Restated) adjustments dated)

Audited — As
previously Note 1B
reported
(2) (4)

3=+ ©) (6) = (3) +(5)

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 1,493,854 (1,493,854) - - - -
Lease liabilities 42,244 (42,244) - - - -
Deferred tax liabilities, 208,696 (298,696) ) } ) )
net

Employee benefits 330,416 (311,865) 18551 7,094 . 18551
obligations

Total non-current 2,165,210 (2,146,659) 18,551 7,094 = 18,551
liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade payables 300,975 (300,975) - - - -
Due to related parties 198,884 (198,833) 51 234 - 51
Accrued and other 392,367 (360,189) 32,184 2,726 - 32,184
liabilities

Dividends payable 225,000 - 225,000 - - 225,000
Current portion Of. 743254 (743.254) ) . ) .
long-term borrowings

Current portion of 23,187 (237187) - - - -
lease liabilities

Zakat and income tax 624,255 (205,459) 418,796 351,428 - 418,796
Total current 2,507,922 (1,831,891) 676,031 354,388 = 676,031
liabilities

Total liabilities 4,673,132 (3,978,550) 694,582 361,482 - 694,582
Total shareholders’ 19,306,462 (8,140,297) 11,166,165 8,477,528 = 11,166,165

equity and liabilities

<



Saudi Industrial Investment Group "SIIG" and Its Subsidiary
Pro forma condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (unaudited)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

31 December 2020

SIIG (Consoli- | Restate- | SIIG (Consoli- | Petrochem | Pro forma ?é%;zgn?
dated) ment dated) (Restated) |adjustments dated)

Audited — As
reported
(3)=(1)+(2) (6)=(3) +(5)

Revenue from contracts 6112766 (6112.766)

with customers

Cost of revenues (5,169,261) 5,169,261 - - -
Gross profit 943,505 (943,505) - - -
Share of net profit of joint

ventures accounted for (14,944) 268,458 253514 268,458 -
using the equity method

Selling and distribution (333.263) 333263 } ) }
expenses

General and (193172) 140872 (52,300) (24,545) -
administrative expenses

Operating profit 402,126 (200,912) 201,214 243,913 -
Finance costs (78,175) 77,803 (372 (205) -
Finance income 31,808 (11,803) 20,005 9,879 -
Finance income - net (46,367) 66,000 19,633 9,674 -
Other income - net 24,070 (23,985) 85 (284) -
Profit before Zakat and 379,829 (158,897) 220,932 253,303 -
income tax

Zakat expense (23,881) 10,005 (13,876) (23,5632) -
Income tax expense (22,744) 22,744 - - -
Profit for the year 333,204 (126,148) 207,056 229,771 =
Other comprehensive

income

Re-measurements

of employee benefit (32,948) 32,093 (855) (859) - (855)
obligations

Deferred tax 2,246 (2,246) - - - -

Share of other
comprehensive loss of
joint ventures accounted (13,054) (20,860) (33914) (20,860) - (33914)
for using the equity
method

Other comprehensive loss
for the year

Total comprehensive 289,448 (117,161) 172,287 208,052 = 172,287
income for the year

(43,756) 8987 (34,769) (21,719) (34,769)




31 December 2

SIIG (Consoli- Restate- | SIIG (Consoli- | Petrochem | Pro forma I:(r:cc’nf]zm?

facd ment dated) (Restated) | adjustments

dated)

Auge:/?guslAs Note 1B Restated —

‘ 4 Note A

reported

) | 2 |-+ @ | (6 __[6):=3+06

Profit for the year is
attributable to:

Shareholders of Saudi
Industrial Investment 91,645 - 91,645 229,771 115411 207,056
Group Company
241,559 (126,148)
115411 -(115411) - 241,559 (126,148) 115411 - (115,411) -
Non-controlling interests

B5 333,204 (126,148) 207,056 229,771 - 207,056
Total comprehensive
income for the year is
attributable to:
Shareholders of Saudi
Industrial Investment 67,735 - 67,735 208,052 104,652 172,287
Group Company
Non-controlling interests 221,713 (117,161) 104,552 - (104,552) -

B5 289,448 (117,161) 172,287 208,052 - 172,287
Earnings per share (Saudi B4 027

Riyals) Basic and diluted




Saudi Industrial Investment Group "SIIG" and Its Subsidiary

Notes to the pro forma condensed consolidated financial information (unaudited)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

A- Basis of preparation

The Group has prepared the Pro forma financial information, consisting of the unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statement of financial positionas at 31 December 2020, the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended and the related notes below. The
Pro forma financial information is prepared for illustrative purposes only and the pro forma adjustments are based
upon assumptions, which are described in the accompanying notes (Proforma Notes (A) Basis of preparation and
(B) Description of the pro forma adjustments). Because of its nature, the Pro forma financial information illustrates
the impact of the Transaction, as set out in the Introduction section, would have had on the condensed consolidated
financial position and condensed consolidated financial performance of the Group as if the Transaction had taken
place on 1 January 2020 and does not represent the Group's actual financial results or position.

The Pro forma financial information has been prepared based on the provisions of Article 57 related to the conditions
and requirements of raising the capital for the purpose of acquiring a company or purchasing an asset under the
Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations issued by the Board of the Capital Market Authority of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and in accordance with the following:

1-  The Pro forma financial information only includes the impact of this Transaction and has been prepared
on the basis of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements (unaudited) of the Group for the
three-month and nine-month periods ended 30 September 2021 which include the restated (refer Note 1B
below) condensed consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 and condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020. The condensed consolidated interim financial statements (unaudited) of the Group for the three-month
and nine-month periods ended 30 September 2021 have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 "Interim
Financial Reporting” ("IAS 34"), as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The condensed consolidated
interim financial statements for the three-month and nine-month periods ended 30 September 2021 do
not include all the information and disclosures required in the annual consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the three-month and nine-month
periods ended 30 September 2021 are to be read in conjunction with the annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. Also refer to Note 1B below.

1A Certain disclosures that may be required by International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"),
and other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and
Professional Accountants ("SOCPA") have not been included in this Pro forma financial information.

1B. Until 31 December 2020, Petrochem consolidated Saudi Polymers Company (a limited liability company)
("SPCQ") and Gulf Polymers Distribution Company FZCO (a free zone limited liability company) (“GPDC")
on the judgement that it had control over both SPCO and GPDC. During the three-month period ended
30 September 2021, Petrochem reassessed this judgement in light of the contractual arrangements
stipulated between the shareholders and concluded that Petrochem exercised joint control according
to the requirements of IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements' and IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements'.
As a consequence, Petrochem has accounted for the investments in SPCO and GPDC as investments
in joint ventures using the equity method. Accordingly, the Group has included a restatement in the
condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the three-month and nine-month periods
ended 30 September 2021. The restatement had no impact on the total equity attributable to the
shareholders of SIIG, net income and earnings per share (basic and diluted).



A- Basis of preparation (continued)

2-

The accounting policies applied for the preparation of this Pro forma financial information are consistent
with those disclosed in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 (Audited - as previously reported). Also refer to Note 1B above.

The assets and liabilities in this Pro forma financial information are reflected at their carrying amounts. No
adjustments have been made to reflect fair values, or recognise any new assets or liabilities, at the Deemed
Transaction Date that would otherwise be required.

The requirements of, and instructions issued by, the regulatory authorities, including, instructions issued
in relation to the overall form and presentation of the Pro forma financial information and the Deemed
Transaction Date i.e. 1 January 2020.

IFRS 10 'Consolidated Financial Statements' B96 states that when the proportion of the equity held
by non-controlling interests changes, an entity shall adjust the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. The entity shall
recognise directly in equity any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received, and attribute it to the owners of the parent.

Hence, for the purpose of this Transaction, SIIG has accounted for the acquisition of ownership interest
of non-controlling equity holders in Petrochem as an equity transaction due to no change in control.
Consequently, the difference between fair value of consideration paid and the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, is recognised in equity (other reserves).

IFRS does not provide guidance on the presentation of resulting gain or loss within equity from such
transactions; for the purpose of the Pro forma financial information management has opted to present this
difference under "other reserves". [For further explanation and calculations, please refer notes B2 and B3]

The Transaction is between equity participants without change of control, consequently, any goodwill that
may have been recognized on the date of originally obtaining control of Petrochem by SIIG is not adjusted
in this Pro forma financial information.

The Pro forma financial information does not take into consideration the effects of any expected synergies or
costs incurred to achieve these synergies as a result of the Transaction. The Pro forma financial information
gives no indication of the results and future financial situation of the activities of SIIG upon completion of
the Transaction.

In consideration for the acquisition of Petrochem’s shares from non-controlling interests, the Company
agrees to issue and allocate 304,800 thousand new shares ("Consideration shares") having par value of SAR
10 per share at a market price of SAR 23.34 per share as published on "Tadawul" on the Deemed Transaction
Datei.e. 1 January 2020 at the share exchange ratio of 1.27 shares in SIIG for each share in Petrochem. This
closing price and the value of the consideration are indicative and will be revised to reflect the market price
of the shares of SIIG on the actual date of the Transaction.

Upon completion of the Transaction, all of Petrochem'’s shares will be delisted from "Tadawul” and Petrochem
will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of SIIG.

B- Description of the pro forma adjustments

The pro forma adjustments made for purposes of the Pro forma financial information are based on information
available as well as certain pro forma assumptions as described in these notes to the Pro forma financial
information. Pro forma adjustments include adjustments for consistent and better presentation of significant items
only. As previously mentioned, the Pro forma financial information contains neither any potential synergies or cost
savings nor any normalisation adjustments or any additional future expenses that could result from the Transaction.
Furthermore, the Pro forma financial information does not contain any potential or future effects resulting from
any possible remedies/regulatory requirements imposed on SIIG upon completion of the Transaction by regulatory
authorities in connection with the Transaction. In addition, all costs related to the Transaction have been adjusted in
equity as at 1 January 2020.



B- Description of the pro forma adjustments (continued)

The pro forma adjustments included in the Pro forma financial information are as follows:

1-  The Transaction would result in issuance of 304,800 thousand shares of the Company to acquire entire
equity stake of non-controlling shareholders in Petrochem.

a- Pro forma share capital of SIIG post-transaction

Outstanding shares of Petrochem owned by NCI (480M*50%) (in '000 units) (A) 240,000
Exchange ratio (B) 1.27

Number of shares to be issued by SIIG (in '000 units) (C=A*B) 304,800
Par value of shares to be issued by SIIG (in '000 SAR) (D=C+10) 3,048,000
Outstanding share capital of SIIG (in '000 SAR) as at 1 January 2020 (E) 4,500,000
Total issued share capital of SIIG post-Transaction (in '000 SAR) (D+E) 7,548,000

2- The consideration has been calculated on the basis of SIIG's closing price of SAR 23.34 per share published
on the “Tadawul" on the Deemed Transaction Date i.e. 1 January 2020. This closing price and the value of
the consideration are indicative and will be revised to reflect the market price of the shares of SIIG on the
actual date of the Transaction.

a- Pro forma total consideration

Number of shares to be issued by SIIG to Petrochem’s shareholders / sellers (in '000 units) 304,800
Multiplied by: share price of SIIG (in SAR) as at 1 January 2020 23.34
Total consideration (in '000 SAR) as at 1 January 2020 7,114,032

b- Pro forma share premium of SIIG post-transaction

Total consideration (in '000 SAR) 7,114,032
Less: Par value of shares issued by SIIG to Petrochem's shareholders (in '000 SAR) (3,048,000)
Share premium as at 1 January 2020 (in '000 SAR) 4,066,032

3- Furthermore, the difference between fair value of consideration paid and the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, is recognised in equity (Other reserves).

Par value of shares issued by SIIG to Petrochem'’s shareholders / sellers (in '000 SAR)

[304,800 thousand number of shares @ SAR 10 per share] (3,048,000)
Add: Share premium (Note B2(b)) (in '000 SAR) (4,066,032)
Fair value of the consideration transferred (Note B2(a)) (in '000 SAR) (7,114,032)
Carrying value of the additional interest in Petrochem (in '000 SAR) 4,075,371

Equity [Other reserves (See note A5 above)] (in '000 SAR) (3,038,661)

4-  Following the issuance of Consideration shares, basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2020 have increased from SAR 0.20 per share to SAR 0.27 per share.

5-  For the purposes of pro forma presentation, Petrochem has become a wholly owned subsidiary of SIIG
effective from 1 January 2020 thereby requiring the following adjustments in the Pro forma financial
information:

a- Reallocation of Petrochem's profit and total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020 between SIIG and non-controlling interests with reference to the Deemed Transaction Date i.e. 1
January 2020. SIIG's portion of profit and total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020 increased by SAR 115,411 thousand and SAR 104,552 thousand respectively;



B- Description of the pro forma adjustments (continued)

b- Increase in the amount of statutory reserve for the year ended 31 December 2020 as a result of income
reallocation;

c- Change in the amount of NCI appearing in the restated figures for the period ended 31 December 2020.
As a result of the Transaction, the non-controlling interests of Petrochem being acquired by SIIG is
adjusted and reclassified under "Equity attributable to the shareholders of Saudi Industrial Investment
Group Company”; and

d- The above changes (a) to (c) resulted in change in the amount of retained earnings as well.

The changes explained above are reflected as follows:

As at 31 December 2020

Increase / (decrease) Post-transaction
- )

Other reserves (3,038,661) (3,038,661
Statutory reserve 906,301 11,541 917,842
Retained earnings 1,005,359 (26,989) 978,370
Non-controlling interests 4,059,923 (4,059,923) -

&



3.10 Comparison of Financial and Key Performance Indicators (KPIS) as of the 31 of
December 2018G, 2019G and 20206 at SIIG level (before the Acquisition Transaction)
and at the level of Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financials after the Completion
of the Acquisition as of 31t of December 2020G:

2020
Indicator SIIG after the Comple-
tion of the Acquisition
Gross Profit Margin % 30.0% 24.6% 15.4% N/A
Net profit margin 22.2% 16.8% 5.56% N/A
Return on Assets% 8.1% 5.8% 1.7% 1.9%
Return on Equity 13.7% 8.6% 2.3% 2.0%
Trade Percentage (x) 1.7 19 19 2.6
Liabilities to Equity (x) 0.7 0.5 0.3 0.1
Debt to Total Equity (x) 05 0.3 0.2 N/A
3.11 Impact on Ownership

Upon completion, existing Petrochem'’s Selling Shareholders will hold (40.38%) while SIIG shareholders will hold
59.62% of the SIIG capital after the Completion of the Acquisition.

SIIG Total outstanding shares 450,000,000 450,000,000
% shareholding 100% 59.62%

Petrochem Total outstanding shares 480,000,000 304,800,000
% shareholding 100% 40.38%
No. of Shares 450,000,000 754,800,000

SIIG (Post-Acquisition)
% shareholding 100% 100%

3.12  Impact on Profitability

Total Number of current SIIG shares 450.000,000
Profitability Per Share (PPS) 0,20
Total Number of new SIIG shares 304,800,000
Total Number of SIIG following Capital Increase 754,800,000
PPS following Capital Increase (based on pro forma financial 097
statements) '

Profit Increase (in figures) 0,07

Profit Increase (%) 35%




3.13 SIIG Historical Share Price Performance

First day of each month for past year prior to the date of publishing this Shareholders' Circular

01/10/2020G 23.16
01/11/2020G 20.52
01/12/2020G 26.45
03/01/2021G 26.45
01/02/2021G 24.90
01/03/2021G 28.75
01/04/2021G 32.85
02/05/2021G 35.15
01/06/2021G 37.50
01/07/2021G 34.05
01/08/2021G 37.20
01/09/2021G 36.00
03/10/2021G 39.25
01/11/2021G 36.3
26/10/2021G 411

The last available date before the publishing of this Shareholders' Circular

17/3/2022 37.50




4. Financial Information

4.1 Introduction

This section presents an analytical review of the operational performance and financial position of National
Petrochemical Company (hereafter referred to as the "Petrochem”) on a consolidated basis during the financial
years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the period ended 30 June 2021G.
This section should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of Petrochem available to
shareholders on the official Saudi Tadawul website and which have been audited by the auditors for the years ended
31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the period ended 30 June 2021G.

It should be noted that the financial information presented in this section has been extracted from consolidated
financial statements of Petrochem.

Petrochem'’s financial information for the six-month period ended 30 June 2021G and the financial years ended
in 2020G, 2019G and 2018G have been extracted from the interim financial statements for the six-month period
ended 30 June 2021G for Petrochem and the financial statements for the years ended 2020G, 2019G and 2018G,
respectively, and this information was not subject to any fundamental modification. Petrochem's financial information
for the six-month period ended 30 June 2020G and for the financial year ended on 31 December 2019G has also
been extracted from the comparative data of the condensed financial statements for the six-month period ended
on 30 June 2021G for Petrochem and the financial statements for the year 2020G for Petrochem, respectively, this
information was not subject to any material modification.

In connection with the proposed merger between SIIG and Petrochem, which required a review of and alignment of
the relevant accounting policies specifically related to evaluating the control of Petrochem's investments in Saudi
Polymers and Gulf Polymers Distribution Company, in which Petrochem owns 65% of the shares, it was concluded
that the two entities which were previously accounted for as subsidiaries in the financial statements of Petrochem
should now be accounted for as joint arrangements using the equity method.

As a result of this reassessment, Petrochem deconsolidated the financial statements of Saudi Polymers and Gulf
Polymers Distribution Company and accounted for these as investments in joint ventures under the equity method
in the condensed interim financial statements for the nine months ended 30 September 2021G and accordingly
included a restatement in these condensed interim financial statements.

The restatement however had no financial impact on the total equity attributable to Petrochem'’s shareholders nor
the net income or earnings per share. The changes as a result of the restatement are presented in the condensed
interim financial statements of Petrochem for the nine months ended 30 September 2021G.

The shareholders should read this circular in full, and should not solely rely upon the information contained in this
section.

The financial and statistical information presented in this section have been rounded to the nearest thousand. In case
these figures are summed, minor differences might be noted when compared to the figures presented in the tables
which too have been rounded to the nearest thousand. All ratios, margins and annual expenses have been calculated
using the rounded figures.



4.2 Director's Declaration for Financial Statements

The members of the Board of Directors of the Saudi Industrial Investment Group ("Saudi Group") bear no responsibility
for the accuracy and completeness of the information contained in this section, which was obtained from Petrochem
and other public sources, including Petrochem's financial statements without making any material modification to
them, bearing in mind that Petrochem is bound by the implementation agreement to provide the Saudi Group with all
the information required for the purpose of preparing this circular. Petrochem has provided, under the implementation
agreement, a guarantee to the Saudi Group, according to what is customary in such cases, regarding the correctness
and completeness of the information received from it from all material aspects regarding the transaction, as on the
date of providing such information, including information that was submitted during the stage of conducting the
required due diligence and preparing the transaction documents, including this circular, and that the information
provided is not misleading in all material aspects. Under the implementation agreement, Petrochem also provided a
guarantee that it did not intentionally conceal from the Saudi Group any material information related to the transaction.
The Saudi Group has assumed that there is currently no intention to make any material change in Petrochem's
activities and that there has been no interruption in its business that could affect or have materially affected its
financial position during the (12) month period preceding the date of this circular.

43 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies applied for the preparation of Petrochem's financial statements, which are attached to this
shareholder circular, have been presented in addition to being published and made available on the Saudi Tadawul
website periodically in accordance with the regulations and rules of the Capital Market Authority. In addition,
Petrochem has reclassified some of the 2019G transactions that appear in the comparative statements for the fiscal
year ended on December 31, 2019G as stated below:

Until 31 December 2019, the managements of GPDC and SPCO recorded freight costs as incidental costs necessary
to satisfy performance obligations with its customers. As a result, freight costs were netted-off against the "Revenue
from contracts with customers” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. During 2020, the managements of GPDC and SPCO re-assessed this practice and concluded that freight
costs were not incidental costs and, instead, were incurred in order to satisfy the performance obligation with its
customers. As a consequence, management has reclassified such freight costs from “Revenue from contracts with
customers" to "Cost of revenues" as summarized below. This reclassification has had no impact on the gross profit,
operating profit, profit for the year, basic and diluted earnings per share or any consolidated statement of financial
position line items.

Finance income previously included under "Other income - net" in the comparative consolidated financial statements
has been presented separately as “Finance income" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income to conform to the presentation for the year ended 31 December 2020. This reclassification
has had no impact on the gross profit, operating profit, profit for the year, basic and diluted earnings per share or any
consolidated statement of financial position line items.

As previously re-

ported Reclassification As reclassified
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Revenue from contracts with customers 7,434,705 220,828 7,655,633
Cost of revenues (5,551,441) (220,828) (5,772,269)
Gross profit 1,883,264 - 1,883,264
Other income - net 98,160 (83,690) 14,470

Finance income - 83,690 83,690




Until 31 December 2019, the management of SPCO presented the financial asset and liability balances relating to its
employee savings plan on a net basis in its statement of financial position. During 2020, the management of SPCO
reassessed this position and concluded that such presentation was not appropriate keeping in view the requirements
of IAS 19, 'Employee Benefits'. As a consequence, the management of SPCO reclassified the financial asset and
liability balances on a gross basis in the “Due from related parties" and "Employee benefit obligations” line items in
its comparative 2019 statement of financial position and related notes as summarized below. The management of
the Company has included this reclassification in the consolidated statement of financial position and believes the
reclassification to be immaterial, and has had no impact on any consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income line items.

As previously re-

Reclassification As reclassified

ported

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2019

Due from related parties 237,226 27,694 264,920
Employee benefit obligations 231,162 27,694 258,856
4.4 Analysis of Historical Financial Results
441 Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The following table presents Petrochem's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods
ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 December, PR [T A%
30 June
Currency: SAR00O A% A% A
20186 | 20196 | 20206 | 20206 | 20216 | 20186- | 20196- |*%20206
20196 | 20206

8930414 7655533 6112766 2979982 4583659  (14.3)% (20.2)% 53.8%

Revenue from contracts
with customers

Cost of revenues (6244959) (5772269) (5168211) (2851531) (2903705 (7.6)%  (10.5)% 1.8%
Gross profit 2685455 1,883,264 944555 128451 1679954 (29.9)%  (49.8)%  1,207.9%
ng;”r?sizd distribution (471,618)  (421931) (333263) (167496) (227.933) (105%  (210%  361%
Sxeg‘eer::'e":”d administatve — o0s001)  (175460) (165417)  (19583)  (67929)  (144)%  (57%  (146)%
Operating profit 2008836 1285873 445875 (118,628) 15384092 (36.0)%  (65.3)% (1,266.7)%
Finance costs (300373) (227,721)  (78008)  (41460) (16375  (264)%  (657)%  (60.5)%
Finance income - 83690 21,682 14859 4761 - T41)%  (680)%
Finance costs - net (309373)  (144031)  (56326)  (26601)  (11614)  (534)%  (609)%  (56.3)%
Other income - net 231648 14470 23701 4315 (2803)  (938)%  638%  (1650)%
::g’;&gig‘;’e R 1,031,111 1,156,312 413250 (140,914) 1,369,675 (40.1)%  (64.3)% (1,072.0)%
Income tax (132141)  (70149)  (22744)  (23344) (103144) (469)%  (67.6)%  341.8%
Zakat expense (98620)  (70800)  (33537)  (45397) 27066  (282)%  (52.6)%  (159.6)%
Profit after tax 1,700,350 1,015363 356969  (209,655) 1,293597 (40.3)%  (64.8)%  (717.0)%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information




4.41.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

The following table presents the breakdown of revenue from contracts with customers as recorded in each subsidiary
for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods
ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 December, Forithe pir:r)i ended 30

Currency. SAR00O

SPC revenue from contracts with customers

From sales to GPDC 6,773896 5384228 4364363 1,990,137 3500936  (20.5)% (18.9)% 75.9%

From sales to local KSA
based customers

Total SPC revenue from
contracts with customers
GPDC revenue from
contracts with customers

1,632,638 1,390,202 1,167,780 606,168 816,443 (14.8)% (16.0)% 34.7%

8406534 6774430 5532143 2596305 4317379  (19.4)% (18.3)% 66.3%

7541515 6265331 4944986 2373814 3767216  (16.9)% (21.1)% 58.7%

Subtotal 15948049 13039761 10477129 4970119 8084595 (182)%  (19.7)%  62.7%
Less: elimination of sales o o o
o SPC 10 GPDC (6,773896) (5384,228) (4364,363) (1990,137) (3500936) (205%  (189)%  (75.9)%
Less: freight costs (243,739) - - - - - - -

I:::Lﬁg:“"dated 8,930,414 7,655533 6,112,766 2,979,982 4,583,659 (14.3)% (20.2)%  53.8%

Source: Management information

Petrochem'’s revenues include revenues from the Saudi Polymers Company (“SPC") and revenues from Gulf Polymers
Distribution Company (“GPDC"). Sales of SPC to GPDC are eliminated upon consolidation. Petrochem does not
generate any direct revenues as the operating, production and sales activities are carried out through SPC and the
GPDC. Freight costs in 2018G were net off revenue, while in 2019G and 2020G these were presented within cost of
revenues.

SPC revenue from contracts with customers increased from SAR 2.6bn in the six-month period ended 30 June
2020G to SAR 4.3bn in the six-month period ended 30 June 2021G due to the increase in sales from both GPDC and
sales to local KSA based customers.

Revenues from GPDC decreased from SAR 7.5bn in 2018G to SAR 6.3bn in 2019G despite an increase in volumes
sold by 57,093 MT in 2019G. This was driven by the decline in average selling prices by 19.8% during 2019G.

Revenue from GPDC further decreased from SAR 6.3bn in 2019G to SAR 4.9bn in 2020G due to the decrease in sales
volumes as well as average selling prices due to a slowdown in demand from customers.

Revenues from GPDC increased from SAR 2.4bn in the six-month period ended 30 June 2020G to SAR 3.8bn in the
six-month period ended June 30 2021G mainly driven by the increase in prices, whereas the price of Polypropylene
and other products are directly linked to crude oil prices, which increased in international markets during the same
period, in addition to an increase in sales volumes from 776,766 MT to 791,169 MT.

SPC revenue

Revenues from SPC includes revenue from products sold to GPDC as well as revenue from products sold to local
KSA based customers including, Jubail Chevron Philips and Saudi Chevron Philips (affiliates). Sales made from SPC
to GPDC were eliminated on consolidation of Petrochem.

Revenues from SPC declined from SAR 8.4bn in 2018G to SAR 6.8bn in 2019G and further to SAR 5.5bn in 2020G due
to the decline in sales to both GPDC as well as local KSA based customers.



Revenue from sales to GPDC decreased from SAR 6.8bn in 2018G to SAR 5.4bn in 2019G despite an increase in
sales volumes from 1,597,694 MT to 1,618,572 MT due to the decline in average selling price from the sale of SPC's
products from SAR 4,240 per MT to SAR 3,327 per MT.

Revenue from sales to GPDC decreased further from SAR 5.4bn in 2019G to SAR 4.4bn in 2020G due a decline in
sales volumes from 1,618,572 MT to 1,526,342 MT and the decrease in average selling prices from SAR 3,327 per
MT to SAR 2,859 per MT.

Revenues from sales to local KSA based customers decreased from SAR 1.6bn in 2018G to SAR 1.4bn in 2019G
primarily due to a decline in average selling prices for products from SAR 3,616 per MT in 2018G to SAR 3,012 per
MT in 2019G.

Revenue from sales to local KSA based customers decreased further from SAR 1.4bn in 2019G to SAR 1.2bn in
2020G due to a further decline in average selling prices from SAR 3,012 per MT to SAR 2,560 per MT and a decline in
sales volumes to local KSA based customers from 461.566 MT to 456,154 MT.

The following table presents the breakdown of SPC revenue generated from sales to GPDC by product for the years
ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June
2020G and 2021G:

4-4-1-11 Breakdown of SPC sales to GPDC by product

For the year ended 31 December, e 12 e i A%
30 June,

A% A% A%

Currency. SAR000

Sales to GPDC (SAR ‘000)

Polyethylene (“PE") 4910081 3724891 2975173 1393451 2240155 (241%)  (20.1%) %608
Polypropylene (“PP") 1,757,994 1553161 1290950 550447 1144612 (11.7%)  (169%)  %107.9
Polystyrene ("PS") 39,835 25234 11,829 3,022 7,521 (36.7%)  (53.1%) %1489
1-Hexene 65,986 80,942 86,412 43217 108,648 22.7% 6.8% %151.4
Total 6,773,896 5,384,228 4,364,364 1,990,137 3,500,936 (20.5%) (18.9%) %75.9
Volumes sold (‘000 MT)

Polyethylene ("PE") 1,138806 1,139,311 1,070,726 547,033 530,078 0.0% (6.0%) %(3.1)
Polypropylene (“PP") 434307 454791 429327 194935 238,639 47% (5.6%) %22.4
Polystyrene ("PS") 7736 6,097 3,142 737 1,205 (212%)  (485%) %635
T-Hexene 16,845 18,373 23,147 11,271 24,206 9.1% 26.0% %114.8
Total quantities sold 1,597,694 1,618,572 1,526,342 753,976 794,127 1.3% (5.7%) %5.3

Average selling price (SAR)

Polyethylene ("PE") 4312 3,269 2,779 2,547 4226 (242%)  (150%) %659
Polypropylene (“PP") 4,048 3415 3,007 2,824 4796  (156%)  (11.9%)  %69.8
Polystyrene ("PS") 5,149 4139 3,765 4,100 6,241 (196%)  (9.0%) %52.2
T-Hexene 3917 4,405 3,733 3,834 4,488 125%  (1563%)  %I17.1
Overall ASP 4,240 3,327 2,859 2,640 4409  (215%) (14.1%)  %67.0

Source: Management information

Revenue from the sales to GPDC decreased from SAR 6.8bn in 2018G to SAR 5.4bn in 2019G primarily due to a

decline in the average selling price of products sold by SPC to GPDC from SAR 4,240 per MT to SAR 3,327 per MT.
A

N



The decline in the average selling price of majority of products sold by SPC was due to the decline in the price of
crude oil in international markets which was linked to the average selling price of SPC's products.

The price of one of 1-Hexene however increased in 2019G due to the one off spot sale opportunities availed during
the year in addition to signing contracts with new customers.

Sales to GPDC declined further from SAR 5.4bn in 20719G to SAR 4.4bn in 2020G due the combined impact of a
decline in average selling prices from SAR 3,327 per MT to SAR 2,859 per MT as well as a decline in volumes sold
from 1,618,572 MT to 1,526,342 MT.

The decline in volumes sold was primarily due to the challenging economic conditions faced by customers during
the COVID 19 pandemic.

Revenue from the sales to GPDC increased by 75.9% in the six-month period ended June 2021G, primarily driven
by the increase in quantities sold for Polypropylene, Polystyrene and 1-Hexene in addition to the increase in the
Polyethylene conversion price during the period. The average selling price for the same period increased by SAR
1,769, driven by the increase in crude oil prices.

The following table presents the breakdown of SPC revenue generated from sales to KSA based local customers by
product for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month
periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

4-4-1-1-2 Breakdown of SPC sales to KSA based local customers by product:

Currency: SAR000 .

A %2018G- | A% 2019G | A% 2020G
2019G

Sales (SAR '000)

Polyethylene (“PE") 684,769 520,269 522,728 257,298 374,086 (24.0)% 0.5% %45.4
Polypropylene ("PP") 185,581 195730 182906 104,560 106,404 5.5% (6.6)% %1.8
Polystyrene (“PS") 75,391 90,839 66,505 39,762 25031 20.5% (26.8)% %(37.0)
1-Hexene 48,698 45,063 63,358 25424 39,434 (7.5)% 40.6% %55.1
Others 638,199 538,301 332,283 179,123 271,488 (15.7)% (38.3)% %51.6
Total 1,632,638 1,390,202 1,167,780 606,168 816,442 (14.8)% (16.0)% %34.7
Volumes sold (‘000 MT)

Polyethylene ("PE") 154,038 145378 167,810 88450 80910 (5.6)% 15.4% %(8.5)
Polypropylene ("PP") 42,238 50,041 55,979 32630 19,859 18.5% 11.9% %(39.1)
Polystyrene (“PS") 13,662 19,837 15,950 9,908 3,862 45.2% (19.6)% %(61.0)
1-Hexene 9,760 9,480 13920 5973 7,204 (29)% 46.8% %20.6
Others 231,850 236830 202495 103,763 106876 2.1% (14.5)% %3.0
Total quantities sold 451,548 461,566 456,154 240,723 218,710 2.2% (1.2)% %(9.1)
Average selling price (SAR)

Polyethylene ("PE") 4,445 3,579 3115 2,909 4,623 (19.5)% (13.0)% %58.9
Polypropylene ("PP") 4,394 3911 3267 3204 5,358 (11.0)% (16.5)% %67.2
Polystyrene ("PS") 5518 4,579 4170 4,013 6,481 (17.0)% (8.9)% %61.5
1-Hexene 4,990 4,753 4,552 4,256 5474 (4.1% (4.2)% %28.6
Others 2,753 2,273 1,641 1,726 2,540 07.4)% (27.8)% %472
Overall ASP 3,616 3,012 2,560 2,518 3,733 (16.7)% (15.0)% %48.3

Source: Management information



Despite an increase in sales volumes from 451,548 MT in 2018G to 461,566 MT in 2019G, sales to local KSA based
customers declined from SAR 1.6 bn to SAR 1.4bn due to the decline in average selling prices of products from SAR
3,616 per MT to SAR 3,012 per MT.

Revenues from sales to local KSA based customers also decreased from SAR 1.4bn in 20719G to SAR 1.2bn in 2020G
due to lower quantities of Aromatics Hydrocarbon Mixture (“AHM"), Pyrolysis Gasoline (“Pygas") and Ethylene procured
by the larger local KSA based customers including Jubail Chevron Philips and Saudi Chevron Philips; and a decline in
average selling prices from SAR 3,012 per MT to SAR 2,560 per MT due to the global decline in crude oil prices.

The comparatively lower average selling prices for sales to local KSA based customers was due to the product mix as
sales to local customers included larger volumes of Pygas and AHM which had comparatively lower average selling
prices as compared to Polyethylene and Polypropylene.

Revenue from other local contracts increased 34.7% in the six-month period ended June 2021G, primarily driven by
increase in the conversion rate of the Polyethylene and Polypropylene during the period. The average selling price for
the same period increased by SAR 1,215 driven by higher crude oil prices.

Revenues from GPDC

Revenues from Gulf GPDC are linked to the export and sales to clients in Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Revenues
from GPDC decreased from SAR 7.5bn in 20718G to SAR 6.3bn in 2019G and to SAR 4.9bn in 2020G driven by a similar
approach to the prices of SPC's products.

The following table presents the breakdown of GPDC revenue generated from sales to customers in Asia, Middle East
and Europe for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the six-month
periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

4-4-1-1-3 GPDC - Breakdown of revenue by products

For the year ended 31 December,

For the period ended 30 June, A%

A% A% A%
2018G 2019G 2020G 2020G 2021G 2018G- 9G - =
2019G G

Currency: SAR000

Sales (SAR '000)

Polyethylene (“PE") 5425510 4284761 3402578 1645238 2405878  (21.0)% (20.6)%  46.2%
Polypropylene ("PP") 1979207 1841354 1420982 663033 1205841  (7.00%  (228)%  81.9%
Polystyrene ("PS") 43231 27,993 11,449 3,085 7,188 (352)% (59.1)%  133.0%
1-Hexene 93,515 111,097 114,536 62,458 150,410 18.8% 3.1% 140.8%
Others 52 126 (4,559) - (2101)  142.3% (3718.3)% 100.0%
Total 7,541,515 6,265,331 4,944,986 2,373,813 3,767,216 (16.9)% (21.1)% 58.7%
Volumes sold (‘000 MT)

Polyethylene (“PE") 1137415 1155356 1,078,939 559,599 527,286 16%  (66)%  (58%
Polypropylene ("PP") 429764 469014 420,797 204,109 238,465 91%  (103)%  16.8%
Polystyrene (“PS") 7736 6,097 2,933 737 1,205 212% (519%  63.5%
1-Hexene 16,844 18,385 23,156 12,321 24214 9.1% 26.0% 96.5%
Others na na na - na - - -
Total quantities sold 1,591,759 1,648,852 1,525,825 776,766 791,169 3.6% (7.5%) 1.9%
Average selling price (SAR)

Polyethylene (“PE") 4770 3,709 3,154 2940 4,563 (22.2%) (150%)  55.2%
Polypropylene (“PP") 4,605 3926 3,377 3,248 5,057 (14.7%)  (14.0%) 55.7%
Polystyrene (“PS") 5,588 4,591 3904 4186 5,965 (17.8%) (150%)  42.5%




For the year ended 31 December, | For the period ended 30 June,

A%
A% A% A%
2018G 2019G 2020G 2020G 2021G 2018G- | 2019G - | 2020G -
2019G | 2020G 2021G

Currency: SAR000

1-Hexene 5,652 6,043 4,946 5,069 6,212 8.8% (18.2%) 22.5%
Other products na na na - na - - --
Overall ASP 4,738 3,800 3,241 3,056 4,762 (19.8%) (14.7%) 55.8%

Source: Management information
Despite an increase in volumes sold by GPDC from 1,591,759 MT in 2018G to 1,648,852 MT in 2019G, sales in SAR

terms declined by 16.9% from SAR 7.5 bn to SAR 6.3bn which was due to the decline in average selling prices by
19.8% during 2019G.

As shown in the table above, in 2019G, the average selling prices for PE, PP and PS, which are linked to the global
price of crude oil declined by 22.2%, 14.7% and 17.8% respectively.

Revenue declined from SAR 6.3bn in 2019G to SAR 4.9bn in 2020G due to the combined impact of a decrease in
sales volumes as well as average selling prices. Sales volumes decreased from 1,648,852 MT to 1,528,825 MT due to
a slowdown in demand from customers, while average selling prices declined from SAR 3,800 per MT to SAR 3,241
per MT.

Revenue increased by 58.8% from SAR 2.4bn in the six-month period ended 30 June 2020G to SAR 3.8bn in the six-
month period ended 30 June 2021G due to the increase in average selling prices by 55.8% during the same period.
Also, the total quantities sold increased by 1.9% (or 14,403 MT) during the same period.

At 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G. others consisted of revenue adjustments including freight overtime
adjustments (unsatisfied performance obligation related to ongoing shipments to customers).

As shown in the above table, during the six-month period ended 30 June 2021G, the average selling prices (linked to
the global price of crude oil) for Polyethylene, Polypropylene and Polystyrene increased by 55.2%, 55.7% and 42.5%,
respectively.

The following table presents the breakdown of GPDC revenue by geography for the years ended 31 December 2018G,
31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

4-4-1-1-4 GPDC - Revenues by geography

For the period ended

For the year ended 31 December,

30 June,
Currency: SAR000 A%

2018G 2019G 2020G 2020G 2021G 2018G-

2019G
Asia 4327604 3859226 2941713 1,378975 2071619 (10.8)% (23.8)% %50.2
Europe 2633584 1,842,547 1446356 705618 1255609 (30.0)% (21.5)% %77.9
Middle East 580,275 563432 561476 289220 442,088 (29)% (0.3)% %52.9
Revenue 7,541,463 6,265,205 4,949,545 2,373,813 3,769,317 (16.9)% (21.0)% %58.8
Others 52 126 (4,559) - (2,107) 142.3%  (37183)%  100.0%
Total revenue 7,541,515 6,265,331 4,944,986 2,373,813 3,767,216 (16.9)% (21.1)% %58.7

Source: Management information




4.4.1.2 Cost of revenues

The following table presents the breakdown of the cost of revenues as recorded in each subsidiary for the years
ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June
2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 December, For the Pirl:?]: ended 30

Currency: SAR00O A% A% A%

2018G 20216
SPC cost of revenues 6,242,097 5,408,800 4,948,493 2,682,603 2,786616  (133)%  (8.5)% 3.9%
GPDC cost of revenues 6,819,454 5,801,284 4572979 2,192,367 3496796  (149)% (21.2)%  59.5%

Combined cost of revenues 13,061,651 11,210,084 9,521,472 4,874,970 6283412  (142% (151)%  289%

Less: elimination of
intercompany transactions

(6816592) (5437,815) (4,353261) (2023439) (3379,707) (20.2)% (19.9)%  67.0%

Consolidated cost of

6,244,959 5,772,269 5,168,211 2,851,531 2,903,705 (7.6)% (10.5)% 1.8%
revenues

Source: Management information

Cost of revenues include costs related to both SPC and GPDC. Cost of revenue for SPC includes the cost of production
while costs of revenue for GPDC include the cost of material procured from SPC as well as freight cost. Costs of
material procured from SPC are eliminated on consolidation. Petrochem does not incur any direct cost of revenues,
as the operating, production and sales activities are carried out through SPC and the revenues of GPDC.

Saudi Polymers Company - cost of revenues

The following table presents the breakdown of cost of revenues for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the period ended AY%
30 June, °

AR A%

4-4-1-2-1 Cost of revenues - Saudi Polymers Company

For the year ended 31 December,

2020G 2020G 2021G

Currency: SAR00O

Raw materials and consumables 3900439 3262005 2414303 1233304 1722040 (164)% (26.00% 39.6%

Depreciation 1104585 876057 866695 434740 428243  (207)% (1.1)% (15)%
Utilities, supplies and services 552,780 586,819 602,108 290,804 310,390 6.2% 2.6% 6.7%
Impgwment of property, plant and } ) 389,969 389,968 ) . ) )
equipment

Salaries, wages and benefits 192,600 215,550 203,066 121,326 107,483 11.9% 58)% (11.4)%
Royalty 51,488 51,323 51,146 25,822 25148  (03)% (03)%  (2.6)%
Contract services 63,709 49,646 40,526 20,786 18,031 221)% (184)% (13.3)%
Freight and distribution - 15,898 17,276 9,348 6,338 - 87%  (32.2)%
Write-off of inventories - - 10,600 - - - - -
Others 62,670 55,278 42,025 17,998 32,548 (11.8)% (240)% 80.8%
i;’rptfgt services charged by related 510006 og6004 310879 138507 136396 (56)%  49%  (1.5)%
Cost of revenues 6,242,097 5,408,800 4,948493 2,682,603 2,786,616 (13.3)% (8.5)% 3.9%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information



Cost of revenues primarily include raw materials and consumables (e.g. cost of materials procured from Saudi Aramco
and other suppliers), utilities, supplies and services (including maintenance), employee costs, royalty expenses and
cost of contracts and support services.

Cost of revenues declined from SAR 6.2bn in 2018G to SAR5.4bn in 2019G (or by 13.3%) due to a decline in the costs
of material, contracts services and costs of support services recharged by related parties and further decreased to
SAR 4.9bn in 2020G by 8.5% due to lower production levels as compared to 2019G, lower costs of materials and
employee costs as well as contract services.

Costs of raw materials and consumables declined by 16.4% and 26.0% in 2019G and 2020G respectively from SAR
3.9bn in 2018G to SAR 3.3bn in 2019G and then to SAR 2.4bn in 2020G, due to the decrease in the cost of key
feedstocks (Propane and C5-Mixed Pentane) procured. The decrease in the cost of feedstocks per MT procured in
each period was directly linked to the decline in the price of crude oil in global markets.

In contrast, utilities, supplies and services increased in 2019G by 6.2% due to the increase in sales volumes from
2,049,241 MT in 2018G to 2,080,128 MT in 2019G. In 2020G, utility expenses increased by 2.6% due to an increase in
sanitation expenses related to the COVID 19 pandemic.

In 2020G, SPC also shut down its production unit for Polystyrene and wrote off the net book value of its assets of
SAR 390.0m and inventory of SAR 10.5m in relation to the production unit for the product. The decision to shut down
the production unit was due to the high costs of production which were in excess of the revenues generated from
the sale of Polystyrene and the difficulty of generating profits from this unit in light of the situation of the Polystyrene
market globally.

Salaries, wages and benefits increased from SAR 192.6m in 2018G to SAR 215.6m in 2079G (or by 11.9%) due to the
increase in the number of employees from 377 in 2018G to 380 in 2019G in addition to annual increments to staff
during the year.

In 2020G, salaries, wages and benefits declined from SAR 215.6m in 2079G to SAR 203.1m (or by 5.8%) due to a
decrease of 28 employees during the year resulted from the decrease in outsourced labor (“secondees") driven by
economic slow-down related to the Covid-19 Pandemic.

Royalty expenses remained stable between 2018G and 2020G and did not witness a noticeable fluctuation as
it is determined by an agreement with Chevron Philips Chemical International Sales L.L.C and calculated on the
production levels in each year.

Contract services declined by SAR 14.1m in 2019G due to the termination of a water treatment services contract
between SPC and a third party vendor during the year. This was due to commencement of operations at a new water
treatment facility constructed by SPC. In 2020G, costs reduced further due to the reduction in contractual labor hired
under a fixed term contract.

Support services charged by related parties declined from SAR 313.8m in 2018G to SAR 296.2m in 2019G (or by
5.6%) before increasing to SAR 310.9m in 2020G (or by 4.9%). The decline in these expenses by SAR 17.6m in 2019G
was mainly due to certain rent contracts classified within depreciation of right of use assets, while the increase by
SAR 14.7m in 2020G was due to increase in shared inventory management cost as well as internal maintenance and
operational initiatives.

Cost of revenues increased from SAR 2.7bn in the six-month period ended June 2020G to SAR 2.8bn in the six-month
period ended June 2021G (or by 3.9%), mainly due to the increase in the costs of raw materials and consumables used.

Cost of raw materials and consumables increased by 39.6% in the six-month period ended in June 2021G, from SAR
1.2bn in the six-month period ended in June 2020G to SAR 1.7bn in the six-month period ended June 2021G, due to
the increase in the price of crude oil in the global markets.

Utilities, supplies and services increased in the six-month period ended June 2021G by 6.7% as a result of the
increase in sales quantity from 994,699 MT to 1,012,837 MT during the same period.



In 2020G, Petrochem decided to shut down the production of the Polystyrene and wrote off the net book value of
assets and inventories related to the production unit for this product. The decision to shut down the production unit
was due to the high production costs that exceeded the revenues generated from the sale of Polystyrene, and the
difficulty of generating profits from this unit in light of the situation of the Polystyrene market globally, which led to
a decrease in salaries, wages and benefits from SAR 121.3m in the six-month period ended June 2020G to SAR
107.4m in the six-month period ended June 2021G (or by 11.4%).

Royalty expenses remained stable between the six-month periods ended June 2020G and 20216, did not witness a
noticeable fluctuation as they are determined under an agreement with Chevron Philips Chemical International Sales
L.L.C and calculated on the production levels in each year.

Contract services decreased to SAR 18.0m in the six-month period ended June 2021G (or by 13.3%) compared to the
six-month period ended June 2020G.

Gulf Polymers Distribution Company — cost of revenues

The following table presents the breakdown of GPDC cost of revenues for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

4-4-1-2-2 Cost of revenues - Gulf Polymers Distribution Company

For the year ended 31 December, AR e e A%
30 June,

A% A% A%

Currency: SAR000

Cost of materials 6819454 5596354 4369823 2082904 3378398 (17.9)% (21.9)% 62.2%
Freight - 204,930 203,156 109,463 118,399 - (0.9)% 8.2%
Cost of revenues 6,819,454 5,801,284 4,572,979 2,192,366 3,496,796 (14.9)% (21.2)% 59.5%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Costs of revenue for GPDC included costs of material procured from SPC for onward sale to external customers
outside the Kingdom in addition to freight costs.

Costs of revenue declined by 14.9% and 21.2% in 2019G and 2020G primarily due to the decline in the cost of
procurement from SPC in 2019G and 2020G as shown in the table above.

Freight costs relate to the transportation costs of products from the warehouses to the end customer and include
ocean freight. In 2018G, freight costs of SAR 215.6m were net off against revenue.

In 2019G, freight costs declined to SAR 204.9m as a result of a decline in freight rates due to discounts received from
carriers caused by the decrease in bunker cost. Freight rates declined by 0.9% in in 2020G due to a decline in the
volume of exports during the year.

Costs of revenue increased by 59.5% in the six-month period ended June 2021G, mainly due to the increase in the cost
of materials purchased from Petrochem in the six-month period ended in June 2021G, as shown in the above table.

Freight costs relate to the costs of transporting products from the warehouse to the end customer and also includes
the cost of ocean freight. Freight cost increased by 8.2% in the six-month period ended on 30 June 2021G, in line with
the increase in revenues during the same period.



4.41.3 Selling and distribution expenses

The following table presents the breakdown of the selling and distribution expenses for the years ended 31 December
2018G, 31 December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 Decem- For the period A%
ber, ended 30 June, °

Currency: SAR000 A% A%
2018G 2019G 2020G 2021G

Marketing fees 317,231 269,748 198,428 93,844 151,808 (181)% (23.6)%  %61.8
Freight and distribution 60,821 70,234 61,410 29,232 31,979 155%  (126)%  %9.4
Warehousing 81934 57,627 36420 26879 26423 (29.70)% (368)%  %(1.7)
Salaries, wages and benefits 7,575 7,598 9,113 5,299 5,100 - 19.9% %(3.8)
Other 4,057 21,579 22,544 9,876 9940  4319%  45% %0.6
i:r[i?ec;rt services charged by related ) 5145 5348 2366 2684 ) 3.9% %13.4
Selling and distribution expenses 471,618 421,931 333,263 167,496 227,933 (10.5% (21.0)% %36.1

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Selling and distribution expenses include marketing fees paid to Chevron Philips Chemicals International Sales in
relation to sales to customers in Asia and Europe which are calculated based on the value of export sales and
freight and distribution costs which primarily relate to transferring goods from the production plant in Jubail to
GPDC, warehousing costs which relate to storing products ready to be transported as well as salaries and wages
of employees working within the sales teams and support services charged by related parties and other expenses.

Marketing fees decreased by 18.1% in 2019G and 23.6% in 2020G in line with the decrease in export sales by 14.5%
in 2019G and 21.1% in 2020G as marketing fees are calculated based on the value of sales.

Freight and distribution expenses increased in 2019G by 15.5% due to the increase in port rates, detention and
demurrage charges in relation to delayed shipments as well as customs clearance. The costs decreased by 12.6% in
2020G due to lower volumes transported during the year.

Warehousing costs decreased from SAR 81.9m in 2018G to SAR 57.6m in 2019G (or by 29.7%) due to the
reclassification of rental costs from warehousing to others in the same year. In 2020G, costs reduced by a further
SAR 21.2m and 36.8% due to the termination of arrangement and rental costs related to two of the four tanks being
used to store T—Hexene, and lower traffic to warehouses in Europe as a result of Managements strategy to divert
sales volumes to the Middle East and Asia due to the high costs of warehousing in Europe.

Salaries and wages related to the sales team was relatively stable between 2018G and 2019G. In 2020G, salaries
and wages increased due to the addition of 4 new employees during the year as total employees increased from 16
in 2079G to 20 in 2020G.

Marketing fees increased during the six months of 2021G by SAR 58.0m driven by an increase in sales by SAR 1.6bn.

In line with the increase in the value and volume of sales to Petrochem during the six-month period of 2021G, shipping
and distribution expenses increased by SAR 2.7m to SAR 32.0m in the same period.

It should be noted that warehousing expenses, salaries, benefits, and other selling and distribution expenses remained
relatively stable between the six-month periods of 2020G and 2021G, respectively.



4.4.1.4 General and administrative expenses

The following table presents the breakdown of the general and administrative expenses for the years ended 31
December 2018G, 31 December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G

and 2021G:
For the year ended 31 Decem- For the period
ber, ended 30 June,

A%
Currency: SAR000 A% A% A%
2018G 2019G 2020G 2021G

Support services charged by related

134390 115796 103841 52,067 39,837 (138)%  (10.3)%  %(23.5)

parties

Salaries and benefits 17,947 24,648 26,019 10,855 10,198 37.3% 5.6% %(6.1)
Depreciation 10,839 10,439 10,081 5,247 5,004 B7% (3.4)% %(4.6)
Bank charges 6,467 6212 5,420 2838 2,698 (9% (127)%  %(4.9)
Professional fees 929 566 4,146 236 1,472 (89.1)%  6325%  %523.7
Remunerations of board of directors 20,801 ) . 2897 2534 (100.0)% ) %(12.5)
and key personnel

Other 13,628 17,799 15910 5,443 6,186 30.6% (10.6)% %13.7
Sf;:;ig“d AR 205001 175460 165417 79,583 67,929 (144)% (5.7)%  %(14.6)

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

General and administrative expenses include support services costs recharged by related parties, salaries and
wages, depreciation and bank charges related to export sales in addition to remuneration of board of directors and
key personnel.

General and administrative expenses declined in 2019G by SAR 29.5m and in 2020G by SAR 10.0m due to a decline
in support services costs from year to year.

Support services charged by related parties comprised of expenses related to IT and costs related to secondments
from related parties during the year. Support services costs declined by SAR 18.6m in 2019G (or by 13.8%) primarily
due to a decline in the housing costs related to secondees by SAR 15.1m due to a reduction in the number of villas
rented by secondees during the year.

In 2020G, costs declined by a further SAR 12.0m (or by 10.3%) due to a further decline in houses rented during the
year in addition to a reduction in the housing allowance by SAR 9.2m during the year.

Bank charges which primarily related to export documentation for sales to customers in Asia, Europe and the Middle
East declined in line with the decrease in sales revenues in 2019G and 2020G.

Professional fees included payments to consultants and third party firms for professional services provided for audit
and tax. Professional fees increased in 2020G due to advisors costs of SAR 3.2m incurred in relation to an appeal
filed to the tax authorities on behalf of Petrochem.

Remunerations of board of directors and key personnel for 2019G and 2020G were presented under salaries and
benefits.

Support services charged by related parties decreased from SAR 52.1m in the six-month period in 2020G to SAR
39.8m in the six-month period in 2021G, mainly due to the decrease in support services to SPC due to the decrease
in legal services provided in addition to improvements in job vacancies.

Salaries and benefits expenses decreased from SAR 10.9m in the six-month period ended 2020G to SAR 10.2m in
the six-month period ended 2021G driven by lower salary expenses in GPDC in relation to promotions of existing
employees within the management team, which was partially offset by an increase in expenses as a result of the
increase in the number of employees.



4.4.1.5 Finance costs

The following table presents the breakdown of the finance costs for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 Decem- For the period A%
ber, ended 30 June, °

A% A% A%
2018G 2019G 2021G

Currency: SAR000

Finance costs on long-term
borrowings

203160 171,224 46,328 32,126 11,483 157%  (7129)%  %(64.3)

Amortization of transaction costs 5,400 3,159 10,217 5114 3,679 (41.5)%  2234%  %(28.1)
Finance costs on lease liabilities - 2,072 7,950 880 1,082 - 283.7% %23.0

Finance costs on employee benefit
obligations

6,206 7,615 7,799 - - 22.7% 2.4% -

Finance costs on subordinated loan

- - 0)% )% -
from non-controlling interest 42,189 10527 4123 (750)%  (55.1)%

Finance costs on loans to employees - 8,336 991 - - - (88.1)% -
Finance costs on Sukuk 49,692 24,788 - - - (50.1)%  (100.0)% -

Financing costs on a subordinated

loan from shareholders ) ) ) 7,866 - - - %(100.0)

Discounting of employees' loans
granted during the year

Other service charges 948 - - 503 131 (100.0)% - %(74.0)
Less: eliminations - - - (5,029) - - - %(100.0)
Finance costs 309,373 227,721 78,008 41,460 16,375 (26.4)% (65.7)%  %(60.5)

1,778 - - - - (100.0)% - -

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Finance costs comprised of costs related to debt obtained from banks to finance capital projects as well as to meet
working capital requirements.

Finance costs declined from SAR 309.4m in 2018G to SAR 227.7m in 2019G (or by 26.4%) and SAR 78.0m in 2020G
(or by 65.7%) due to the repayment of long term borrowings as well as the subordinated loan from shareholders
during 2019G and 2020G.

Long term borrowings declined from SAR 4.8bn Dec18G to SAR 3.4bn in Dec19G and to SAR 1.4bn at Dec20G, while
shareholders loans declined from SAR 413.9m at Dec18G to SAR 182.9m at Dec19G and were fully repaid in 2020G.

Finance costs declined from SAR 41.5m in the six-month period ended 2020G to SAR 16.4m in the six-month period
ended 2021G driven by the following:

1- the decrease in finance costs from long-term loans from SAR 32.7m to SAR 11.5m as a result of a decrease
in interest paid due to repayments made during the period by SPC;

2- a decrease in finance costs on the secondary loan from shareholders by SAR 7.8m as a result of the full
settlement of the loan from shareholders in the second half of 2020G.




4.41.6 Income from cash investments

The following table presents the breakdown of the income from cash investments for the years ended 31 December
2018G, 31 December 2019G and 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 Decem- For the period A%
ber, ended 30 June, °

A% A% A%
2018G 2019G

Currency: SAR000

Finance income on short-term

. - 77,757 10,162 8,665 1,738 - (86.9)% %(79.9)
deposits
Unwinding of finance income on

- 5933 11,520 - 2,989 - 94.2% -

loans to employees
Gamlf.rom. subordinated loan } ] ) 5550 ) ) ) %(100.0)
modification
Finance income on a subordinated
loan - - - 3,607 - - - %(100.0)
to a subsidiary
Other - - - 2,066 34 - - %(98.4)
Less: eliminations - - - (5,029) - - - %(100.0)
Income from cash investments - 83,690 21,682 14,859 4,761 - (74.1)%  %(68.0)

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Income from cash investments comprised of returns on short term deposits and current accounts with local and
foreign banks in 2019G and 2020G. The decline in finance income from short term deposits in 2020G was due to the
decline in cash and cash equivalents utilized primarily to meet Sukuk obligations in June 2019G and the settlement
of long term loans during 2020G.

The balance of cash at banks and short term deposits declined from SAR 3.3bn at Dec18G to SAR 2.5bn at Dec19G,
and then to SAR 1.3bn at Dec20G.

Income from cash investments also included interest charges on loans to employees. These increased from SAR
5.9m in 2019G to SAR 11.5m in 2020G due to the increase in loans from SAR 110.4m at Dec19G to SAR 126.5m at
Dec20G.

Income from cash investments decreased from SAR 14.9m in the six-month period ended 2020G to SAR 4.8m in the
six-month period ended in 2021G as a result of a decrease in finance income on short-term deposits from SAR 8.7m
to SAR 1.7m during the same period which was driven by lower interest rates and the balance of short term deposits.

In addition, the gain from the subordinated loan modification decreased by SAR 5.6m during the same period as a
result of the full repayment of the loan by 2021G.




4.41.7 Otherincome

The following table presents the breakdown of the other income for the years ended 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and the six-month periods ended 30 June 2020G and 2021G:

For the year ended 31 Decem- For the period A%
ber, ended 30 June, °

A% A% A%
2018G 2019G 2020G

Currency: SAR000

Foreign currency exchange gain

(19740)  (6649) 18791 2756  (8115)  (66.3% (382.6)% (394.4)%

(loss) - net

Gain on ldlsposals of property, plant ) 968 953 55 165 ) (15% %200.0
and equipment

Gain on modification of

subordinated loan from non- - 5,508 619 - (88.8)%

controlling interests

Insurance recovery 186,786 11,768 - - - (93.71)% - -
Interegt income on short term 58,346 ) ) ) ) (100.0)% ) )
deposits

Other - net 6,256 2,875 3,338 1,503 5147 (54.00% 16.1% %242.4
Other income 231,648 14,470 23,701 4,315 (2,803) (93.8)% 63.8%  %(165.0)

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Other income primarily comprised of forex gains and losses on sales to customers in Europe, the settlement of a
claim in relation to a business interruption incident in 2017G as well as interest income on short term deposits in
2018G. Interest income on short term deposits was classified as finance income in 2019 and 2020G.

Other income decreased from SAR 231.6m in 2018G to SAR 14.5m in 2019G primarily due to the decline in insurance
claim from SAR 186.8m in 2018G to SAR 11.8m in 2019G due to receiving a higher insurance claim in 2018G in
relation to an incident incurred in 2017G and reclassification of income from short term deposits from ‘other income'’
to ‘finance income'.

Other income decreased from SAR 4.3m in the six-month period ended 2020G to losses of SAR (2.8m) during the
six-month period of 2021G mainly due to foreign exchange losses incurred, which amounted to SAR 8.1m between
each of the Euro and the US Dollar.

<



4.4.2 Consolidated balance sheet

The following table presents the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December
2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

A% A%
Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Dec18G — | Dec19G —
Dec19G Dec20G
Property, plant and equipment 15,019,709 14,175,165 12,950,401 12,555,487 (5.6)% (8.6)% (3.05)%
Right-of-use assets - 69,280 63,266 51,317 - 8.7)% (18.89)%
Other assets 128,464 138,978 134,234 123,569 8.2% (3.4)% (7.95)%
Non-current assets 15,148,173 14,383,423 13,147,901 12,730,373 (5.0)% (8.6)% (3.18)%
Inventories 1,105,457 917,803 1,017,190 1,008,923 (17.0)% 10.8% (0.81)%
ngfeanyt”;:;‘;fsa”d other 256,922 85,557 144,643 153262 (66.7)%  69.1% 5.96%
Due from related parties 221,326 264,920 229,481 248,268 19.7% (13.4)% 8.19%
Trade receivables 1,035,382 906,097 784,883 1,210,407 (12.5)% (13.4)% 54.21%
Cash and cash equivalents 3,251,637 2,485,617 1,297,527 1,404,969 (23.6)% (47.8)% 8.28%
Current assets 5,870,624 4,659,994 3,473,724 4,025,829 (20.6)% (25.5)% 15.89%
Total assets 21,018,797 19,043,417 16,621,625 16,756,202 (9.4)% 12.7)% 0.81%
Share capital 4,800,000 4,800,000 4,800,000 4,800,000 - - 0.00%
Statutory reserve 347,870 415317 438,294 438,294 19.4% 5.5% 0.00%
Retained earnings 2,692,311 2932677 2,877,752 3,431,590 13.1% (1.9% 19.25%
Eﬁ:'rteyhitlg'e?zti?Li;oégapany 7740181 8147994 8116046 8669884 5.3% (0.4)% 6.82%
Non-controlling interest 3,648,431 4,101,801 4,165,647 3,313,652 12.4% 1.6% (20.45)%
Equity 11,388,612 12,249,795 12,281,593 11,983,536 7.6% 0.3% (2.43)%
Long-term borrowings 4,850,920 3,435,135 1,493,854 1,121,310 (29.2)% (56.5)% (24.94)%
Lease liabilities - 52,097 42,244 34,532 na (189)%  (18.26)%
Deferred tax liabilities-net 311,055 326,273 298,696 318,833 4.9% (8.5)% 6.74%
Employee benefit obligations 163,087 258,856 318,959 341,570 58.7% 23.2% 7.07%
fg:ﬁ;?l'i’;agtii;fjs”tfrom O m39r 18269 - - (659)%  (100.0)% -
Non-current liabilities 5,738,989 4,255,057 2,153,753 1,816,185 (25.9)% (49.4)% (15.67)%
Trade payables 37,962 203,467 300975 254,567 436.0% 47.9% (15.42)%
Due to related parties 209,581 208,054 199,067 1,043,801 0.71% (4.3)% 424.35%
Accrued and other liabilities 605,204 337,824 362,909 361,221 (44.2)% 7.4% 0.47)%
Zakat and income tax 585,677 565878 556,887 539,733 (3.4)% (1.6)% (3.08)%
Sukuk-current portion 1,078,000 - - - (100.0)% - -
(b:grrrrgcvt"f;:'on of long term 1374772 1210425 743254 744475 (120%  (386)% 0.16%
E:t:ir“et?;sport'on of lease - 12917 23187 12,684 - 795%  (45.30)%
Current liabilities 3,891,196 2,538,565 2,186,279 2,956,481 (34.8)% (13.9)% 35.23%
Total liabilities 9,630,185 6,793,622 4,340,032 4,772,666 (29.5)% (36.1)% 9.97%

Total equity and liabilities 21,018,797 19,043,417 16,621,625 16,756,202 (9.4)% 12.7)% 0.81%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information



4.4.2.1 Non-current assets

4-4-2-1-1 Property, plant, and equipment

The following table presents the net book value of property, plant, and equipment as at 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

A% A%
Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec196G Dec20G Jun2ig | Dec186 | Decl96
Dec19G | Dec20G

Netbook value atbeginning of ¢ 20911 15019700 14175165 12950401 (65%  (5.6%  (8.6)%

the year

Additions 69,103 32,802 25,076 30,573 (52.5)% (23.6)% 21.9%
Adjustment (4,887) - - - (100.0)% - -
Disposals (197) (11,284) (9,770) (13,419) 5807.9%  (13.4)% (387.3)%
Write-off (323) - - - (100.0)% - -
Impairment - - (389,969) - - - %100.0

Depreciation for the year/period  (1,114,910) (866,062) (850,101) (412,068) (22.3)% (1.8)% %(51.5)

Property, plant and equipment
net book value

15,019,709 14,175,165 12,950,401 12,555,487 (5.6)% (8.6)% %(3.0)

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Property, plant and equipment includes plant, machinery and equipment, office buildings, furniture and office
equipment, catalysts (platinum), vehicles, and capital work-in-progress. Property, plant, and equipment accounted
for 71.5%, 74.4%, and 77.9% of total assets as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, and 31 December 2020G
and primarily included the net book value of the plant, machinery and equipment in Jubail. The plant and office
buildings are constructed on land leased from the Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu on a 30 year lease which
commenced on 9 December 2007. The lease is renewable for further periods.

The net book value of property, plant, and equipment decreased from SAR 15.0bn at Dec18G to SAR 14.2bn at
Dec19G and further decreased to SAR 12.9bn at Dec20G mainly due to annual depreciation charged during each
period.

Annual depreciation decreased from SAR 1.1bn in 2018G to SAR 866.17m in 2019G and further decreased to SAR
850.17m in 2020G. The higher depreciation in 2018G of SAR 1,114.9m was due to the reassessment of the useful life
of certain plant and machinery during the year.

In 2020G, in addition to the annual depreciation, Petrochem also recognized an impairment charge due to the
discontinuation of its polystyrene production unit which led to the write-off of its net book value at Dec20G by a
further SAR 390.0m.

Property, plant and equipment includes plant, machinery and equipment, office buildings, furniture and office
equipment, catalysts (platinum), vehicles, and capital work-in-progress. Property, plant and equipment represented
74.9% of the total assets as at 30 June 2021G.

The net book value of property, plant and equipment decreased from SAR 12.9bn as at 31 December 2020G to SAR
12.5bn as at 30 June 2021G mainly due to depreciation for the year of SAR 412,068m as there were no significant
additions to property, plant and equipment during the same period.

The net additions as at 30 June 2021G amounted to SAR 30.6m and were mainly related to additions to plant, plant
and equipment. This was partially offset by disposals of SR 13.4m related to fully depreciated office equipment and
furniture.



4-4-2-1-2 Right of use assets

In line with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") and starting from 1 January
2019G, Petrochem adopted a policy of capitalizing operating leases, by recording right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities related to those contracts, in the statement of financial position. These lease contracts mainly related to the
land on which the plant was constructed in addition to the warehouses.

Right of use assets decreased from SAR 69.3m at Dec19G to SAR 63.3m at Dec20G due to the annual depreciation
charge of SAR 21.5m in 2020G, despite new effective leases of SAR 15.5m during the same year.

Right-of-use assets decreased from SAR 63.3 million as at 31 December 2020G to SAR 51.3 million as at 30 June
2021G.

4-4-2-1-3 Other assets

Other assets included non-interest bearing housing loans and subsidies provided to eligible Saudi employees. The
loans are secured by mortgages on the property purchased under the employee home ownership program and
are repayable in monthly installments within a maximum period of 15 years. Once the loan is disbursed to eligible
employees, Petrochem subsidizes SAR 0.2m of the total loans granted to employees which are then amortized over
a period of 8 years.

Employees' loans and subsidies increased from SAR 128.5m at Dec18G to SAR 139.0m at Dec19G due to the
increase in the number of eligible employees who obtained these loans while the balance decreased to SAR 134.2m
at Dec20G mainly due to collections received from the employees' as well as the amortization of the subsidies.

Other assets include interest-free housing loans and subsidies provided to eligible Saudi employees in line with
the historical period between 2018G and 2020G. Employee loans and subsidies decreased from SAR 134,2m at
Dec20G to SAR 123,6m at Jun21G due to collections received from the employees' as well as the amortization of
the subsidies.

4.4.2.2 Current assets

4-4-2-2-1 Inventories

The following table presents the inventory balances as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December
2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec20G Jun21G Decﬁ E?G = Decel !:,G =
Dec19G Dec20G
Spare parts and consumables 411,506 428,374 422,659 398,938 41% (1.3)% (5.6)%
Finished goods 560,405 304,051 410,116 307,894 (457)% 34.9% (24.9)%
Catalyst, chemicals and additives 132,798 129,949 136,718 163,289 2.1)% 5.2% 19.4%
Goods-in-transit - 53,730 46,099 137,149 - 14.2)% 197.5%
Raw materials 748 1,699 1,698 1,653 127.7% (5.9)% 3.4%
Inventory 1,105,457 917,803 1,017,190 1,008,923 (17.0)% 10.8% (0.8)%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Inventory accounted for 5.3%, 4.8%, and 6.1% of total assets as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, and
31 December 2020G respectively. Inventories comprised of finished goods, spare parts and consumables, catalysts,
chemicals and additives, goods in transit and raw materials.

Finished goods primarily included Polyethylene and Polypropylene. The decrease in finished goods inventory by SAR
256.4m at Dec19G was mainly due to the increase in the quantity sold to local customers as well as increase GPDC
sales in 2019G.



At Dec20G, finished goods inventory increased by SAR 106.Tm due to larger quantities of Polyethylene and
Polypropylene which had increased at Dec20G due to comparatively lower sales during 2020G.

Spare parts and consumable increased by SAR 16.9m from SAR 411.5m at Dec18G to SAR 428.4m at Dec19G due to
purchases made during the year in preparation for the planned turnaround of the plant in 2022G and then declined in
2020G due to a write off spare parts of SAR 10.5m related to the discontinuance of the Polystyrene production line.
The decline was partially offset by purchases during 2020G.

Catalysts, chemicals and additives decreased from SAR 132.8m at Dec18G to SAR 130.0m at Dec19G due to a write
down of the catalyst inventory in line with an assessment performed during the year. The increase in inventory levels
at Dec20G was due to inventory buildup in line with the expected turnaround of the plant in 2022G.

Inventory accounted for 6.0% of total assets as at 30 June 2021G. The inventory includes spare parts, finished goods,
consumables, catalysts, chemicals, additives, goods in transit and raw materials.

Spare parts and consumables decreased by 5.6% from SAR 422.6m at Dec20G to SAR 398.9m at Jun21G.

The finished goods mainly consisted of Polyethylene and Polypropylene. The decrease in the finished goods inventory
by 24.9% at Jun21G is mainly due to the increase in the quantities sold to local customers and GPDC.

Catalysts, chemicals and additives increased from SAR 136.7m as at 31 December 2020G to SAR 163.3m as at 30
June 2021G.

The balance of goods in transit increased by 197.5% as at 30 June 2021G to SAR 137,1m due to the increase in the
value of goods procured from SPC in line with the increase in international crude oil prices.
4-4-2-2-2 Prepayments and other current assets

The following table presents the prepayments and other current assets of the Company as at 31 December 2018G,
31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Jun21G
VAT receivable - net 31,732 17,321 72,829 102,410 (45.4)% 320.5% 40.6%
Prepaid expenses 27,429 41,392 37,549 28,521 50.9% (9.3)% (24.0)%

Loans to employees - current 27744 16,746 13509 13502 (396)%  (193)%  (0.1)%

portion

Advance income tax - - 12,013 - - - -
Advances to suppliers - 5959 5111 6,080 - 14.2)% 19.0%
Cash margin against bank 2264 2264 2264 ) ) ) )
guarantee

Accrued finance income 5,780 245 74 705 (95.8)% (69.8)% 852.7%
Recoverable insurance claim 136,759 - - - (100.0)% - -
Cash margin against issuance of 16,455 } ) } (100.0)% ) .
Sukuk

Other receivables 8,759 1,630 1,294 2,044 (81.4)% (20.6)% 58.0%
PP S T (LA T 256,922 85557 144643 153262  (66.7)%  69.1% 6.0%

assets

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Prepayments and other current assets accounted for 1.2%, 0.4%, and 0.9% of total assets as at 31 December 2018G,
31 December 2019G, and 31 December 2020G respectively.



Prepayments and other current assets decreased from SAR 256.9m as at 31 December 2018G to SAR 85.6m as at
31 December 2019 due to the collection of an insurance claim amounting to SAR 136.8m related to an incident in the
plantin 2017G at SPC.

In addition, the decline in balance at Dec19G was also due to the recovery of the cash margin of SAR 16.56m
subsequent to the settlement of the Sukuk in June 2019G as well as the decline in the amount of VAT receivable at
Dec19G as compared to the prior year end. The VAT receivable at Dec18G comprised of refunds for three months
while the VAT receivable at Dec19G related to a single month of Dec19G.

Prepayments and other current assets increased from SAR 85.6m at Dec19G to SAR 144.6m at Dec20G due to the
increase in amounts of VAT receivable from SAR 17.3m at Dec19G to SAR 72.8m at Dec20G as a result of the change
in the VAT rate from 5% to 15% in 2020G as well as the income tax submitted of SAR 12.0m at Dec20G.

Prepayments and other current assets accounted for 0.9% of the total assets as at 30 June 2021G.

Prepayments and other current assets increased from SAR 144.6m as at 31 December 2020G to SAR 153.3m as at
30 June 2021G due to an increase in the net value added tax receivables by 40.6%.

4-4-2-2-3 Cash and cash equivalents

The following table presents cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December
2020G and 30 June 2021G:

A% A%
Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Jun21G | Dec18G — | Dec19G —
Dec19G Dec20G

Cash at banks 1076537 2349617 872506 461,950 118.3% (62.9)% (47.1)%
Short-term deposits 2,175,000 136,000 425,021 943,019 (93.7)% 212.5% 121.9%
Cash and cash equivalents 3,251,537 2,485,617 1,297,527 1,404,969 (23.6)% (47.8)% 8.3%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Cash and cash equivalents accounted for 15.5%, 13.1%, and 7.8% of total assets as at 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, and 31 December 2020G respectively. Short-term deposits included amounts deposited with local
commercial banks for periods having maturities of three months or less at each balance sheet date.

These short term deposits declined from SAR 2.2bn at Dec18G to SAR 0.1m at Dec19G due to the withdrawal by
Petrochem of cash available at maturity for use in the settlement of Sukuk repayments in June 2019G and increased
at Dec20G due to Petrochem's strategy to place excess cash in short term deposits during the year.

Cash at banks increased from SAR 1.1bn at Dec18G to SAR 2.3bn at Dec19G due to the increase in operating cash
flows driven by the annual profits before tax and zakat for the year then decreased from SAR 2.3bn at Dec19G to SAR
872.5m at Dec20G due to lower operating cash flows generated for the year in addition to net repayments of SAR
2.9bn during 2020G.

Cash and cash equivalents accounted for 8.4% of total assets as at 30 June 2021G, and included short-term deposits
and amounts deposited with local commercial banks for periods having maturities of three months or less at each
balance sheet date.

Cash at banks decreased from SAR 872.5m at Dec20G to SAR 461.9bn at Jun21G mainly due to the increase in cash
flows from financing activities paid to lenders amounting to SAR 350.0 million.

Short-term deposits increased from SAR 425.0m at Dec20G to SAR 943.0m at Jun21G mainly related to the increase
in short-term Murabaha deposits in line with the management's strategy to keep cash in form of short-term deposits.



4-4-2-2-4 Trade receivables

The following table presents the aging of trade receivables as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31
December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G | Decl9G |  Dec206 Jun216G

Current to 30 days 1,028,366 903,510 784,099 1,134,954
31 to 60 days 5,696 2,482 e (1,298)
61 to 90 days 1,320 105 7 22,319
More than 90 days - - - ©)
Prepayments - - - 58,408
Foreign currency valuation - - - (8975)
Trade receivables aging 1,035,382 906,097 784,883 1,210,407

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing receivables from third party customers in Asia, Europe, KSA and the
Middle East and accounted for 4.9%, 4.8%, and 4.7% of total assets as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G,
and 31 December 2020G respectively. According to Petrochem's accounting policies, current trade receivables up to
30 days accounted for 99.3%, 99.7% and 99.9% of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2018G, 2019G and
2020G respectively.

Trade receivables decreased from SAR 1.0bn at Dec18G to SAR 906.1Tm at Dec19G and then decreased to SAR
784.9m at Dec20G in line with the decrease in revenues in the same period.

Trade receivables increased to SAR 1.2bn as at 30 June 2021G in line with the increase in Petrochem's revenues
during the same period.

4.4.2.3 Equity

4-4-2-3-1 Equity attributable to the shareholders’ of Petrochem

The following table provides a breakdown of equity attributable to the shareholders’ of Petrochem as at 31 December
2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec20G Jun21G DecAl EfG = DecA'I ;G =
Dec19G Dec20G
Share capital 4,800,000 4,800,000 4800000 4,800,000 - - -
Statutory reserve 347,870 415,317 438,294 438,294 19.4% 5.5% -
Retained earnings 2,592,311 2932677 2877,752 3,431,590 13.1% (1.9)% 19.2%
Equity attributable to the

shareholders’ of Petrochem 7,740,181 8,147,994 8,116,046 8,669,884 5.3% (0.4)% 6.8%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Equity attributable to the shareholders' of Petrochem comprised of share capital, statutory reserve and retained
earnings.

There was no change to share capital of SAR 4.8bn at Dec19G and Dec20G.

Shareholders equity increased from SAR 7.7 bn at Dec18G to SAR 8.2bn at Dec19G due to an increase in retained
earnings by SAR 340.4m during the period. The increase in retained earnings of SAR 340.4m was after the distribution
of dividends of SAR 240.0m and transfer of 10% of the profits earned by Petrochem to the statutory reserve during
the year.



At Dec20G, Shareholders Equity declined by SAR 31.9m primarily due to a decrease in profits generated during the
year. While Petrochem's share of net profits of SAR 230.0m for 2020G were added to the opening balance of retained
earnings, the transfer of SAR 23.0m to statutory reserve and an additional SAR 240.0m as dividends resulted in a
decline in the ending balance of Shareholders Equity at Dec20G.

There was no change to share capital of SAR 4.8bn at Dec20G and Jun21G.

Shareholders' equity increased from SAR 8.1bn at Dec20G to SAR 8.7bn at Jun21G due to an increase in retained
earnings by SAR 553.8m during the period.

4-4-2-3-2 Non-controlling interest

The balance represents the non-controlling interest share of 35% within SPC and GPDC equity. Non-controlling
interest accounted for 32.0%, 33.5%, and 33.9% of the total equity at Dec18G, Dec19G, and Dec20G respectively.

The balance represents the non-controlling interest share of 35% within SPC and GPDC equity. Non-controlling
interests accounted for 27.7% of the total equity at Jun21G.

The balance increased by SAR 453.4m and SAR 63.7m at Dec19G and Dec20G respectively due to the share in
subsidiaries' results during 2019G and 2020G. The increase during 2020G was offset by the dividends of SAR 105.0m
declared and paid by GPDC to the non-controlling interest.

The balance of non-controlling interests decreased from SAR 4.2bn at Dec20G to SAR 3.3bn at Jun21G.

4.4.2.4 Non-current liabilities

4-4-2-4-1 Long term borrowings

The following table presents long term borrowings as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December
2020G and 30 June 2021G:

A% A% A%
Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec20G Jun21G Dec18G — | Dec19G — 20206 -
Dec19G Dec20G 2021G

Local commercial banks 2,250,000 1,875,000 - - %(16.7)
PIF 904,849 391,779 - - (56.7)% (100.0)% -
SIDF 300004 100,000 - - (667)%  (100.0)% -

Consortium of local and foreign

. 5027476 4,157,259 - - (173%  (100.0)% -
commercial banks

Less: unamortized transaction (6,637) (B478)  (12892)  (9215) (476)%  2707%  %(285)

costs

Less: current portion of g€ 1 274 770y (1 010425)  (743254)  (744475)  (120)%  (38.6)% %0.2
borrowings

Long term borrowings 4,850,920 3,435,135 1,493,854 1,121,310 (29.2)% (56.5)% %(24.9)

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Long term borrowings accounted for 50.4%, 50.6%, and 34.4% of total liabilities as at 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, and 31 December 2020G respectively.

Long-term borrowings accounted for 23.5% of the total liabilities at Jun21G.

The balance of long term borrowings outstanding decreased by SAR 1.4bn at Dec19G due to principal repayments
of SAR 1.6m made during 2019G.



During 2020G, SPC signed a loan agreement with Riyad Bank and Samba Financial Group (Currently: The Saudi
National Bank) to refinance and settle the remaining amounts outstanding from the existing loans at Dec19G. The
new loan which carries a financial charge of LIBOR plus 0.9% is to be repaid in 8 equal semi-annual instalments
beginning 30 June 2020G.

The balance of outstanding long-term borrowings decreased by SAR 372.5m at Jun21G due to principal repayments.

The maturity profile of the long-term loans as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and
30 June 2021G is presented in the table below.

4-4-2-4-2 Maturity profile

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Jun21G

2019 1,374,772

2020 1,263,867 1,210,425 - -
2021 783,268 762,896 750,000 750,000
2022 956,960 931,500 750,000 750,000
2023 1,853,462 1,744217 750,000 750,000
Repayment profile 6,232,329 4,649,038 2,250,000 2,250,000

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information
4-4-2-4-3 Subordinated loan from non-controlling interest

Arabian Chevron Phillips Petrochemical, (the non-controlling shareholder in SPC and GPDC) had provided a non-
interest bearing subordinated loan of SAR 1.1bn in 2008G to finance the construction of Petrochem's plant. The loan
was repaid and settled in full during 2020G.

4-4-2-4-4 Sukuk

In June 2014G, Petrochem issued Sukuk amounting to SAR 1.2bn at SAR Tm par value. SAR 0.6bn of the total proceeds
was used to settle existing term loans while the remaining was used to finance working capital requirements. The
Sukuk was fully settled on maturity in June 2019G.

4-4-2-4-5 Employee benefit obligations

The following table presents the components of employees' benefits obligation as at 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec20G Jun21G De(ﬁ EfG = DecA1 ‘.;,G =
Dec19G Dec20G
Defined benefit plan 163,087 231,162 288,599 308,407 41.7% 24.8% 6.9%
Employee savings plan = 27,694 30,360 33,103 - 9.6% 9.0%
Employee benefit obligations 163,087 258,856 318,959 341,510 58.7% 23.2% 7.1%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Employee benefit obligations accounted for 1.7%, 3.8%, and 7.3% of total liabilities as at 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, and 31 December 2020G respectively.

Until 2018G, Saudi Polymers Company, in cooperation with affiliates owned by the Saudi Group (Saudi Chevron
Phillips and Jubail Chevron Phillips) jointly operated an employee savings plan for their eligible employees. Under the
plan, contributions from employees were deposited in a separate bank account held and operated by Saudi Chevron
Phillips. The liability related to employees for Saudi Polymers Company was netted against receivables from affiliates
and was not presented separately. However, in 2019G and 2020G, the liability related to Saudi Polymers Company's
employees was presented separately as shown in the table above.



Employee benefit obligations increased by SAR 22.5m as at 30 June 2021G in line with extensions of current services
and interests charged during the year as per the actuarial valuation report conducted by independent experts.

The following table presents the components of employees' benefits obligation as at 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Employees' benefits obligation movement

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Jun21G Detﬁ 8/°G = DecA1 9/°G =

Dec19G Dec20G
Opening balance 165,379 163,087 231,162 288,599 1.4)% 41.7% %24.8
Current service cost 24,543 20,824 25919 19,808 (15.2)% 24.5% %(23.6)
Finance cost 6,206 7,615 7,799 - 22.7% 2.4% %(100)
Benefits paid (4,890) (6,586) (10,935) - 34.7% 66.0% %(100)
Transfer from a related party - 5573 1,702 - - (69.5)% %(100)
Remeasurements (28,151) 40,649 32,952 - (244.9% (18.9)% %(100)
(C)L‘fis;’a‘g::s'a“"e defined benefit 163087 231,162 288,599 308407  41.7% 24.8% 6.9%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Petrochem operates a single post-employment benefit scheme of defined benefit plan driven by the labor laws of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates which is based on most recent salary and number of service
years.

Defined benefits plan increased by SAR 68.1m at Dec19G, SAR 57.4m at Dec20G and SAR 19.8m at Jun21G due to
incremental annual employees' service costs, the accrued finance costs as well as the annual remeasurements of
obligations calculated on the basis of an independent actuarial report.

4.4.2.5 Current liabilities

4-4-2-5-1 Accrued and other liabilities

The following table presents the accrued and other liabilities as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 20196, 31
December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Jun21G
Accrued expenses 438,188 276911 282,956 280,021 (36.8)% 2.2% (1.0)%
Advances from customers 63,645 29,029 51,300 58,410 (54.4)% 76.7% 13.9%
Accrued salaries and benefits - 30,595 19,164 10,751 - B7.49)% (43.9)%
VAT payable - net - - 2,423 3113 - - 28.5%
Other 103,371 1,289 7,066 8926 (98.8)% 448.2% 26.3%
Accrued and other liabilities 605,204 337,824 362,909 361,221 (44.2)% 7.4% (0.5)%

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information




Accrued, and other current liabilities accounted for 6.3%, 5.0%, and 8.4% of total liabilities as at Dec18G, Dec19G and
Dec20G respectively.

Accrued expenses comprised mainly of accrued purchases of raw materials on which invoices were not presented
to Petrochem, warehousing and customs, utilities, and other employees' benefits. Petrochem presented these within
'‘Others' at Dec18A and within accrued expenses at Dec19G and Dec20G.

Accrued expenses decreased by SAR 161.3m as at Dec19G due to the lower cost of feedstock (primarily propane)
supplied by Saudi Aramco, which was driven by a decrease in global crude oil prices. The balance increased at
Dec20G by SAR 6.0m due to the receipt of purchases in Dec20G which had not been settled at year end.

Advances from customers comprise of cash received in advance from customers for exchange for goods to be
delivered in subsequent periods. The balance declined from SAR 63.6m at Dec18G to SAR 29.0m at Dec19G before
increasing to SAR 51.3m at Dec20G. The fluctuation in advances from customers was based on the requirements
from customers at specific times and was adjusted against the invoice issued for goods delivered.

Accruals and other liabilities accounted for 7.6% of the total liabilities as at 30 June 2021G. Accrued expenses
comprised mainly of accrued purchases of raw materials on which invoices were not presented to Petrochem,
warehousing and customes, utilities, and other employees' benefits.

The accrued expenses were stable between the period ended December 2020G and June 2021G, as the expenses did
not witness a noticeable fluctuation during the period.

Advances from customers includes cash received in advance from customers for goods to be delivered in subsequent
periods. The balance increased from SAR 51.3m at Dec20G to SAR 58.4m at Jun21G in line with the increase in sales
to customers at the end of the period.

4-4-2-5-2 Trade Payables

Trade payables accounted for 0.4%, 3.0%, and 6.9% of total liabilities as at Dec18G, Dec19G, and Dec20G respectively
and included amounts to be paid for goods and services received.

Trade payables increased from SAR 38.0m at Dec18G to SAR 203.5m at Dec19G and to SAR 301.0m at Dec20G
primarily due to amounts payable to Saudi Aramco, which increased by SAR 150.3m at Dec19G and SAR 92.4m at
Dec20G.

The increase in payables to Saudi Aramco at Dec19G was due to the increase in volumes of feedstock procured
during the year, while the increase in payables to Saudi Aramco at Dec20G was due to Petrochem availing a temporary
extension in the credit period provided by Saudi Aramco for the full settlement of its invoices.

Trade payables accounted for 5.3% of the total liabilities as at 30 June 2021G.

Trade payables decreased from SAR 301.0 m at Dec20G to SAR 254.6m at Jun21G, mainly due to a decrease in
payable balances due to third party suppliers (unrelated parties).



4-4-2-5-3 Zakat and income tax

Zakat and income tax accounted for 6.1%, 8.3%, 12.8% and 11.3% of the total liabilities as at Dec18G, Dec19G,
Dec20G and Jun21G respectively.

The following table presents the movement in Zakat and income tax for the year ended 31 December 2018G, 31
December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

1 January 2021 556,887 (12,013) 544,874
Provision 66,934 83,006 149,940
Advance income tax paid - (12,034) (12,034)
Payment (40,300) (8,747) (49,047)
Reversal of zakat provision (94,000) - (94,000)
Closing balance 30 June 2021 489,521 50,212 539,733
1 January 2020 562,296 3,582 565,878
Provision 33,537 48,075 81,612

Advance income tax paid - (24,287) (24,287)
Payment (38,946) (39,389) (78,335)
Closing balance 31 December 2020 556,887 (12,013) 544,874
1 January 2019 521,652 64,125 585,677
Provision 70,800 52,133 122,933
Advance income tax paid - (48,554) (48,554)
Payment (30,056) (64,122) (94,178)
Closing balance 31 December 2019 562,296 3,682 565,878
1 January 2018 436,544 43,958 480,502
Provision 98,620 97,126 195,746
Payment (13,612 (76,959) (90,571)
Closing balance 31 December 2018 521,552 64,125 585,677

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

The provision for zakat and income tax decreased from SAR 585.7m at Dec18G to SAR 565.9m at Dec19G, and
further to SAR 544.9m at Dec20.

As mentioned in note 19 of Petrochem's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020G,
the assessments for the years 2011-2018 have been completed by ZATCA. Petrochem has appealed against the
assessments raised by ZATCA for the years 2014G to 2018G.




4.4.2.6 Related parties' balances

The following table presents related parties' balances as at 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December
2020G and 30 June 2021G:

A% A%
Currency: SAR000 Dec18G Dec19G Dec20G Jun21G | Dec18G — | Dec19G —

Dec19G Dec20G

Due from related parties:

Saudi Chevron Phillips Company 172,631 212,682 183,326 196,511 23.2% (13.8)% 7.2%
Jubail Chevron Phillips Company 48,695 52,238 46,106 51,705 7.3% 11.71% 12.1%
Aromatics Distribution Company - - 49 52 - - 6.1%
Total due from related parties 221,326 264,920 229,481 248,268 19.7% (13.4)% 8.2%
Due to related parties:

Jubail Chevron Phillips Company 86,524 99,383 87,188 116,773 14.9% (12.3)% 339
Saudi Chevron Phillips Company 72,187 65,509 73,088 79,040 (9.3)% 11.6% 8,1%
gzli"sritg hillips Chemical International 0 )5 41993 37780 57956  (129%  (10.0)% 534%
izﬁg;r:iustnal Investment Group 409 } ) } (100.0)% ) )
E&?g"y&iﬂ'gﬁgg:giﬂg lobal 2,261 - - 787587 (100.0)% - 100.0%
Others - 1,169 1,011 2,445 100.0% (13.5)% 141.8%
Total due to related parties 209,581 208,054 199,067 1,043,801 (0.7)% (4.3)% %424.3

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Due from related parties accounted for 1.1%, 1.4%, and 1.4% of the total assets as at Dec18G, Dec19G, and Dec20G
respectively, whereas due to related parties accounted for 2.2%, 3.1%, and 4.6% of the total liabilities as at Dec18G,
Dec19G, and Dec20G respectively.

Due from related parties accounted for 1.5% of total assets as at 30 June 2021G, while due to related parties
accounted for 21.9% of total liabilities as at 30 June 2021G.



The following table presents the major transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2018G,
31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

Currency: SAR000 Dec18G | Dec19G | Dec20G | Jun21G
Saudi Industrial Investment Group Company (“SIIG")
Support services (409) (760) (1,413) (403)
Saudi Chevron Phillips Company
Sales 261563 203940 151279 129,238
Purchases 19,804 69,349 120,274 75,830
Support services 341,354 313410 333,566 153,150
Jubail Chevron Phillips Company
Sales 374,858 302,415 173171 121,863
Purchases 1,197,694 1,064,058 695614 539,106
Support services - 853 536 360
Chevron Phillips Chemical International Sales LLC
Marketing 317,231 259,748 198428 155946
Royalty 51,488 51,323 51,146 25,148
Support services (7,583) (10,654) (9,676) 742
Chevron Phillips Chemical Global Employment Company (Support Services) (r7639)  (73452)  (55770) 21,572
Chemical Services Inc (17487)  (18743)  (183806) 9,255
Other subsidiaries (support services) (8,744) (1,759) (2,786) 1,366

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information

Petrochem procured liquid feed stocks from Saudi Chevron Phillips Company and Jubail Chevron Philips Company
during the financial years ended 31 December 2018G, 2019G, 2020G and 30 June 2021G, while making sales of AHM,
Ethylene, Propylene, and Pygas to Saudi Chevron Phillips Company and Jubail Chevron Philips Company during the
same period.

Saudi Chevron Phillips Company and Jubail Chevron Philips Company also provided support services to Petrochem
which included operating and maintaining SPC plant and common facilities with SCP and JCP, and to perform certain
operational and administrative services on behalf of Petrochem.

Petrochem is also paying marketing fees and royalty fees to Chevron Phillips Chemical International Sales LLC under

separate long term agreements expiring in July 2041G and October 2036G respectively.

4.4.3 Consolidated cash flow statement

The following table presents a summary of the consolidated cash flows of Petrochem and its subsidiaries for the
years ended 31 December 2018G, 31 December 2019G, 31 December 2020G and 30 June 2021G:

period ended | period ended

Currency: SAR000
Profit before zakat and income tax 1,931,111 1,156,312 413,250 (140914) 1,369,675
Depreciation 1,115,424 886,496 876,776 443211 437,436
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - - 389,969 389,969 -
Adjustment of property, plant and equipment 4,881 - - - -
Finance costs - net 309,373 144,031 56,326 26,601 11,614
Provision for employee benefit obligations 25,859 24,316 29,744 20,067 25,590

Re-measurement gain on non-controlling partner's

subordinated loan - (5508) (619 (765) -




Currency: SAR00O

Loss / (gain) on disposal of property, plant and

For the
period ended

30 June,
2020G

For the
period ended
30 June,
2021G

equipment (68) (968) (953) (55) (165)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in inventories (12,519) 187,654 (99,387) (9,908) 8,267
ggggfsse) decrease in prepayments and other (188,036) 155189 (26,387) 11,600 (6273)
(Increase) decrease in due from related parties 7,184 (12,360) 37,147 52,736 (18,787)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables 73,565 129,285 121,214 211,466 (425,524)
Decrease in trade payables (181,005) 165,505 97,508 (119,207) (46,408)
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties (27,782) (1,527) (8,987) (84,417) 57,116
(Decrease) increase in accrued and other liabilities 214,360 (290,140) 23,675 110,416 (3,399)
Cash generated from operations 3,272,347 2,638,285 1,909,270 910,800 1,409,142
Finance costs paid (259,439) (206,902) (59,001) (31,016) (12,698)
Finance income received - 77512 10,088 9,398 1,067
Zakat and income tax paid (90,577) (142,732) (102,676) (24,276) (61,082)
Employee benefit obligations paid - (8,045) (12,094) (1,714) (3,008)
Loans to employees paid - (8,628) (5,339) - -

Net cash generated from operations 2,922,337 2,249,490 1,740,308 863,192 1,333,421
:(?Zirgs]r:itfor purchases of property, plant and (69,103) (10042) (23,666) (7.462) (28,862)
:;Z(i:pe;isnirom disposals of property, plant and 63 12197 5591 55 165
l(;leert)g;ic;\s/ement in short term investments — bank 358000 ) } ) )
L\lcetti ‘t’:i?iset; (used in) / generated from investing 288,965 2,155 (18,075) (7.407) (28,697)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings - - 2,980,369 2,980,500 -
Repayment of term loans (1,773,604) (1,583,297) (5,399,038) (5,024,038) (375,000)
Repayment of Sukuk (122,000) (1,078,000) - - -
Ezaayment of non-controlling partner's subordinated (446,250) (20743) (182,077) (76,043) }
Income tax reimbursed by non-controlling interest 66,270 123,671 50,535 24,276 21,871
Dividends paid (240,000) (240,000) (240,000) (240,000) (360,000)
Dividends paid by subsidiary to NCI - - (105,000) (52,500) (65,625)
Principal elements of lease payments - (12,513) (15,112) (6,967) (18,215)
Repatriation of share capital in a subsidiary to non - - - - (400,313)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (2,515,584)  (3,017,565)  (2,910,323)  (2,394,766)  (1,197,282)
Movement in cash 695,718 (765,920) (1,188,090)  (1,538,981) 107,442
S:asrh and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 2565819 3251537 2485617 2485617 1297527
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3,251,537 2,485,617 1,297,527 946,636 1,404,969

Source: Audited financial statements of Petrochem and Management information



Cash and cash equivalents fluctuated over the Historical Period, driven by changes in net profit for the year, working
capital changes, and net cash flows from financing activities.

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash inflows from operations decreased by SAR 672.8m in 2019G mainly driven by a SAR 774.8m decline in net
profits before zakat during the year. In 2020G, cash from operations declined further by SAR 509.2m driven by a
further decline in profits before zakat in 2020G.

Cash inflows from operating activities increased by SAR 470.2m in the six-month period ended June 2021G mainly
driven by the increase in net profits during the period.

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities

Cash inflows from investing activities decreased by SAR 286.8m in 2019G due to recovery of term deposits of SAR
358.0m held at Dec18G. Petrochem did not invest in term deposits with maturity of more than three months in 2019G
nor 2020G.

In 2020G, cash flows from investing activities included cash outflows related to purchase of property, plant, and
equipment in 2020G.

The cash flows from investing activities included cash outflows related to the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment for SPC during the period of 2021G.

Net cash used in financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities comprised of loans obtained from commercial banks and shareholders, loan
repayments to commercial banks and shareholders and dividend payments over the Historical Period.

Cash outflows from financing activities increased by SAR 502.0m in 2019G from SAR 2.5bn in 2018G to SAR 3.0bn
in 2019G. The increase in cash outflows in 2019G were due to the increase in repayment of Sukuk by SAR 956.0m
during the year, offset by the decrease in repayment of subordinated loan and commercial banks loans SAR 409.1Tm.

In 2020G, cash outflows declined by SAR 107.2m, due to the cash inflows of SAR 3.0bn from the loan obtained
from Samba Financial Group (currently: Saudi National Bank) and Riyad Bank during the year which offset loan
repayments of SAR 5.6bn during the year.

Petrochem also paid dividends to the shareholders of SAR 240.0m in 2018G, 2019G and 2020G, in addition to SAR
105.0m paid by a subsidiary to its non-controlling shareholders.

Cash flows from financing activities decreased by SAR 1.2bn in the six-month period ended June 2021G, due to a
decrease in the repayment of long-term borrowings compared to the year ended 31 December 2020G.



5. LEGAL INFORMATION

5.1 SIIG's Directors Declaration

The directors of SIIG provide the following confirmations:

1- The Acquisition does not constitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations in Saudi Arabia;

2- theissuance of the Consideration Shares does not constitute a breach of any contract or agreement entered
into by SIIG, subject to Section (1.1) (Risks Related to Acquisition and SIIG Business after completion of
acquisition) of this Shareholders' Circular;

3- This sectionincludes all the material legal information about the Acquisition which SIIG Shareholders should
take into consideration to make a well-informed voting decision; and

4- There is no other material legal information within this section the omission of which would make any
statement herein misleading.

5- Except as disclosed in Section (3.7) ("Related Parties and Conflicted Directors").of this Shareholders'
Circular, the independent members of the board of directors of SIIG, other than the conflicted directors,
acknowledge that they do not have any direct or indirect interest in any of SlIG's shares or in any of the
shares or businesses of Petrochem, or in any contracts, signed or to be signed, between the parties to the
Acquisition, and that they confirm their full independence in respect of the Acquisition, of this Shareholders'
Circular.

The members of the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted directors) believe that the Acquisition
Transaction is fair and reasonable, having conducted appropriate due diligence - with the support of its advisors -
they deemed sufficient under the current circumstances and considered the market position prevailing at the time of
the publication of this Shareholders' Circular in addition to the future growth prospects of the SIIG, including potential
synergies, and the opinion of HSBC Saudi Arabia (SIIG's Financial Advisor in connection with the Acquisition) dated
26/10/2021G, to the SIIG board of directors, which opinion is attached to this Shareholders' Circular as Annex 2,
to the effect that, as of that date and based upon and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth therein, the
Exchange Ratio pursuant to the Implementation Agreement was fair from a financial point of view to SIIG.

The members of the board of directors of SIIG (other than the conflicted directors) further believe that the Acquisition
is in the best interests of SIIG and its Shareholders and therefore unanimously recommends that SIIG Shareholders
approve the Acquisition Resolutions. In arriving at their recommendation, the members of the board of directors of
SIIG have also received and considered external advice on legal, accounting, financial, strategic and other matters
relating to the Acquisition.

All board members of SIIG who will vote on the Acquisition Resolutions at SIIG EGM will vote, with respect to their
shareholding, in favor of the Acquisition Resolutions.

In giving its recommendation, the board of directors of SIIG has not had regard to specific investment objectives,
financial situation, tax or Zakat positions or the individual circumstances of any individual SIIG shareholder. As each of
SIIG shareholders has different investment objectives and portfolios, the board of directors of SIIG recommends that
each individual SIIG shareholder consults its own independent licensed financial advisor in relation to the Acquisition
and relies on its own examination of the Acquisition to ensure whether or not the acquisition and the information
herein are consistent with the SIIG shareholder's individual objectives and financial situations.



5.2 Summary of the Legal Structure of the Acquisition Transaction

The Acquisition will be implemented according to Article 26 of the Merger and Acquisition Regulations. After fulfilment
of all the terms and conditions of the Implementation Agreement as summarized in Section (5.4.1.7) “Implementation
Agreement Terms and Conditions") of this Shareholders' Circular (any of which may not be amended or assigned
except by mutual written and executed agreement between the two Companies) and completion of the Acquisition,
all Petrochem shares shall be delisted from Tadawul and the company shall be fully owned by Saudi Industrial. As
a result of acquisition, Saudi Industrial shall issue Consideration Shares to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders listed
in the shareholder's register of Petrochem as of the end of the second trading period following the Effective Date.

Pursuant to the Implementation Agreement, SIIG will acquire the Offer Shares, which will result in an increase in
the SIIG's ownership in Petrochem from (50%) to (100%), in consideration for the issue of the Consideration Shares
by SIIG to Petrochem's Selling Shareholders by increasing its share capital in accordance with the provisions of
Article (57) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations and based on the final exchange
ration, whereby Petrochem's Selling Shareholders obtain (1.27) SIIG shares in consideration for every Petrochem
share held. The total number of Consideration Shares will be three hundred four million eight hundred thousand
(304,800,000) fully paid shares with a nominal value of ten Saudi Riyals (SAR 10) per share. The total nominal value
of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-eight million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals. These shares will
be issued by way of increasing the fully paid-up capital of SIIG at a rate of (67.733%), from four billion five hundred
million (4,500,000,000) Saudi Riyals to seven billion five hundred forty-eight million (7,548,000,000) Saudi Riyals and
increasing the number of issued shares of SIIG from four hundred fifty million (450,000,000) shares to seven hundred
fifty-four million eight hundred thousand (754,800,000) fully paid shares. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the
current SIIG Shareholders will own (59.62%) of the SIIG capital and the Petrochem's Selling Shareholders will own
(40.38%) of the SIIG capital.

The total value of the Acquisition will be determined based on the value of the Consideration Shares. The total
nominal value of the Consideration Shares is three billion forty-eight million (SAR 3,048,000,000) Saudi Riyals. The
total market value of the Consideration Shares as determined on the basis of the Exchange Ratio and the closing
price of SAR 41.1 per SIIG share on 20/03/1443H (corresponding to 26/10/2021G) (which is the last trading day
prior to the Implementation Agreement) is twelve billion five hundred twenty-seven million two hundred and eighty
thousand (SAR 12,527,280,000) Saudi Riyals. The total value of the Consideration Shares (as will be recorded on the
financial accounts of SIIG) will be determined at a later stage on the basis of the closing price of SIIG shares on the
last trading day prior to the Effective Date of the Acquisition.

In the event that the calculation of the number of shares owed to any Petrochem's Selling Shareholder based on the
Exchange Ratio results in fractional shares, the resulting figure will be rounded down to the lowest whole number. For
example, if one of Petrochem's Selling Shareholder holds (50) Petrochem shares, he will be allocated 63 Consideration
Shares, not (63.5) Consideration Shares. The fractional shares will be aggregated and sold in Tadawul at the then
market price on behalf of the entitled Petrochem'’s Selling Shareholders. Subsequently, the proceeds resulting from
the sale of the fractional shares will be distributed to such Petrochem Shareholders proportionate to their respective
fractional entitlements within a period not exceeding thirty (30) days from Completion. The costs related to the sale
of fractional shares will be deducted from the total proceeds of such sale.



The below diagram is a simplified description of the structure of the Acquisition:

Before Completion After Completion
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5.3 Approvals Required to Effect the Acquisition Transaction

Shareholders shareholders

40.38% 59.62%

100%

Petrochem

5.3.1 Government Approvals

A number of regulatory approvals must be obtained for the purposes of the implementation of the Acquisition as
follows:

a- CMA approval of the SIIG Capital Increase and publication of the Offer Document.

b- Saudi Exchange Company approval for listing of the Consideration Shares on Tadawul.

c- MOC approval for the proposed amendments to SIIG bylaws (as set out in Annex (1) of this Shareholders'
Circular).

d- CMA approval to publish the invitation for the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in relation to the Acquisition.
The EGM date will be announced on the Saudi Exchange Company website.

Except for CMA approval of inviting the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in relation to the Acquisition, all government
approvals mentioned above have been obtained

SIIG and Petrochem obtained a GAC letter dated 14/11/1442 H, indicating that reporting the Acquisition to the GAC
is not required as the Acquisition shall not produce an economic concentration that requires a GAC non-objection.



5.4 Summary of Implementation Agreement

5.4.1 Implementation Agreement

On 21/03/1443 H (27/10/2021 G), SIIG and Petrochem entered into an Implementation Agreement whereby they
agreed to the terms and conditions of the Acquisition Transaction and obligations of both companies in relation to
the implementation of the Acquisition Transaction. The Implementation Agreement contains warranties given by
each company to the other on a reciprocal basis as well as restrictions on the conduct of business.

The Acquisition Transaction is subject to the approvals of SIIG's and Petrochem's Selling Shareholders. According to
Article (3) (n) of the Merger and Acquisition Regulations, a shareholder that holds shares in both SIIG and Petrochem
can only vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the EGM of one of the companies. For further details about voting in
the EGM, see Section (5.6.2) ("EGM Approval") of this Shareholders' Circular.

5.4.1.1 Implementation Agreement Terms and Conditions

The Implementation Agreement includes a number of terms and conditions that must be met to complete the
Acquisition Transaction. The two companies have committed to seeking to fulfill the terms and conditions as soon
as possible and to coordinate with each other in this regard. The two companies have also agreed that none of
these terms and conditions may be amended or assigned without a written consent from both companies. Here is a
summary of those terms and conditions:

1- Obtaining all the CMA required approvals in relation to the Acquisition Transaction.

2- Obtaining the approval of the Saudi Exchange Company to list the Consideration Shares in the Saudi
Exchange and any other approvals that the Saudi Exchange Company may request in connection with the
Acquisition Transaction.

3- Approval of the required majority of SIIG shareholders on the Acquisition Resolutions.
4~ Approval of the required majority of Petrochem's shareholders on the Acquisition Resolutions.
5- No material adverse event exists or continues.

6- No breach of a number of warranties provided by both SIIG and Petrochem under the Implementation
Agreement (unless such breach is capable of remedy where the breach has been remedied to the reasonable
satisfaction of the non-breaching party); these warranties are as follows:

a- thatboth Companies have the requisite power and authority to enter into the Implementation Agreement,
including all obligations stipulated under it;

b- thatthe obligations of the Implementation Agreement constitute binding obligations on both Companies;

c- that the execution and delivery of, and the performance of its obligations under the Implementation
Agreement will not result in a material breach of any provision of constitutional document for both
Companies;

d- that the execution of the Implementation Agreement and all arising obligations thereof will not result in
a material breach to any material agreement or give a right to a third party to terminate or fundamentally
modify any material agreement (pursuant to the agreed definition stipulated in the Implementation
Agreement) to which either of the two companies is a party except as disclosed to the other party.
The Implementation Agreement defines a material agreement as: (i) any agreement with a value equal
to or greater than ten million US Dollars (USD 10,000,000) or; (i) any other agreement that is material
for non-financial reasons such that its termination results in a material adverse event on SIIG and its
Subsidiaries or on Petrochem and its Subsidiaries (as applicable);

e- that all information provided by each party to the other party in connection with the Acquisition
Transaction (including information provided during the stage of professional due diligence) is correct
and complete in all material aspects and is not materially misleading as on its date; and

f-  nomaterialinformation has been withheld by the other party in the context of the Acquisition Transaction.

7- No decision or court judgement from any governmental authority in the KSA to prevent the Acquisition
Transaction pursuant to the provisions of the Implementation Agreement.



5.4.1.2  Conduct of Business Requirements

The Implementation Agreement included an obligation on the two Companies to refrain from taking particular actions
in breach of specific restrictions stipulated in the Implementation Agreement in relation to the method of conducting
their business during the period between the date of entering into the Implementation Agreement until the Effective
Date of the Implementation or the date on which the Implementation Agreement is terminated in accordance with its
terms (whichever occurs earlier) without obtaining the consent of the other party, noting that the other party cannot
withhold its consent without a reasonable cause.

Inthe event that one of the two Companies violates any of these restrictions and this violation results in the occurrence
of a Material Adverse Event (pursuant to the agreed definition in the Implementation Agreement), the other party will
then have the right to terminate the Implementation Agreement pursuant to a notice to be submitted to the violating
party. For further details about the provisions for terminating the Implementation Agreement, see Section (5.4.1.4)
“Termination of the Implementation Agreement" of this Shareholders' Circular.

The restrictions related to the conduct of business stipulated in the Implementation Agreement require that none
of the two Companies and members of their group act, or agree to act, in a way that would violate any of these
restrictions, unless this is legally required. The following is a summary of the conduct of business requirements:

1- limiting the business that the two Companies and members of their group carry out to their ordinary
course of business that is substantially consistent with their previous practices, provided that the relevant
regulations are not violated in all cases;

2- refrain from making any material amendments or alterations to the general nature or scope of the business
of the company or any member of their group or conducting any new material activities

3- inrelation to the two Companies (without members of their group), not to declare, make, set aside or pay
any dividend or other distributions (whether in cash or in the form of share grants or any other form) for any
period.

4- refrain from acquiring or disposing of any tangible assets or entering into or amending an agreement
or assuming any related obligation if such action would result in incurring compensation, expenses or
obligations exceeding an amount of two hundred fifty million (250,000,000) US dollars (or its equivalent).

5- notto amend share capital, Articles of Association or by-laws.

5.4.1.3  Structure of SIIG Board of Directors after Completion of Acquisition

Subject to procurement of relevant requlatory and shareholder approvals, both companies have agreed pursuant to
the Implementation Agreement to take the necessary steps for implementing the following changes in respect of the
composition of SIIG's board of directors after the Completion of the Acquisition:

1-  Toappoint two (2) individuals (whom shall be nominated by Petrochem current board within thirty (30) days
prior to the Effective Date of the Acquisition) to fill in the two vacant board seats following the Acquisition
Transaction.

2-  SIIG will provide two vacant seats for the two members who are nominated by Petrochem Board of Directors
through increasing SIIG's board size from nine (9) members to ten (10) members and discharge one member
of the SIIG board of directors on the date of the Completion.



As a result of the above changes, it is expected that, following the Completion, the composition of the board of SIIG
will be as follows:

the GOSI, one of the current shareholders of SIIG and a Substantial Shareholder of Petrochem, will have
a number of representatives in the board of SIIG as of the Completion (at present, the GOSI has two
representatives in SIIG board);

two (2) directors will be nominated by Petrochem's board as members of the SlIG's board following the
Completion; and

the remaining directors will be from the then current board of SIIG.

These changes will only take effect following the Completion. Until then, the current boards and executive management
teams of both Companies will continue to lead their respective Companies independently.

5.4.1.4

Termination of the Implementation Agreement

The Implementation Agreement shall expire with immediate effect and thus all the rights and obligations of the two
Companies under the Implementation Agreement (with the exception of some rights and obligations that remain
binding even after termination of the Implementation Agreement, such as confidentiality, dispute resolution and
provisions relating to notifications) will be terminated in any of the following cases:

1-

Either party provides a notice of termination of the Implementation Agreement to the other party following
breach by the other party of the Implementation Agreement where such breach constitutes a Material
Adverse Event including the following:

a- to breach the obligations under clause (5) of the Implementation Agreement which relates to the
preparation and submission of the required documentation to the CMA to approve the publication of the
Offer Document and SIIG capital increase request, as well as the provision of all required information to
enable the other party to prepare such documents;

b- to breach any restrictions on the conduct of business (as detailed in Section (5.4.1.2) (“Conduct of
Business Requirements") of this Shareholders' Circular without the written approval of the other party;,

c- to breach any of the warranties (as detailed in section (5.4.1.1) (“Implementation Agreement Terms
and Conditions")) which stipulate that all information provided to the other party in connection with the
Acquisition Transaction including information that was provided during the course of the due diligence
process and during the preparation of the Acquisition documents including this Shareholders' Circular,
was as at the date as to which it speaks true and accurate (in all material respects); and warranties that
neither party has knowingly withheld from the other party any information that is material in the context
of the Acquisition Transaction; and warranties that neither party has knowingly withheld from the other
party any information that is material in the context of the Acquisition Transaction; and

d- to breach warranties relating to the correctness and completeness of any information (in all material
aspects) to be submitted after conclusion of the Implementation Agreement to the Other Party including
any information to be submitted for the purpose of preparing the documentation of the Acquisition
Transaction including this Shareholders' Circular.

Failing to enforce the Acquisition Resolutions prior to or on the long stop date being 26/10/2022G (unless
both Companies agree in writing on another date).

Failing to satisfy any of Implementation Agreement conditions or waive any conditions thereof prior to or on
the long stop date being 26/10/2022G (unless both Companies agree in writing on another date).

SIIG and Petrochem agree to terminate the agreement in writing.



5.5 Other Agreements

Except for the Implementation Agreement, there are no other material documents or agreements between the two
Companies related to the Acquisition Transaction.

5.6 Procedures Required to Effect the Acquisition Transaction

Subject to satisfying all of the conditions set out in the Implementation Agreement and set out above, there are
certain procedures required to be completed for the purpose of effecting the Acquisition Transaction, which are as
follows:

5.6.1 Government Approvals

A number of regulatory approvals must be obtained for the purposes of the implementation of the Acquisition
Transaction as follows:

a- CMA approval of the SIIG Capital Increase and publication of the Offer Document.
b- Saudi Exchange Company approval for listing of the Consideration Shares on Tadawul.

c- MOC approval for the proposed amendments to SIIG bylaws (as set out in Annex (1) of this Shareholders'
Circular).

d- CMA approval to publish the invitation for the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in relation to the Acquisition
Transaction. The EGM date will be announced on the Saudi Exchange Company website.

Except for CMA approval of inviting the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM in relation to the Acquisition Transaction, all
government approvals mentioned above have been obtained

SIIG and Petrochem obtained a GAC letter dated 14/11/1442 H, indicating that reporting the Acquisition Transaction
to the GAC is not required as the Acquisition Transaction shall not produce an economic concentration that requires
a GAC non-objection.

5.6.2 EGM Approval

The Acquisition Transaction is also conditional upon obtaining approvals at EGMs of SIIG and Petrochem as follows:

1-  Approval of the required majority (which is represented by at least three-quarters of the shares represented
at the meeting) of SIIG shareholders on the Acquisition Resolutions.

2-  Approval of the required majority (which is represented by at least three-quarters of the shares represented
at the meeting) of Petrochem's Selling Shareholders on the Acquisition Resolutions.

SIIG will submit an application to the CMA to obtain its approval to convene the SIIG EGM and Petrochem EGM
shortly after the publication of this Shareholders' Circular. Following the CMA approval, SIIG and Petrochem will
publish the invitation for the respective EGMs, which shall be convened within a maximum period of twenty-eight (28)
days as of the date of publishing this Shareholders' Circular (or any other date as agreed between the Companies
and approved by the CMA)

EGM shall be valid only if attended by a number of shareholders representing at least one half of the capital of SIIG.
If such quorum is not met, a call shall be made for a second EGM to be held one hour after the expiry of the period
prescribed for holding the first EGM (provided that the invitation to hold the first EGM shall indicate the possibility of
holding a second EGM one hour after the end of the period specified for the first EGM in the event that the quorum
required for holding the EGM is not met). The second EGM shall be valid only if attended by a number of Shareholders
representing at least one fourth of the capital of SIIG. If such quorum is not met, SIIG shall obtain the approval of the
CMA to hold a third EGM. Upon obtaining the approval of the CMA, SIIG will publish the invitation for the EGM, and the
EGM will be held after a period of not less than twenty-one (21) days as of the date of publishing the invitation. In all
cases, the third EGM shall be valid regardless of the number of shareholders represented therein.



All shareholders who appear in the shareholders register of SIIG by the end of trading on the same day of the relevant
EGM will be eligible to attend and vote (whether in person, by proxy or via remote/electronic voting), pursuant to the
relevant procedures. The delegation of a proxy must be in writing, signed by the relevant shareholder and attested
by the Chamber of Commerce, one of the banks, the CMA authorized persons, notary public, or persons authorized
to notarize documentation. The proxy must show the original copy of the proxy in the EGM, along with a copy of the
national identification, passport, or residence permit.

Acquisition Resolutions shall be approved in the SIIG EGM if issued by a majority of three quarters of the shares
represented in the EGM, either attending in person or by proxy. Furthermore, according to Article (3) (n) of the Merger
and Acquisition Regulations, a shareholder that holds shares in both SIIG and Petrochem can only vote on the
Acquisition Resolutions in the EGM of one of the companies.

Shareholders are also able to vote on the EGM agenda remotely/electronically by using “Tadawulaty” which is a
service provided by the Saudi Exchange Company, provided that the shareholders are registered with "Tadawulaty".
The registration with "Tadawulaty" and the ability to vote remotely on the EGM agenda is available to all shareholders
free of charge. For more information, please visit: http://www.tadawulaty.com.sa The remote/electronic voting will
commence at least three (3) days prior to the date of the EGM, and the exact dates during which the remote/electronic
voting will be available will be announced as part of the EGM invitation.

Votes in the EGM shall be calculated on the basis of one (1) vote per share. Shareholders who fail to attend the EGM
(whether in person or via remote/electronic voting or a proxy) will forfeit their rights to vote in such EGM and their
shares will not be counted as represented.

Whilst all shareholders have the right to attend and vote on the resolutions proposed at the SIIG EGM related to the
Acquisition Transaction (unless they are restricted due to a conflict of interest or any other restriction imposed by
the relevant Saudi laws and regulations), shareholders residing outside of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia are hereby
made aware that this Shareholders' Circular was not filed or registered with any regulatory authority outside the
KSA. Therefore, if a shareholder is based in a jurisdiction where voting on the Acquisition Transaction based on
this Shareholders' Circular requires any steps to be taken by SIIG to lawfully enable such shareholder to vote on the
Acquisition Transaction then that shareholder should not vote on the resolutions to be proposed at the SIIG EGM. If
such shareholder has nevertheless voted on the Acquisition Resolutions, then SIIG reserves the right, after agreeing
with Petrochem, not to proceed with the Acquisition Transaction unless the relevant resolutions are approved by the
requisite majorities without counting the vote of that shareholder.

For clarification, if the requisite percentage — at least three quarters of the shares represented in the meeting- of
Petrochem's Selling Shareholders approve the Acquisition Transaction in Petrochem's EGM related to the Acquisition
Transaction and all other conditions of the Acquisition Transaction are met, all Petrochem shareholders (including
those who voted to reject the Acquisition Transaction or did not vote) shall not hold any of Petrochem's shares
because Petrochem's shares will be delisted and Petrochem will be fully owned by SIIG. They will receive, in return,
Consideration Shares in SIIG according to the terms and conditions of the Implementation Agreement upon the
Completion.

5.6.3 Completion of the Acquisition

Following the approval of the Acquisition Resolutions by the Shareholders of both companies, the Resolutions shall
be effective and the ownership of all the shares, subject to the Offer, shall be transferred to SIIG. Petrochem's shares
shall be delisted and Petrochem will be fully owned by SIIG which will, as a result, issue Consideration Shares to
Petrochem's shareholders listed in the Petrochem's Selling Shareholder register by the end of second trading period
following the effectiveness of the Acquisition Transaction.



5.7 Litigation against SIIG

SIIG submitted its zakat and income tax returns to ZATCA up to 2020G, and ZATCA has made several additional
assessments on SIIG with an additional commitment on SIIG in the amount of forty-two million one hundred and
thirty-eight thousand five hundred and ten Saudi Riyals (SAR 42,138,510) for the years from 2007G to 2014G. SIIG has
submitted its objection to those assessments to the General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees,
and the objection is still under consideration up to the date of this Shareholders' Circular.

5.8 Litigation against Petrochem

Petrochem also submitted its zakat and income tax returns to ZATCA up to 2020G. ZATCA has made several
additional assessments on Petrochem with additional obligations on Petrochem, totaling three hundred and forty
two million and three hundred thousand Saudi Riyals (SAR 342,300,000), which had been reduced to one hundred
ninety three million five hundred thousand Saudi Riyals (SAR 193,500,000) as of the date of this Circular, the details
of these additional assessments and obligations and their current status is as follows:

e ZATCA made assessments for the years from 2014 to 2016 with an additional commitment to Petrochem in
the amount of (SAR 204.2) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem has submitted its objection to the same to the
General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees. The Tax Violations and Disputes Committee
issued its decision to partially accept the objection so that the additional obligation on Petrochem for the
years from 2014 to 2076 was reduced to (SAR 92.5) million Saudi Riyals. Thereafter, Petrochem and ZATCA
submitted their appeals against the aforementioned decision to the Tax Violations and Disputes Appeal
Committee, and the appeal is still under consideration up to the date of this Shareholders' Circular.

e ZATCA made assessments for the years from 2017 to 2018 with an additional commitment to Petrochem in
the amount of (SAR 128.9) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem has submitted its objection to those assessments
to the General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees, and the Tax Violations and Disputes
Resolution Committee issued its decision to partially accept the objection, and as a result, the Zakat obligation
for these years was reduced to (91.8) million Saudi Riyals, and the Company intends submit an objection to
the aforementioned decision to the Tax Violations and Disputes Resolution Committee within the time limit
specified for that.

e ZATCA made assessments for the years from 2019 to 2020 with an additional commitment to Petrochem in
the amount of (SAR 9.2) million Saudi Riyals. Petrochem has submitted its objection to those assessments
to the General Secretariat of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees, and the objection is still under
consideration up to the date of this Shareholders' Circular.

5.9 Bankruptcy

None of the SIIG directors (or the proposed directors of the SIIG), senior executives or the board secretary of the SIIG
board has been the subject of any bankruptcy action.

5.10 Insolvency

During the past five years, none of the directors of SIIG (or proposed directors of the SIIG), the senior executives or
the board secretary of the SIIG board, in the preceding five years, has been employed by any insolvent company in a
managerial or supervisory capacity.



6. STATEMENTS BY EXPERTS

The advisors whose names are set in Section (“Corporate Directory”) have submitted their written consent to the
publication of their names, addresses, logos and the statements attributed to each of them in the context in which
they appear in this Shareholders' Circular and did not withdraw such consent. And the market advisor does not have
any shareholding or interest of any kind in SIIG or its Subsidiaries.



7. EXPENSES

The costs and expenses of completing the Acquisition are estimated at Nineteen million (SAR 19,000,000) Saudi
Riyals. Such expenses include the fees of the legal advisor, financial advisor, auditors, financial due diligence
advisor and other advisors, in addition to government fees, marketing, publication and other expenses related to the
Acquisition. It should be noted that the costs and expenses referred to above do not include the SIIG and Petrochem
integration costs following Completion (for further details about the integration cost, see Section (1.1.2) "Risks
relating to realizing the cost savings, growth opportunities, and other benefits anticipated from the Acquisition")



8. WAIVERS

The CMA has issued a waiver for GOSI (as a Related Party) from the requirements of Article 3(0) and Article 48
of the Merger and Acquisition Regulations, thereby allowing GOSI to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the
General Assembly of one of the companies, subject to the voting restrictions applicable to the shareholder who owns
shares in both companies, in which case the shareholder will be permitted to vote in the General Assembly of one
of the companies, and the voting restrictions applicable to their representatives in the meeting of the board or any
committee. SIIG (as a Related Party) will not be able to vote on the Acquisition Resolutions in the General Assembly
of Petrochem.

A waiver was also obtained from the CMA from the requirements of (2)(b)(10) from the Instructions for Companies’
Announcements in relation to the announcement made in the event where the agenda includes an item for changing
the company'’s capital. As such, the SIIG Extraordinary General Assembly's invite announcement will not set out a
clarification that the votes of Related Parties will not be included when voting on the Acquisition Resolutions in the
Extraordinary General Assembly.

A waiver has been obtained from the CMA with respect to requirements set out under Article (57) (2) of the Rules on
the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in relation to the SIIG submission of professional and legal due
diligence reports issued by its relevant advisors, according to their respective part, on Petrochem to CMA.



9. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the head office of SIIG in Riyadh during normal
business hours on any Business Day from the date of publication of this Shareholders' Circular up until the date of
the SIIG's EGM in relation to Acquisition:

1- Thebylaws and articles of association of Petrochem including all the amendments made to it during the last
three years and up to its date.

2- Implementation Agreement.

3- Consolidated financial statements of Petrochem for years ended on 31 December 2018G, 2019 G and 2020
G in addition to the consolidated condensed financial statements (unaudited) of Petrochem for the two
periods of three and six months ended on 30 June 2021G and condensed financial statements (unaudited)
of Petrochem for the two periods of three and nine months ended on 30 September 2021G

4~ Valuation Report.

5-  Pro forma condensed consolidated statement (unaudited) of SIIG;

6- Advisors' consent letters to the use their names, logos and statements in the Shareholders' Circular.
7-  Market study prepared by IHS Markit Ltd.



ANNEX 1
SIIG BYLAWS AMENDMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ACQUISITION TRANSACTION

Article (1) will be amended to be as follows:

A Saudi Joint Stock Company (the “Company") has been established in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law, its regulations, and these Bylaws in accordance with the following:

Article (2) will be amended as follows:

Saudi Industrial Investment Group (a listed Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Article (3) will be amended to be as follows:

The Company conducts and implements the following objectives:

1-  Manufacture of refined oil products;

2- Manufacture of basic chemical materials;

3- Manufacture of other chemical products that are unspecified in another position;
4-  Wholesale of solid, liquid and gaseous fuels and related products;
5-  Manufacture of plastics and synthetic rubber in primary forms;
6- Mining of chemical metals and mineral fertilizers;

7-  Mining of non-ferrous metal ores;

8- Manufacture of batteries and accumulators;

9- Manufacturing;

10- Oil and natural gas extraction support activities; and

11- Construction work related to other civil engineering works.

The Company shall conduct its activities in accordance with the regulations that are in force, and after obtaining the
required licenses from the competent authorities, if any.
Article (6) will be amended to be as follows:

The duration of the Company shall be ninety-nine (99) Hijri years commencing as of the date of the Company's
registration in the Commercial Registrar. The Company's term may always be extended by a resolution adopted by
the Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders, at least one year prior to the expiration of the original term.

Article (7) will be amended to be as follows:

The capital of the Company shall be seven billion five hundred and eighty four million Saudi Riyals (SAR 7,548,000,000),
divided into seven hundred fifty four million and eight hundred thousand (754,800,000) nominal shares of an equal
value of ten (10) Saudi Riyals each, which are paid in full.

Article (8) will be amended to be as follows:

The shareholders subscribed to all the share capital representing seven billion five hundred and eighty four million
Saudi Riyals (SAR 7,548,000,000), seven hundred fifty four million and eight hundred thousand (754,800,000), which
are paid in full.

Article (18) will be amended to be as follows:

The Company shall be managed by a Board of Directors (the “Board" or the "Board of Directors") composed of ten
(10) members to be elected by the Shareholders' Ordinary General Assembly for a period of three (3) years.



Article (21) will be amended to be as follows:

Without prejudice to the powers conferred on the General Assembly, the Board shall be vested with full powers to
manage the Company, supervise its business and funds, conduct its business inside and outside the Kingdom, and
establish the general policy to achieve its objectives, including without limitation the following:

1-

Represent the Company before all third parties and government authorities including, the Ministry of
Commerce, the Ministry of Investment, the Capital Market Authority, the Saudi Stock Exchange, the Zakat,
Tax and Customs Authority, public notaries, and before the Judiciary, Sharia courts, administrative courts
(Board of Grievance), all judicial and arbitration committees and agencies, Labor and Employment Offices,
civil rights, police departments, chambers of commerce and chambers of industry, private bodies, as well as
other companies and establishments inside and outside of the Kingdom.

Do all actions in relation to claims and courts, including without limitation, file lawsuit, plead and defend,
hear the claim and challenge it, deny, request the taking of, and reject oath, present witnesses and evidences
and impeach them, contest, impeach and vouch for witnesses, allege forgery, deny the stamps, style of
writing and signatures, request the ban of traveling and cancel the request, follow up with the confiscation
and enforcement circuits, request confiscation and enforcement, request arbitration, appoint experts and
arbitrators, challenge the reports of the experts and arbitrators, remove and replace them, challenge and
appeal judgments, receive judgments’ deeds, conclude whatever is necessary, attend hearings in relation to
all cases before all the courts, including without limitation, Shari'ah courts, administrative courts (the Board
of Grievances) and all committees.

Do all actions in relation to companies in which the Company participates in, including, but not limited to,
agreeing to establish, incorporate, acquire, manage, operate, terminate, liquidate, finance, guarantee, and
participate in any type of company, institution, fund, or branch with others or alone inside or outside the
Kingdom, and determining the tasks and budgets of branches and companies, and determining the value
of shares in which the Company will participate, increase or decrease the share capital of those companies,
or the company's withdrawal from the companies in which it participates, the sale, purchase, mortgage,
redemption, assignment and disposal of the company's shares or shares in other companies and receive
amounts, and converting the corporate structure of those companies either to a joint stock company or
a limited liability company or otherwise, sign articles of association and amendments thereof before the
notary public, cancel articles of association and amendments thereof, sign shareholders' resolutions in the
Company's capacity as a shareholder, sign contracts for the company with third parties or resolutions in
respect of companies, including contracts to buy, sell, mortgage, mortgage removal, assign or dispose of
shares, meetings of the shareholders, attend and vote on behalf of the Company in the meetings of the
shareholders in the companies in which the Company participates in including constituent assemblies,
ordinary and extra-ordinary assemblies, take all decisions and vote on any decisions in these companies,
appoint and remove managers or members of the board of directors.

Buy or sell or mortgage the Company's real property and assets, physical or otherwise, its monies, and shares
in other companies, as well as other movable and immovable assets, which shall include conveying lands
are buildings by deed, sale, purchase, investment, mortgage or release of mortgage, and marginalization
of bonds by merging, sorting, endowing, payment of price, receipt of payment, transferring the right of
attachment and signing before the notary public or any other government authority in this regard; provided
however that the minutes of the meeting of the Board state the reasons for its decision the following:

a- thereasons and justifications of its decision;
b- the sale price shall be equivalent to the prices of similar property or acceptable to the Board in its
absolute discretion;,

c- the sale shall be spot sale, except in certain circumstances determined by the board and with sufficient
guarantees in the Baord's absolute discretion; and

d- such disposition shall not result in the suspension of certain Company activities or its encumbrance
with other obligations.



10-

11-

12-

13-
14-

Represent the company in its relations with companies, banks, money houses and all government financing
funds and financial institutions of all kinds and other lenders, opening, managing, operating and closing
bank accounts of any kind, in any country and conduct all transactions on these accounts in connection
with the Company's activities, including withdrawals from, deposits and transfers from, receiving and
disbursing funds, claiming its rights, signing any documents or contracts related thereto, obtaining loans
and other facilities of all kinds for any period or amount, and to issue guarantees for the benefit of any entity
whatsoever when the Board - according to its absolute discretion - deems that this serves the interest of
the Company, signing, writing and accepting checks, promissory notes and other commercial papers, and
entering into financial lease arrangements, financing operations, financial derivatives operations, treasury
operations, financial hedging, hedging against currency exchange rates, granting credits, and carrying out
all actions necessary for the conclusion of all agreements and banking transactions, in the form and terms
the Board deems appropriate at its absolute discretion. The Board shall observe the following conditions for
contracting loans with terms exceeding three (3) years:

a- the Board's decision shall define the aspects of application of loan funds and method of repayment; and

b- terms and conditions of the loan agreement and related securities shall not be detrimental to the
Company's and Shareholders' interests

Entering into contracts, commitments, and association in the name of and on behalf of the Company, entering
into tenders, investing in shares, portfolios and bonds, and signing all types of contracts and documents,
including memoranda of understanding, and carrying out all acts, including negotiation, contracting,
commitment, engagement, conciliation, assignment, termination, signature, delivery, modification,
replacement, and addition to any contracts and obligations with others that would achieve the Company's
objectives, including, but not limited to, licensing, marketing, future purchase, purchase, sale, lease and rental
contracts, agencies, concessions, insurance contracts, compensation contracts, and guarantees, all in the
form, terms, and amounts that the Board deems appropriate in accordance with to its absolute discretion.

The Board shall have, in cases determined at its discretion, the right to discharge the Company's debtors of
their obligation, provided, however, that the minutes of the meeting of the Board and its decision shall take
into consideration the following conditions:

a- the discharge shall take effect after the lapse of one full year from the effective start of debt as a
minimum;

b- the discharge shall be restricted to a certain maximum amount annually per each debtor; and

c- thedischarge is a right of the Board that cannot be delegated.

Making decisions regarding the company's financial plan and policies for setting aside the statutory reserve,
as well as — and with the authorization of the Ordinary General Assembly — declaring and distributing the
Company's annual, semi-annual, and quarterly profits.

Issuing any type of debt instruments that are tradable inside or outside the Kingdom in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations.

Approving the Company's internal financial, administrative, and technical bylaws, and the policies and
regulations for its employees.

Appointing the Company's employees, agents, and consultants, on the terms the Board deems appropriate,
dismissing them, determining their powers and duties, and promoting or transferring them, determining
the necessary allowances, salaries, and bonuses, paying their salaries and compensations, requesting
visas, and recruiting employees and workers from abroad, issuance of residency and work permits, transfer,
termination and assignment of sponsorships.

Forming committees of all kinds (except for the audit committee), determining their powers, appointing
their members from among the members of the Board or otherwise, dismissing them, and determining their
compensation.

Approving the Company's business plan and its annual capital budget and operational plans.
Signing and ratifying all licenses, records, certificates, necessary authorizations, forms and documents,
receiving and delivering them in the name and on behalf of the Company, register signatures and seals

with the Chambers of Commerce and Chambers of Industry, and issue, renew and amend the Company's
certificates and licenses.



15- Conduct all actions in relation to commercial registers and chambers of commerce, including without limitation,
follow up with registers’ department, issue and renew registers, reserve commercial names, register trademarks,
register and renew the registration with the Chamber of Commerce, sign all documents before Chamber of
Commerce, manage registers, amend registers, add activities, open branch registers and cancel registers.

16- Register trademarks and other intellectual property rights inside or outside the Kingdom

17- Within the limits of its powers, the Board may delegate or authorize one or more of its members or a third
party to carry out certain activities, or assume a certain function or certain functions, and to cancel such
authorization or delegation, partially or in full.

The Board may also authorize the audit committee to approve the unaudited quarterly financial statements, while the
annual audited financial statements shall continue to be approved by the Board.

Article (23) will be amended to be as follows:

The Board of Directors shall appoint a Chairman and a Vice Chairman from among its members. A single member
may not concurrently hold the post of Chairman and any other executive position at the Company, including that of
Chief Executive Officer.

The Board of Dirctors shall appoint a Chief Executive Officer from among its members or otherwise, who shall be
tasked with conducting the daily business of the company.

In addition to the powers given to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer mentioned in these bylaws, the Board of
Dirctors may, by resolution, define the authorities and powers of each of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board of Directors shall determine the compensation of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, as well as the
remuneration given to Board members, within the limits set out in the Companies’ Law, its Implementing Regulations,
and the Company's internal procedures and regulations.

The term of office of the Chairman and Vice Chairman shall not exceed their respective terms of membership
on the Board. They may be reelected for additional terms and the Board may, at any time, dismiss one or both of
them without prejudice to their right to seek compensation if dismissal were not properly justified or occurred at an
inappropriate time. The term of office Chief Executive Officer and Secretary - if he is a Board member, respectively -
shall not exceed their respective terms of membership on the Board. They may be reelected for additional terms. The
Board may, at any time, dismiss one or both of them.

The Chairman shall have the following authorities:

1-  Inviting the Board to convene for a Board Meeting. The Chairman, if asked by two Board members, shall
invite the Board to convene.

2- Do all that is necessary with regard to companies established or is participated in by the Company - including
but not limited to - agreeing to establish, purchase, manage, operate, terminate, liquidate, finance, guarantee,
and participate in any type of companies, institutions, funds or branches, with others or alone, in any percentage,
whether inside or outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and determining the branches and companies'
responsibilities and budget, determining the amounts and values of the shares or stocks in which the Company
will participate, increasing or decreasing the capital of those companies, or withdrawing the Company from
those companies participated in, buying, selling, mortgaging, removing a mortgage, redeeming, transferring,
assigning, disposing, and acting for the Company in relation to those shares or stocks in those companies
participated in and receiving the value, transferring the entities of these companies, whether to a joint stock
company, a limited liability company, or any other form, and signing the articles of association of those
companies, and any amendment or annex to them, before a notary public or any other government agencies, or
cancelling them, and signing any documents, contracts, resolution or other decisions issued by the Company
in its capacity as a partner or shareholder in those companies and in relation to those companies, including
contracts of purchase, sale, pledge, release of pledge, assignment or disposal of shares or stocks, minutes of
general assemblies, permits, requests, notices, powers of attorney, resolutions, lease contracts or any other
document that may be necessary or required, appoint managers and members of the boards of directors and
board of managers these companies and the Company's representatives at shareholder or partners meetings
and attend and vote, on behalf of the Company, at meetings of partners, including the regular and extraordinary
constituent and general assemblies, or amend the purposes of those companies.



The Chairman has the right to delegate any of his powers — within the limits of his powers and authority — to
one or more members of the Board or any other person, to take any action or conduct or perform certain
work or actions on his behalf as Chairman, and he may also cancel this power of attorney or delegation in
whole or in part, and the Chairman may also grant the delegate or agent the right to delegate or five power
of attorney to another.

The Chief Executive Officer shall have the following authorities:

1-

The Chief Executive Officer shall represent the Company in its relationship with others and before
governmental and private bodies, including with the Ministry of Commerce, Ministry of Investment, Capital
Market Authority, Saudi Exchange, the Zakat, Tax, and Customs Authority, public notaries, in judicial
proceedings, Sharia courts, judicial committees, administrative courts, Labor and Employment Offices, civil
rights, police departments, chambers of commerce and industry, private and public authorities, companies,
establishments, in different forms inside and outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and all governmental and
private entities.

Do all actions in relation to claims and courts, including without limitation, file lawsuit, plead and defend,
hear the claim and challenge it, deny, request the taking of, abstain, and reject oaths, present witnesses and
evidences andimpeach them, contest,impeach and vouch for witnesses, allege forgery, deny the stamps, style
of writing and signatures, request the ban of traveling and cancel the request, follow up with the confiscation
and enforcement circuits, request confiscation and enforcement, request arbitration, appoint experts and
arbitrators, challenge the reports of the experts and arbitrators, remove and replace them, challenge and
appeal judgments, receive judgments' deeds, conclude whatever is necessary, attend hearings in relation to
all cases before all the courts, including without limitation, Shari'ah courts, administrative courts (the Board
of Grievances) and all committees.

Entering into contracts, commitments, and association in the name of and on behalf of the Company, entering
into tenders, investing in shares, portfolios and bonds, and signing all types of contracts and documents,
including memoranda of understanding, and carrying out all acts, including negotiation, contracting,
commitment, engagement, conciliation, assignment, termination, signature, delivery, modification,
replacement, and addition to any contracts and obligations with others that would achieve the Company's
objectives, including, but not limited to, licensing, marketing, future purchase, purchase, sale, lease and
rental contracts, agencies, concessions, insurance contracts, compensation contracts, and guarantees, on
the condition that none of these contracts shall exceed ten million (SAR 10,000,000.00) Saudi Riyals.

Represent the Company in its relations with companies, banks, money houses and all government financing
funds and financial institutions of all kinds and other lenders, opening, managing, operating and closing
bank accounts of any kind, in any country and conduct all transactions on these accounts in connection with
the Company's activities, including withdrawals from, deposits and transfers from, receiving and disbursing
funds, and claiming its rights, use electronic services relating to these and any in country on behalf of the
Company, signing, writing and accepting checks, promissory notes and other commercial papers.

After obtaining the Board's approval, obtaining loans and other facilities of all kinds for any period or amount,
from funds, governmental financial institutions, commercial banks, money houses, insurance companies,
and any other insurance entity, and to issue guarantees for the benefit of any entity whatsoever and entering
into financial lease arrangements, financing operations, financial derivatives operations, treasury operations,
financial hedging, hedging against currency exchange rates, granting credits, and carrying out all actions
necessary for the conclusion of all agreements and banking transaction, and sign any document or contract
relating to this.

Signing deeds and Sukuks before a notary public and official and private bodies inside and outside the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Appointing the Company's employees, agents, and consultants, dismissing them, determining their
powers and duties, and promoting or transferring them, determining the necessary allowances, salaries,
and bonuses, paying their salaries and compensations, requesting visas, and recruiting employees and
workers from abroad, issuance of residency and work permits, transfer, termination and assignment of
sponsorships.



10-
11-

12-
13-

Signing and ratifying all licenses, records, certificates, necessary authorizations, forms and documents,
receiving and delivering them in the name and on behalf of the Company, register signatures and seals
with the Chambers of Commerce and Chambers of Industry, and issue, renew and amend the Company's
certificates and licenses.

Conduct all actions in relation to commercial registers and chambers of commerce, including, but not limited
to, follow up with registers' department, issue and renew registers, reserve commercial names, register
trademarks, register and renew the registration with the Chamber of Commerce, sign all documents before
Chamber of Commerce, manage registers, amend registers, add activities, open branch registers and cancel
registers.

Register trademarks and other intellectual property rights inside or outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Accepting and removing mortgages on real estate taken as security for the Company's rights owed to third
parties, including, but not limited to, advances on wages provided to the Company's employees within the
Company's housing program.

Receiving and delivering on behalf of the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer has the right to delegate any of his powers — within the limits of his powers and
authority — to another, to take any action or conduct or perform certain work or actions on his behalf as Chief
Executive Officer, and he may also cancel this power of attorney or delegation in whole or in part.

The Board of Directors shall appoint a Secretary from among its members or others, to record the minutes to the
Board Meetings, resolution resulting for such meeting, and storing these, in addition to any other responsibility the
Board of Directors assign to the Secretary. The Board of Directors shall determine the Secretary's remuneration.

Article (25) will be amended to be as follows:

A Board meeting shall be quorate only if attended by a majority of members in person or by proxy, provided that
the number of attendees in principle be no less than six. Board members may delegate other Board members to
represent them in meetings pursuant to the following:

1-
2-
3-

a member of the Board may not act on behalf of more than one Board member during the same meeting;
a proxy shall be made in writing and delivered to the Company by hand or through email; and

a Board member acting by proxy may not vote on resolutions on which his principal is prohibited from voting
on.

The Board may adopt resolutions by circulation to all Board members unless one Board member submits a request
that a meeting be convened for deliberations. Such resolutions shall be adopted by an absolute majority of Board
members and presented to the Board at its first subsequent meeting.



ANNEX 2
FINANCIAL ADVISOR'S FAIRNESS OPINION

26 October 2021

The Board of Directors (the "Board")
Saudi Industrial Investment Company
Office 203, Rubeen Plaza

Northern Ring Road

Hittin District

P.0. Box 99833 Riyadh 11625

Saudi Arabia

Dear Sirs

Saudi Industrial Investment Company (the "Company") proposes to acquire the entire issued and outstanding share
capital of the National Petrochemicals Company (the "Offeree") other than shares owned by the Company (the "Offer"),
such that upon completion of the Offer, the Offeree will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the Offeree
will be de-listed from the Saudi Exchange (the "Transaction”). Pursuant to the offer document to be issued by the
Company in relation to the Transaction (the "Offer Document") and the implementation agreement to be entered into
between the Company and the Offeree in relation to the Transaction (the "Implementation Agreement” and, together,
with the Offer Document, the "Offer Documents"), each share in the Offeree will be exchanged for 1.27 shares in the
Company (the "Exchange Ratio Consideration").

As part of our engagement as financial adviser to the Company in relation to the Offer and pursuant to the terms agreed
between us in an engagement letter dated 15 April 2021 (the "Engagement Letter"), the Company has requested the
opinion of HSBC Saudi Arabia ("HSBC"), pursuant to Article 18 of the Merger and Acquisition Regulations, as to
whether HSBC considers the Exchange Ratio Consideration as fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company.

We have not been requested to opine on, and our opinion does not in any manner address, the underlying business
decision of the Company's Board of Directors to recommend or proceed with the Transaction. Neither have we been
asked to opine on whether the process of achieving the Transaction, including the Company's shareholders' approval
of the Transaction, is fair or otherwise.

Be advised that while certain provisions of the Offer are summarised above, the terms of the Offer are more fully
described in the Offer Documents. As a result, the description of the Offer and certain other information contained
herein is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Offer Documents. Capitalised terms used but not defined herein
shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Offer Documents.



Scope of our review

In arriving at the opinion set out below, we have, among other things:

1-

reviewed the financial terms of the Offer;
reviewed the Offer Documents;

reviewed the audited financial statements of the Company and the Offeree for the financial years 2018 to
2020 and the interim financial statements of the Company and the Offeree for the first six months of 2021;

considered and discussed with the Company’'s management certain internal financial analyses and forecasts
relating to the business, earnings, cash flow, assets, liabilities and prospects of the Company prepared and
provided to us by its management and the Offeree;

held discussions with members of the management of the Company regarding the past and current business
operations, the financial condition and the future prospects of the Company and the Offeree;

reviewed the reported price and trading activity for ordinary shares of the Company and the Offeree and
compared them with those of certain publicly traded companies that we deemed to be relevant;

compared the terms of the Offer with those, to the extent publicly available, of certain comparable
transactions that we deemed to be relevant;

reviewed, on a no-reliance basis, certain due diligence materials prepared by the Company's advisors for the
purposes of the Offer; and

reviewed such other financial studies and analyses, performed such other investigations, used certain
valuation methods commonly used for these types of analyses and taken into account such other
matters, as we deemed appropriate, including our assessment of current conditions and prospects for the
petrochemical industry and general economic, market and monetary conditions.

Assumptions and limitations

In forming our opinion:

1-

we have relied on, without independent verification, the assessment of the Company's management and the
Board on the commercial merits of the Offer, including that the Offer is in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole;

we have relied upon, withoutindependent verification, the accuracy and completeness of all of the information
that was made available to us or publicly available or was discussed with or reviewed by us (including
the information set out above) and have assumed such accuracy and completeness for the purpose of
providing this opinion;

we have assumed that the financial forecasts furnished by the Company and the Offeree have been
reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best available estimates and judgements of the future financial
performance of the Company and the Offeree by their senior management teams and Board and we have
not independently verified these forecasts and we express no opinion on the fairness of such estimates and
judgements;

while we have used various assumptions, judgements and estimates in our inquiry, which we consider
reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, no assurances can be given as to the accuracy of any
such assumptions, judgements and estimates. Such assumptions, judgements and estimates have been
reviewed with the Company prior to the rendering of this opinion, without independent verification;

we have not made any independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities of the Company and
its subsidiaries/affiliates or the Offeree and its subsidiaries/affiliates and we have not been furnished with
any such evaluation or appraisal nor have we evaluated the solvency or fair value of the Company or the
Offeree under any laws relating to the bankruptcy, insolvency or similar matters;



6- we have not conducted any independent legal, tax, accounting or other analysis of the Company, the Offeree
or of the Offer and our opinion does not address any legal, tax, regulatory or accounting matters, or the
contractual terms of the Offer Documents, as to each of which we understand that the Company may have
obtained such advice as it deemed necessary from other qualified professionals. We are financial advisors
only and, when appropriate, we have relied solely, without independent verification, upon the assessment of
the Company's legal, tax, accountants and other professional advisors who may have given such advice to
the Company;

7- we have not included the legal and tax effects of any reorganisation or transaction costs that may arise as
a result of the Offer in our analysis;

8- we have not performed any independent analysis of the situation of the individual shareholders of the
Company, including with respect to taxation in relation to the Offer and express no opinion thereon;

9- we have assumed that the Transaction will be consummated on the terms set forth in the Offer Documents
and that the final version of the Offer Documents will not change in any material respect from the draft
version we have reviewed for the purposes of this letter;

10- we have assumed that all governmental, regulatory, shareholder or other approvals and consents necessary
for the consummation of the Transaction will be obtained without any delays or limitations or conditions or
restrictions that may have any adverse effect on the Company or the Offeree or on the expected benefits of
the Offer in any way meaningful to our analysis;

11- we have also assumed that there has been no material change in the Company and/or the Offeree’s assets
and financial condition, results of operations, business or prospects since the date of the most recent
financial statements made available to us;

12- we have not conducted any physical inspection of the properties or facilities of the Company or the Offeree;

13- we have relied on the confirmations, representations, warranties and undertakings given by the Company in
the Engagement Letter; and

14- we have relied on the assurances of the management of the Company that they are not aware of any facts
or circumstances that would make any information necessary for us to provide this opinion inaccurate or
misleading and that the management have not omitted to provide us with any information which may be
relevant to the delivery of this opinion and that all information which may be relevant to the delivery of this
opinion will be disclosed in the Offer Documents.

Our opinion is necessarily based on financial, economic, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the
information made available to us as of, the date hereof. It should be understood that subsequent developments may
affect this opinion and that we do not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm this opinion.

We express no opinion with respect to the fairness of the amount or nature of the compensation to any of the
Offeree's officers, directors or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to the consideration to be paid to the
holders of the shares of Stone who accept the Offer.

We are expressing no opinion herein as to the price at which any securities of either the Company or the Offeree will
trade at any time, including the prices at which the Company's securities will trade following consummation of the
Transaction.

Our opinion, as set forth herein, is limited to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Exchange Ratio
Consideration to the Company as of the date hereof and we do not express any opinion regarding any variations of,
or modifications to, the Exchange Ratio Consideration made after the date hereof.

No opinion is expressed whether any alternative transaction might be more beneficial to the Company.



Relationship with HSBC

We have acted as financial adviser only to the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with the Offer
and expect to receive a fee from the Company for our services, a significant portion of which is contingent upon
completion of the Offer. In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify us in relation to certain liabilities incurred
within the scope of our engagement. HSBC and its affiliates have provided advisory, financing and other services to
the Company and have received fees for the rendering of these services, and may continue to provide such services to
the Company and receive fees in relation thereto. In the ordinary course of their businesses and subject to applicable
laws, HSBC and its affiliates may at any time actively trade in the debt and equity securities of the Company and/or
the Offeree, for their own accounts, or for the accounts of customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or
short position in such debt and securities.

Other limitations

This opinion is addressed to the Board of Directors of the Company and no one else in connection with the Offer and
will not be responsible to any person other than the Board of Directors of the Company for providing this opinion.

This letter is confidential to, and addressed to and provided solely for the Board of Directors of the Company
exclusively in connection with and for the purposes of its evaluation of the Offer and must not be used, or disclosed
in whole or in part, or referred to publicly, or be communicated to, or be relied upon by, any other person or used for
any other purpose without our prior written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, we confirm that the
Board of Directors may disclose that this opinion has been obtained from us and that a copy of this opinion may be
included in its entirety (subject to our prior consent/review of the relevant documentation) in any filing the Company
is required to make with the Capital Markets Authority and the Saudi Exchange, including in the shareholder circular
to be issued by the Company, in connection with the Offer, if such inclusion is required by applicable law or regulation
or expressly requested by any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the Company.

This letter shall not confer rights or remedies upon, and may not be used or relied on by, any holder of securities of
the Company or by other person other than the Board of Directors of the Company.

Specifically, this opinion does not address the commercial merits of the Offer nor the underlying decision by the
shareholders of the Company to vote in favour of the Offer nor does it constitute a recommendation to the Company
or any shareholder of the Company in respect of the Offer or any other matter.

The ultimate responsibility for the decision to recommend the Offer rests solely with the Board of Directors of the
Company.

This opinion shall be governed by the laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Conclusion

Based upon, and subject to, the foregoing we are of the opinion that, as of the date of this letter, the Exchange Ratio
Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company and the shareholders of the Company.

Yours faithfully

HSBC Saudi Arabia
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INDEFENDEMT AUDITOR'S REFORT
To the Shareholders of Mational Petrochamical Company (A Saudi Jaoint Siock Company)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements,

Opinian

We have audited the censolidated financial siatemenis of Mational Petrachemical Company, A Saudi Joint
Stock Company (“the Company™ and its subsidiaries (coliectively referred to as “the Group), which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidaled statement of
income and other comprehensive income, consolidated slatement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial stalements present fairy, in all material respects, the
consalidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and ifs consolidated financial
performance and Its consofidated cash flows for the year then ended In accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdem of Saudl Arabia and cther standards and
pronouncements that are issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants.

Bas!s for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Our responsibilities under those standards are further cescribed in the Auditor's
Resporsibliities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of owr report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with profoss ional code of conduct and ethics endorsed in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia that are refevant to our audit of the conselicated financial statements, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibillties in accordance wilh these requirements. We befieve that the audit evidence we
have obtained 15 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our epinian.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our prefessional judoment, were af most significance in our audil
of the consalidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of Lhe consaiidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion therzon, and we do
nat provide a separate opinion on these matters. Fer each key audit matter below, our description of how our
audit addrassed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fultilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consclidated
financial statements section of aur report, including in relstion te these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed Lo respond lo our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consalicated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
nrocedures performed to address the matlers below, provide the basls for our audit opinion on the
accompanying censolidated financial statements,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(2/6)

To the Shareholders of National Petrochemical Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company’

Report on the Audit of the Consalidated Financial Statements (continued).

Key Audit Matters (continued)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

|Uncertain Zakat Position

The Company files itz zakal returns with the Genaral
Authority of Zakat and Tax ("GAZT") on an annual basis.|
The GAZT raised assessments for the years from 2011 1o
2013 claiming additional zakat lisbility of SR 95.5 millian.
Tha Compary has filed an appeal against the additional
zakai liability with the Prefiminary Appeal Committee
[e'PaC™. Subsecquently, the Company received revised
zakal assessments for the vears from 2011 to 2013 from
the GAZT cloiming additional zskat lability of SR 5.74
|million. The Company accepted and paid SR 3.47 milkon
and filed an appeal for the remaining balance SR 2.27
|millian with the Higher Appeal Committee ("HACTY and the)
HAC's hearing is awaited.

The GAZT raised an assessment for the years from 2014
to 2016 claiming addtional zakal liability of SR 204.2
|million. The Company has filed an sppeal aganst the
additicnal zakat liability with the Prelimipary Appeal
Committes ("PAC'Y and the PAC'S hearing is awaited.

The Group's management believes that the provisian made
in the consofidoted statements of financial position is
adequate to cover any addibional zakal liability that may
arise from the GALT.

We considered this as a key audit matter as It involvas

We performed the following procedures in relation|
te the addilicnal assessed zakat lability and
related zakak provisions:

significant management judgment and Zakat provision and
the related additionsl assessmants by the GAZT and
related zakat provisions are material to the consolidated
financialstatemente

Evaluated the appropriatensss of the zakat
provision provided by the Group given thel
related zakal assessments issued by GAZT for
all years under appeal and for the years which)
till under GAZT's review;

Gained an understanding of the process that
management followed fo assess the impact of
the assessments and the reasons for such
differences between the positions of the
Company and GAZT:

Performed @  refrospective  review ol
management's judgement related to similar
cases inprior periods,;

Together with specialists in cur team, evaluated
the  reascnableness of  management’s
assessment for the accounting of the uncertain
zakal position in the light of rakat requlations,
recent praciices of GAZT and merits of the

appeal filed with the GAZT  against the
assessments raised; and
Assessed the appropriateness of the discbusure]

made in relation to the assessments issued by
GAET in respect of claiming additional zakal
[iability and the status of the related appeals.
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IMDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
To the Shareholders of National Petrochemical Company (A

(3/6)

Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Repart on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued),

Key Audit Matters (continued)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Changes in the estimated useful life of a production line

As per the requirement of relevant IFRS standards, the
residual value and the useful iife of an asset under
property, plant and equipment shall be reviewed at leas! at
each Mnancial year-end and, il expectations differ from
orevious estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as
a change in an accouniing estimate.

During the year, and as a result for the change in the
expectations of the management for the useful life and]
residual wslue for a production line, the management has

We performed the following procedures in relation)

ta the changes in the estimated useful fife:

« Obtained an understanding for the management|
basis in respact of change in their expectation
of the usaful life for the production line and
assessed the basis of revised wselul life, based
on such analysis and the technical condition of
the production line;

» Considered the business and industry practics,
reviewed the methodeology adopted by
managament for consistency with best practlcesr

changed Its estimation for the useful life for & production
fine (“the preduction lFne™),  which accountad
prospectively and resulted in recognizing accelerated
depreciatian eharge amounted to SR 236 millien for th
wear. Had this change not taken place, the income betore
rakal and income Lax for the year would have increased by)
SR 236 million.

The changs in estimated usetul life far the production line,
was significant to ocur audt since it involved materia
ameunls and significant management’s judgment and
estimation.

followed;

for|e Reviewed the management's basis for the

accounting treatment for the charge of the
gepreciation which resuited from change in the
useful life of the production Ine in view of the
related IFRS standards:

» Reviewed the appropriateness of the redlection
af the revised useful lives in the fixed assel
register and recomputed depreciation bazed on
revised useful lives; and

Assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of
disclosures made In the consolidated finansial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Sharcholders of Mational Petrochemical Company (4 Saudi Joind Stock Company)

Repart on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements {continued).

Other information included in The Group's 2018 Annual Report

other Information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2018 annual report, other than the
coneoiidated Financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Management is responsible for the ofher
infarmation tn its annual report. The Group's 2018 annual report |s expecied to be made available ko us after
the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion an the consolidated financial statements does nat cover the other information and we da not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. ;

In conneclion wilh our audit of the consolidated financial stalements, our respansibiiity is to read the ather
information idenlified above when it becomes available and. in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consclidated financial statements or our rnowledge chtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Group’s 2018 annual report, if we conclude that there s a material misstatement therein,
we are reguired to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Managemenl and Those Charged with Gevernance for the Consclidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and tair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Slandards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saud
Arabia and other standards and pronauncements that are issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public
Accountants and the provisions of Companies’ Law and Company's By-laws, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enahle the preparation af consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going cencern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management elther intends to liguidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but te do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditer's Respansibilities for the Audit of the Consclidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whale are free from material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error, and {o issue an auditor’s repart
that inclides our opinion. Reasonable assurance s & high level of assurance. but iz not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing Ihal are endorsed in the Kingdom of
Saudl Arabia will always detect 2 material misstaternent when it exisls. Misstatements can grise from fraud or
arror and are concidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could ressonably be expected Lo
infiuence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these conselidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
Ta the Sharcholders of Mational Pelrochemical Compary (& Saudi Jeint Stock Company)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued).

Auditor's Responsibilities far the Audit of the Conselidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit In accordance with International Stancards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabla, we exercise professional judgment and makntain professional skepticism throughout the audit,
wWe aiso:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consofdated fimancial slatements,
whether due o fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to thase risks, and
htain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud [s higher than for ane resulting from error,
as fraud may invelve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresantations, or Lhe override of
internal contral.

o Oblain a7 understanding of Internal contro! relevant te the audit in order to design audit precedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, out nol for the purpose of expressing an oplnion on the
efiectiveness of the Group's internal contral.

o Evaluale the appropriateness of accounting pelicies used and the reasonableness of accounting
pstimales and relaled disclosures made by management.

s Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use af the going concern basis aof accouniing and,
based on Lhe audit evidence obtained, whether & material uncertainty pxists related to events or
cadditions that may cast signiticant doubt on the Group's abllity to continue 25 a going concern, If we
conclude that @ material uncertainty exlsts, we are required bo draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial stalements ar, if such disclosures are nadequate,
to modify our opinion, Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's repart. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group o cease to continue as a
aoing concermn.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and wnether the consolidated financial slatements represent the underlying
transactions and events ina manner that achicves fair presentation.

o Obiain sufficient appropriste audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
bissinese activities within the Group to axpress an epinion on the consclidated financial statements, We
zre responsible for the direction, supervision and performarnce of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible far our audit opinien.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the pianned scope and
Himing of the audit and significant audt findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal contral that
we fdentify during cur audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a ciatement that we have complied with relevant ethical
reguirements regarding indepencdence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matiers that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, relaled safequards.



EY

Building a better
warking werkd
(&6f8)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Shareholders of National Petrochemical Company GA Saudi Jomt Steck Company)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued),

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financia! Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determinge those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
theretore the key auwdit matters. We describe these matters in our auditar's reporl unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine Lhat 2
matter should net be communicated in our report because the adwerse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to cutweigh the public interest benefils of such communication.

Yaleed G.Tawfig .a..-t.:f"""'?“"'
Certified Punlic Accountant PR

Registration Ma. 437

21 Jumada Al-Thani 1440H
26 February 2019

Al-Khobar



National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its

subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat 3] December 2018

ASSETH

MNON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and cquipment
Employecs” foans

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Trade roccivables

[nvemories

Prepayments and other recgivables
Amaunts due from related pantics
Shor term imvestments — bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AN LIABILITIES
EQUITY

Share capita!

Statulary reserve

Retained camings

EQUITY ATTRIRUTABLE TC THE SHAREHOLDERS

OF THE COMPANY
Mon-contrelling interests
TOTAL EQUITY
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Term [nans
Mon-controlimg parmer's subordinated loan
Sukuk
Deferred tax lisbilivies, net
Employees” benefits
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Amounts due 1o related parties
Current portion of term loans
Sukuk-curren! portion
Accrued expenzes and other payables
Zakat and income L provisions
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

_Chairman of the Board of Direclors

Hamad Al Sayari

e attachad notes L 1o 36 fomm part of these co

Nole

10
I
12
13
14

15
16

18
19
i
i
21

12
18
20
n
3

Designated member
Abdulrabman Alismail

2018 2007
SR URpeT SR "hogT
15,01%,709 16,070,911
1284064 115,840
15,148,173 16,184,760
1,035,382 1,108,947
1,105,457 1,062,538
256,922 E3,501
121,326 228,510
- 338,000
3,251,537 1,355,419
5,870,624 £427,715
21018797 21,612,475
4,500,000 4,300,000
37870 231,332
2,592,311 1,765,169
7,740,151 6, 790,501
Jbdd, 431 3,037,340
11,388,612 B E3E.E41
4,850,920 6,623 B4
412,927 817,948
i 1, 2600 000
RANE 276,040
163087 165,379
5,735,989 9,085,276
37.961 218,967
209,581 237,363
1,374,771 1,368,027
1,078,008 -
65,204 3RE, 490
585677 480,502
3,891,196 2,603,358
B30, 185 1LT7E.634
21,018,797 2612475
_ Chisfaceountant
Marzoug Al-Shaman




National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its

subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Sales
Cosl of sales

GROSS PROFIT

Selling and distribution cxpenses
Cieneral and administrative expenscs

OPERATING PROFLT

Other income, net
Finance costs
INCOME BEFORE LAKAT AND INCOME TAX

Fakat and income tax:
Current LIz
Deferred fax
Taikat

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATITRIBUTABLE TO:
- Shareholders of the Company
- Nan-comtrolling interests

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Re-measurement goin (loss) on defined henelit plans
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOIL THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

= Snharcholders of the Company

- Mon-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE FORM NET INCOME (Saudi Rivals)

Mumber of shares outstanding (in thoussnds)

Basic and diluted eamings per shure atirfoutable to the sharcholders

of the Company

Chairman of the Board of [irectors.
Hamad Al Sayari

The mmached notes | to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

__ Designated member
Abdulratuman Alismail

Mote

25
I

23

23

21

17

29

2018 2017

SR I SR “000¢
2,930,414 2363811
{6,244,959) (5,100,291)
1685458 2,263,520
471.61%5) (420, 164)
{205,001} (Z17,153)
2,008, k36 1,626,201
231,648 157,154
(309,37%) (274,245
1.930,111 1,500,150
(97,126 (43,958
(35,015) (54.825)
(98,610} (114,163)
1,700,350 [, 256,204
1,165,382 BEE.303
534,068 an7snl
1,700,350 1,296,204
28151 (14,861)
L.728,501 1,281,343
1,183,680 B7E.643
544,821 402,700
1,724,501 1,281,343
4R0,000 450,000
243 183

_ Chief scoountani
Marzoug Al-Shamari
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and

its subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

018 17
HNote SR "000" SH "D
Cush Now from operating activities
Income befom: zaket und income lax 1,930,111 1,505, 150
Adfwstments to reconcile incowe before zakal and ircome L fo nel
cash fTows from operatiions:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment L115424 913,491
Adjusament of property, plant and ecquipment 4.881 -
Finance cosls 309,373 274,245
Reversal for zaket provision no longer required - {63,000)
Employees' benefits, net 25859 24,578
Re-measurcment gain on non-coatrolling pariner's subardinated loan - (8,502)
{(ain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (68) 974
3386580 2648,730
Working capital ad justments:
Trade receivables 73,565 {536,016}
Trventories (12,51%) (16%.236)
Emplayees loans, prepavments and other receivahles (1BE.036) (18031)
Amounis due from related paries 7,184 48,153
Amounts due 1o related parties (17,782) (51,207)
Trds pavables (1810H5) 123,911
Accried expenses and other pavables 116,705 (47.103)
Mel cash Mows from operation 3,274,692 1,989,107
Fimance cosis paid (267, 184) (236811)
akat and income lax paid (90,571} (267)
et eash fMows from operating activities 1916537 1,752,029
Tnvesting activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment {69,10%) (88,162)
Met movement in short lerm deposiis 358,000 218,000
Procecds from disposal of proserty, plant and equipment (i3 1.08%
Wet cash Mows Trom (used in) investing activities IRRUGS 130,926
Fimancing activities
Met movement in term loans (1,768,204) (1,511,559)
et movement in Sukuk (122,000 -
Repuyment of non-controlling parner's subordinited lown (446,250) (196,873)
Income tax peimbursed by non-controlling partocr 66,270 -
Dividends paid {240,00H0) {240,000)
Met cash flows used in Gnancing activities (2.510.184) (19954340
Met inerease (decrease] in cash and cash equivalenis 695,718 (63,479)
Cash and cash equivalents 2 the beginning of the year 1,555,819 621,298
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 3,251,537 2555819
iransacti
Accrued interest on non-controlling pariner's subordinaled loan 42,189 37434
Re-measurement gnin {loss] on defined benedit plans I8 151 {14 861)
_Chairman ef the Board ol Direclors _ Designated member _ Chief accountant
Hamad Al Sayari Ahdulrahman Alismail Marzoug Al-Shaman

The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TQ THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A1 31 December 2018

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Mational Petrochemical Company (Perochem) (“the Company') is & Saudi Joint Swck Company registered under
Commereial Registration Nusber 1010246363 issucd in Riyadh on 8 Rabie 1 1429 H {(vorresponding w 16 March 2008), and
it was established pursuant to the Ministry of Commerce and Industry's resolution number 5340 duted 16 Safar 1429 H
{comesponding 1o 23 February 2008).

The accompanving comsolidsted financial statements inchuds the activities of the Company and ts following subsidieries
{collectively referred to as “the Group''):

Country of Percemtage of
ncorporation ownership
Saudi Polymers Company (A Limilad Liability Company} sSandi Arabia 65t
Gulf Polymers Distrisution Compary (A Free Zone Limited Liability Company) United Arab Emirates 65%

Saudi Polvmers Company is & limited lability compeny registerad in Jubail, Saudi Arobin onder Commercial Regisiration
numiber 05S008RES dated 29 Dhul-Qadah 1428H (comssponding to 9 Decomber 2007), with 2 brench in Jubail under
Commercial Registrution number 2055009065,

Guif Polymers Distribution Company FACO was formed in the Dubai Adrport Fres Zooe on 15 Febroary 2011 a5 per DAFZA
wrade license. The registored address of the cowmpany is Dubai Airport Fres Zone, Office Mo.6EA 420, Dubai, United Arat
Emirates.

The Group is engaged in developmens and establiskment, operaiion and mansgement and mainienance of petrochamical
faciorics, gas, petrolcumn and other industries, wholesale and retail trade in material and petrochemicil products and its
dervatives.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

21 Statement of compliance

Effective | Janunry 2017, all entitics listed in Saudi Stock Exchange are required 10 peopare their financial stetements i
accordance with the Tnlernatioma) Finarcial Reporting Standards (“TFRS™) that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
{"KSA") and other standards and procouncamens that ave issued by Sandi Organization for Certificd Public Accountants
{“ROCFA™) (collectively referred 1o as “TFRSs as endocsedl in KSA™), Thes: consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in nccordance with the IFRSs us endorsed in KSA™

Thi accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financia! statements are consistent with those followed
in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidaied financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, except for
the adoption of new standerds effective as of 1 January 2018 (nots 5). The Group has not early adepred any other siandard,
inlerpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The Group hus adopted TFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ and IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Cusiomers’ from |
January 200 % and sccounting policies for these new standards are disclosed in note 5.

22 Basis of measurement

The consolideted Gnancial sistements are preparsd under the historical cost convention wsing the secruals hasis of
grcounting, For emploves and other post-emplaymient beneits, menmral present value caloulations are used.

The eonsalidated finzncial statements are presemed in Saudi Rivals (SR}, which is also the functional eurmency of the Greup
except for the Gulf Polymers Distributinn Company FZO0 which §s trenslated in these consolidaied financial statement from
175 Dullar currency 10 Saudi Rivals camency un a fived rate of SB 3.75 to 1 U5 Dollar. All values are rounded 1o the nearest
thousand (SH D00, except when otherwise indicated.

11



Mational Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Slock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

4131 December 2018

1 BASES OF PREPARATION (continoed)
23 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial sttements of the Company and its subgidiaries as at 31
December 2018, Centrel is achicved when the Group is exposed, or has ripghts, to variable retums from its involvement with
the investes and has the ability to affect those retums through its power over the investee, Specifically, the Group contrels an
investee if, and only if, the Group has:

a) Power over the investes (ie., existing rights that give it the current ability 1o direel the relevant sctivities of he

investee);

b} Exposure, or rights, io variable returms from its involvement with the investes; and

¢) The ability to use itg power over the investee to afTect its returns.
Generelly, there is o presumption that & majority of voting rights resalls in control. To support (his presurnplion and when e
Group has less than o majorily of the voting or similar rights of an mvestee, the Group considers all relevant facis and
circumelances in assessing whether it s power over an investee, including:

a] The contraciuzl arrangement{s ) with the other vode holders of the imeestes]

b Rights arising from other contrectual arrangemenis;

€] The Group's veting rights and potential voting rights
The Group re-assesses whether o not 1 controls an investee if facls and circumstances indicate thal there are changes 1o one
or more of the three elements of control. Consalidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group abtaing control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of (he subsidiary. Assets, lisbilitics, income and expenses of & subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are ineluded in the consolidated fnancial satements from lhe Zate the Group gaing
control until the date the Groop ceases 1o control the subsidiany.

Prufil or loss and each component of OC] are atiributed to the shareholders of the Company of the Group and to b non-
controlling interests, even il this results in the non-controlling interests baving a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments
are made to the fnancisl sistements of subsidianies W bring their sccounting policies in line with the Croup’s accoumting
policies. All intra-Group asscts and lisbililies, equity, income, expenses and cash fows relating 10 ransactions between
members of the Graup are climinated in full oo consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of o subsidiary, without a loss of control, is acecunted for os an cquity transection. 1 the
Group loses contrel over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assels (including poodwilly, liahilities, non-contrelling
interest and other compoenents of equily, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment
resained is recopnised al fairvalue

a4 Approval of consolidated financial statements
These conselidaied financial siatements were approved on 21 Junada Al-Thani 134007 (correspoading 1o 26 February 2019)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS

The prepuration of Ihe Group's consolidated financial statements requires management fo make judgments, cstimates and
assumptions that afTect the reporied amounts of revenues, expenses, assels and lishilities, and the disclosure of contingent
lizkilizics, af the reporting dmte. However, uncertainty abowt these sssumptions and estimates could resull in owlcomes that
could require a marerial adjustment to the carrying amount of the assel or liabilty affected in the future. Other disclosures
relating to the Company's exposuze 1o risks and uncenainties includes:

+ Capital management

+ Financial risk management objectives and policies
In particulas, information shout significant areas of estimalion, uncerainty, and critical judgments in applying accounting
policics (that have the most significant effect on the amount recogaized in the fnancial sttements) incudes:
The Group uses a provision matrix fo caleulale expected credil losses ("ECLS") for trade receivables. The provision males are
besed on days past due for groupings of various customer segments (hel have similar loss petterns (e, by geography, product
type, customer ype and rating.

12
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WNational Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Al 31 December 2018

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTSE (rontinued)

These estimatrs and assumptions are based upon expericnee and variows olher factors that are believed 10 be reasonable under
the: circumstances and are used o judge the carrying values of assels and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources, The estimates and underlying assumptions ere reviewsd on an ongoing basis. Revisions Uy accounting estimates are
recogmized in the period in which the estimates are revised or in the revision period and fulare periods if the changed
estimates affect both currend and flture periods except for the significant new judgments and significant sources of estimates
and uncertaintics related 1o the application ol TFRS 9 and TFRS 15 2s mentioned below in note 5.

i Tmpairment of trade receivables

The provision matriy is initinlly based on the Group's higtorbcal observed defael retes, The Group will calibeate the mainx (o
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instonce, if forecasted economic conditions
{i.2.. proas domestic product) are expected 1o deteriorale over the next year whish can lead to o incressed mumber of defalts
in the manufacturing sector, the historieal default rates are edjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed dofaull
rates are updated, and changes in the [orward-looking estimaes are analysed.

The assessment of the cormelation between historical observed default rates, forecasted economic conditions and (™ECLS"™)
is o significant estimate. The amount of ECLS s sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecasted economic conditions.
The Group's historical eredit loss expericnce and forecast of economic conditions may olse not be representative of
customers” acheal delault in the Tuture.

32 Impairment of inventories

Triventories are held al the lower of cost snd net realizable valee, When invenlorics becomic old or obsolete, an estimate is
made of their net reslizasle value, For individually significam amounts this estimation 38 performed on an individual basis,
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are issessed collectively and o prowision
applied acconding i the inventary e ind the degree of aging or ehsnlescence, based on anticipated selling prices,

33 Useluol lives of property, plant aod equipment

The menagement delemmines the estimated useful lives of its equipment for calculating deprecialion. This estimate is
determined afler considering the cxpected usage of the assel or physical weer and tear. Management reviews the residual
value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would be adjusted when the management believes the usefil
lives differ from previous sstimaies,

44 Deferred (ax assetTiabilities

Lhe management determines the estimated tax effect of temporary differences between the corrying amoants of assets and
liabilitics for fnancial reporting parpozes and the amounts used for tax purposes. Jodgment is required W determing which
errengements are considered 1o be a trx on income as opposed to an operating cost, Judgment is also required to determing
whether deferred 1 assets are recognized in the saement of finencial position. Deferred tax assels, including those anising
from unutilized bk losses, require mamagement o assess (he likelihood thot the Growp will genersie suflficien! tucablo
eamings in future periods, in order to utilize recopnized deferrod tax wssets. Assumptions sbout the gencration of future
taxable profits depend on manngement's estimates of funure cash flows. These estimates of future taxable income are based
an forecasted cash fiows from operations and judgment about the application of existing tex luws in each jurisdiction.

iF  lmpairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generaling wnit ("CGLM) exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of dispesal end its value in wse. The fair value less costs of disposal cailoulation is
bascd on available dota from binding sales trensactions, conducied ol arm's length, For similar assels or observable markel
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2018

3 SICNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPITIONS AND JUDGMENTS [continued)

1% Impairment of non-financial azseis (confinoed )

The value in use calculation is based on 2 discounted cash flow (DCF) madel The cash flows are derved from the budget for
the next fve years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is nol yet commitied (o or significant fulune
investments that will enhanee the asset's performance of the (CGU) being tesied. The recoverable amount is sensitive 10 the
discount rate nsed for the DOF model as well as the expeeted future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation

piposes.

The management believes, that for cerlain production lines which were pre-conditioned with gas allocation agrzement,
accordingly the lowes Tevel of identifizhle cush inflow that are largely independent of (he cish inflows from other assets o
proup of assets is the cash inflows generated by oll productions lines together coveral by the agresment. Therefore, the
menagement consider 2l these production lines covered by the pas allocation agreement as single cash generation unil for the
purpose of impairment caleulation testing.

a6 Provisions

Ry their noture, provisions are dependeat upon estimates amd assessmenis whether the criteria for recognition heve been met,
including cstimates of the probability of cash outflows. Provisions for lidgation are based on an estimate of the costs, taking
into account lepal advice and other information presently available. Provisions for unceriein labilities involve manegement’s
best estimate of whelher cash outllows are probable.

7 Valuation of defined benefit obligations

Thie cost of the defined benefit pension plan and other post-cmployment medical benefils and the presenl value of the pengien
obligution are determined using actuarial valustions, An acluarial valuation involves making various assumplions thal may
differ from actunl developments in the future. These include e determination of the discount rate, Teture salary inercases and
oiher assumptions. Due to the comploxities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined kenefit obligation is
highty sensitive 1o changes in these assumptions. AN assumptions arc reviewed al each reporting date.

The parameter most subject 1o change is the discount rale. In delormining the appropriate discount rale, management
comsiders ihe inlerest rates of corporate bonds in currencies consistent with the currencies of the post-employment benefic
ohligation with af Jeasl an *AA" raling or above, a5 52 by an intemnationally scknowlodged mting agency, and extrapoiated &
needed along the yield corve to comespond with the expected term of the defined benelil cbligation. The underlying bonds
are further reviewed for quality. Those having excessive cnedit spreads are excluded from the analysis of bonds an which the
discount rale is based, on the basis that they da nel represent high quality corperate bonds,

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Current versus non-current classification
The Group prescnts assets and Tizhilities in the consolidated sistcment of financial position based o curmentnon-current
classification. An ssset is current when it is:

» Expected (o be realized or intended 1o be sold o consumed in normal eperating cycle,

« Held primarily for the purpose of trading:

= Expected to be realized within twelve monthis after the reporting period, or

= Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchamged or used 10 settle a liabiliny for ufiewt twelve months

afier the reporting period.

Al other asscts are elassifed us non-current,
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiarics

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

AL 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Current versus non-current classification

M, iahility is current when:
» Ttis expected 1o be setthed in normal operating cyele;
+ It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
s 103 due 1o he settled within twelve months after the reponing period, or
e There is no unconditionsl right to defer the setfement of the liability for aleast twelve months afier the reporting
period,
The Group classifies all other Liabilities &5 non-curmenl.

Dreferred lax assels and linhilities ere classified as non-cirent msets and liabilities.

Fair value measure ment
The Group measures financial instruments such &5 derivatives, and non-fnancial assets such as investment properties, at (e
value &t sach consolidated slalement of financial position date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset of paid (o ransfer a ability in an orderly transsction between
market participants a1 the measuroment date. The fair value measurement i5 based on the presumption that the transaction 1o
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

» In the principe! market for the asset or liability, or

» In the absence of a principal market, in the most adveniapecus market for ihe asset or Rability.

The principal or the mast advantageous market must be accessible by the Group,

The fair value of an assel or & liohility i measured using the assumptions (hat market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming thal market puricipants act in their besl coonuic inleresl.

A fadr value measurement of o non-finencial asset takes into eocount a market perficipant’s abiliny to generaie evonomic
begefits by using the asset in its highest amd best use or by selling il 1o another market participant that would use the assel in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation tchaiques that are appropriste in the circumstanees and for which sufficient data are avalable w
rricasure Tair value, maximizing the vse of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

Al assels and labilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial staternents are cateporized
within the fair value hierarchy, described a5 foliows, based on (he Jowest level input thet 35 significant o the fair value
mepsuncment & a whols:

Level 1 — Quioted {unadjusted) market prices in setive markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is direcily or
indirectly abservable,

Level 3 —Valumtion techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant fo the fair valoe measorement is
naobservable.

For assets and liabilities thet ore recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have cocerred between levels in the hierarchy by re-asscssmg the categorization (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) 81 the end of cuch reparting period,

The policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement are evatuated periodically.

Far the purpost of fair value disclosures, the Group has detemined elasses of assets and Habilitics on the busis of the natun,
characteristics and risks of the assct or liability and the level of the fair value hicrarehy as explained abeve.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Property, plant and eguipment

Praperty, plant and equipment are initially nocorded ot cost and stated ar cosi, net of soumulaid depreciation and
acoumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost inchudes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and
horrowing costs for long-lenm construction projects (qualifying ssscts), if the recognition criteria are met. When significant
parts of property, plani and equipment ere required 10 be replaced al infervals, the Group recognize such parts as mdividual
assels and depreciates them soparately hased on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when & major inspection is perfomed,
its cost is recognized in the carmying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacoment if e recopnition eriteria are
salisfied. All other repair and mainlenance costs are recognized in the consolidaled statement of income and other
comprehensive income as incarred.

Depreciation is caleutaied from the dale the ilem of propenty, plant and cquipment is available for s imended use or in
respect of self constructed assets, from the dete such assets are completed and ready for the inlended use. Assets under
constraction, which are not ready for its intended wse, are not depreciated. Further, the cost of plalioum is not deprecialed a3
platinum s a precious metal, and the value of these nssets does nos diminish with the usage. The cost of alher property, plant
and equipment is depreciated on a straighl-fine basis over the estimaled vseful lives of the assets,

The estimated wseful Tves of the assets for the caleulation of deprecialion are as follws:

Diffice buildings 25 years

Plamit and equipment ) 10 1o 25 years
Furniture, fixture and office equipment 4 1o 10 years
Wiotor vehicles & vears

An ftem of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when o Tulure henefits arc expeciod from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derccognition of the assel (caleulated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and carrving amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated sintement of income and other comprehensive
income in the vear the asset is derecognized,

Planned wmaround costs (primasily major repair and maintenanee eosts) are deferred and amortized aver the period untl the
date of next planned repair and maintenance. Should unexpectzd repair anid mainienance eccur prior W the previcusly
envisaged plasned date, then the previously unamortized costs are immediately expensed and the new major repair and
maintenance costs ane deferred and amortized over the period likely to benefit from such costs

The essets’ residunl values, usefol lives and reethods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment ore reviewed @ each
financial year end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Leases '

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains} a lewse is basad on the substence of the arrangement at the
inceprion of the lease. The arranpement is, or contains, a Jease if flfilknem of the armangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement comveys a right to vse the asset (or assels), even if that psset i (or those assets
ere) not explicitly specified In an arangement,

Grratip as a lessed
A leass s classified at the inception date as a finance leasc or an uperating lease. A lease thet iransfers substantially all the
rigkcs and rewands incidental to ownersdip to the Group is classified as a finance lease

Firiance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease o the inception date fair value of the |eased property or, if
iower, gt the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease paymenis arc apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease liabilty so as to achieve n constant mte of ferest on the remaining balance of the lability. Finance
charges are recognised in finance costs in the consolidaled statement of income and other comprehensive income

A lensed assel is depreciated over the wseful life of the aser. However, if there is no reasonable ceriainty that the Group will
obtain ewnership by the end of (he lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful [ifz of the asset
and the lease term.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
AL 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (eontinued)
Gronp as o lessee (cowiinned)

An operating lesse i a lease other than & finance lease. Operating lease paymens ane recogmised as an operaling expense in
the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease wem,

Girowmp s a lesyor

Lzases in which the Group does nol transfer subsiantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. Rental income arising is sccounted for on a straight-line basis over the lzase terms and is included in
revenue in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income due to ils operating nature, Initial direst
casts Incurred in mepotiating and ammanging an oporating leese are pdded 1o the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recopnised over the lease temm on the same basis as rental income. Contingent reats are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are eemed.

Borrowing costs

Barmowing costs directly gliributuble 10 the scquisition, construction or production of an ssset that necessarily takes a
substntial period of time to get ready for jis intended use or sale are cepitalised as part of the cost of the asset Al other
bomrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Bomowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity Incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tswesses, at each reporting dale, whether there is an indication that an assel muy be impaired, If any indication
exists, or when snnued impaimment testing for an assel B reguized, the Ciroup estinates the asset’s recoverabie amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGLPs fair value less costs of disposal and s value in use. The
recoverable mount is determined for an individual asset, unless the assel does nol generaie cash inflows thal are largely
independent of those [roem other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an esset or COU excends ity
recoverahle mmbunt, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to iis reeoverable amount,

In assessing value in use, the cstimated future cash fows are discounted to their present value using 3 pre-tax discounl rate
el reflects current masker assessments of (he time value of meney and the risks specific to the asser. In determining fair
value less costs of disposal, recent markel transactions arc (aken inte account, If e such ransecions can be identified, an
appropriste valuation model is used. These ealeulatinns are corroborated by valvation multiples, quated share prices fior
publicly traded companies or other pvailable fair vaiue indicators.

Iinpairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the eansolidited sutement of income and other comprehensive
incame in cxpense ciegories consistent with the function of the irpaired assel.

For assels, an assessment is made at cach reporting date 1o determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses no longer exist or heve decreased. If such indication exiss, the Group estimates the asse's or OO's
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there hes been 2 change in the sssumplions
used to determing the asser’s recovershlc amount since the last impairment loss was reeognised, The reversal is [imited so thad
the carrying amount of the asser does nol exceed its recoverable amount, nor excest! the carrying amount that would have
heen determined, net of depreciation, had no impaiment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years, Such reversal 15
recognised in the consolidated statement of income and odher comprehensive income unless the asset is carricd a2 revalued
amount, in which case, the reversal is treated g5 8 revaluation menease.

Fair value of employees' loans

The fair value of employecs’ loans is determined based on the valuation techniques including the discounted cash Mow (DCF)
madel . The inputs 1 these models are tken from ohservable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 2 degree
of judgment is required in establishing frir valucs. Judgments include considerations of inpats such as discount rate, liquidity
risk, credit risk and volatility.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and ils
subsidiaries

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Al 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Finincial instruments - initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derccognition
A finencial instrument is any contract that gives mise 10 @ financial asset of onc entily wnd a financial liability or equity
instrumenl of enother codity,

Financial assets

Tuitiod recepaition and measirement
Financial asscis are recognised initially ot fale value plus, in the tase of financial assets net recorded ot fair value {nrough
profit or loss, transaction costs that are sttributable to the acquisition of the fnenciul asset

Sobsegquen! measuremenft

Financial assets are subscquently measured al fair value thenugh profit or Joss (FYPL), amortised cost, or fair value through
ather comprehensive income {(FYOCL)L. The clagsification s based on two criteriz: the (Group’s business mode! for managing
the assems; and whether the instruments® contractual cash Dows represent ‘solcly payments of principal and interest’ on the
principal ameunt outstanding (the *SPPI criterion®).

Fimancial aesets af amarfised cost

This calegory is the most relevant 1o the Group. The Group measares financial asset st amortised cost 1hat are held within «
husiness mods] with the abjective w hold the financial assels in order (o collec! contractusl cash fows that meet the SPPL
criterion, This eategory includes the Group's trads and other receivables, and Joans included under other non-current
financial assety,

Derecagmiion
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of o financizl asset or part of & group of similar financial asscts) is primarly
derecopaised (j.e. removed from the Group's consolidated statement of fmancial position) when:
= The rights 1o receivecash Tows from the asset have sxpired; or
« The Growp has transferred its rights 1o receive cash flaws from the nsset o s sssumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in [Ull witheut material deley 1o a third party under a “pass-through’ areangement; and either:
{#) the Group his transferred substantially 2/ the risks and rewards ol the asset, or
(5} the Group has neither (ransferred nor relained subshintially ofl thee risks ol rewards of the asset, but has
transfermed control of the assel

When the Group hes tansfored its rights 1o receive cash Dows from an esset or has estered into 3 pess-tirough aTangemens,
it evaluaes if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of cwnership, When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of (he asset, the Group continues to
recognise the ransfered asset to the extent of its contimiing involvement 1n thal esse, the Group also recognises an
emsocizied labilite. The transferred asset and the essociated Hability are measured on a basis that reffects the rights and
ohiigations that the Group has retained. Continuing involvement that lokes the form of 2 guarantes over the ransferred asse
is measared at the lower of the original carrving amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Ciroup could be reguined to repay.

Tmpairment af finaacial avsets
IFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for expocted eredit losses ("ECL™) for all loans and other debt financial
azsets not held st FVPL,

ECLs ane based on the differcnce between the contraciual cash flows due in sccordance with the contract and all the cash
Meows that the Group expects to receive. The sharifall iz then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s onginal effective
interest rale,

For trade and ether receivables, the Group has applied the standard’s simplifizd approach and kas ealeolated ECL bised on
lifetime expected credit losses. The Group hes established a provision matrix that is based on the Group's historical eredit
ks experience, adjusted fior forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLLCLES (continued)

Fingncial instruments - initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (continned)

Tmpatreent of frarclal assees foomtinged)

For other debt financial assels (1.c., employee Toans). the BCL is based on the 12-month ECL. The 12-menth ECL s the
poction of lifetime ECL that results from defnslt cvents on a financial instrument that are possible within |2 months afler the
reporting date, However, when there has been a significant incroase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be
hased on the lifetime ECL.

The Group eonsiders g financial asset in default when contractual payment are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a finencial assel to be in defaul when internal or exlemal information indicates thal the Group is
unlikely to recaive the outstanding contractusl amounts in full befors laking inte account any credit enhancements held by the
Compary.

Financial liabilities

Treftial recognion and meosurement

Fimancial Tighilities are classified, at initial recognition, a5 finencial liabilites o falr value through profit or loss, loans and
barrowings, payahles, s appropriate. All financial liahifities are recognized initially ar fair value aad, in the case of lozns and
borrowings and payables, net of direcily atiributable transaction casts.

The Group’s financisl liabiliies include trade and other payables, loans and borrowing end non-controlling puriners
suhordinated loan.

Subsequent measuresment

The financial liabilites are subsequently measured at amortized costs.

Derecogmificon

A limaneial Bebility is derccopnised when the obligation under the lishility is discharged or cancelled or explires. When an
existing financial lizbility is replaced by ancther from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the tornis of an
existing lability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is weated as the derccopnilion of the original
lizhility and the recognition of o new liability, The difference in the respective carrying amounls & recognized in the
consolidated stetement of income and other comprehensive mcome:

C3ffaeting of finaacial iestruments
Financial sssets and financial liabilities are offsel and the pel ameunt i reported in the consolideted statement of financisd
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized emounts and there is un inlention 10 settle on a
net basis, to realize the assets and seille the liabilities simultanseucly. .
Inventories
Imventories are valued at the Yower of cost and net realisable valee, Cosls incumed in bringing each product (o its present
|ncation and condition are accounisd for, as follows:

« Baw maierials and spares: purchase cost on o weighted average basis,

+ Finished goods and work in progress: cost of direct mulerizls and labour and & proportion of many Gecluring overhesds

based on the normel operating capacity, b excloding borrowing costs.

et realisable value is the estimated sclling price in the endingry course of business, less estimated cogis of complelion and
the estimated costs necessary 1o make e sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of fmancial position comprise cash et banks and on hand and shors-
term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject 10 an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Short term investments — bank deposits

Short ferm investments bank depesits in the consolidated statement of finascial position comprise cash 4! shon-tenm deposgils
willy original maturities of more than thres months but nod more than one year from the date of acquisition, which are subjec
1o an insignificam risk of changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

At 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICLES [continued)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Seudi Arabian Regulations for Companies, the Group must set aside 10% of ils net income for the
vear until it hes built up & reserve equil tn 30% of the share capital. The Group may resolve to discominue such transfers
when the reserve totals 30% of the share cipilal. The reserve is not available for distrilation,

Earnings per share
Basic exmings per share is caleulated by dividing:
« The pe income attributable w shareholders of the Company, exclwding 2ny costs of servicing equity other Lhan
ordinary shares,
e Hy the weiphted averape number of ordinary shares owstanding during the financial period, edjusied for bonus
elements in ordinery shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

Fair valne of non-controlling pariner’s subsedinated loan

The fair value of not-controlling parmers subordinated Joan is determined based on the valuation techniques including the
discounted cash Now (DCF) model, The Inputs o these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but whers
thi iz not feasible, & degree of judgment is required in establishing fuir values, Judgments inchude considerations of inputs
such az discount rate, lquidity risk, credit risk and volatility,

Fakat and moome tax

Fekat is provided in aseordance with the Regulations of the Cieneral Authority of Zakat and Tax (GAZT) in the Kingdom off
Sandi Arabia, Under the revized zakat standerd fssued by the Saudi Organization of Cenified Public Accountants (SOCPA],
zzkal provigien is charged 1o the consolidated statzment of income and other comprelensve income, as LAS 12 'Income
Taxes do not provide any guidance on the accounting treament of akar. The Mon-conirolling interzsis in the Croup is
subject 1o income tax in the Kingdom of Soudi Arebia,

Current income 1 seets and liabilities for current and prior perinds ane measured at the amount expecied 1o be recovered
from or paid 1o the laxation autharities. The tax rates and Lo laws used 1o compute the amount ace those that ane enecled or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Cumrent income tax is recognized in the consolidaied statement of income and
ather comprebersive income. Managemen| perdodically evelustes positions taken in the Group's tax relums with respect o
silualions in which applicakle tax regulations are subjeet to inlerpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Beferred income fox

Deficrred income tax 35 provided using the Tiahility method on temporary differences belween the tax bases of assels and
liahilitics and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred income Lax labilities are
recognized for ol taxable temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognized on all deductible temporasy
difference, camy forward of unused tax credits and unused tix losses only to the extent that it is probahle that taxable profit
will be eviilable against which these assets can be utilzeed.

The earrying amount of deferred income tax assets/linbilities s reviewed a1 each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it i= no longer probable thet sufficient taxable profit will be available w allow all or par of the deferred income tax
assetTiability 1o be utiized. Unrecopnized deferred income tax assets/liabilitics are re-assessed at each reporting date and ane
recopnized to the extent that it has become probable that futurs taxable profits will allow the defermed tax nsset 1o be
recovered,

Diulerred income tax assets and liabilitics are measured at the tax retes that ave expectzd 10 apply m the year when the assel is
realized or the lishility is setiled, based on tax rates (and 1ax laws) thot have been enacted or substantively enacted al the
reporting date,

Deferred income tax relating o ivems recopnized outside profit or loss is recognized oulside profit or loss. Defored income
lux ilemns are recognized fn corrclation to the underlying tronsaction either in other comprehensive income or direclly in

Drofierred income tax assets and defierred ncome tax liabilities are offser, if a legally enforceable right exists 10 set ofl current
tax smels apenst cwrent tax labilites and the defemed taxes relate to the same taxable eniity and the same taxalion auwthority.
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NOTES TOQ THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
AL 31 December 2018

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Lokat and imcome tax (continoed)
Deferred fmcome fax (contiued]

Wihholding fen
The Company withholds tsixes on congin ransactions with non-resident partics in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, including
dividend payments to the non-Saudi pariner, a3 required under Saudi Arabian Income Tax Law,

Value added fax
Expenses and assels we recognised nel of the amount of value sdded wx, except:
= When the value added 1ax incurred on o purchase of assols or services is not recoveralble from the GAZT, in which
case, the value added tax is recognised 25 part of the cost of acguisition of the asscl or as pard of Lhe expense item, 25
applicable.
« When receivabies end payables are stated with the amount of value added tax included. The et amount of value added
f recoverahle from, or pavable o, the GAZT is included as pert of receivables or payables in the consolidated
starement of linancie! position.

Provisions

Prowisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or consructive) as a result of & past event, it iz
probable that an outflow of resources embodymg cconomic benefits will be roquired o seitle the obligation and a relisbie
estimale can be mads of the amount of the ohligation. Where the Group expects some or all of & provision 10 be reimbursed,
for examplc under en insurance comiract, the reimbumsement Bs recognized 85 4 sepurale sssel bt only when the
reimbursement i virually certain, The expense relating 16 & provision is presenied in the consolidated statement of income
and other comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 1 the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions sre
discounted using a currenl pre-tax rale that reflects. when appropriate, the risks specific to the lighility. When discounting is
usaad, the incrense in the provision due to the passape of lime is recognized as a lnance cosl,

Contingencies

Contingent linbilities are pot recopnized in the consolidated financial stements. They are disclosel unless the possibilicy of
an outflow of resourees embodying coenomic benefits is remote. Lizbilities which are probable are reconded in the financial
stalement under accounts pavable and accruals, A contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidaled financial stalements
but disclosed when an inflow of econoimic benefits is probahle.

Employvees® benefits

The Group opersies 3 non-funded employee end-of-service benefit plan, which is classificd as defined benefit obligation
under 1A% 15 Emplovee Benefits. A defined benefit plan is a plan which is nat a defined contribution plan. The Bability
recognized n the consolideted sitement of fuancial position for o defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period, The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent setuaries
using the projected mit crodit method, The present value of the defined benefit obligation s determined by disecunting
estimated futare cash outflows using market yiclds at the end of the reporting period of high quality corporate bonds that have
terms to maturity upprosimating o the estimated term of the post employment benefit obligations, Actarial pains and losses
arising from chonges in actuarial assumptions and experience adjestments are recognized in equity through the consoliduted
satement of incoms and other comprehensive income in the perind in which they arise.

Revenue recognition

Sales of prodocts is the only source of revenue. Sales of products in the consolidated stalement of income and oher
comprehiensive income are reoognized when the Group Fas an ebligation to sell the goods, it is able to establish that 2
contract exists, the consideration is relatively mensurable, and collection is probable. The amounts recognized as sales of
produsts represent the fair valaes of the considerations received or eecivable from refuled panies and thind partics on the
sales of sueh products, The Group's comracts with custamers for the sale of its products generally includes one performancs
ohligation, The Group recopnizes revenue from products sale at the poim in time whes: control of such products is transfermed
tiy the customer, generally on delivery.

11



National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiarics

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2013

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Sales revenue

e Growp manufactures and sclls a wide range of products. For such products, sales shall be recognised when coptrol of the
products transfers 1o the customor, which shall be considered in the comext of the following the five-steps approach
mentioned previously and applying the applicable shipping tarms (or ‘incoterms™).

Financing components

[he Group currently does not have or expect 10 have any customer contracts in routine sales or produets whers the peried
between the twansfer of the promised products or services 1o the customer and payment by the customer exceeds a period of
o year, As 2 conszquenee, the Group currently does not adjust eny of the transaction prices for the time vale of money.
However, if ony such case is identified, the related amounts shall be re-measured 16 adiust for the time value of money.
Expenses

All expenses are recopnized on e ocorual basis. Operating cosis ere recognized on 2 historical cost basis. Production costs
and direct expenses are classificd as cost of sakes, All other expenses, including selling and distibution expenses not
deducted from sales are classified as selling, general and sdministrative experses. Allocation between cost of sales, selling
and distibution and general and administrative expenses, where required, is made on a consisient basis

Foreign currencics

The Group's consolidated fnancial stalements are presented in Swadi Riyal, which is also the Company's fanctional currency.
Faor each entity, the Group delermines the funclional curreney and items included in the financial siatements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the divect method of consolidation and an disposal of a foreign
operniion, the gain or loss that is reclassificd to consalidated staement of income and other comprehensive income reflecs
the amount thal arises from wsing this method.

Transaction and balances

Transzetions in foreign eurrencies are indlially recorded by the Group's entities at their respective [unctional currency spi
rates ab the date the transection first qualifies for recognition. Monctary assels and linbililies denominated in foreign
curreneles are translated at the Runctional currsncy spot rates of exchange at the reporting dite. ALl difTerences arising on
gelllement or transletion of monstary fems ane taken to the consolidated stetement of income and other comprehensive
income with the exception of differences on foreign monetery items that form part of @ net investment in a foreign operation,
These we recognised in OC] until the disposal of the net investment, al which time they are reclassified 1o consolidated
stalement of income and other comprehensive income. Mo -monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 2
foreign correney are transiaied vsing the exchange rale as ab the date of the initial transaction and are not subseguently
restated. Non-monetary fems measured i fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange raies al the date
when the Tair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on wenslation of non-monetary items measured at fair velue i
treated in line with the recognition of a pain o loss on chenge in fair value of the ilem (i, ranslation differences on fems
whose fiir value gain or loss is recognised iz OCT or consoliduted statement of income and other comprenensive income,

5 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The Group applisd, for the first time, TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and TFRS 9 Finendial Insrumants. A3
required by 1AS B, the nature and effect of these changes, if any, 2re disclosed beiow,

Several other amendments and inlerpretations apply for the Tiest time in 2018, but do not huve an impact on the consolidated
fTnancial statements of the Group. The Group hes not early adopad any other stamdard, imerpretation or amendment 1hat has
been issued but is not vet efective,

IFRS 15 Kevenue from Confroch with Customers

IFRS 13 supersedes [AS 11 Construction Conlracts, IAS 18 Revenue and refated Tnterpretations and it applies to all revenue
arising from contricis wilh customers, unless those contracts are in the scope of other standonds. The new standard
establishes a five-sten mode] 10 gecount [or rovenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised al an amount that reflects the consideration o which en entity expects 1o be entitled in exchenge for transferring
ponds or services W A Cusiomer.

v
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2018

5 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

[FRS 15 Revenne from Contracts with Customers feomtinged)

The standard requires entifies to exercise judgemend, taking into consideration all of the relevant fucts ond  circumstances
when applying each siep of the mode) 1o contracts with their customers, The slandard also speeifics the aceounting for the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related o fulfilling a contract.

The Group is engaged in production and selling of fued blend stock, fuel oil, ethylens, propyiene, 1-Hexene, high density and
low density polvethyiene, polypropylene and polystyrenc. The sale of product is generally expected to be the only
performance obligation far the Group and accordingly. adeption of IFRS 15 docs not heve any impect on the Group's revenue
axd profit or loss,

TFRS ¥ Financial Iresirumenis

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces [AS 39 Finansial lnstruments: Recognition and Measurement for asmual periods
beginning on of afier | January 2008, bringing wgether all three aspects of the accounting for financiel instrements;
classification and measurement; impairment: and hidge sccounting,

Although the Group followed the reguirements of [FRS 9, it had no significasi impact on the consolidated financiel
statements of the Group.

(i STANDARDS [SSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

TERS 16 Lewses

The Group is currenily evalunting the impact of adopting this standard; kowever, it expectd the 2doption of this standard {0
increase assess and liabilites as it will be reguired 1o record a right-ofuss asset and a corresponding leass liability in its
consolidated fnancial statements. The Group continues in assess the financial izpact af adopling this standard which will be
completed end dischosed in the interim condensed consolidued financial stements for the first quarter of 2014,
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Mational Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 3] December 2018

PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIFMENT [continued )

74 The office buildings and plant and equipment are constructed cn land lmsed rom the Royal Commission for Jubail
and Yanbu. The lease is inially for a period of 30 yvears commencing rom 29 Dhal-Crada 1428 H {corresponding
o 9 December 20077 and 12 renewable for further periods therealier,
22 The Group's plant and equipment are scouwred by (i) liens apeinst tem loan from Saudi Industrial Development
Fund (note 18.4) and (i) assipnment of residunl proceeds sgainst term loons from consortivm of commercial banks
inoie 18.2) and Public Investmenis Fumd {nole 18.3).
Ad Althereporting date, construction work in progress represents costs incurred in connection with the plant setivities,
74 Asperthe Group's policy, the normal wmaroand eycle oceur at the interval of 72 months znd planned wmanound
cagts ane deferred and amonized over the next planned turnaround.
25 The Group reviewed the estimated usefil life for 2 production line and clianges in the estimated useful life has besn
effected prospectively. Had this changes not taken place, the profit for the year would have been increased by SE
236 million. The effects of the change in the estimated wseful life on the deprecation charge for the current and
futeire years are as foflowing:
The yearly effect
of more (less)
depreciation
charge
SR Illmjll
For the year 2018 236,537
For cach year [rom 2019 up o 2038 (11493)
Faor the year 203% {6,177}
L6 The depreciation chargs has been allocared a3 follows:
2008 am?7
SR oot SR 00a"
Cost of sales (nete 24) 1,104,585 RY2,509
Ceneral and administrative sxpenses (note 26) 1,339 20,982
1115424 913,491
b EMPLOYEES" LOANS

Employess’ loans represent non-inferes bearing housing loans provided o Seudi employees and are sceured by mortgage
over property purchased usder the employee home ovnership program. The loans ere repayable in monthly installments
within a maximum period of 15 years. The installments due within one year are ncluded in prepayments and other
receivables under curnent aseets, The carrying vahee at the reporting date presented as following:

2018 M7

SR "o SR "000”

Non-current portion - presented under non-current assets 128 464 113,549
Currenl portion - presented under prepeyments and other receivaliles (nate |1) 27744 25 860
156,208 139,705
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Steck Company) and its

subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Al 3] December 2018

0 TRADE RECEIVABLES

31 Pecember 31 December

2018 2017

SR "00ar SR 000"

<30 days 1OZE 366 L1106, 457
31-60 days S L,B45
61-H) days 1320 (45
1035382 1,108,947

#1  Asat3l December 2008 and 31 December 2017 |, none of the accounts eceivable were impaired

42  Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and the Group's credit period is 3U-60 days afier which trade recehables
are considered to be past due. Unimpaired (rade receivables ane unsccurcd and are sxpected, on the basis of past

experience, io be fully recoverable.

L INVENTORIES

18 2017
SR 000" SR "000°
Finished goods 560,405 40k 458
Faw meterials (note 10.1) T4 3,731
Spares 411,506 435,436
Catalvet, chemicals and additives 132,798 154,315
1105457 1092938
J0.0  The Group purchases (s raw materials prismarily from two suppliers including one affiliate in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia

11 FPrepayments and other receivables
2008 2017
SR 000" SR "000"
Recoverable insurance claim 136,759 .
Value added wx receivables, net B 31,732 3.233
Employees’ loans - current portien (nalz 8} 27,744 15,860
Prepayments 17429 2p 108
Cash mergin againg issusnoe of Sukuk (note 20) 6455 16,455
Cash merpin againg bank guarantee 2,064 2505
Accrued interest income 5,740 1,453
Other receivables 8,754 7890
256,911 Ei.501
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Mational Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
A131 December 2018

12 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Related partics represent major sharcholders, directors and key manugemen personnel of the Group, and enfitics
controlled, jointly contrelled or significantly influenced by such parties, Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are
approved by the Group's mansgement.

] The following are the major related parties’ iransactions :

2018 2017
Relaied parties Relationship  Mamre of transactions SH a0 SR 000
Saudi Industrzal Investment
Group Company Sharcholder  Suppor serviees 409 387
Saudi Chevron Phillips Company Related party  Sales 161,562 TIR9E5
Purchascs 15,805 46,302
Co of sales support
services (note 24) 186,574 254 708
General and administrative
support services [(note 20) 104 483 130,062
Jubsail Chevron Phillips Company Related party  Sales 374 858 208,236
Purchases 1197 654 1,028,913
Chevron Phillips Chemical
Company LLC {notc 2.2) Relaed party  Royalty (note 24) 51488 47,565
Chevran Phillips Chemical Cost of sales support
Global Fmployment Company LLC - Heloted party  services (note 24) 69,428 58571
Gieneral and administrative
support services (note 203 8,213 3,360
Chevran Phillips Chemical Coet of sales support
International Sales LLC Felated party  services (note 24) 7581 7,183
Marketing foes (note 25} 317231 212415
Cost of sales support
Chemical Services [ne, Relaed pary  services (nolz 24) 1963 21,210
General and administrative
SUppOT services (nole 26) 14523 il

{note &1} The Group eniered inte o commen facilities agresment {the “Agreement™) with Saudi Cheveen Phillips Company
pursuant to which, affiliate provides suppent serviees to the Group in operations and muintenance, managemant suppor
and technical support.

{nete a.2) The Group entered into a royalty agreement (the "Agreement™) with Chevron Phillips Chemical Company LLC
in prior vears under which the relaied party ehurged the reyalty for the use of polymerization processes.

{niote a.3) The nep-controlling partner of Soudi Polvmers Company (a consalidated subsidiary] bave provided nom=interest
bearing subordinated loan of SR 1,133 million in priot years 1o finence the consiruction of a petrochemical plant. The
repayment of the loan is subject 1o certain covenunts being met under the terms of commercial loen facilities (note 19), The
Group has repaid SR 709 million in current and prior perieds,

27



National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Al 3] Deeember 2018

12 RELATED PARTIES' TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES [continued)

b The following are the related parties” ending balances:

Bl Amowunis die from related porties wnder cirvent asseis:

018 2007
SR 000" SR 000"
Saudi Chevrim Phillips Company 172631 186,377
Jubail Chevron Phillips Company 48,695 42,133
2213236 228,510

b2 Amouwrts die do related parties under current labiliies:
28 27
SR "0t SR "
Suwdi Industrial Investazert Group Company 409 3,287
Saudi Chevron Phillips Company T2,187 61,556
Jubadl Chevron Phillips Company 56,524 116,773
Chevron Phillips Chemical Inrernational Salez LLC 45200 52,849
Chevron Phillips Chemical Globel Employment Company LLC 1,161 2,295
Chemieal Services Tne - 203
208 581 237,363

© The following are the Key management personnel com pensation:

Key management personne! represent board members, directors and key persoane] of the Growp. Remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 of kéy menagement of the Group are delailed az follows:

2018 2007

SR 0 SR 000

Short-term employees' benelits 18,048 13,727
Terminal benefits 376 2,929
0424 16,656

13 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS - BANK DEPOSITS

Shor {erm investiments bank deposits include placements with banks, with eriginal maturilies of more than threz monihs
brat not more than one vear From the date of scquisition, depending on the immediale cash requirements of the Group, and
carn interest ot the respective short-term deposit mtes.

14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cissh and cash eguivalents consist of the following

018 017

SR Sk 000"

Bani balances L076,537 2,265,819
Ehort-term deposits 2,175,000 290,000
3,251,537 2,555 K19

Short-term deposiis are made for varving periods of between one day and three months, depending on e Immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and sim inlerest i e respective shor-term deposil rales.

Part of the {froup's cash and cash equivalents smounting to SR 2,097 million {31 December 2017: SR 2,152 millian) are
assipned as security against loan facilities from consomtivms of commercial banks and Public [meestment Fund ("PLF”) (see
note 1 %), This includes SR 1,185 million (31 December 2017: S8R 1,073 million) relaled to debt service requirements.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
A1 31 December 2018

15 SHARE CAFITAL

The share capital amaunting ta SR 4,800 million is divided into 480 million shares of SR 10 ench a3 of 31 December 2018
ond 31 December 2017,

16 STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with the Saudi Arabian Regulations for Companies, 10% of nel income for the year is reguired o be
trensferred to the statutory rescrve until the halance in the reserve equals 30% of the share capital. This rewrve is not
nomally wvailable for disiritution except in circumstances specified in the Saudi Arabian Companies Regulations.

17 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

171 Proportion of squity interest's held by non-controlling interests are as following:

digyae Country of incorparation 018 2017
Seudi Polymers Company Saueli Arabia 35%% 35%
Gulf Polymers Disiribution Company United Arab Emirales 35% 35%
7.2 Following are the movement of non-controlling mnterests during the year:
Toval Tien!
2 27
KR SR 000
At the heginning of the year 3,037,340 TA34.640
share in net results 534,968 A7 901
Other comprehensive income (loss) 5853 (5,201}
[meoere tax reimursed by non-controlling partner 6,271l -
Al the end of the year 348431 3,037,340
13 TERM LOANS
Effective I8 M7
Currenl faferess rate Maomrity SR "000" Sh 000"
Consortium of cormimercial banks (note [3.1] Libor = 105%  16-Dec-19 517,770 551,027
Consortium of commercial banks (note 13.2) Libor = 006%  16-Dec-19 177, 0H 177,000
Public Investments Fund (PIF) {note 15.3) Libor = 0.50%  31-Dee-12 AR, (HHY 450,000
Sandi Industrial Development Fund (SI0F) (note 184 1.014% 14-001-19 200,002 190,000
1,374,772 1,168,027
Effeciive s b ] )
wrreni inferes! rate Momrity SR 000 SR "non"
Consorfium of commercie! hanks (note 18.1) Libor + L05% 20202023 3,300,773 4,063,821
Consortium of commercial banks (note 15.2) Libor+QuD6% 2020 - 2023 1,031,933 1,291,768
Public Invesiments Fund (PIF) (notz 18.3) Libor + 0.50% 2020 424 849 982,317
Saudi Tndustial Development Fund (SIDFKnowe 1847 L014% 2020 100,002 300,000
4,857,557 6,637 906
Less: unamuorized lransaction costs {6,637) (12037
4,850,920 0,625 B




MNational Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2013

18

TERM LOANS {continued)

The movement in unomortized transaction costs in respect of these fnancing lacilities is as follows,

Costs.

2008 2017
SR 000" SR 000"

Ar 1 January 138,369 235,365
Amyoriizetion

At 1 January (226,332) (217918
Charge for the vear (note 28) {5400 (Ead14)
Az 31 Decemnber (231,732 (226,332}
Balance at 31 Decimber 6,037 12037

e

182

%3

184

The Group ohiained commercial Inan facilities of SR 7,046 million (2017: SR 7,046 miliion) from a consorium of
commercial banks which was fully drawn ai the reporting date (2017 fully drawn). The loan is secured by the
assignment of residual proescds in project bank sccounts, pledee and assignment cver onshore project bank
accounts (2017: same). The lowm is repayahle in 22 sucossive semi-anmeal installments varying from 2% 1o 20% of
the fucilitios utilized, commenced from 15 June 20135, Accordingly, the portion of the loan payeble before 1 January
2020 hos been classified under current liabilities. The facilitics are subject 0 imerest @t LIBOR plus & mangin
proeressively ingreasing from 0.80% to 1.15% over the lile of (e loans.

The Group obtained a loan facility of SR 2,212 million (2017: SR 2,212 million) from & consortium of commercial
banks. The facility is gusraniesd by the Lxport-Imporl Bank of the 118, AL the reporting dale the loan was Tully
drawn (2017 fully drawn). The loan b5 secured by the assignment of residual proceeds of plint and equipment,
charge and assignment over seeuned project documests, charge and assignment over offzhore project bank accounts,
pledge and assipnment over onshore profect bank accounts (2017: same). The loan is repayable in 22 successive
semi-pnnual installments varying Gom 3% G0 3% of the facilities wiilized, commenced from 15 June 2013,
Accordingly, the portion of loan payable before 1 January 2020 has been classified under current liabilities. The
Taeilifles are subject 1o interest @t LIBOR plus 0.06%

‘The Group obdained a term loan feeiliny of SR 3,000 million {2017; SR 3,000 millicn) from P'LF which wes Tully
drown et the reporting date (2017: Rully drawn) . The loar is secured by assignment of residual proceeds of plant and
equipment, charge and assignment over secured project documents, charge and pssignment over offshore project
bank accounts, pledge and assignment over anshere projest bank secounts (2017 same), The loen is repayable in 15
half yeerly installments, The first two installments were 1% each, and the remuining 13 installments af the rte of 7%
to 9% of the entire loan ulilized, commenced frem 31 December 2013, Accordingly, the portion of loan payable
before 1 January 2020 has been classified under current lishilities. The loan is subject o interest at LIDOR plus
.5% along with en upfront fee of 0.5% of the principal amount of leen.

The Compeny also ohtained ten loan facilites of SE 600 million euch (2017 SR 600 million cach) from SIDF for
financing the constraction of the petrochemical plant. At the reporting date both facilitics were fully drawn (2017
fully drawn). The loans are secured by liens on the Company's plant and equipmen: for the Efnylene, Metathesis, 1-
Hexene, and Pobvethylene units, and assignment of insurance procesds and technology rights (2017 same). The
loans are repayable in 14 half vearly instaliments i the rale varying from 4.17% to 833% of the facilities utilized,
commenced from 18 December 2013, Accordingly, the portion of loan payable befone 1 Jenwary 2020 has been
classified under current liabilitizs. The Joans were subject to an upfront fee of 7.5% of the principal amount of two
Loon facilitics

XO%
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 Decernber 2018

15 TERM LOANS (continued)

i85 Following are the combined apprepaie amounts of next five years’ maturities of the term loans &t the consolidited
statement of financial position date:

2018 2017
Years SR 000" SR 000"
2018 - 1,368,027
2019 1,374,772 1.374,772
2020 1,263,867 1,263,867
2021 783,268 783,208
2022 956,960 936,960
2023 1,853,462 2259009
Tota! 6,232,329 £.005,932

JE6  The Group is required 1o comply with certain covenants under all the loan facility agreements men lioned above.

1% NON-CONTROLLING PARTNER'S SUBORDINATED LOAN

Pl 2007
Sa “']'I:In" SR -n.ﬂml
won-conirolling pariner's subordinaled loan 413,927 817,988

Non-controlling parmer's subondinated Joan is repayable subject to cortain eovenants being met undsr the temms of the
commercial loan facilities.

194 The movement in gon-controlling partner’s sshordinoted loan was as follows:

1018 20017

SR II'mH s‘R ‘mn-‘
At | Jenuary H17.988 9E5.931
Kotional interest charge for the year (note 2K) 42,139 37434
Remeasurement gain - {8,502)
PFavment during the year (446, 250) [19:,875)
A3 December 413,927 317,988

m SUKUK

O 25 Sha’aben 143511 (corresponding to 23 June 2014), the Company isucd Suluk amounting to SE 1.2 billion at par
valie of SR | million each without disecunt or premium. The Sukuk issuance bears 4 variable rate of remm at SIBOR plas
1.7% marpin, payable semi-anmually. The Sukuk ere due ol par valpe op it muturity date of 20 Shawwal 14400
{corresponding to 23 June 2019). Consequently, the Sukuk considered 25 of 31 December 2018 as & current liability.

On 19 Ramadan 143911 (eorresponding to 3 June 20L8), the Bowrd of Directors resolved 0 re-purchise the issued Sukuk.
Aceordingly, the Company re-purchased part of the issued sukuk smouming SR 122 million.

In aceordance with the Sukuk agreement dated 25 Sha'ban 1435H [comespoading to 23 Junc 2014), an smaunt of SR 16.5
million was deposited as o cash margin held by Riyad Capital Company in an open account on behalf of the Sukukholders'
Agent (none 11,

E} |



National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Al 31 December 2018

21 EMPLOYEES® BENEFITS

In accordmoe with the provisions of 1AS |9, managemenl has carried out an exerciss (o essess the present value of its
defined benefit ohligations at reporting date in respect of cmployees” benefits payable vnder relevemt local regulations and
contractual anangements. The main acuerial assumptions used to caleulate the unfunded defined benefit obligation are ax
firllorws:

018 2017
Miseount rake 4.5% 3%
Expected mie of salary increese 4.0% 3.0%

This present vilugs of the defined benefit obligetions at reporting dare wers computed wing (e aciuarial assumptions st out
above

2018 2017
SR Illlmll SR !nml
Present value of defined benefit abligation 191,238 150,519
Be-measuremnent gain (loss) on defined benefit plans (18,151) 14,k61
Balanee a1 31 December 163,087 163.37%
200 Remessurement (gein) loss on defined benefit plans srose due to the followings:
18 a7
SR 0T SRt
Actuarinl losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 6,442 -
Actuarial (paing) losses arising from changes in financial pRsUMpLOns {48, 846) a.071
Experience adjustments 14253 5,790
et berefit (gain) boss (28,151} 14,861
217 Movement in the present value of defined unfunded benefit obligation is as follows:
2015 2017
SR "000" SR "000”
At 1 Jomuary 165379 126,140
Fet benefits charge for the year X),74% 27.826
Benefits paid (4,890) (3,448)
Re-messurement (gain) loss on defined benefit plans (28,151) 14,861
At 31 December 163,087 165,574
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Al 31 December 2018

21 EMPLOYEES” BENEFITS (continued)

713 The quantitative sensitivity snalysis for significant assumptions ax o the reparting ate & 25 follows:

Increasc’ nis 2017

(deerease) SR " 000" SR 000"

Discount rate 0.25% {5.442) {5,760)
{0.25%) 5739 5,083

Expected rate of salary incroms 0.25% 5753 {6, 049)
(0,25%) (5,480) 5,648

The sensitivity analysis above have been determined based on a method (hat exirapelates the mpact on the defined benelit
ohligation as a result of ressonible chenges in key essamptions occurring al the end of the reparting period. The sensitivily
analysis are hased on o chenge in a sipnifican! essumpion. keeping all other essumplions constant, The sensitivity analysis
may nol be represeatative of an sctual change in the defined benefits obligation as it i unlikely thal chanpes in essumptions
wenld occur in isolation of ane another.

214 The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefil plan in future years;

018 2017

SR 00T SR "0

Within the next 12 months (et annual reporting period) 5,304 5,273
Between 2 and 5 years 31,986 31,983
Heyond 5 years 64,372 i 4
Total cxpected payments 100,662 105,746

205 The average duration of the delined benefit plan obBgation a1 the end of the reporting period is 15.2 years ( 2017:
15.4 vears).

2 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES

2018 2017

SH 0 SR 000"

Accroed exponses 438,188 256,106
Advimeas from cuslomers 03,645 54,660
Oher payabies 103,371 77,733
605,204 gAY

221 ‘Terms and conditions of the financial Habilites:
+ Oither paveblcs wre non-intersst bearing and have sn sverage lerm of six months.
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its

subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Ar31 December 2018

23 ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX FROVISIONS

The Group is subject to zakat and income 1ax in accordance with the regulation of the General Awthority of Zakat ond Income
Tux (“GAZT™), Provisions for zaket and tax are charged to the consolideied satement of income and clher comprchensive
income, The Company and iis subsidinry (Saudi Polymers Compeny ) are filing separate zakat and income tax declarations with

GAZT.
018 2017
SR “[Ha0™ SR "DooT
[neome s related 10 non-controlling partner (non-Sandi partier) in Saudi Pelymers Company
Curreat lax 97,126 43,058
Deierred fax 5015 54 825
132,141 SR, 785
Zekat related (o Mational Petrochemical Company 54,753 71.503
Zekat relaved to Saudi Polymers Company A3 867 42 6060
LEF 114,163
Fuket und income tax charge 230,761 212,948
The major components of income tax cxpense and zakat for the year ended 31 December are &% follows:
250 Imcome Tax
018 207
SR 000 SR "0
Current income tix charpe (nole 23.2) 97,108 43,954
Adjustment in respect of current inceme e ol previous year 18 -
97,126 43953
Daferred fax
Relating to erigination aned reversal of temporary differences 3508 54,835
Tncame Lt reported in the conselidaled statement of income and other comprehensive income 132,141 98,783

23,2 Currenl income [oxX expense

T cumreni income kax expense [or the year ended 31 December 2008 is caleulated at income tax rte of 20 %6 (2017; 30%).
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and ils
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
At 31 December 2018

23 FARAT AND INCOME TAX PROVISTONS (condinued)

233 Effective income tax rale reennciliation

018 2013 2017 2017
SR 00D Y SE "00o” %
Accounting profit related 10 Sandi Polymers Company
("SPCOY) before tay altribuiahle o non-controlling partner
in SPC (ron-Saudi panner) f11499 478430
Tax al the applicable rte to the mcome relaled to nom-
controlling parner in SPCOY non-Saudi partner ) 122,300 s 05,686 2%
Tax effect on the deferred income tax mie and the expense
thit are not deductible for tax purposes B841 Lb% 3067 0.6%
Tax churged diring the year in consolidaied staterenl of
income and ether comprehensive income 152,141 21.6% O8.783 20160

254 Deferred tax

[hferved income tmees redlect the net tax effeet of temporary differences belween the carming ameunts of assels ind [abilites
for finenciel reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purpases. Major components of deferred tax lability and psset of
SPOOH ot the year end were:

i ] 017
SR 000" SR 000"
Daforred fax lahility
Property, plant and equipment 755,595 753,244
Tonal deferred tax linbilily 755,595 T53.244
D frvrred b asvets
Employees” henefits 10,826 (RS (.
Trxable Joss cury [orward 433714 466,088
Tonal deferred tax assel 444,540 477,204
Met deferned tax liability 311,055 276,040
235 Fakat
Charge for the venr
The zakal charge relating 1o the Group consisis oft
018 27
SR Illm“ sﬂ Hul'}u-
Charge {or the year 08620 | 14,163

The differences betwesn the financial and the xakalable results are mainly due o sdjustments for cortain costs'claims based on
the relevint fiseal regulations




National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A1 3] December 2018

3 ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX PROVISIONS (continued]

2346 Movement in the zakat and income tax provisions amd Delerved tax liabilities are as follows:

Zakat and froome fax provisions
an o L pro Pifirvedttx
Crrrens fox Zakar Toral  Hahilitier, nes

3“1_’ Dm:ﬂh!r 2018
5K "0DO™ SR M SR 0nnT SH M0G0
Al Famusry 43958 436,544 480,502 276,040
Charge for the vear 97,126 98,620 195,746 35,015
Payinents dusing the year (Th,%59) (13,612) (0571} -
AL 31 Daecember 64,125 511,552 SHS6TT 210,055
Fokat and income fax provisions D
Currem far Kokt Taral  Habilities, rei

34 Decermber 2017
SE 000" SR 000" SR 000" SR 000t
At 1 January - 387,648 IRT64R 221,215
Charge for the year 43,958 114,163 158121 54,825
Beversal for wkal provision no longer required - {65000} (63,000} -

Parvinents during the vear - (257) (267}

At 3] December 43,958 436,544 480,502 276,040

= f

237 Niafus of ossessments

The Company has filzd its Zakat and Tneome Tax retums with the General Authority of Zakat and Tax ("GAZT™) up to 2017,
The Company has finalised its zakut satus with the General Awthority of Zakat and Tax (“GAZT™) for all years up to 51
December 2010 on a standalone basis, Wumber of sdditional liability have been issued by GAZT as lollowes:

The GAZT raised assessments for the years from 2011 w0 2013 claiming edditional zakat lability of SR 95.5 million. The
Company has filed en appeal against the additional 2aket liabilice with the Prefiminary Appeal Committes ("PAC"), The
Covnpany received revised 2akat assessments for the years from 2011 1o 2003 from the GAZT claiming additional raket liahility
of SR 5,74 million. The Company accepied and paid SR 3.47 million and filed an appeal for the remaining balance SR 227
mitfion with the Higher Appeal Commitiee { FEAC") and the HAC's hearing is awaited
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {eontinued)
At 31 Depember 2008

23 FEAKAT AND TNCOME TAX PROVISIONS (continued)

257 Status of assexsments {conrtdaned)
Staatns of ssessments of National Peirochemical Company (Peirochem)
The GAZT raised an nssessments for the vears from 2014 to 2016 claiming additional wakat lability of S 204.2 million The

Company has filed an appeal ngainst the addilional kit lizhility with the Preliminary Appeal Committee ("PAC") and the
PACs hearing Is awaited, The assessments for 2007 sill under GAZTs review,

The Company’s management believes that the provision made in the consolidated statements of francial position is adegquate 10
cover any pdditional skt liabiliy that may arise from the GAZT,

Toe subsidiary his filed its zukat and income tax retorns with the General Aunthority of Zakat and Tax (the "GAZT™) up w
2017, The sssessment for the period cnded 31 Dwecember 2008 has been finalised with the GAZT with nil liability. The
pssessments for the years from 2009 through 2017 have not y2t been reised by the GAZT.

Zakar hase has been eompuizd besed on the managements' undersiznding of the zakat regulations enforoed in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia The zakat regulations in Saodi Arabia are subject to different interpretations. The ajsesements o be ruised by the
GAZT could be different from the declarations filed by the Compenies in Saudi Anabia,

Sttus of assessments of Guif Polwners Disiribution Company FZC0

‘I'he subsidiary registered in the Dubai Ajrzort Free Zone and the subsidiary is exempled flom meome L,
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Jeint Stock Company) and its

subsidiaries

KOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2018

4 COST OF SALES

Cost of meterial consumed

Depreciation (nofe 7)

Utilitics, supplies and services

Cost of support services recharged by afTiliales (note 12}
Employvee's benefits expense

Cortract senaces

Crher

Fovalty (note 12}

15 SELLING AND DISTRIBEUTION EXPENSES

Marketing fees (note 12)
Rent and mainl2nance
Freipht ond distribation
Emplaves's benefits expense
(iher

h GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Cost of suppor services recharged by alfiliates (note 12)
Emploves's benclits exponss

Remunerations of board of directors and key personnel
Depreciation (note 7

Bk charges

Professicnal fees

Cther

218 2017

SR Hml" RR F"}Dnl'
3.903,209 2,053,380
1,104,585 B2 504
560,359 564,783
266,850 341,674
231,053 194,576
64,560 48,585
62,765 27210
51,488 47,565
6,244,959 5,100,291
2018 2017

SR 000" SR D00"
317,231 272,415
81,954 80,888
0,821 51,311
7,575 8,003
4,057 7,549
471,618 430,166
R 2017

SR 000" SR 000"
127,219 133,482
24,332 24,495
20,424 16,655
10,839 - 20,082
6,488 5,360
3,007 2,115
12,682 14,054
205,001 217,153

it



National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its

subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {contin ued)
At 31 December 2013

27 OTUER INCOME, NET

018 2m7
SR 000" SI 000"
(il insurcance claim 186,786 .
Commission income 58,340 2,622
Fereign currency exchange (loss) gains (19,740) 18254
Beversal for zakal provision no longer required (notes 23} - 65,400
[nher, net 6,250 20318
231,648 157,194
8 FINANCE COSTS
i) m?7
SR 0" SR 000"
Inierest on term loans 203,160 175,688
Interest on Sukuk 49,601 46,551
Interest on non-controlling pariner's subordinated loar (note 19) 42189 37434
Discounting of employess boans gramted during the year 7,984 5310
Amorization of ranssction costs on term loans (mote 18) 5400 2414
Crther sexvice charges EEH 448
Total fintnee costs D373 274,245

19 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Masic earnings per share amounts sre caleulaled by dividing nef income for the yeair attributable 10 sharcholders of the

Company by the weighted average number of shares during e year,

‘Thie fiollowing reflects the income and share data used in the hasic and diluted carmings per share computations;

For the year ended 31 Deccmber

E{LTE ] 2017
Met income atributable to shareholders of the Company (SHK “000) 1165382 BER.A0S
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (*000) 480,040 450,000
Pusic ad dilimicd eamings per share attributable to the shareholders of the Company 143 1.85

There hes been no iten of dilution affecting the weighted average number of ordinary shares.




National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2018

3 CAFITAL COMMITMENTS

The Growp has autherised fulure capital expenditure amounring lo SR 135 million (31 December 20172 58 103 million) relating
In certain expansion projects.

kil CONTINGENCIES

Druring 2010, the Company and the non-controlling partner in Saudi Polymers Company (a conselidated subsidiary} resolved 1o
‘merease the capital of Saudi Pelymers Company by SR 3,394 million, which will cause the non-controlling partner to incur
additional eosts; the management of the Company has ogreed o compensste the non-controlling parner by making anoual
payments in the funere hased on the fulire camings of Saudi Polymers Company, eonsidering the non-disiributable cash as a
rezult ol the propesed eapitel increase.

The Group’s bankers has issued guarantzes, an behalf of the Group, amounting to SR 329 million (31 Dicember 2017: SR 380
million | relating to uplifi of fecdstock for plant from 2 supplier.

2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Growp's principal financial liabilities comprise loans and herowings, trade and other payahles, The main purpess of these
financial Habilities is w0 finance the Group's operations and o provide puaraniees to suppor ils operations. The Group’s
principal finoncial assets mclude employees’ loans, trads amd other reccivables, short term deposits and cash and cash
pquivalents that derive dircetly from its aperetions, The Group's management reviews and agrees policies for managing cach of
these risks which are summarized below.

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liguidicy risk. The Group®s senior management oversees the mamagement of
these risks. The Group's senfor management repularly review the policies and procedures to ensure that all the financial risks are
identified, measared and msanaged in accordance with the Group's policies and risk objectives, The Group does not engage inte
any hedging activities. The Boad of Direclors reviews and agrees policies for managing cach of these risks, which are
summarized below.

3201 Markel risk

Market risk is the risk that the feir value of futere cash flows of a finaneial nstrument will ucluate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign curreney risk and commodity price righ,
Financial instnments alfecied by market tisk inchuds loans and bomrowings & well a3 bank balances. The sensitivity analysis in
the following sections relate to the position as a1 31 December in 2018 and 31 December 2017

(if frrerest rote risk

Fnterest rale risk is the risk thar the fair value or future cosh Rews of a fnancial instrument will floctuale because of changes in
market Tterest rates. The Group's exposure 1o the risk of changes in markes intercsl rates relaics to sukuk and long-term debt
abligations with floating interest mges. The interest rate risk is partially mitigaed by intereat income, which Group earns at
flaating intersst rales from Its bank deposits.

‘The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of stalement of comprehensive income to reasonsble possible changes i
interest rates, with all other vasiable held constanl.

Increase’ Effect on
decrease in profit before

busis poinls tax

SE )

s -5 7,253
L5 (¥7,153)

27 -50 @4, 500
450 (94.809)
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National Petrochemical Company (Petrochem) (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) and its
subsidiaries

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continsed)
AL31 December 20018

3z FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES {continued)
32 Market risk fcontinued)

(Bl Foreign Currency ritk

Forcipn currency risk is the risk (har the fair value or futire cash flows of & financial instrument will Mucmate hecause of
changes in foreign exchangs ratcs, The Group deals mainky n Seudi Riyal (SR) and US §. As the SR s pegped 1o the LS §,
batances in 195 § are not considered o represent significant currezcy risk.

fe) Commodity grice risk

The Group is exposed 1o the impact of market fucations of te price of various inpuls 1o production inchiding naphtha,
benpene, natural gas and electricily. The Group prepares annual budgets and periedic forecasts including sensilivity analyses in
respect of varions levels of crude oil prices o manage the dske The rish s panially mitigated by fluctwations in (e commodity
prices of the CGiroup's finished products (i.e. Polypropylens and Polyethyizne).

317 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk thal one party o a Gnancial instrument will fail 10 discharge an obligation and causs the other party 1o incur
4 financiel loss. The Group is exposed to crodit risk on it cash ond cash equivalents, short term deposits, trade reccivabics,
amounts due Fom relpted parties and employees’ lazns as follows:
018 2017
SR 000 SR 000"

Employees' loans 156,208 139,709
Amounts due Trom related partiss 221,326 228,510
Trade receivables 1,035 382 1,108,947
Shart term mvesimenis — hank deposits - 08,00
Cash and cash equivalents 3251537 2265419

4,664,453 4390985

The Group manages ils credit sk with respeet 10 the customers by dealing with customers having relinble credit history,
securing high quality collateral when neeessary and by menitoring outstanding balances and with respest 10 barks by omly
dealing with reputable banks.

423 Liquidity risk

Liguidioy risk is the risk that the Growp will encounter difficully o rising funds to meet financial commitments associated with
financial instruments. Tiquidity fsk may resuls from an inuhility to realize financial 2ssets quickly sl wn pmount ¢los to its fair
value, The Group manages its liguidity risk by monitoring working capital and cash flow requirements on regulor basis and
ensuring that available of bank facilitics, as and if requesied. The Group®s terms of contracts reguire amounts to be peid within
30-90 days of the date of hillings. Trade payables are normally sentled within 30-45 days of billing date or receipt of a commectly
rendersd invoice.
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subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

At 31 December 2018

32 FINANCTAL RISK MANAGEMENT ORJECTIVES AND POLICIES (eontinued }
323 Liguidity risk (continued)

‘The table below summarizss the maturitics of the Group's undiscounted financizl labilities o reporting date, based on
contractual payment dates and current marked interest rates.

On  Less than §
requested meomtis  Jde 12 months L ro 5 pears = § yoars Tatal
31 Devember 2018
SR DT SR 000" SR M0GT SR "000" STt SR 0T
T losans - 5 1,374,772 4,857,557 - 6232329
Hon-controlling parnes

subcrdinated loan - E - 413927 - 413,927
Sukuk - - 1078 (0 - - LOT8.004
Trade payahles - 37962 - - - 37962

Acerued expenses and other
pavables - T e ] - - 605,204
Amouns due to relaled partics 209,581 - . - - 200,351
209,581 379061 A 057,976 5171484 - BS7TTO03

On Less fhon 3
requestod mopths 3o 12 mewiths 1o 3 pears = § years Tentead
i December 2007
SR 000" SR 000" SR 000" SR "0D0” SR D00 HH 000"
Termn levens - - 1,368,027 4,597 682 2.040,224 8,005,935
Man-controlling parined's

subordinated loan - - - . E17.588 B17.088
Eukuk - - . 1,206, 0000 - 1,200,001
Trade peyables - 218,967 - . - 218,967

Aperued expenses and other
pavables . IREA09 - - - R
Amos due 0 related parties 237,163 - - - - 237,363
237363 607 Ak 1,368,027 5,797,682 2E58.212  10.868,750

24 Escessive risk concentration

Concentrafions arise when a number of cownterpartics aze sngaged in similer business activities, or activites in the saume
geographical region, or have economic Teatures tht would cause their ability 10 mest contraciuml obligations to be stmilarly
affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicals the relative sensitivity of the Group's
performance in developmens affecting a particular indusiry.

315 Capital management

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes share capital and all other equity reserves atiributable 10 the
owners of the Group. The primary objective of the Group's capital management is 10 maximize the shareholder value.

The Group managss its capital structure and makes adjustments ia light of changes in coonormic conditons and the requirements
of the financil covenants. To mainlain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, returs capital to sharcholders or issue new shares, The Ciroup monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by tolsl capital plus net debt. The Group includes wilhin net debt, term Inans, wrade and accrued expenses and other
payables and Sukuk, less bank balances.
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MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
AL 31 December 2018

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ORBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
25 Capital management (continoed)

MnH 27
SR 000" SR 00

Term loans 6,232,329 8,005,933
Sukuk LOTEO00 1200000
Trude payahles 37,961 218,967
Accrued expenses anil ofher pavables 5, 2004 3RE.409
Less: cash and cash equivalents (3251537) (2265819
el debi 4,701,958 7547550
Won=conrolling panner's subordinated Toan 413,927 217,958
Eauity I1L388.612 9.531.841
Total eguity and non-controlling partner’s subordinated loan 11,802,539 10,651,329
Capital end net debt L 497 18190409
Gearing ratio 4% Ti%

3% FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The munagement assessed that the fair values of hank balances, short terma deposits, fnwde and other receivables, trade and other
pvables approximie their carrying vohaes largety due to the shor-tenn maturites of these Anancial instruments.

The management hag assessed the fair value of employes loans and non-controlling partner's subardinated loan based on level 3
hicrarchy, which is not marerially differeat froen their respective comrying values.

The fair values of the Group's imerest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using the DCF method using discoun
raic that refects the issuer’s borrowing ratz as ot the end of the reporting period.

34 SEGMENT INFORMATION

In respect of performence appq‘mal and allocution of resources, the Group's mensgement is of the opinion that all sclivities and
operations of the Group comprise one sigle aperating segment, (he pelrochemical sector. Therelore, financial reports are issued
anly fior geographical sepmonts.

Creagraphical segmerns
Operaling assets are located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The sales are geographically distriboted as follows

2018 2m7

e Yo

Domestic/Middle East 1% 17
Asia 51 51
Europe/Africa 30 kil
100 [{¢0)
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NOTES TO THE COMNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)

At 31 December 2018

25 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

[n the apinion of the managemert, there have been no sipnificant subsequent cvenls since the period ended 3] December 2018
(it would have o material impact on the consolidated financial pasition of the Group as reflected in these consolidated financial
slalemenis,

34 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain eomparative [gures have been reclassified to conform with the current period's presentation.
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